
 

 

http://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz 
 

ResearchSpace@Auckland 
 

Copyright Statement 
 
The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New 
Zealand).  
 
This thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the 
provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use: 
 

� Any use you make of these documents or images must be for 
research or private study purposes only, and you may not make 
them available to any other person. 

� Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognise the 
author's right to be identified as the author of this thesis, and due 
acknowledgement will be made to the author where appropriate. 

� You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any 
material from their thesis. 

 
To request permissions please use the Feedback form on our webpage. 
http://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/feedback 
 

General copyright and disclaimer 
 
In addition to the above conditions, authors give their consent for the 
digital copy of their work to be used subject to the conditions specified on 
the Library Thesis Consent Form and Deposit Licence. 
 

Note : Masters Theses  
 
The digital copy of a masters thesis is as submitted for examination and 
contains no corrections. The print copy, usually available in the University 
Library, may contain corrections made by hand, which have been 
requested by the supervisor. 
 



 

 

MANDATORY EARNINGS DISAGGREGATION 

AND THE VALUE RELEVANCE, PERSISTENCE AND PRICING 

OF EARNINGS COMPONENTS: 

SOUTH AFRICAN EVIDENCE 

 

 

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of  

Doctor of Philosophy in Accounting 

The University of Auckland, 2011 

 

 

Elmar Retief Venter (1094934) 

 

 

Supervisors: Professors Steven Cahan and David Emanuel 

 

 

 

 

 



i 
 

 

ABSTRACT 

Thus far, the disaggregation of non-recurring items from earnings has been investigated 

mostly in the United States, in the context of special items and pro forma earnings. The 

disclosure of these items is mainly on a voluntary basis. Managers of firms have significant 

discretion in the calculation of such items (McVay, 2006). In this regard, the literature 

suggests that non-recurring items have lower persistence than recurring items, and that 

recurring earnings has higher value relevance than earnings determined in accordance with 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Brown and 

Sivakumar, 2003). However, surprisingly, non-recurring items (both special items and 

exclusions from pro forma earnings) are significantly mispriced in the United States (Dechow 

and Ge, 2006; Doyle, Lundholm and Soliman, 2003). This evidence suggests that, despite the 

apparently transitory nature of non-recurring items, investors are unable to estimate their 

implications for future earnings accurately. 

In this study, this anomaly is investigated by focusing on a different regulatory setting. In 

South Africa, firms listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) are required to 

disclose headline earnings in addition to earnings determined in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Headline earnings effectively excludes 

some non-recurring items. In addition, firms are required to present a reconciliation between 

headline earnings and IFRS earnings in the financial statements. The South African setting 

differs from the United States in two important respects. Firstly, all firms are required to 

present headline earnings in South Africa, whereas pro forma earnings reporting is voluntary 

in the United States. Secondly, the allowable exclusions from headline earnings are formally 

defined and subject to external audit, while firms in the United States are allowed to define 

their own exclusions from pro forma earnings. 
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This study investigates the value relevance, persistence and pricing of the earnings 

components that result from the headline earnings definition in South Africa. The results 

indicate that headline earnings exclusions contain information that is incrementally value 

relevant to IFRS earnings. This evidence suggests that investors find the disaggregation of 

headline earnings from basic earnings useful. In a sub-sample of firms with positive earnings, 

headline earnings appears to have higher value relevance than IFRS earnings.  

The persistence tests indicate that, as expected, headline earnings exclusions (the non-

recurring part of earnings) display lower persistence than headline earnings (the recurring 

part of earnings). The study shows - consistent with Sloan‟s (1996) findings - that accruals 

are less persistent than cash flows. This can be attributed largely to headline earnings 

exclusions.  

The pricing tests indicate that investors significantly underweight the cash flow component of 

earnings. Notably, neither headline earnings exclusions nor any of the other earnings 

components reflect significant mispricing. When additional explanatory variables are 

included in the analyses, the mispricing of the cash flow component disappears.  
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CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

1.1.1 The current study 

In this study, I investigate the persistence, value relevance and pricing of earnings components in 

a regulatory environment where the disaggregation and separate disclosure of non-recurring 

items are mandatory. My study uses South African data, because the regulations of the 

Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) mandate firms in South Africa to identify non-recurring 

items that meet a formally promulgated definition in order to calculate an alternative earnings 

measure to that calculated in terms of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

The alternative earnings measure that is used is “headline earnings”. 

1.1.2 Standard setters’ move to fair value 

Over the last few years, accounting standard setters seem to have shifted the orientation of 

accounting standards from being primarily historical cost accounting to more fair value 

accounting. Examples include fair value accounting for financial instruments, investment 

property and share-based payments. Firms also have the choice to account for property, plant and 

equipment at fair value. Since most fair value changes are reflected in profit or loss, one 

consequence of this shift is that earnings is arguably measured closer to “economic income”. 

However, economic income introduces transitory elements that exhibit low persistence into 

earnings (Dichev, 2008; Dichev and Tang, 2008). In this regard, Schipper and Vincent (2003: 
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99) argue that persistence is a desirable earnings quality attribute, because a particular realization 

from a persistent earnings series “is a more readily usable shortcut to valuation by, for example, 

a price-to-earnings multiple”.  

Hence, the presence of transitory income components makes current accounting earnings a poor 

proxy for future expected earnings (Van Cauwenberge and De Beelde, 2007). For example, 

Ohlson (1999: 159) states: 

Though one can argue that clean surplus income determination has the advantage of 

including all transactions that create/destroy value, such accounting has the 

disadvantage of potentially including line items that lack any information when one 

invokes a forecasting perspective on the accounting data. 

The main concern with aggregate earnings determined in accordance with accounting standards 

such as the IFRSs or United States Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (US GAAP) is that 

such aggregate earnings includes non-recurring items which obscure the valuation properties of 

earnings. Dichev and Tang (2008) document a deterioration of all key properties of earnings, 

including persistence and volatility, over 40 years. They attribute their findings to the fact that 

standard setters have moved away from matching (an income statement perspective) to fair value 

accounting (a balance sheet perspective). 

1.1.3 The rise of pro forma earnings 

Given the apparent shortcomings of aggregate earnings determined in accordance with 

accounting standards, Dichev and Tang (2008: 1455) regard the rapid increase in the voluntary 

reporting of pro forma earnings (non-GAAP earnings) in the 1990s in the United States as an 

attempt to clarify “the important distinction between persistent and recurring components of 



3 
 

earnings [and] sporadic and non-recurring components”. Hence, firms often engage in pro forma 

reporting in an attempt to provide an improved measure of Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice (GAAP) earnings for the purposes of determining future cash flows and firm value by 

disaggregating non-recurring items from recurring items (Bhattacharya et al., 2007; Kolev, 

Marquardt and McVay, 2008). The previous chairman of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) in the United States, Harvey Pitt (2001), concedes that “investors anxious for 

current, simplified and comprehensible financial reporting are today more likely to rely upon a 

company‟s pro forma disclosures than the same company‟s meticulously prepared, mandated 

GAAP financial disclosures.” 

Despite the advantages of using pro forma earnings, Damant (2002) argues that this measure has 

three defects. Firstly, pro forma earnings cannot follow a standardized pattern, because there is 

no formal definition of pro forma earnings. This complicates the comparison of pro forma 

earnings between firms and within the same firm over time. Secondly, the market cannot know 

exactly what is included in pro forma earnings without detailed analysis, because the disclosure 

of pro forma earnings is not regulated. Thirdly, firms may use pro forma earnings to work 

around the accounting standards to achieve a desired outcome, leading to a lack of transparency 

and therefore misleading the market. 

Subsequent research provides evidence that supports Damant‟s (2002) concerns about pro forma 

earnings. For example, Bhattacharya et al. (2004) report that not only do different firms use 

different definitions of pro forma earnings, but individual firms do not use a consistent definition 

of pro forma earnings from one period to the next. These practices compromise the 

comparability of pro forma earnings as an item. McVay (2006) reports evidence that managers 

shift recurring expenses into special items to increase “core” earnings. Such practices generate 
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negative special items that are persistent, which defeats the purpose of reporting pro forma 

earnings (Frankel and Roychowdhury, 2009), namely to report “core” earnings. In addition, 

some existing research suggests that pro forma exclusions are significantly mispriced by the 

market (Doyle, Lundholm and Soliman, 2003; Landsman, Miller and Yeh, 2007). This evidence 

implies that investors are misled by pro forma reporting and that regulatory concern is 

warranted. 

The SEC has been worried for some time that investors might be misled by pro forma disclosure 

practices. Hence, it issued Regulation G, effective from the end of March 2003. Regulation G 

requires firms that disclose pro forma earnings measures to include in the disclosure a 

presentation of the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure and a reconciliation 

between the two measures.  

Several authors write about the impact of Regulation G on pro forma reporting practices and the 

market‟s assessment of non-GAAP measures; for example, Marques (2006) reports on a 

reduction in the propensity of firms in the Standard & Poor‟s 500 index to disclose pro forma 

earnings in the post-Regulation G period. This evidence is consistent both with firms‟ 

opportunistic use of pro forma earnings in the pre-Regulation G period and with a situation 

where firms motivated by a desire to inform investors better are discouraged from doing so by 

the regulation.  

Kolev et al.‟s (2008) study shows that the quality of aggregate pro forma exclusions has 

increased significantly in the post-Regulation G period (they are more transitory). However, a 

disaggregation of exclusions in special items and other exclusions suggests that the regulation 

may have had unintended consequences, because the quality of special items has decreased in the 
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post-regulation period. Regulation G does not allow investors to determine whether special items 

have been classified appropriately; as a result, it appears that managers have adapted to the new 

regulation by shifting recurring expenses into special items (Kolev et al., 2008).  

Zhang and Zheng (2011) show that the reconciliation requirement of Regulation G reduces the 

mispricing of pro forma earnings exclusions. However, their results are based on small samples 

which only include firms that report pro forma earnings. Moreover, some of their tests only 

include firms that report pro forma earnings and that continued to report pro forma earnings in 

the post-Regulation G period.  

1.1.4 Standard setters’ attempts at disaggregation 

Admittedly, pro forma earnings reporting appears to have some defects, but standard setters‟ 

attempts to address the deterioration of the forward-looking usefulness of aggregate earnings 

have also failed thus far. For example, from 2001 to 2003, the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and the United Kingdom Accounting Standards Board (UK ASB) 

developed a proposal for an alternative format for the income statement. This alternative format 

is called the “matrix format”. The objective of this project was to ensure that the presentation of 

financial results would enhance users‟ understanding of an entity‟s financial results by presenting 

a line-by-line disaggregation of the income statement into columns for “remeasurements” and 

“before remeasurements” (Barker, 2004). Barker (2004) argues strongly in favour of the matrix 

format. Tarca et al.‟s (2008) experiment to assess the potential benefits of the matrix format 

shows that the matrix format improves the accuracy with which users extract financial 

information from the income statement. Damant (2003: 11) comments as follows regarding the 

proposals for the matrix format: 
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It has been claimed that this set of proposals for the income statement is modest by 

comparison with most proposals for new accounting standards: it is to a large extent a 

proposal only for a change in format. One can perhaps appreciate that point in logic, but 

in fact the difference in kind or of format is so great as to be a difference in degree. And 

this difference of degree is also a difference clearly relevant to financial analysis – that 

is, at last, a true picture of the performance of a company. The items which the readers 

of the accounts are trying to comprehend will now be displayed, in the clearest possible 

manner. The matrix is correct in principle, extremely valuable in practice, and deals 

with one of the great trends in financial reporting – the move to fair values – in a way 

which is obviously correct and understandable. 

Despite such arguments in favour of the matrix format, the project has not resulted in the formal 

incorporation of the proposals into the accounting standards. In October 2008, the IASB and the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) revisited the issue of a disaggregation in the 

income statement as part of a discussion paper (IASB, 2008) on their joint project on financial 

statement presentation. The new proposals are more complex than the original matrix format. 

The IASB and FASB propose that an entity should present a schedule in the notes to the 

financial statements that reconciles cash flows to comprehensive income on a line-by-line basis, 

with line item reconciliations disaggregated into four items: first, cash flows; second, accruals; 

third, recurring fair value changes or valuation adjustments; and, fourth, non-recurring fair value 

changes or valuation adjustments (IASB, 2008). This reconciliation schedule is very similar to 

the one proposed by the SEC‟s Advisory Committee on Improvements to Financial Reporting 

(SEC, 2008). Pozen (2009: 92), who chaired the committee, argues that with this reconciliation 

schedule “we could have the best of both worlds”.  
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However, the majority of the respondents to the two boards‟ discussion paper were not in favour 

of the proposal to require a mandatory reconciliation schedule based on persistence (IASB, 

2009), because the respondents believe that the benefit of providing such disclosure will not 

outweigh the cost of producing the data and that the proposed schedule is too complex and 

onerous for users of financial statements to digest and process (IASB, 2009). Hence, despite the 

perceived advantages of providing investors with disaggregated information and alternative 

earnings measures in the income statement, the project, once again, risks not providing any 

revisions to the accounting standards. 

1.2 The study problem 

Despite the apparently convincing arguments in favour of non-GAAP earnings measures, the 

“chaotic beginnings” (Dichev and Tang, 2008: 1455) of voluntary pro forma reporting in the 

United States still leave the question of the benefits of an alternative earnings measure to GAAP 

earnings unresolved at an empirical level. In particular, pro forma reporting appears to have three 

deficiencies. Firstly, this kind of reporting is voluntary, which means that those who invest in 

firms that choose not to report pro forma earnings may not have sufficient information regarding 

recurring and non-recurring earnings. Secondly, where firms do choose to present pro forma 

earnings, given the controversy surrounding earnings management and non-GAAP earnings 

reporting, investors may be sceptical about the credibility of the figures. Thirdly, despite the 

reconciliation requirements of Regulation G, the use of pro forma earnings imposes costs on 

investors who wish to compare non-GAAP earnings measures across firms and over time. 

Arguably, then, the mandatory reporting of non-GAAP earnings in terms of a standardized 

definition appears to be a solution, but, thus far, empirical archival evidence on the matter 



8 
 

remains largely unobtainable, because the United States and other large industrial nations have 

not made the disclosure of such information mandatory.  

1.3 The South African case 

South Africa provides a unique setting to investigate the problem at hand. The country‟s stock 

exchange regulations require firms to determine a headline earnings figure and to reconcile IFRS 

earnings with headline earnings in the financial statements. Headline earnings effectively 

excludes selected non-recurring valuation adjustments and items from profit or loss.  

The headline earnings definition was developed by a committee of financial analysts in the 

United Kingdom. This definition is therefore compelling, as analysts are generally considered 

sophisticated financial statement users: a non-GAAP earnings measure that is useful to analysts 

should, arguably, also be useful to most other financial statement users.  

Headline earnings has been compared to the proposals of standard setters. For example, Damant 

(2003), an investment analyst who formed part of the team that developed the headline earnings 

definition, argues that the bottom line of the income “before remeasurements” column in the 

proposed IASB matrix format is similar to headline earnings. More recently, the Chartered 

Financial Analyst Society of the United Kingdom (CFA UK, 2007), which has recommended the 

South African definition of headline earnings for the calculation of price earnings-ratios (PERs) 

in the United Kingdom, has commented as follows: 

This [the headline earnings definition] produces a figure for headline earnings quite 

close to historic cost earnings. Those who are uneasy about mixing changes in fair 

values with trading performance, and hence PERs, will find that the headline earnings 
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formula offers a solution since changes in fair value of balance sheet items (other than 

current assets and liabilities) are excluded from headline earnings. 

In this study, I take advantage of the unique situation regarding mandatory headline earnings 

reporting in South Africa to investigate research questions grouped broadly into three important 

areas. Firstly, I investigate the value relevance of headline earnings disclosure in South Africa. 

Secondly, I investigate the persistence of earnings components in South Africa. Thirdly, I 

investigate the pricing of earnings components within South Africa.  

It is important to investigate the value relevance of headline earnings, because a large body of 

literature suggests that accounting measures that are value relevant to investors have implications 

for standard setting (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001). However, although such prior 

literature documents that the voluntary disclosure of “core” earnings (such as pro forma earnings 

in the United States) provides higher value relevance than GAAP earnings (Bradshaw and Sloan, 

2002; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003), investors still tend to misprice non-recurring items excluded 

from GAAP earnings in the United States (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Burgstahler, Jiambalvo and 

Shevlin, 2002; Dechow and Ge, 2006). This is particularly concerning because the implications 

of non-recurring items for future earnings should be relatively clear to investors. The mispricing 

may be caused by managers‟ discretionary behaviour with regard to exclusions, making it 

difficult for investors to evaluate the true properties of these exclusions (McVay, 2006). Hence, 

an investigation of the pricing of earnings components in an environment where the 

disaggregation of non-recurring items from earnings is mandatory may provide useful insights to 

standard setters and regulators elsewhere. 
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I use Ohlson‟s (1995) model to specify price-level regressions to investigate the value relevance 

of the book value of equity and earnings components. This model is frequently employed in the 

value relevance literature (Aboody, Barth and Kasznik, 2004; Barth and Clinch, 1998; Black, 

Carnes and Richardson, 2000; Filip and Raffournier, 2010; Hellström, 2006). I investigate two 

research questions. Firstly, I establish whether headline earnings exclusions contain information 

that is incrementally value relevant to basic earnings, which would suggest that investors find the 

disaggregation of headline earnings exclusions and their separate disclosure useful from a 

valuation perspective. Secondly, I investigate whether headline earnings is superior to basic 

earnings as a summary measure of firm performance by calculating the Vuong (1989) Z-statistic. 

I supplement the price-level model with a returns model (Easton, 1999). I also conduct numerous 

additional tests to establish whether the value relevance of the headline earnings disclosure 

framework improves conditional to certain factors and circumstances, such as extreme earnings 

and firm size. 

In investigating the persistence of earnings components in South Africa, I employ Sloan‟s (1996) 

persistence tests. In particular, I am interested in whether, consistent with the claims of the 

headline earnings definition, headline earnings exclusions do exhibit lower persistence than 

headline earnings. Following Sloan (1996) and Dechow and Ge (2006), I subdivide these 

earnings components further, into accrual and cash flow components, in an attempt to establish 

whether there are systematic differences in persistence across these components. 

For the pricing tests, I employ the Mishkin (1983) test, first introduced into the accounting 

literature by Sloan (1996) to compare the persistence that investors attribute to various earnings 

components to their actual levels of persistence. I extend Dechow and Ge‟s (2006), study, which 

only decomposes accruals into recurring and non-recurring components, by also decomposing 
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cash flows into similar components. Because Kraft, Leone and Wasley (2007) criticize the use of 

the Mishkin test in the accounting literature, I supplement the pricing tests with an analysis using 

ordinary least squares (OLS) to establish the equivalence of the two methods. I also use the OLS 

method to control for additional factors that could be useful in predicting returns and could also 

be useful in forecasting earnings. 

I investigate these three areas (value relevance, persistence and pricing) together, in order to 

evaluate the quality of the mandatory headline earnings disclosure framework in South Africa. I 

argue that, if this framework captures differences in persistence, contains value relevant 

information and provides evidence of accurate pricing of earnings components, the South 

African case may have policy implications for regulators and standard setters elsewhere. 

1.4 Summary of findings 

As I discuss in detail in Chapter 4, the value relevance study shows that headline earnings 

exclusions do provide information that is incrementally value relevant to basic earnings. This 

evidence implies that, in terms of investors‟ consensus beliefs, separate disclosure of headline 

earnings exclusions is warranted. Surprisingly, headline earnings does not have higher value 

relevance than basic earnings, relatively speaking. However, it appears that this finding can be 

explained by the pooling of negative earnings observations with positive earnings observations. 

Once I use a sample containing only positive earnings observations, headline earnings appears to 

be a superior summary performance measure to basic earnings. This is a significant finding, as 

headline earnings is not shown as a total on the face of the statement of comprehensive income, 

but is merely disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. By contrast, basic earnings is 

shown on the face of the statement of comprehensive income. Prior research suggests that 
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investors attach more weight to amounts recognized on the face of the financial statements than 

to amounts disclosed in the notes (Davis-Friday et al., 1999; Schipper, 2007). In other words, 

due to its prominent position in the starting blocks, basic earnings has a head start over headline 

earnings. 

In addition, in Chapter 5, I focus on various scenarios where the headline earnings disclosure 

framework may be particularly useful to investors. The findings suggest (although the evidence 

is weak in some instances) that headline earnings disclosure is more useful to investors who 

invest in firms with more extreme earnings than to those who invest in firms with less extreme 

earnings, and also to those who invest in small firms rather than in large firms. In particular, the 

headline earnings disclosure framework comes into its own in the most extreme cases of headline 

earnings exclusions.  

Overall, Chapters 4 and 5 provide evidence that mandatory and separate disclosure of headline 

earnings exclusions from basic earnings is useful to investors. Prior research has documented 

that alternative earnings measures disclosed voluntarily by management have higher value 

relevance than earnings established in terms of accounting standards (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; 

Brown and Sivakumar, 2003). However, my study shows that the value relevance of non-GAAP 

earnings measures also extends to mandatory disclosure.  

In Chapter 7, I investigate the persistence and the pricing of earnings components in South 

Africa. Of particular interest to this study is the question of whether the mispricing of special 

items that has been documented in the United States (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Burgstahler et al., 

2002; Dechow and Ge, 2006) also extends to headline earnings exclusions in South Africa. 

Zhang and Zheng (2011) show that the mispricing of pro forma earnings exclusions is no longer 
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evident after the implementation of Regulation G, but their small sample study, which includes 

only firms who report pro forma earnings, fails to address the broader issue of special items 

mispricing. In this regard, Kolev et al.‟s (2008) evidence that the quality of special items has 

deteriorated since the implementation of Regulation G raises the possibility that the mispricing 

of special items may have become even more severe.  

The results from the forecasting equations show that, as expected, headline earnings (the 

recurring part of earnings) has higher persistence than headline earnings exclusions (the non-

recurring part of earnings), whereas accruals are less persistent than cash flows. However, the 

lower persistence of accruals can be largely attributed to headline earnings exclusions. 

Separating cash flows which form part of headline earnings exclusions from other cash flows 

also results in an improvement in the persistence parameter of the remaining cash flows. This in 

itself provides a valid argument for the existence of the headline earnings disclosure framework, 

because, as Schipper (2007) argues, grouping items by similarity of persistence should aid 

assessments of earnings quality and earnings predictions. However, to establish whether this is, 

in fact, the case requires an assessment of the pricing of the earnings components. 

Turning to the pricing tests in Chapter 7, the study shows that neither headline earnings nor 

headline earnings exclusions reflect significant mispricing. This finding contradicts the findings 

of significant overweighting of special items in the United States. Hence, this study is one of the 

first to document accurate pricing of non-recurring items for almost all the firms on an entire 

stock exchange. Investors in South Africa may show an improved ability to price non-recurring 

items compared to investors in firms in the United States as a result of the consistent, clear and 

comparable interpretation and application of the headline earnings definition. Headline earnings 
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is also less susceptible to creative earnings management practices than special items - this 

should assist investors in their assessment of the valuation implications of non-recurring items. 

Once I decompose earnings into an accrual and a cash flow component, the cash flow component 

reflects significant underweighting, but only for the recurring part of cash flows. Neither the 

recurring nor the non-recurring components of accruals reflect significant mispricing. When I 

include additional explanatory variables in the tests, in line with Kraft et al. (2007), the 

mispricing of the cash flow component is also no longer evident. Hence, my evidence suggests 

that in an environment where the disaggregation of non-recurring items from earnings and the 

separate disclosure thereof are mandatory, investors are not only able to price non-recurring 

items accurately, but can also do so with other earnings components. 

Taken together, the findings from Chapters 4, 5 and 7 have important implications. While 

voluntary earnings disclosure practices, such as pro forma earnings, have higher value relevance 

than GAAP earnings, the literature suggests that investors tend to misprice non-recurring items, 

such as special items (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 2006). Hence, despite the 

apparently transitory nature of these items, investors in the United States tend to misinterpret the 

implications of these items for future earnings. My findings suggest, firstly, that headline 

earnings have higher persistence than basic earnings; secondly, that headline earnings exclusions 

have value relevance that is incremental to that of basic earnings; and, thirdly, that headline 

earnings exclusions are not significantly mispriced. It appears that the mandatory headline 

earnings disclosure framework overcomes the mispricing associated with special items in the 

United States, although it still captures differences in the persistence of earnings components and 

it still reflects value relevance incremental to GAAP earnings and, in certain instances, higher 

relative value relevance than that of GAAP earnings. 
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In summary, the results show that headline earnings is more persistent than basic earnings, that 

headline earnings information is value relevant and that earnings components, other than the cash 

flow component, are not significantly mispriced. Although I am unable to relate the findings 

directly to headline earnings disclosure, the evidence presented in Chapters 4, 5 and 7 is 

consistent with the claim that the mandatory disaggregation of non-recurring items is useful to 

investors, in that it assists them in the pricing of earnings components. Moreover, I cannot 

completely rule out the alternative explanation that the higher value relevance of headline 

earnings over IFRS earnings is driven by other highly correlated measures that are voluntarily 

disclosed, such as operating earnings. Overall, however, it seems that the mandatory headline 

earnings disclosure framework is functioning effectively in South Africa. 

1.5 Contribution 

Cutting across different subject literatures, such as the value relevance literature, the special item 

literature, the persistence literature, the accrual anomaly literature and the pro forma earnings 

literature, my research makes five contributions.  

First, I contribute to the growing body of literature that suggests that investors find non-GAAP-

based measures of earnings both incrementally and relatively value relevant. Previous studies, 

such as those by Bradshaw and Sloan (2002), Brown and Sivakumar (2003) and Entwistle, 

Feltham and Mbagwu (2010) focus on the voluntary disclosure of alternative earnings measures, 

whereas my research adds to the literature by examining what happens when the disclosure of an 

alternative earnings measure is mandatory.  

Second, I contribute to the accrual anomaly and special items literature by exploring an 

environment where the disaggregation of non-recurring items from basic earnings is mandatory. 
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Unlike evidence from the United States, where this disaggregation is not mandatory, my findings 

suggest that non-recurring items are not significantly mispriced when their disaggregation and 

separate disclosure in the financial statements is mandatory.  

Third, I make a methodological contribution to the anomaly literature by demonstrating that the 

equivalence of the Mishkin test and ordinary least squares method, as documented by Kraft et al. 

(2007), also extends to smaller sample settings.  

Fourth, my findings may be useful to the IASB and the FASB in their deliberations on ways to 

disaggregate fair value adjustments from historical cost earnings.  

Finally, the evidence that I provide is drawn from Africa‟s biggest economy and one of the 

leading developing stock exchanges globally. To date, there has been little capital market 

research based on South African data, despite the fact that South Africa is a G-20 country, and 

that the JSE is the largest securities exchange in Africa. 

1.6 Organisation of the thesis 

The remainder of this thesis is organised as follows: Chapter 2 presents background on headline 

earnings disclosure in South Africa; Chapter 3 analyses existing value relevance research as a 

backdrop to the study on the value relevance of earnings and earnings components in Chapter 4; 

Chapter 5 documents various additional value relevance tests; Chapter 6 contains an analytical 

review of the accrual anomaly literature, which provides the background for the study on the 

pricing of earnings components in Chapter 7; and finally, Chapter 8 summarises and concludes 

the thesis. The two main empirical chapters (Chapters 4 and 7) are presented as stand-alone 

documents. Hence, there is some repetition in these two chapters.  
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CHAPTER 2 

BACKGROUND TO HEADLINE EARNINGS 

 

2.1 Introduction 

In this chapter, I provide some background on headline earnings reporting in South Africa. I start 

by focusing on the conceptual basis of headline earnings, as set out by the Institute of Investment 

Management and Research (IIMR, 1993). I then link the case for headline earnings disclosure to 

theory. I also examine the history of headline earnings. Finally, I summarize the current 

definition of headline earnings. 

2.2 The conceptual basis of headline earnings 

The first definition of headline earnings was developed in the United Kingdom in 1993 by a 

committee of investment analysts from the IIMR (IIMR, 1993). The original definition of 

headline earnings is contained in the Statement of Investment Practice No. 1 (SIP 1) (IIMR, 

1993). 

SIP 1 suggests that, in addition to the all-encompassing earnings figure required by Financial 

Reporting Standard 3 (FRS 3), Reporting financial performance (which includes extraordinary 

items), most investors want a measure of a company‟s maintainable earnings as a basis for 

forecasts, comparisons and the calculation of a price/earnings ratio (PER). Investors also require 

a factual “headline” measure of historic earnings that can serve as a benchmark figure for the 

trading outcome for a given year. Due to the degree of personal judgement involved in 

estimating the case-specific adjustments required to determine maintainable earnings, SIP 1 
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(IIMR, 1993) argues that maintainable earnings cannot be determined on a standardised basis. 

However, this does not contradict the argument that it is desirable to define a single earnings 

measure on a standardised basis that can be used as an unambiguous point of reference for the 

users of financial statements, the financial media and statisticians (IIMR, 1993). 

This argument forms the basis for the development of a definition for headline earnings. SIP 1 

stipulates that this definition has three characteristics (IIMR, 1993). Its first characteristic is that 

it is a measure of trading performance separated from capital items. The second characteristic is 

that it is robust, so that anyone presented with the building blocks of the measure should be able 

to perform the calculation. The third characteristic is that it is factual, because it relies on the 

amounts actually reported and not on theoretical adjustments. The last two characteristics 

distinguish headline earnings from maintainable earnings.  

In principle, the term “headline earnings” is defined in SIP 1 as the profit produced by the 

trading activities of an entity, as opposed to its capital base (IIMR, 1993). An entity‟s capital 

base is the platform on which trading is carried out. Hence, in principle, “income” items still fall 

under headline earnings, while “capital” items are excluded from headline earnings. 

2.3 Theoretical links 

2.3.1 Hicksian income and fair value accounting 

Hicks‟s (1946) economic definition of income - what Hicks (1946) calls Income No. 1 - is often 

used in the accounting literature as a useful definition of accounting earnings. For example, 

Schipper and Vincent (2003) define earnings quality as the extent to which accounting earnings 

faithfully represent Hicksian income. 
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Hicks‟s (1946: 176) Income No. 1 defines income as “the maximum value which a man can 

consume during a week and still be expected to be as well off at the end of the week as he was in 

the beginning”. Hicks (1946) is referring to the income of an individual, but the definition can be 

restated for a firm as “the maximum amount that could be distributed to the equity shareholders 

in a period and leave intact the capital value of the company‟s prospective receipts as at the 

beginning of the period” (Bromwich, Macve and Sunder, 2010: 351; Solomons, 1961).  

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (FASB) cite Hicks‟s (1946) concept of Income No. 1 in support of their balance sheet 

focus and fair value approach,
1
 in which earnings is a measure of the increase in the net 

resources of a firm during a given period, defined primarily in terms of changes in assets and 

liabilities (FASB and IASB, 2005). They argue that an “asset and liability view” to income 

measurement is preferable to a “revenue and expenses view” to income measurement, as the 

former is “grounded in a theory prevalent in economics”, while the latter is inappropriate for 

standard setting, because income cannot be measured without reference to assets or liabilities or 

“recourse to highly subjective terminology like „proper matching‟” (FASB and IASB, 2005: 7). 

Fair value accounting has been criticized mainly because it assigns current values to individual 

assets and liabilities. Nissim and Penman (2008: 42) argue that firms are typically formed in 

accordance with an entrepreneurial notion of how to arbitrage market prices. They hold that fair 

value accounting is not appropriate when a firm is arbitraging (adding value to) market prices. In 

such a case, a firm adds value to market prices by buying at one price and selling at another 

                                                           
1
 I use the term „fair value approach‟ (or „fair value accounting‟) broadly when I refer to cases where accounting standards 

require or allow firms to adjust the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet to reflect current value. The 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) contain various current value measurement attributes, such as market value 

(see International Accounting Standard 16 (IAS 16), Property, plant and equipment; IAS 38, Intangible assets; IAS 39, Financial 

instruments: Recognition and Measurement; and IAS 41, Agriculture), net realisable value (see IAS 2, Inventories), fair value 

less costs to sell (see IFRS 5, Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations; and IAS 36, Impairment of assets), 

and value in use (see IAS 36, Impairment of assets). 
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(Nissim and Penman, 2008). This means that market prices are not readily available for all kinds 

of goods or services, because each firm adds value in a different way. This idea is not new: in the 

late 1930s, Coase (1937) explained his theory of what a firm is by pointing out why firms exist 

in a modern market economy. His theory is that a cost saving can be achieved by organising 

activities via a firm, as opposed to all transactions taking place through the market. In his 

opinion, two costs that could be saved on are the cost of discovering what the market prices are 

(which suggests that market prices are not always easily obtainable) and that of negotiating a 

contract for each exchange transaction. Hence, firms exist because markets are imperfect and 

market prices do not measure value under every condition (Penman, 2007). In some cases, firms 

and their structures are more efficient than markets. Entrepreneurs exploit these efficiencies, 

while historical cost accounting reports on how well firms deal with imperfect market prices 

(Penman, 2007). 

Dichev and Penman (2007: 10) posit that firms are not “asset greenhouses”, whose primary 

purpose would be accumulating net assets, but rather “asset furnaces”, whose purpose is 

sacrificing or transforming assets for the larger goal of producing earnings. Arguably then, firms 

exist to combine assets and liabilities in a particular way to generate value (Nissim and Penman, 

2008). In this regard, fair value to shareholders does not refer to the sum of the market values of 

individual assets and liabilities, but to their value in joint use. Nissim and Penman (2008: 29) 

claim that this gives historical transactions accounting a distinct advantage because it reports 

“the earnings – one summary number – from using assets and liabilities jointly”. 

Hicks‟s (1946) Income No. 2 is less frequently cited in the literature. It is defined as the amount 

that an entity can consume in a particular period and that the entity can still expect to be able to 

consume in each ensuing period. Bromwich et al. (2010) argue that this definition is equivalent 
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to permanent or sustainable income. Hicks (1946) also recognises the need to define income 

formally, based on the notion of persistence. 

Schipper and Vincent (2003) argue that earnings persistence is a desirable earnings quality 

construct derived from a decision-usefulness perspective. They hold that “its utility derives from 

the conceptually grounded and empirically demonstrated positive relation between earnings 

persistence and the association between returns and earnings” (Schipper and Vincent, 2003: 

100). Schipper and Vincent (2003: 100) suggest two reasons why earnings persistence is not 

related to Hicksian income (Income No. 1): 

First, the persistence of reported earnings is a function of both accounting 

standards/implementations and the reporting entity‟s business model and operating 

environment. Highly impersistent (e.g. mean-reverting) earnings can be the outcome of 

neutral application of accounting standards in some economic environments, while 

management interventions in the reporting process can, within limits, transform an 

inherently impersistent earnings stream into an apparently persistent stream. Second, if 

the economic values of assets and liabilities follow a random walk, then Hicksian 

income, equal to the change in economic assets, will follow a white noise process that 

exhibits no persistence. 

In other words, Schipper and Vincent (2003) hold that the Hicksian income construct does not 

recognise notions of income components with differing levels of persistence. Hitz (2007) argues 

that economic income already incorporates firm valuation and thus does not leave a real 

prediction task to investors: the prime concern for investors in a realistic setting is therefore the 

formation of expectations about the future. Hence, the concept of predictive ability, which is 
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linked to earnings persistence, “can be seen as a conceivable consensus criterion for decision 

usefulness” (Hitz, 2007: 349). Ohlson (2006) argues that investors like to have a natural starting 

point in the income statement when they try to estimate the sustainable or permanent earnings of 

subsequent periods. This means that, from a decision-usefulness perspective, the reporting of 

economic income alone would not be sufficient, because investors require information about 

earnings components and their different levels of persistence to make predictions about the 

future. Hence, a link is required between Hicks‟s (1946) Income No. 1 and his Income No. 2. 

This can be explained with the following example.
2
 Suppose a property generates an expected 

income stream of 20, with a risk-adjusted return of eight per cent. If the property is recognised at 

fair value, the opening carrying amount of the asset is 250 (20 / 0.08) and the PER is 12.5 (250 / 

20). Assume that the permanent income stream is revised to 30 per year at the end of the period. 

In economic terms, this (positive) shock to earnings is permanent, because it affects all future 

periods. The fair value of the asset then changes to 375 (30 / 0.08). The Hicksian income for the 

period amounts to 145, because the entity can consume the income of 20 earned from the 

permanent income stream during the current period, as well as the increase in the asset value of 

125 (10 / 0.08) during the current period, without impoverishing itself, compared to the 250 in 

value at the beginning of the period. The 125 increase in the value of the asset should be 

regarded as a one-time increase in capital which generates a permanent income stream of ten. At 

the end of the period, the PER is still 12.5 (375 / 30). 

The example above illustrates the economic income. Depending on the accounting rules 

applicable to the asset, the asset could be measured at either 375 (fair value accounting) or 250 

                                                           
2 This example is adapted from Barker (2004). 
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(rent accounting) at the end of the period. The accounting income is equal to the economic 

income if the asset is measured at fair value for accounting purposes. 

If fair value accounting is applied, the amounts recognised in profit or loss can be used for 

valuation purposes as follows: 

 Accounting 

income 

Valuation 

multiple 

Valuation 

Trading income 20 12.5 250 

Fair value adjustment 125 1 125 

Total income 145  375 

 

It is evident from this table that if only the economic income of 145 is disclosed, investors lose 

information regarding the different levels of persistence of the components of economic 

earnings. A disclosure framework such as headline earnings could therefore be useful to 

investors, because it can overcome this shortcoming of aggregate disclosure. Following the 

stated objective of headline earnings from SIP 1, headline earnings in the above example would 

amount to 20, allowing investors to evaluate the consequences from the fair value adjustment of 

125 separately. 

If rent accounting is applied, the valuation is performed by adding the recognised income stream 

of 20 to the unrecognised income stream of 10, and then multiplying the resultant amount by the 

PER. Hence, under fair value accounting, the 125 increase in the value of the asset represents a 

“transitory earnings shock” (even though the economic impact is permanent). By contrast, rent 

accounting effectively converts a transitory event for accounting purposes into a “permanent 

shock to earnings” (Easton, Shroff and Taylor, 2000; Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998). 

However, rent accounting is being phased out of accounting standards, which makes it all the 
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more important that a disclosure framework is used that can assist investors in their prediction 

task. 

2.3.2 Permanent and transitory earnings 

The example above should be contrasted to a case where a shock to earnings is transitory from 

an economic perspective. Assume that the permanent income stream from the asset is not 

revised, but that the entity receives a one-time property tax rebate of one. The economic impact 

of this event is transitory, because the event is completed within this period. Consistent with its 

economic implications, the one-time property tax rebate would normally be recorded as a 

transitory shock to earnings (Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998). 

From the examples above, it may be argued that one-time shocks to accounting earnings could be 

classified into two categories (Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998): 

 events with a permanent (multi-period) economic impact, because the impact affects future 

periods (first category); and 

 events with a transitory (single-period) economic impact, because the effect is complete in 

the current period (second category). 

Ohlson (1999: 160) also appears to distinguish between shocks to earnings in the two categories 

mentioned above – he comments that 

some non-recurring income items such as write-offs can perhaps also be viewed as 

informationally irrelevant, though these are quite different from transitory income items. 

Non-recurring items, in contrast to transitory earnings, raise the issue whether the 

accounting properly reflects the firm‟s economic reality given underlying transactions. 



25 
 

The terms “transitory” and “non-recurring” are often used interchangeably in the academic 

literature and by the financial press, and are often loosely defined. Collectively, these items 

could be defined as “one-time” items, because both should have a valuation multiple of one. In 

this study, I also use these terms interchangeably. 

2.4 The history of headline earnings 

The first definition of headline earnings was developed in the United Kingdom in 1993 by the 

IIMR, now known as the Chartered Financial Analyst Society of the United Kingdom (CFA 

UK), at the request of the Financial Times, which wanted consistent PERs in the wake of the 

new United Kingdom standard, FRS 3. This standard adopted a much narrower definition of 

extraordinary items than had been used before. The issue was that the earnings figure in terms of 

FRS 3 contained several items of a “capital” nature. It is often argued that PERs will not be 

meaningful if changes in fair value are included in the earnings figure, since changes in fair 

value move with the various markets and do not reflect the annual earning power of a firm (CFA 

UK, 2007). 

This move towards an all-inclusive earnings figure in the United Kingdom was intended to limit 

the incentive to managers of companies to manipulate earnings by using the distinction between 

extraordinary and exceptional items. This view was also expressed by the IASB in its revisions 

to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, which introduced the concept of “comprehensive 

income” into the IFRS. In an article on evaluating earnings measures, Barker (2004), a project 

manager at the IASB, states that the only earnings measure that is not misleading is 

comprehensive income, because it includes all the items that affect a company‟s performance.  
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Although the United Kingdom committee recognised the principle in FRS 3 that it is impossible 

to distil the performance of a complex organisation into a single earnings measure, the 

committee also felt that there was a need for a single earnings measure, calculated on a 

standardised basis, which could be used as an unambiguous point of reference between users, the 

financial media and statistical entities. That was the main purpose for the development of the 

definition of headline earnings. Interestingly, Barker (2004) supports the argument that 

comprehensive income is not a good measure of a company‟s earnings performance and can 

therefore not be used sensibly in a valuation multiple. 

In September 1993, the work of the United Kingdom committee was released in SIP 1, which 

contained the first formalised definition of headline earnings. Since 1994, the SIP 1 definition of 

headline earnings has been used in the calculation of the PERs of United Kingdom companies, as 

published in the Financial Times. Most United Kingdom listed companies do not publish their 

own headline earnings per share (HEPS) (Brooking, 2006).  

During 1995, similar revisions to those made to FRS 3 in the United Kingdom were made to the 

corresponding local standard in South Africa, namely AC 103,
3
 Net profit or loss for the period, 

fundamental errors and changes in accounting policies. While the proposed revisions were still 

open for comment, analysts already expressed concern that the influence of the revised earnings 

on the volatility of earnings per share could seriously jeopardise the usefulness of earnings as an 

analytical tool (Stainbank and Harrod, 2007).  

                                                           
3 The abbreviation “AC” is used in South Africa to refer to statements and interpretations of statements issued by the South 

African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA). 
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During November 1995, the Accounting Issues Task Force (AITF)
4
 of the South African 

Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) released AC 306, Headline Earnings – effect of the 

issue of AC 103 (revised) on the calculation and disclosure of earnings per share. This document 

in essence endorses the views expressed in SIP 1 and adopts the definition of headline earnings 

developed in the United Kingdom. However, AC 306 was merely an accounting opinion 

expressed by the AITF, so it did not carry the same authority as an accounting standard. 

Therefore, AC 306 did not compel companies to disclose HEPS.  

During 1995, the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) began to use HEPS in the presentation 

of the national equity market statistics (SAICA, 2007a). One of the most important roles HEPS 

played was in the calculation of a consistent PER. If a company did not disclose its HEPS 

(companies were not required to do so at that stage), the figure was calculated on the basis of 

information provided by the McGregor Information Service
5
 (Stainbank and Harrod, 2007). This 

arrangement was terminated for a number of reasons. In a revision to the listing requirements of 

the JSE which became effective on 2 October 2000, the JSE included the requirement that 

headline earnings, calculated in terms of AC 306, should be published in interim reports, 

preliminary announcements and annual financial statements. Internationally, no other stock 

exchange has made the disclosure of HEPS mandatory (O‟Flaherty, 2006). 

Since 1993, South Africa has been harmonising its local accounting standards, South African 

Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA GAAP), with the international 

accounting standards. As the reporting framework in the United Kingdom was still based on UK 

GAAP at the time, it resulted in an increasing number of differences between the terminology 

                                                           
4 The AITF was formed by SAICA to establish a forum for the timely review of accounting issues that could result in diversified 

or unacceptable treatment in practice. As South Africa began to follow the international standards, the need for the AITF became 

less and this committee no longer exists. 
5 The McGregor Information Service subsequently merged with the Bureau of Financial Analysis (BFA) to form McGregor BFA. 
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and accounting treatments used in UK GAAP and SA GAAP. Consequently, it became more 

difficult to apply SIP 1 in the South African context without amendment. As a result, SAICA 

replaced AC 306 with Circular 7/2002, Headline Earnings. Although this Circular includes the 

original SIP 1 developed in the United Kingdom, it also introduces an interpretation of SIP 1 

relating to the treatment of specific SA GAAP items for which the headline earnings treatment 

was not apparent from the original SIP 1. This interpretation of SIP 1 was prepared in 

conjunction with the United Kingdom committee. In addition, the Accounting Practices 

Committee (APC)
6
 occasionally issued additional interpretations on headline earnings. These 

were included in Appendix 2 of the Circular. 

The release of Circular 7/2002 coincided with an amendment to the JSE‟s listing requirements. 

For all years ending on or after 31 December 2003, listed companies were required to calculate 

and disclose HEPS in terms of the new Circular 7/2002 and no longer in terms of AC 306.  

Although SA GAAP had already been harmonised with the international accounting standards 

for a number of years, the JSE listing requirements were amended to require all listed companies 

to comply with IFRS for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2005. Mainly as a result of 

this, in South Africa, interest in HEPS once again increased. During 2006, two articles featured 

in a local professional magazine, Accountancy SA, contributed to the debate about the usefulness 

of HEPS in South Africa. The first article was by O‟Flaherty (2006), a member of the APC, who 

argues that the international accounting standard on earnings per share (EPS) allows an entity to 

disclose additional per share measures. He maintains that entities should be allowed to decide for 

themselves what other per share measures they would like to disclose. In addition, he argues that 

the rules-based HEPS formula provides incentives for management to adopt selective accounting 

                                                           
6 The APC develops and prepares proposed accounting standards for South Africa for approval by the Accounting Practices 

Board (APB). 
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policies to improve an entity‟s HEPS (O‟Flaherty, 2006). In his view, which is consistent with 

the global shift towards a single performance statement (comprehensive income), the users of 

financial statements should decide for themselves how a particular company‟s performance 

should be measured.  

Brooking (2006), the chairperson of the Accounting Practices Board (APB),
7
 responded to this 

attack on HEPS in a subsequent article, in which he highlights the fact that the users of financial 

statements are constantly searching for tools and guidelines to assist them in their individual 

decision-making processes. In his opinion, HEPS is often used as a summary measure of 

performance, while the PER is often used a summary measure of value (Brooking, 2006). He 

therefore argues that the use of headline earnings as a standard measure in calculating the PER 

should not be underestimated (Brooking, 2006). He also highlights the fact that, unlike their 

United Kingdom counterparts, the financial media and analysts in South Africa had not 

contributed resources for developing a standardised PER, and therefore, requiring companies to 

calculate their own HEPS figure to comply with the JSE‟s listing requirements provided a 

pragmatic solution (Brooking, 2006). 

In an attempt to obtain a solution to the questions that had been raised, SAICA circulated a 

questionnaire to determine whether HEPS figures were, in fact, used. The purpose of the survey 

was to identify concerns experienced in the calculation of HEPS and to obtain suggestions for 

the improvement of the measure. In total, 157 responses were received to this questionnaire. Of 

these, 42% came from the preparers of financial statements, 16% from analysts and 13% from 

auditors (Stegmann, 2006). The responses were generally favourable towards HEPS, as 68% of 

the respondents confirmed that they used HEPS (Stegmann, 2006). 

                                                           
7 The 1973 South African Companies Act became effective on 1 January 1974 and the APB was constituted with the function of 

laying down what generally accepted practice is considered to be. 
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The only concern that remained for SAICA was that the distinction between the capital platform 

and operating activities of an entity, as contained in the original headline earnings formula, had 

become blurred as a result of developments in financial reporting and the financial markets 

(SAICA, 2007a). Some aspects cited in this regard are the continued focus of the IFRS on the 

recognition of assets and liabilities (the balance sheet approach), the increased use of fair value 

and the increased complexity and use of financial instruments (SAICA, 2007a). 

At the request of the JSE, SAICA, in consultation with the headline earnings sub-committee of 

the CFA UK, revised the headline earnings formula to align it with the IFRS. The revised 

formula was released during August 2007 in Circular 8/2007, Headline Earnings. The revised 

formula has been effective in South Africa for all financial periods ending on or after 31 August 

2007. The Financial Times in the United Kingdom also adopted the revised headline earnings 

formula (SAICA, 2007a).  

During 2009, SAICA provided further clarification on the treatment of specific IFRS items for 

the purposes of headline earnings. To this effect, SAICA issued its revised Circular 3/2009, 

Headline Earnings. SAICA argues that it is “extremely unlikely” that the clarification provided 

in Circular 3/2009 would result in any changes to the treatment originally prescribed by Circular 

8/2007 (SAICA, 2009). 

2.5 The definition of headline earnings 

The definition of headline earnings in SIP 1 contains a number of rules on which items are to be 

included and excluded from headline earnings, based on the underlying principles discussed in 

the previous sections. Hence, the definition of headline earnings is essentially rule-driven and 

provides little scope for interpretation (O‟Flaherty, 2006). According to the latest definition of 
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headline earnings, as revised in 2007 by SAICA, headline earnings refers to basic earnings 

excluding separately identifiable remeasurements, other than included remeasurements (SAICA, 

2007b). This definition therefore determines that, as a starting point, all remeasurements
8
 are 

excluded from headline earnings. However, some remeasurements are then re-included within 

headline earnings, because they relate to the operating or trading activities of an entity. The focus 

on remeasurements in the revised definition (as opposed to all capital items) provides a more 

consistent mechanism for determining headline earnings in the IFRS context (SAICA, 2007a). In 

SAICA‟s opinion, the exclusion of most remeasurements, other than those stemming from 

operating activities, is consistent with the original definition of headline earnings. The CFA UK 

(2007) supports this view, stating that “databases can be seen as a continuum”. 

Items that are excluded from headline earnings include certain one-time items, such as 

 goodwill impairment and bargain purchase gains in a business combination; 

 the gain or loss on the remeasurement to fair value of non-current assets held for sale; 

 the gain or loss on the disposal of assets or disposal groups constituting discontinued 

operations; 

 impairment losses (and the subsequent reversal thereof) on items of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets; 

 gains/losses on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities.  

The headline earnings definition also excludes some reclassifications from equity to profit or 

loss, for example, the subsequent reclassification of foreign currency translation differences and 

                                                           
8 Circular 8/2007 (SAICA, 2007b) defines a remeasurement as an amount recognised in profit or loss for the period relating to 

any change in the carrying amount of an asset or a liability that arose after the initial recognition of such an asset or liability. A 

remeasurement can be either realised or unrealised. 
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gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets originally recognised in equity (via other 

comprehensive income) to profit or loss. All fair value adjustments to investment property 

accounted for in terms of IAS 40, Investment Property, are also excluded from headline earnings.  

All other items, for example, share-based payments, depreciation and amortisation, curtailments 

and settlements on employee benefit plans, changes recognised on provisions and gains and 

losses on cash flow hedges reclassified from equity to profit or loss, are included in headline 

earnings. 

Headline earnings is therefore not considered a departure from the IFRSs. It is regarded, rather, 

as a way of decomposing the IFRS-reported profit between remeasurements that are closely 

related to the operating activities of the entity and the platform used to generate them (SAICA, 

2007a). Appendix 1 contains an example of the required disclosure. 

2.6 Alternative earnings measures 

The purpose of my study is to investigate the persistence, value relevance and pricing of earnings 

components in the South African setting, where both the disaggregation and separate disclosure 

of non-recurring items are mandatory. Hence, I focus on headline earnings, the disclosure of 

which is mandatory in terms of the JSE‟s regulations. 

Arguably, firms could highlight earnings measures other than headline earnings in their 

corporate communications; for example, firms could emphasise “operating earnings”. In the 

Basis for Conclusions to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, the IASB (2010) notes the 

following in paragraphs BC55 and BC56: 
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„Operating activities‟ are not defined in IAS 1, and the Board decided not to require 

disclosure of an undefined term. The Board recognises that an entity may elect to disclose 

the results of operating activities, or a similar line item, even though this term is not defined. 

In such cases, the Board notes that the entity should ensure that the amount disclosed is 

representative of activities that would normally be regarded as “operating”. In the Board‟s 

view, it would be misleading and would impair the comparability of financial statements if 

items of an operating nature were excluded from the results of operating activities, even if 

that had been industry practice. For example, it would be inappropriate to exclude items 

related to operations (such as inventory write downs and restructuring and relocation 

expenses) because they occur irregularly or infrequently or are unusual in amount. 

Similarly, it would be inappropriate to exclude items on the grounds that they do not involve 

cash flows, such as depreciation and amortisation expense (own emphasis added). 

Three important aspects emerge in the above quote from the IASB. Firstly, the disclosure of 

operating earnings is voluntary. Hence, operating earnings is subject to similar incentives to 

managers to manipulate pro forma earnings in the United States. The purpose of my study is to 

evaluate the mandatory reporting of headline earnings in South Africa, which contrasts with the 

voluntary disclosure approach regarding pro forma earnings in the United States. During 2004, 

SAICA issued a circular to its members to highlight the importance of paragraphs BC55 and 

BC56, because SAICA (2004) was of the opinion that firms were excluding the items referred to 

by the IASB from operating activities. This suggests that South African firms may have been 

managing their operating earnings. The mandatory headline earnings setting in my study ensures 

that the excluded components are less confounded by the effect of incentives to managers. 

Hence, it is easier to evaluate the actual properties of headline earnings exclusions.  
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Secondly, because the disclosure of operating earnings is voluntary in terms of IFRS, this means 

that the figures are not available for all firms in South Africa. Where this is the case, it is only 

possible to evaluate voluntary disclosers, but information about the reporting of headline 

earnings by non-disclosers of operating earnings would be lost.  

Thirdly, it is evident from the IASB‟s (2010) comment that operating earnings may include items 

that are excluded from headline earnings, because the term “operating” does not necessarily 

capture the recurrence of earnings components. This contradicts the purpose of the headline 

earnings definition in South Africa. 

As a result, I do not compare any voluntary earnings measures to headline earnings, as doing so 

is beyond the scope of my study. 

2.7 Headline earnings and comprehensive income 

IAS 1 requires firms to present items of other comprehensive income (OCI) on the face of their 

financial statements. OCI refers to gains, losses, revenues and expenses that are not recognised 

directly in the profit or loss for the period. The total of OCI is added to the profit for the year on 

the face of the financial statements to arrive at the total comprehensive income. 

OCI consists of items such as exchange differences regarding translating foreign operations, fair 

value adjustments to certain financial instruments, foreign exchange differences relating to cash 

flow hedges, gains on property revaluation and actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit 

pension plans. 

The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 (IASB, 2010) does not distinguish 

between gains, losses, revenue and expenses that should bypass the income statements (OCI) and 
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those that should not. However, advocates of OCI reporting often argue that these items are 

transitory in nature, and are not representative of a firm‟s recurring earnings (Chambers et al., 

2007; Jones and Smith, 2011). Chambers et al. (2007) claim that OCI is priced consistently with 

the economic theory that these items are transitory. Using joint tests of value relevance, 

persistence, and predictive value, Jones and Smith (2011) show that special items exhibit zero 

persistence, whereas OCI items exhibit negative persistence, which suggests that OCI items 

partially reverse over time.
9
 These findings suggest that special items and OCI have economic 

characteristics different to those of net income, and thus that their disaggregation from earnings 

is warranted. Neither Chambers et al. (2007) nor Jones and Smith (2011) test whether special 

items and OCI are priced accurately by investors, thus in a manner consistent with their actual 

levels of persistence. 

The calculation of headline earnings commences with basic earnings (the bottom line profit for 

the period after preference dividends) and not total comprehensive income. Hence, all OCI items 

are excluded from headline earnings. Arguably this is done because many OCI items qualify for 

exclusion from headline earnings because they are remeasurements that do not relate to the 

operating or trading activities of an entity. In addition, OCI items are clearly identified in the 

financial statements, and users of the financial statements can therefore easily calculate an 

alternative headline earnings figure by re-including OCI items that users believe warrant 

inclusion. Appendix 2 illustrates how headline earnings relates to total comprehensive income. 

  

                                                           
9 Jones and Smith (2011) recognise that the negative persistence of OCI may be attributable to a reversal in market conditions 

prior to the derecognition of the asset or liability, or due to the recycling requirements of OCI items to profit or loss. 
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2.8 Conclusion 

In this chapter, I have argued that headline earnings disclosure has practical and theoretical 

relevance. Investors require an earnings figure to inform their predictions about the future. 

Economic income fails to fulfil this need, as economic income incorporates many fair value 

changes, which lack persistence. Thus far, researchers have been unable to explore whether the 

mandatory disclosure of an alternative earnings figure bridges the gap left by economic earnings 

empirically, as South Africa is possibly the only country in the world that has such a 

requirement. The purpose of this thesis is therefore to investigate the headline earnings 

disclosure framework in South Africa from the value relevance, persistence and pricing 

perspectives.  
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CHAPTER 3 

BACKGROUND TO VALUE RELEVANCE 

 

3.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this chapter is to review the value relevance literature to set the scene for the 

South African study, which follows in Chapter 4. I start the review of the literature by discussing 

the basic principles that underlie value relevance research, as well as some of the criticism which 

has been levelled against such studies. I then turn my attention to the value relevance of 

aggregate earnings and earnings components. Of particular importance to the study that follows 

in Chapter 4 is the review of the literature relating to the value relevance of non-recurring 

earnings components. The discussion of the literature includes references to studies based on 

data from the United States as well as from other countries. Next, I comment on the role of the 

efficient market hypothesis in value relevance research. Finally, I highlight the key findings from 

the literature review and their implications for Chapter 4. 

3.2 Prior research 

3.2.1 Background to value relevance 

Value relevance research investigates the association between accounting amounts and share 

prices or returns (Hellström, 2006). This type of research routinely employs regressions of 

contemporaneous share prices or returns on accounting variables to evaluate how accounting 

information maps onto those measures (Aboody, Hughes and Liu, 2002). An accounting amount 

is considered value relevant if it has a predicted association with share prices or share returns 
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(Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001; Holthausen and Watts, 2001). This approach assumes that 

an important function of accounting numbers is to reflect economic income as represented by 

share returns, and economic value as reflected by share prices (Hellström, 2006). 

Value relevance research has a well-established history. One of the first papers to investigate the 

association between accounting amounts and share prices/returns is that by Ball and Brown 

(1968). Amir (1993) was one of the first researchers to use the term “value relevance”. Since 

then, numerous studies have employed the value relevance methodology. More recent examples 

include studies investigating issues such as fair value pension accounting (Hann, Heflin and 

Subrumanayam, 2007), fair value accounting for liabilities and own credit risk (Barth, Hodder 

and Stubben, 2008) and corporate restructuring charges (Jaggi et al., 2009). 

Value relevance research uses accepted valuation models to assess the relevance and reliability 

of accounting amounts for equity investors who want to value firms‟ equity (Barth, Beaver and 

Landsman, 2001). Relevance and reliability are two of the qualitative characteristics of financial 

statements as identified in the International Accounting Standards Committee‟s (IASC‟s)
10

 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the “IASC 

Framework”) published in 1989. This Framework has been adopted by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
11

 since 2001. Relevance and reliability are also two of the 

primary criteria that the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) uses to choose among 

accounting alternatives, as specified in its Conceptual Framework (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 

2001). According to the IASC Framework, information has the quality of relevance when it 

influences the economic decisions of users by helping them to evaluate past, present or future 

                                                           
10 The IASC was replaced by the IASB during 2001. 
11 Recently, the IASB replaced parts of the 1989 Framework with the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 

(IASB, 2010). This revised framework is discussed in more detail in Section 3.2.2. 
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events (predictive value), or to correct their past evaluations (confirmatory value) (IASC, 1989). 

Information has the quality of reliability when it is free from material error and bias, and when 

users can depend on it to represent faithfully that which it purports to represent. 

Value relevance studies typically involve joint tests of relevance and reliability; and it is difficult 

to attribute the extent of (or the lack of) value relevance to one or the other attribute (Barth, 

Beaver and Landsman, 2001). However, when support for the value relevance of an accounting 

figure is found, it indicates that the figure contains – or is associated with - information that is 

relevant to investors and that the amount is measured sufficiently reliably to be reflected in share 

prices (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001). Hence, value relevance research attempts to 

operationalise the criteria of relevance and reliability empirically (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 

2001). 

Another important feature of value relevance studies is that they focus on equity investments 

(Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001). This is in line with the primary objective of financial 

statements, as established by the IASB and other standard setters. For example, the IASC 

Framework lists many users of financial statements, but recognises that financial statements that 

meet the needs of investors are likely to meet the needs of most other users too (IASC, 1989).  

Investors gain their information from numerous sources. Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) 

argue that information does not have to be new to a financial statement user to be relevant, 

because summarising or aggregating information that might be available from other sources is an 

important role played by financial statements. This comment highlights the distinction between 

value relevance and decision relevance: accounting information may be value relevant without 
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being decision relevant if it is superseded by more timely information (Barth, Beaver and 

Landsman, 2001).  

Hellström (2006) distinguishes between value relevance studies with a signalling perspective on 

the one hand and those with a measurement perspective on the other. Value relevance studies 

with a signalling perspective investigate whether there is a reaction to the announcement of 

accounting information, in other words, whether financial statements communicate “new” 

information (Hellström, 2006). By contrast, value relevance studies with a measurement 

perspective investigate the explicit relationship between the market indicators of the value of a 

firm and accounting measures (Hellström, 2006). Such value relevance studies are designed to 

establish whether particular accounting amounts reflect information that is used by investors in 

valuing a firm, regardless of where the investor obtained the information. Hence, value relevance 

research often adopts the perspective that accounting data may be regarded as a summary of the 

events that have affected the firm, irrespective of whether or not the accounting data contain any 

new information (Easton, 1999). Value relevance implies that equity values reflect an accounting 

amount if the two are correlated (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001). 

3.2.2. Criticism of value relevance research 

Holthausen and Watts (2001) question whether value relevance studies are able to contribute to 

standard setting decisions. In particular, they criticise three assumptions that are often made by 

value relevance studies, but that are inconsistent with FASB statements: 

 that equity investors are the dominant users of financial reporting and the valuation of equity 

is the dominant purpose of financial reporting; 
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 that share prices adequately represent equity investors‟ use of information in valuing equity 

securities; and 

 that share-price based tests of relevance and reliability measure relevance and reliability, as 

defined in the FASB‟s statements. 

Holthausen and Watts (2001) argue that the inconsistency of the tests of value relevance studies 

on FASB statements limits the ability of these studies to make a meaningful contribution to 

standard setting decisions. Holthausen and Watts (2001) thus hold a contrary view to that of 

Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) (see Section 3.2.1). 

During September 2010, the IASB published the Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting 2010 (the “revised Framework”), while the FASB published similar content as 

Concepts Statement No. 8 to replace Concepts Statements No. 1 and No. 2. The revised 

framework contains the boards‟ updated views on the concepts that underlie financial reporting 

and that should guide them in their standard setting decisions. In this section, I provide an 

updated view on the consistency of value relevance research related to the statements of the 

boards. 

Holthausen and Watts‟s (2001) first point of concern in respect of value relevance research is its 

exclusive focus on equity investors. The objective of general purpose financial reporting, 

according to the revised Framework is (IASB, 2010: par OB2), is 

. . . to provide financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing 

and potential equity investors, lenders and other creditors in making decisions about 

providing resources to the entity. 
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The stated objective of financial reporting is narrower and more direct than previous statements 

by the boards in that it identifies both the users and the uses of financial statements.  

The revised Framework identifies capital providers, namely equity investors, lenders and other 

creditors, as the primary group of financial statement users. Value relevance research generally 

does not consider lenders and other creditors. However, in many instances, equity investors are 

the primary and major capital providers. Hence, by focusing on equity investors, value relevance 

research provides useful insights for standard setting.  

Capital providers use financial reporting in making decisions in their capacity as capital 

providers (IASB, 2010: par OB3). In this regard, the revised Framework states: 

Decisions by existing and potential investors about buying, selling or holding equity and 

debt instruments depend on returns that they expect from an investment in those 

instruments, for example dividends, principal and interest payments or market price 

increases. . . Investors‟, lenders‟ and other creditors‟ expectations about returns depend 

on their assessment of the amount, timing and uncertainty of (the prospects) for future 

net cash inflows to the entity. Consequently, existing and potential investors, lenders 

and other creditors need information to help them assess the prospects of future net cash 

inflows to an entity. 

This statement by the boards provides a clearer link between the use of accounting information 

and equity valuation. Nichols and Wahlen (2004) summarise the theory that links financial 

reporting to equity values and returns. The theory establishes three links. First, consistent with 

the boards‟ statements, the theory establishes that financial reporting provides information to 

equity investors about current and expected future profitability. Second, the theory asserts that 
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current and expected future profitability provides equity investors with information about the 

firm‟s current and expected future dividends to shareholders. Finally, the theory assumes that 

share prices equal the present value of expected future dividends to shareholders.  

Holthausen and Watts‟s (2001) second point of concern regarding value relevance studies relates 

to the fact that, in their view, the statements of the FASB suggest that the FASB is interested in 

individual investors, not in investors in the aggregate, as represented by the stock market. This 

concern no longer appears valid, as the boards assert that their basic mission is “to serve the 

information needs of participants in capital markets” (IASB, 2010: par BC1.23). This mandate is 

clearly focused on capital markets. 

Holthausen and Watts‟s (2001) third point of concern relating to value relevance literature is that 

the attribute of verifiability in the FASB‟s definition of reliability is not captured by value 

relevance research. They present two arguments relating to value relevance studies that 

investigate accounting figures before the disclosure of the amounts are required by standards 

(“pre-standard data”). Firstly, they argue that pre-standard data may display value irrelevance, 

due to a lack of verifiability, but may subsequently become value relevant once the data are 

required by accounting standards and once the data have been audited. Alternatively, pre-

standard data may initially show value relevance, but may subsequently become value irrelevant 

once the data are required by the accounting standards, due to incentives to management to 

misrepresent amounts, reducing verifiability. 

Verifiability refers to one of the qualitative characteristics of financial information. The 

qualitative characteristics of financial statements are those attributes that make financial 

information useful (IASB, 2010). The revised Framework distinguishes between “fundamental 
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qualitative characteristics” and “enhancing qualitative characteristics”, depending on how these 

qualitative characteristics affect the usefulness of information (IASB, 2010). Fundamental 

qualitative characteristics are essential: in other words, they represent the characteristics that 

financial information must possess to be useful. Qualitative characteristics that enhance the 

usefulness of financial information are complementary to the fundamental qualitative 

characteristics; they distinguish more useful information from less useful information (IASB, 

2010). 

The revised Framework identifies relevance and faithful representation as the two fundamental 

qualitative characteristics, whereas comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability 

are identified as enhancing qualitative characteristics. It is worth noting that reliability is no 

longer listed as a separate qualitative characteristic, but is subsumed under faithful 

representation. The boards define “faithful representation” as follows (IASB, 2010: par QC12): 

Financial reports represent economic phenomena in words and numbers. To be useful, 

financial information must not only represent relevant phenomena, but it must also 

faithfully represent the phenomena that it purports to represent. To be a perfectly 

faithful representation, a depiction would have three characteristics. It would be 

complete, neutral and free from error. Of course, perfection is seldom, if ever, 

achievable. The Board‟s objective is to maximise those qualities to the extent possible. 

Regarding the requirement that financial statements be “free from error”, the boards state (IASB, 

2010: par QC15): 
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In this context, free from error does not mean perfectly accurate in all respects. For 

example, an estimate of an unobservable price or value cannot be determined to be 

accurate or inaccurate. 

Regarding the enhancing qualitative characteristic of “verifiability”, the boards state (IASB, 

2010: par BC3.36): 

Some respondents pointed out that including verifiability as an aspect of faithful 

representation could result in excluding information that is not readily verifiable. Those 

respondents recognised that many forward-looking estimates that are very important in 

providing relevant financial information (for example, expected cash flows, useful lives 

and salvage values) cannot be directly verified. However, excluding information about 

those estimates would make the financial reports less useful. The Board agreed and 

repositioned verifiability as an enhancing qualitative characteristic, very desirable but 

not necessarily required. 

Hence, it is evident that the boards are downgrading verifiability from a key concept that is 

supposed to guide standard setting to an enhancing qualitative characteristic. However, 

verifiability may affect investors‟ consensus beliefs - hence, as Holthausen and Watts (2001) 

point out, value relevance research investigating pre-standard data needs to be interpreted with 

caution, because the value relevance may be affected once the information is mandatory in terms 

of the particular accounting standards. This concern is not relevant to this study, because the 

study investigates the value relevance of information that is already required by regulation. 
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Despite Holthausen and Watts‟s (2001) criticism of value relevance research, the boards have 

given the following recognition to this area of research, while also acknowledging its potential 

shortcomings (IASB, 2010, par BC3.30): 

Empirical accounting researchers have accumulated considerable evidence supporting 

relevant and faithfully represented financial information through correlation with 

changes in the market prices of entities‟ equity and debt instruments. However, such 

studies have not provided techniques for empirically measuring faithful representation 

apart from relevance. 

In the boards‟ joint project on financial statement presentation, they also cite a number of value 

relevance studies in support of their decisions (IASB, 2008). For example, citing Dechow 

(1994), the boards claim that “academic research demonstrates that accrual accounting produces 

income numbers that are more highly associated with stock returns than are cash flows from 

operations or the change in cash during the period” (IASB, 2008: par 4.26). The boards also cite 

Barth (1991) and Landsman (1986), who argue that “research indicates that assets and liabilities 

recognised using accrual accounting are significantly associated with stock prices at the end of 

the period” (IASB, 2008: par 4.26). The boards therefore conclude that these “findings are 

consistent with the view that accrual accounting provides useful information in the statements of 

financial position and comprehensive income that is not provided by cash-basis accounting” 

(IASB, 2008: par 4.26). 

These quotes not only provide evidence that the boards do take cognisance of the value relevance 

literature in making standard setting decisions, but also show that the boards regard an 
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association between accounting amounts and share prices/returns as evidence that the 

information is useful. 

Recent value relevance studies continue to make claims about providing feedback to standard 

setters. In a recent study on the market valuation of accrual components, Francis (2008: 151) 

comments: 

The study also provides feedback to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 

concerning the usefulness of accounting information by highlighting equity investors‟ 

perceptions of the cash flow and accrual components of earnings. 

3.2.3 Value relevance of earnings 

In a landmark study in accounting research, Ball and Brown (1968) assess the usefulness of 

accounting earnings by investigating its information content and timeliness as evidenced by 

information contained in share prices and returns. They assume that capital markets are efficient 

and unbiased, in other words, that if information is useful in forming share prices, the market 

adjusts quickly to reflect that information (Ball and Brown, 1968). Their study has resulted in a 

paradigm shift in accounting research, because research prior to their 1968 study was generally 

based on a theoretical analysis of the usefulness of accounting information, as opposed to an 

empirical enquiry (Ball and Brown, 1968; Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). The results from their 

study suggest that the information captured in accounting earnings is useful, because, when the 

actual income differs from the expected income, the market typically reacts in the same direction 

(Ball and Brown, 1968). 

Since Ball and Brown‟s (1968) study appeared, researchers have documented evidence that 

suggests that various factors affect the strength of the returns-earnings association. Collins, 
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Maydew and Weiss (1997) list various factors that decrease the value relevance of accounting 

earnings, such as membership of intangible-intensive industries and small firm size. The 

inclusion of transitory earnings components in earnings also appears to reduce the strength of 

the returns-earnings association (Collins et al., 1997; Dechow, 1994; Kothari, 2001).  

The issue of earnings persistence is considered further in Section 3.2.5. Basu (1997) shows a 

non-linearity in the returns-earnings association, because losses (“bad news”) are included in 

earnings more quickly than gains (“good news”). In a reverse regression of earnings on returns, 

the slope coefficient and the adjusted R-square of returns are higher for firms with negative 

returns than for firms with positive returns. This is similar to the findings of Hayn (1995), who 

shows that the slope coefficient and adjusted R-square
 
of earnings in a regression of returns on 

earnings are higher for firms with profits than for firms with losses.  

Easton, Harris and Ohlson (1992) argue that there are “errors” in earnings, as share prices lead 

earnings in capturing value relevant information, resulting in a mismatch between information 

contained in earnings and information contained in contemporaneous returns. When they 

increase the return period, they find a significant increase in the adjusted R-square
 
of the returns-

earnings regression. Similarly, Easton et al.‟s (2000) study shows that the effect of the 

accounting recording lag is to draw the estimate of the earnings coefficient towards zero. 

Ramakrishnan and Thomas (1998) argue that earnings management may also lower earnings 

response coefficients. Another factor that may have an impact on the value relevance of 

accounting information is market efficiency (Hellström, 2006; Holthausen and Watts, 2001). This 

is considered in more detail in Section 3.2.10 below. 
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An important empirical question addressed by the literature is whether accrual earnings is a 

better summary measure of firm performance than cash flows, or vice versa. This issue is 

addressed in an early study by Dechow (1994), but the issue remains relevant, as is evident from 

a more recent study by Penman and Yehuda (2009).  

Dechow (1994) investigates whether accrual earnings or cash flows have a stronger relative 

association with contemporaneous returns. She argues that the primary role of accruals is to 

overcome problems associated with cash flows in measuring firm performance when firms are in 

continuous operation. Realised cash flows have timing and matching problems that make it a 

“noisy” measure of firm performance. Accruals address the problems associated with realised 

cash flows so that earnings reflect firm performance more closely. Her evidence shows that the 

returns-earnings association is stronger than the returns-cash flow association over short 

measurement intervals, when aggregate accruals are of a large magnitude, and the longer a firm‟s 

operating cycle. 

Penman and Yehuda (2009) argue that finding a positive slope coefficient on a returns-cash flow 

regression, as is the case in Dechow (1994), is at odds with economic theory, which predicts that, 

given earnings, free cash flow is value irrelevant. They specify a regression of returns on 

earnings, dividends and the book value of equity, and find that the coefficient on earnings is 

positive and significantly different from one. When free cash flow is included in the regression, 

the coefficient of earnings remains fairly unchanged, while the free cash flow variable is not 

significantly different from zero. In their view, these findings confirm the notion often held in 

accrual accounting that accrual earnings and not free cash flow affects the value of equity. 

Although Penman and Yehuda (2009) analyse the components of free cash flow, they do not 

analyse the components of earnings. Cash flow is a component of earnings (Sloan, 1996); hence, 
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the positive association between returns and earnings may in part be attributed to the cash flow 

component of earnings. 

3.2.4 Value relevance of earnings components 

A natural extension of the value relevance literature on aggregate earnings is the literature on the 

value relevance of components of earnings.  

Lipe‟s (1986) study appears to be the first to investigate the role played by line items in the 

income statement in explaining share returns. He uses an unexpected earnings framework to 

provide evidence on the value relevance of six earnings components (gross profit, general and 

administrative expense, depreciation expense, interest expense, income taxes and other items) 

that are disclosed in income statements in the United States. His findings indicate that the six 

components show significant additional explanatory power to supplement aggregate earnings. 

Similarly, Wild (1992) provides evidence that earnings components such as revenue, operating 

expense, depreciation and taxes provide incremental value relevant information beyond 

aggregate earnings.  

Francis (2008) provides evidence that investors find the information on receivables accrual more 

valuable than that on other operating accruals. This is consistent with the notion that the actual 

and expected cash flow realisations associated with accounts receivable are similar, while other 

operating accruals, such as inventory, contain more uncertainty.  

Lin (2006) investigates the enhanced information set perspective of Financial Reporting 

Standard (FRS) 3, Reporting Financial Performance, in the United Kingdom. He finds that 

operating profit, sales and its components (continuing and discontinued operations) have value 

relevance that is incremental to aggregate earnings. 
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Ohlson and Penman‟s (1992) study is interesting, because they argue that the disaggregation of 

earnings may be beneficial over short intervals, but not over long intervals. They call this the 

economic equivalence of line items; in other words, the market treats all line items in the same 

way if they are measured over long periods.  

In essence, Ohlson and Penman (1992) argue that the absence of measurement error in the 

components of earnings means that disaggregation does not improve the explanatory power of a 

returns-earnings regression. Their point is that if this premise holds, the magnitude of the 

coefficients of components of earnings in the returns-earnings regression should differ from each 

other and may even have the incorrect sign over short intervals. Because measurement errors 

diminish over longer intervals, they expect the coefficients of the components to have 

approximately the same magnitude and to have the correct sign over longer intervals.  

They show that in a regression of returns on aggregate earnings the adjusted R-square
 
increases 

from 11 per cent over a one-year interval to 43 per cent over a ten-year interval. When earnings 

is decomposed into six components (gross margin, operating expenses, depreciation, tax 

expenses, other income items and extraordinary and unusual items), the adjusted R-square
 

increases from 19 per cent to 48 per cent over a one-year interval. They regard this finding as 

consistent with the argument that disaggregation is useful over shorter intervals, but not over 

longer intervals. In the disaggregated specification, they report the magnitude of the coefficients 

for gross margin (1.382), operating expenses (-1.367), depreciation (-1.443), tax expense            

(-0.784), other income (1.377) and extraordinary items (0.790) for a ten-year interval.  

They conclude that the convergence of the magnitude of the coefficients (in absolute values) 

over the longer interval shows that “earnings components are measured with increasing accuracy 
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as one lengthens the measurement interval, and thus their aggregation property becomes more 

workable” (Ohlson and Penman, 1992: 572).  

An important aspect is evident from the results of Ohlson and Penman (1992): the coefficient of 

extraordinary items (one-time items) over a ten-year interval is 57 per cent of the coefficient of 

gross margin. Hence, their inference does not extend to one-time items. Even if all earnings 

components are measured without error, whether the measurements is over short or long 

intervals, differences in persistence of earnings components would make disaggregation 

necessary in order to provide investors with the information to make this assessment. This issue 

is considered in more detail in the next section. 

3.2.5 Background: Value relevance of one-time items 

This section is of particular importance for the focused study contained in Chapter 4, as the main 

emphasis in Chapter 4 is the investigation of the value relevance of non-recurring (one-time) 

items in South Africa. 

Earnings persistence refers to the likelihood that a firm‟s earnings level will recur in future 

periods (Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). Persistent earnings contribute much more to share value 

than transitory earnings do (Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). Hence, an understanding of the 

characteristics of less persistent items, or one-time items, is important for fundamental analysis. 

Indeed, capital market research contains evidence that is consistent with the argument that 

persistence of earnings affects the valuation of earnings and its components by the market 

(Sloan, 1996). 

“Shocks” to earnings represent the unexpected portion of earnings. Ramakrishnan and Thomas 

(1998) distinguish between permanent and transitory shocks to earnings. Permanent shocks cause 
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all future earnings to change by the same amount of the shock, whereas transitory shocks affect 

only the current period earnings and have been associated with earnings following a mean-

reverting process (Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998). They argue that, although the accounting 

treatment of earnings shocks is often consistent with the nature of the underlying event, where 

events with multi-period (single-period) consequences generate permanent (transitory) earnings 

shocks, the nature of earnings shocks is ultimately determined by the accounting rules. In 

essence, the accounting treatment could convert a multi-period shock to a single period impact 

on earnings through fair value accounting. In an extreme case, only transitory shocks would be 

observed if a firm followed fair value accounting for all assets and liabilities.  

Ramakrishnan and Thomas (1998) and Easton et al. (2000) provide analyses of the expected 

impact of transitory earnings on earnings response coefficients. Ramakrishnan and Thomas 

(1998) show mathematically that when an unexpected shock to earnings occurs (for example, an 

increase of 50 in rental expense in perpetuity with an expected rate of return of ten per cent), the 

coefficient of the unexpected earnings depends on the underlying accounting treatment. If 

accounting permits fair value adjustments to recognise the full increase in value of 500 in the 

current period, the expected coefficient is one. However, if accounting only recognises the 

permanent shift in expected future cash flows of 50 in the current period, the expected coefficient 

is greater than one. In the first case, the earnings shock is transitory, while in the second case, the 

earnings shock is permanent. Easton et al. (2000) present evidence that the presence of one-time 

items in earnings lowers the earnings coefficient in a returns-earnings regression, because these 

items tend to be transitory and these items often record a change in value that became known to 

the market in a prior period. 
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“Special items” is a common example of a one-time earnings component in the United States. 

Extensive literature documents special items, which includes one-time items identified by 

Compustat from the income statement and footnotes. The composition of the “special items” data 

item is determined, not by a formal definition specified in Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice (GAAP), but rather by Compustat‟s own definition (Burgstahler et al., 2002; Chen and 

Wang, 2004). Special items are mainly identified when companies disclose separate income 

statement line items in terms of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 30, which 

requires the disclosure of material events or transactions that are either unusual or infrequent 

(Chen and Wang, 2004). Special items typically result from accrual adjustments for impairment, 

write-downs or write-offs and restructuring charges (Dechow and Ge, 2006). The literature on 

special items is relevant to this study, because, like the exclusions from headline earnings, 

special items are, on average, assumed to be transitory/non-recurring. 

Various researchers present empirical evidence showing that the value relevance of earnings 

should decrease in special items (Cheng, Liu and Schaefer, 1996; Collins et al., 1997; Dechow, 

1994; Easton et al., 2000). This is consistent with the notion that special items represent “low 

quality” or transitory income items (Collins et al., 1997). In addition, most special items are 

losses - Basu (1997) argues that “bad news” (losses) has less of an impact on prices than “good 

news”. 

3.2.6 Signalling effect of one-time items 

Despite the notion that special items are one-time items that should have little relevance for the 

prediction of future firm performance, there is evidence which suggests that reporting special 

items has a signalling effect for future firm performance. Lin (2002) argues that it is not possible 
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to predict the impact of temporary earnings components on future earnings forecasts without 

investigating firms‟ future operating and investment policies. In other words, while one-time 

items may have lower value relevance than recurring earnings, they may signal important 

information to investors regarding future firm performance. Regardless of the implications of 

special items for future earnings, Dechow, Ge and Schrand (2010) argue that special items could 

be very relevant for evaluating the performance of management and prior decisions. 

Dechow and Ge (2006) document that low accrual firms with special items performed poorly 

over their previous financial period, based on a decline in sales, reporting losses and negative 

abnormal returns. Firms reporting special items also experienced a drop in analyst coverage and 

holdings by institutional investors. Special items are also indicative of firms exercising an 

abandonment option. Dechow and Ge (2006) also demonstrate that low accrual firms with 

special items are more likely to face bankruptcy, and that a larger proportion of these firms delist 

for performance-related reasons. In addition, special item firms have significantly higher 

information uncertainty, as evidenced by their noticeably high share turnover. Dechow and Ge 

(2006) conclude that special items reflect underlying economics and are indicative of firms that 

have over-invested in strategies that have not worked. As a consequence, these firms have 

performed poorly, and the recording of special items suggests that management has made an 

attempt to take action to turn the firm around. 

Elliott and Hanna (1996) show that, over their sample period from 1970 to 1994, firms with no 

negative special items have mean positive earnings before special items, while there is a 

monotonic increase in negative earnings before special items with the frequency of negative 

special items. In addition, firms reporting negative special items are characterised by high 

financial risk (Elliott and Hanna, 1996).  



56 
 

“Recurring non-recurring” special items may further hamper the ability of investors to evaluate 

the information content of special items. Elliott and Hanna (1996) claim that the frequent 

reporting of write-offs limits investors‟ ability to assess firm performance. Their findings show a 

significant decline in the weight of unexpected earnings before special items in quarters 

following the recognition of large special items; this weight declines further, or remains 

depressed, as subsequent write-offs are reported.  

Hence, firms with multiple write-offs are valued differently from other firms. Black et al. (2000) 

show that multiple write-down firms are in more financial distress than the average firm. They 

argue that repeated write-offs may establish a pattern that has permanent implications for 

earnings and cash flows, thereby making them value relevant events. For firms with single 

occurrences of one-time items, they find that such items are value relevant, and that the effect of 

the share price takes the same direction as the effect on aggregate earnings. However, for firms 

with multiple occurrences of such items, they find that the most recent occurrence of such an 

item is associated with a negative effect on share prices, regardless of whether the item has a 

positive effect on earnings or not. In essence, the results recorded by both Elliott and Hanna 

(1996) and Black et al. (2000) confirm that the market regards multiple occurrences of non-

recurring items as “bad news”.  

Cready, Lopez and Sisneros (2010) report that when the frequency with which prior negative 

special items are reported increases, the persistence of these items also increases. In contrast to 

Elliott and Hanna (1996), Cready et al. (2010) show that the coefficient of negative special items 

increases with the frequency of the reporting of prior negative special items. This evidence 

suggests that investors are able to distinguish between real non-recurring items and recurring 

non-recurring items. However, while Cready et al. (2010) show that investors‟ valuation of the 
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recurring non-recurring items is in the right direction, they do not specifically address whether 

investors‟ initial reaction to these items is complete. Hence, while investors may unravel the 

implications of recurring non-recurring items over time, combining recurring items with non-

recurring items may still impose an initial information processing cost on the market. 

Other researchers also provide evidence on the signalling effect of one-time items outside the 

United States. Giner and Reverte (1999) investigate the pricing of the earnings components of 

Spanish companies, where firms are required to disaggregate earnings into financial profit, 

extraordinary earnings and corporate tax. It is worth noting that the definition of extraordinary 

earnings in this context is similar to that of special items, because it includes gains and losses 

from fixed assets and long-term financial investment disposal. Focusing on firms with the least 

and most persistent earnings, Giner and Reverte (1999) report that extraordinary earnings 

provide value relevance that is incremental to earnings for the firms with the least persistent 

earnings in their sample, but that this is not the case for the firms with the most persistent 

earnings. This evidence implies that extraordinary items do provide important feedback value to 

some investors. 

Lin (2006) investigates the value relevance of “super exceptional items” in the United Kingdom. 

Analogous to special items, super exceptional items include one-time items such as gains or 

losses from discontinued operations, reorganisation and the sale of fixed assets. Lin (2006) 

argues that super exceptional items are irrelevant to a firm‟s regular activities, but that they may 

be used to signal a change in a firm‟s future operating and investment strategies. In such a case, 

super exceptional items are expected to contain value relevant information beyond operating 

profit. His findings are consistent with his prediction. 
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While some researchers show that the value relevance of earnings decreases as special items 

increase, others show that the cash flow from operations and the book value of equity are 

increasingly important as a value signal in the presence of one-time earnings components. 

Collins et al. (1997) show that non-recurring items affect the value relevance of the book value 

of equity, because a decrease in the value relevance of earnings is often associated with an 

increase in the value relevance of the book value of equity. The book value of equity may show 

higher value relevance than earnings when current earnings does not provide a good proxy for 

future earnings, and when abandonment (liquidation) becomes more likely (Collins et al., 1997). 

Cheng et al. (1996) demonstrate that the incremental information content of accounting earnings 

decreases, and the incremental information content of cash flows from operations increases, with 

a decrease in the permanence of earnings. This suggests that one-time items with limited 

valuation implications reduce the earnings implications of share returns, but elevate the 

importance of cash flows. 

3.2.7 One-time items and earnings management 

Black et al. (2000) provide evidence that firms tend to use special items to reverse prior earnings 

management practices. Similarly, Chan et al. (2006) find that high-accrual firms have 

significantly higher income-decreasing special items in years subsequent to reporting high 

accruals than low-accrual firms do. The large increase in income-decreasing accruals for firms in 

the highest accrual quintile indicates that the effects of earnings management in previous years 

are reversed over time and are reflected as part of special items.  
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The fact that most special items in the United States are income-decreasing (losses) also supports 

the earnings management hypothesis, because management may have incentives to highlight the 

transitory nature of losses, but not of gains. 

Chen and Wang (2004) argue that income statements in the United States do not unambiguously 

separate persistent earnings from non-persistent earnings components. This suggests that the 

composition of special items is heavily influenced by management discretion about which items 

are to be reported as separate line items. This provides a rationale for the investigation of one-

time items in an international context. 

3.2.8 International evidence on one-time items 

Chen and Wang (2004) provide evidence from China, where below-the-line items are 

overwhelmingly increasing and often account for a large percentage of a firm‟s aggregate 

earnings. Chinese GAAP specifies the mandatory disclosure format of earnings components with 

different levels of persistence. Below-the-line items are generally considered as less than 

recurring in China (Chen and Wang, 2004). Surprisingly, Chen and Wang (2004) find that the 

market attaches greater weight to below-the-line items than to operating income in both returns 

and price regressions although they are unable to provide direct evidence to explain this 

anomalous finding.  

Both Ballas (1999) and Lin (2006) investigate the pricing of earnings components in the United 

Kingdom. Ballas (1999) finds that the rate at which the market capitalises extraordinary items 

(items from material non-core events or activities that are not expected to recur frequently) is 

lower than the rate at which the market capitalises earnings from ordinary activities, but that 

there is no significant difference between the capitalisation rates for exceptional items (items 
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from material core events or activities that require separate disclosure due to their size or 

incidence) and earnings from ordinary activities. This provides some evidence that the separate 

disclosure of extraordinary items is warranted. 

Lin (2006) compares bottom-line (basic) earnings per share (FRS 3 Earnings Per Share (EPS)) to 

EPS before super exceptional items (EPSEBE) disclosed voluntarily by some firms in the United 

Kingdom. First regressing share returns on the per share measures individually, he reports an 

adjusted R-square
 
of 14.22 per cent on FRS 3 EPS and 18.9 per cent on EPSEBE. Consistent 

with the argument that one-time items have low persistence, this result indicates that EPSEBE 

has higher value relevance than FRS 3 EPS. After adding the EPSEBE to the FRS 3 EPS 

regression, the adjusted R-square
 
increases from 14.22 per cent to 19.04 per cent. The difference 

of 3.56 per cent is statistically significant at a one per cent level. This result indicates that 

EPSEBE has value relevance that is incremental to FRS 3 EPS, justifying the separate disclosure 

of these items.  

3.2.9 Value relevance of headline earnings 

Headline earnings exclusions represent particular one-time items identified in terms of the 

definition originally developed by the Institute of Investment Management and Research (IIMR) 

in the United Kingdom and originally adopted and subsequently updated by the South African 

Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) in South Africa. These exclusions form the main 

area of interest of the study contained in Chapter 4. Since 1994, the IIMR definition of headline 

earnings has been used in the calculation of the price/earnings ratios (PERs) of firms in the 

United Kingdom, as published in the Financial Times. In addition, Lin (2006) reports that many 

firms choose to disclose headline earnings per share (HEPS) voluntarily in the United Kingdom. 
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Since 2000, firms listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) are required to disclose 

HEPS in terms of the listing requirements and also to present a reconciliation between earnings 

established in terms of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and headline 

earnings in the financial statements. 

Lin and Walker (2000) investigate the joint and incremental explanatory value of book value per 

share, the “all inclusive” EPS and a proxy HEPS for a cross-section of United Kingdom share 

prices. They perform their tests by regressing share prices on the three independent variables for 

two separate years, 1993 and 1996. They also regress the change in the share price between 1993 

and 1996 on the changes in the independent variables over that period. They find that book value 

per share and HEPS are statistically significant (at a one per cent level) in all three regressions, 

while the “all-inclusive” earnings per share is only statistically significant (at a five per cent 

level) for one of the regressions. Based on these results, they conclude that HEPS performs much 

better in explaining share prices than the FRS 3 earnings. 

Lin (2006) investigates the value relevance of the voluntary disclosure of HEPS in the United 

Kingdom. He finds that for firms that voluntarily disclose HEPS, a regression of share returns on 

FRS 3 EPS and changes in FRS 3 EPS renders an adjusted R-square
 
of 14.22 per cent, while a 

regression of share returns on HEPS and changes in HEPS renders an adjusted R-square
 
of 20.07 

per cent. The coefficients of the levels (changes) in earnings move from 1.62 (-0.08) in the 

FRS 3 regressions to 2.36 (0.46) in the HEPS regression. The higher earnings response 

coefficient for HEPS (2.36) compared to FRS 3 EPS (1.62) shows that investors consider 

headline earnings to be more persistent than basic earnings. Overall, the results indicate that 

HEPS has higher value relevance than FRS 3 EPS. This is consistent with the claim that one-

time items excluded from headline earnings have low persistence and are therefore less relevant 
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for the evaluation of future firm performance. Combining FRS 3 EPS and HEPS in one 

regression increases the adjusted R-square
 
of the FRS 3 regression from 14.22 per cent to 20.28 

per cent. This indicates that HEPS has incremental value relevance to FRS 3 EPS. In other 

words, the items excluded from headline earnings are not completely value irrelevant. Taken 

together, these findings suggest that investors may benefit from disaggregated disclosure of one-

time items excluded from headline earnings.  

Although the studies by Lin and Walker (2000) and Lin (2006) provide early evidence of the 

value relevance of headline earnings compared to basic earnings, this evidence is based on 

limited data. The use of the inaccurate proxy measure for HEPS, particularly in Lin and Walker‟s 

(2000) study, may raise questions about the validity of their results. Their studies investigate the 

voluntary disclosure of HEPS, which means that their findings cannot be generalised to the 

mandatory reporting of HEPS (which would be applicable in South Africa, for example). Their 

studies also investigate HEPS based on United Kingdom reporting practices, whereas HEPS in 

South Africa is based on IFRS reporting practices. 

Stainbank and Harrod (2007) have conducted a survey of the perceptions of financial managers 

in South Africa of the importance of HEPS and the actual disclosure practices relating to HEPS 

in selected companies‟ annual reports. They report that respondents generally rank HEPS above 

basic earnings per share (BEPS), followed by cash flow per share and diluted earnings per share 

(DEPS). However, this study provides only indirect evidence of the value relevance of headline 

earnings in South Africa. 

  



63 
 

3.2.10 Impact of market efficiency on value relevance 

Market efficiency is a relevant consideration for this South African study, as South Africa is an 

emerging financial market (Hearn, Piesse and Strange, 2010). This has an important implication 

for value relevance research in South Africa, because the relation between share prices and 

underlying economic fundamentals may be weaker in less efficient markets (Pincus, Rajgopal 

and Venkatachalam, 2007). 

Researchers have shown that market efficiency has an impact on the value relevance of 

accounting numbers. Kothari (2001) summarises evidence that shows that smaller-than-predicted 

values of earnings response coefficients are consistent with capital market inefficiency. 

Hellström (2006) compares the value relevance of accounting information in the transitional 

economy of the Czech Republic with the well-developed market economy of Sweden throughout 

the Czech Republic‟s transition period from 1994 to 2001. She shows that the value relevance of 

accounting information in the Czech Republic at this time was indeed lower than in Sweden, 

particularly so in the beginning of the transition process, but that the value relevance of 

accounting information increased throughout the transition process. This evidence is consistent 

with the assumption that the development of market efficiency increases the value relevance of 

accounting information. 

Holthausen and Watts (2001) argue that value relevance studies need to assume that capital 

markets are reasonably efficient, but that, in the absence of market efficiency, the variables 

reflected in share prices would not be good estimates of the variables of interest and good 

benchmarks for standard setting decisions. Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) disagree. They 

argue that value relevance research does not require an assumption of market efficiency, because 
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value relevance research only needs to assume that share prices reflect investors‟ consensus 

beliefs. With this assumption, inferences from value relevance studies relate to the extent to 

which accounting amounts reflect the amounts implicitly assessed by investors as reflected in 

share prices. Due to market inefficiency, share prices may not necessarily reflect the “true” 

underlying economic firm value. However, with the further assumption of market efficiency, 

inferences from value relevance studies could make claims about the extent to which the 

accounting amount of interest reflects the true underlying value of that amount. 

Aboody et al. (2002) argue that the empirical evidence showing an association between 

accounting variables and future share returns (for example, Sloan, 1996) demonstrates market 

inefficiency, which means that part of the impact of information captured by those variables is 

likely to surface in the future rather than in current prices. To illustrate, the market may find an 

accounting variable value relevant but may initially underreact to this variable. Such a variable 

may show low or no value relevance with contemporaneous returns, leading the researcher to 

conclude incorrectly that the variable has little or no value relevance. The literature has shown 

that the market corrects initial inefficiencies over time (Sloan, 1996). Intuitively, lengthening the 

time horizon over which one measures the value relevance of the accounting variables is likely to 

mitigate market inefficiency effects. Aboody et al. (2002) illustrate an adjustment procedure to 

conventional value relevance research design which adjusts for delayed market reactions. 

The arguments of Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001), Holthausen and Watts (2001) and 

Aboody et al. (2002) need to be evaluated in the context of a particular research question. In 

essence, Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) make the point that “bias” must be evaluated 

relative to an underlying concept. In other words, if the research question relates to the value 

relevance of accounting variables for “true” economic value, market efficiency is a necessary 
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assumption to interpret the results as “unbiased” estimates of true values. If the research question 

is interested in the value relevance of accounting variables for investors‟ consensus beliefs, 

market efficiency is not a necessary assumption to obtain “unbiased” estimates of investors‟ 

consensus beliefs, because share prices reflect their beliefs.  

Aboody et al.‟s (2002) interpretation falls somewhere in between the argument of Holthausen 

and Watts (2001) and that of Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001). One interpretation is that if 

researchers fail to correct for market inefficiencies, the results will be “biased” estimates of 

“true” value. Another interpretation is that if researchers fail to correct for market inefficiencies, 

the results will be “biased” estimates of investors‟ final consensus beliefs. The latter 

interpretation is only plausible if a researcher is interested in investors‟ longer-term beliefs. 

Investors‟ immediate reaction is, in essence, their consensus beliefs at a given time. Investors 

may take time to evaluate the value relevance of accounting information (indicating market 

inefficiency), resulting in accounting information showing low or no value relevance initially, 

but becoming value relevant later. If this is the case, a plausible interpretation is that the original 

estimate of investors‟ consensus beliefs is a “biased” estimate of their final beliefs, but not of 

their original beliefs, effectively showing that investors‟ consensus beliefs change over time. 

3.3 Conclusion 

In this section I summarise the main points evident from the literature review: 

 Value relevance research investigates the association between accounting amounts and share 

prices and returns. It can make a contribution to standard setting by updating standard setters‟ 

beliefs about investors‟ views, implicit in share price/returns, on the value of accounting 

information (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001). In Chapter 4, I use the value relevance 
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research method to investigate investors‟ beliefs about the headline earnings disclosure 

framework in South Africa. 

 Various factors reduce the value relevance of accounting earnings, for example, the presence 

of losses (Basu, 1997; Hayn, 1995) and one-time items (Collins et al., 1997; Dechow, 1994; 

Kothari, 2001) in earnings. My analysis in Chapter 4 focuses on the one-time items identified 

in South Africa using the headline earnings definition. I also conduct separate analyses to 

ascertain the effect of loss observations on the findings. 

 Disaggregated earnings contains more value relevant information than aggregate earnings 

does (Lin, 2006; Lipe, 1986; Ohlson and Penman, 1992; Wild, 1992). In Chapter 4, I 

investigate whether headline earnings exclusions contain value relevance incremental to 

basic earnings. I also compare the relative value relevance of headline earnings to basic 

earnings. 

 “Special items” is a common example of a one-time earnings component in the United 

States. Several researchers provide evidence that the value relevance of earnings is 

decreasing in the amount of special items (Cheng et al., 1996; Collins et al., 1997; Dechow, 

1994; Easton et al., 2000). By analogy, I expect headline earnings exclusions to reduce the 

value relevance of aggregate earnings. This suggests that the disaggregation of headline 

earnings exclusions from basic earnings should provide value relevant information to 

investors. I test this prediction in Chapter 4. 

 Despite the lower value relevance of special items compared to that of other earnings 

components, special items may signal relevant information about the future performance of a 

firm (the signalling effect of special items). Special item firms typically experience poor 

financial performance, a drop in analyst coverage, a drop in institutional holdings and a 
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higher probability of bankruptcy and delisting (Dechow and Ge, 2006; Elliott and Hanna, 

1996). This results in an increase in the value relevance of other value signals, such as cash 

flow from operations (Cheng et al., 1996) and the book value of equity (Collins et al., 1997). 

I extend my analysis in Chapter 4 to investigate the incremental value relevance of the book 

value of equity under various conditions, to examine differences, for example, in cases of 

extreme earnings and firm size. 

 One-time items are often used as an earnings management tool (Black et al., 2000; Chan et 

al., 2006). Unlike special items, headline earnings exclusions are specifically identified in 

terms of a formally promulgated definition. Hence, it is expected that the opportunity to 

manage headline earnings is less common than opportunities to manipulate special items. 

However, I do not specifically investigate the earnings management practices regarding 

headline earnings in this study. 

 HEPS is disclosed voluntarily in the United Kingdom, and shows higher value relevance than 

FRS 3 EPS (Lin, 2006; Lin and Walker, 2000). In my study, the emphasis is on the 

mandatory reporting of headline earnings. 

 Market inefficiency could potentially influence the inferences drawn from value relevance 

research (Holthausen and Watts, 2001; Aboody et al., 2002). In the presence of market 

inefficiency, researchers can only deduce whether investors‟ consensus beliefs are reflected 

in market values. In Chapter 4, I do not make any assumptions about market efficiency. I 

concur with the view of Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) that value relevance research 

only needs to assume that share prices are unbiased estimates of investors‟ consensus beliefs 

and not necessarily that they reflect “true economic value”. Standard setters are interested in 
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value relevance research, even if share prices violate the efficient market hypothesis (Barth et 

al., 2001). 
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CHAPTER 4 

MANDATORY EARNINGS DISAGGREGATION  

AND THE VALUE RELEVANCE OF EARNINGS COMPONENTS 

 

4.1 Introduction 

There is little doubt that earnings is an important output of the accounting system (Dichev, 2008; 

Entwistle et al., 2010). Chief Financial Officers (CFOs) regard earnings as the most important 

financial metric to external stakeholders (Graham, Harvey and Rajgopal, 2005) and the use of 

price-earnings multiples remains popular with analysts (Demirakos, Strong and Walker, 2004). 

Given its perceived importance, it is concerning that recent evidence suggests that the 

informativeness of earnings as a predictor of long-term profitability is declining (Dichev and 

Tang, 2008). Many believe that the decline in the informativeness of earnings is caused by 

standard setters‟ balance sheet perspective and an increase in the recognition of current value 

adjustments in earnings. For example, Ohlson (2006: 271) argues that the main disadvantage of 

standard setters‟ balance sheet approach to financial reporting pertains to “the proliferation of 

special charges that are necessary to prevent the overvaluation of assets relative to estimates of 

their fair values”. He argues that non-recurring items make it difficult for investors to identify a 

bottom line that corresponds roughly to a firm‟s sustainable earnings (Ohlson, 2006). In a similar 

vein, Dichev and Tang (2008: 1426) argue that the prevailing balance sheet philosophy and the 

specific current agenda of both the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) suggests that this trend is going to continue, 
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and thus “a future in which reported earnings have evolved into something which is divorced 

from their classic role to gauge long-term value looks highly probable”.  

The balance sheet approach reduces the persistence of earnings, as it requires increased use of 

fair value, which introduces transitory shocks in the form of one-time components into earnings 

(Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998; Schipper and Vincent, 2003). The difficulty that one-time 

items present to investors is that they are, on average, non-recurring and when they are 

aggregated with other persistent (or sustainable) earnings components in the financial statements, 

the usefulness of earnings to predict future performance is impaired.  

A possible solution to this problem is disclosure, whereby earnings is disaggregated in the 

financial statements based on differing levels of persistence. Currently, neither the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) nor United States Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

(US GAAP) requires such disclosure. Dichev and Tang (2008: 1455) posit that the proliferation 

of pro forma earnings and the separate disclosure of special items in the United States can be 

regarded as a “somewhat instinctive and disorderly attempt to provide the important distinction 

between persistent and recurring components of earnings from sporadic and non-recurring 

components”. However, the evidence suggests that these attempts have not been entirely 

successful, mainly because these alternative earnings measures are not formally defined. This 

causes pro forma earnings to lack comparability and makes it susceptible to earnings 

management. For example, Bhattacharya et al. (2004) report that not only do different firms use 

different definitions of pro forma earnings, but individual firms do not use a consistent definition 

of pro forma earnings from one period to the next. McVay (2006) reports evidence that managers 

shift recurring expenses into special items to increase “core” earnings. Such practices exacerbate 

the problem, as classification shifting generates negative special items that are persistent 
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(Frankel and Roychowdhury, 2009). These concerns regarding pro forma earnings lead Dichev 

(2008: 465) to conclude that “very real costs exist in producing inferior earnings”. 

Given the general concern about the fact that earnings is losing its forward-looking use to 

investors and the “chaotic beginnings” of pro forma earnings, Dichev and Tang (2008) argue that 

research into various improved re-formulations of earnings is warranted. This study is a response 

to their call. 

In this study, I use the unique setting in South Africa, where disclosure of certain transitory/non-

recurring items has been mandatory since 2000. Specifically, South African companies listed on 

the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) have been required to disclose in their financial 

statements a “headline earnings” per share, in addition to the earnings per share (EPS) measures 

required by International Accounting Standard (IAS) 33, Earnings Per Share. Headline earnings 

is a way of decomposing the profit reported in terms of the IFRSs between remeasurements that 

are closely related to operating activities and the platform used to generate them (the capital 

base) (SAICA, 2007a). Effectively, headline earnings exclude certain transitory/non-recurring 

items.
12

 Thus, the purpose of this study is to determine whether the headline earnings reporting 

framework provides value relevant information to investors. 

The evidence from my study shows, as expected, that investors believe that headline earnings 

(the recurring part of earnings) has higher persistence than headline earnings exclusions (the 

non-recurring part of earnings). The findings indicate that headline earnings exclusions contain 

                                                           
12 Items that are excluded from headline earnings include impairment (and reversals) on goodwill, property, plant and equipment 

(PPE) and intangible assets, bargain purchase gains in a business combination, the gain/loss on the disposal of discontinued 

operations, gains/losses on the disposal of items of PPE, intangible assets and investments, the reclassification of foreign 

currency translation differences and the reclassification of gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets originally 

recognised in equity, and fair value adjustments to investment property. Appendix 1 contains an example of the required 

disclosure. 
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information that is incrementally value relevant to basic earnings. This evidence suggests that 

investors find the mandatory disaggregation of headline earnings exclusions from basic earnings, 

and the separate disclosure thereof in the financial statements, useful. Using data that pools 

positive and negative observations of earnings, tests of relative value relevance suggest that 

investors are indifferent as to whether basic earnings or headline earnings are chosen as a 

summary measure of performance. Additional analyses indicate that inferences regarding 

incremental and relative value relevance are much stronger for firms with positive earnings than 

for firms with negative earnings. In fact, using only observations with positive earnings, the 

evidence suggests that investors believe that headline earnings is a better summary measure of 

performance than basic earnings.  

My research makes three contributions. First, I contribute to the growing body of evidence that 

suggests that investors find measures of “core” earnings, which removes non-recurring items, 

both incrementally and relatively value relevant, compared to summary measures of performance 

such as those provided by GAAP (Barton, Hansen and Pownall, 2010; Bradshaw and Sloan, 

2002; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003; Collins et al., 1997; Entwistle et al., 2010; Lin, 2006). Prior 

research has focused on voluntary measures of performance - my research adds to this evidence 

by showing that “core” earnings have incremental and relative value relevance properties 

compared to summary GAAP earnings when the disclosure of “core” earnings is mandatory and 

regulated by a stock exchange. Second, I provide evidence that may be useful to the IASB and 

the FASB in their deliberations on ways to improve financial statement presentation by means of 

disaggregated disclosure. Finally, I provide evidence based on Africa‟s biggest economy and one 

of the leading developing stock exchanges world-wide. To date, there has been little capital 

market research using South African data, even though South Africa is a G-20 country, and 
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though the JSE is the largest securities exchange in Africa, acknowledged globally as a well-

regulated stock exchange. 

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows: Section 4.2 reviews the prior literature and 

develops the hypotheses; Section 4.3 discusses the sample; Section 4.4 details the research 

design; Section 4.5 discusses descriptive statistics; Section 4.6 presents the main results; Section 

4.7 contains the sensitivity analyses; and Section 4.8 concludes the chapter and the value 

relevance study. 

4.2 Prior research and hypotheses  

4.2.1 Background to hypotheses 

The value relevance of accounting information is primarily concerned with the role of 

accounting for equity valuation (Barth et al., 2001). The value relevance approach assumes that 

an important function of accounting figures is to reflect economic income as represented by 

share returns and economic value as reflected by share prices (Hellström, 2006; Francis, Olsson 

and Schipper, 2006). Hence, value relevance reflects the ability of accounting figures to explain 

the variability in share returns where earnings with greater explanatory power are considered to 

be of higher quality (Francis et al., 2006). In other words, the closer the measurement of an 

accounting amount is to its market (or fair) value, and the more timely the recognition, the higher 

its association with contemporaneous share returns and prices.  

However, an economic income view of earnings quality makes current earnings less informative 

to investors regarding predictions for future earnings (Dichev and Tang, 2008). Future 

predictions of earnings play an important role in equity valuation, because they aid in developing 

expectations for future dividends, which ultimately form the basis for share prices (Nichols and 
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Wahlen, 2004). In this framework, earnings persistence plays an important role, as persistent 

earnings contribute much more to share value than one-time earnings components do (Nichols 

and Wahlen, 2004). Earnings persistence refers to the likelihood that a firm‟s earnings level will 

recur in future periods where more sustainable earnings are of higher quality (Francis et al., 

2006; Melumad and Nissim, 2008; Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). Hence, the emphasis on earnings 

persistence stems from a desire to understand the role of current earnings in valuation (Frankel 

and Litov, 2009). 

Earnings persistence is influenced by several factors. Dichev and Tang (2009) posit that earnings 

persistence is determined by both economic and accounting factors. Firms operating in 

environments subject to large economic shocks are likely to have more volatile and less 

persistent earnings (Dichev and Tang, 2009). However, empirical evidence suggests that 

accounting factors influence earnings persistence greatly.  

Accounting factors influencing persistence are related to the accrual process. Sloan (1996) shows 

that persistence is negatively related to the level of accruals. Sloan (1996) attributes this finding 

to the subjectivity involved in estimating accruals. Dechow and Dichev (2002) develop a proxy 

for accrual quality based on the extent to which working capital accruals map into past, present 

and future cash flows. Their findings suggest that persistence is positively related to accrual 

quality (Dechow and Dichev, 2002). These findings are corroborated by Richardson et al. (2005) 

who argue that persistence is positively related to accrual reliability. Allen, Larson and Sloan 

(2010) claim that the lower persistence of accruals is due to the reversal of extreme accruals 

containing measurement error, while Dichev and Tang (2008) show that earnings persistence is 

negatively influenced by poor matching. 
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Dechow and Ge (2006) provide a link between the influence of economic and accounting factors 

on persistence. They show that accruals still perform a matching function for growth firms that 

are investing in assets, generating sales and expanding their businesses. In such firms, accrual 

adjustments improve earnings persistence, since they mitigate the transitory effect of negative 

cash flows on earnings. However, accruals lose their matching function for firms reducing assets 

and downsizing because, in such a case, accounting rules focus on correcting the balance sheet, 

resulting in non-recurring special items that reduce earnings persistence. 

The combined effect of these accounting factors results in the recognition of one-time items in 

earnings that reduce persistence and the predictive ability of aggregate earnings. Arguably, the 

usefulness of earnings to predict future earnings could be restored through the use of a robust and 

factual measure of earnings that is calculated on a standardised basis which excludes these one-

time items. Standard setters and stock exchanges around the world have not yet attempted to 

define such an earnings measure, but, meanwhile the use of headline earnings as a proxy for 

“core” earnings has been compulsory in South Africa since 2000. 

Prior research has examined the properties of alternative earnings measures defined on a 

voluntary basis (Doyle et al., 2003; Entwistle et al., 2010; Landsman et al., 2007), but past 

studies have not yet been able to consider whether the mandatory disclosure of “core” earnings 

in terms of a promulgated definition would increase the usefulness of earnings, because the 

United States and other large industrial nations do not require such a disclosure at present. South 

Africa is an exception. In South Africa, firms are required by the local stock exchange 

regulations to provide a headline earnings figure which effectively removes some non-recurring 

remeasurements. Moreover, South African firms must provide a reconciliation of IFRS earnings 

and headline earnings so that the excluded items can be easily and clearly identified by investors. 
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As the headline earnings disclosure is required to be presented in the financial statements, it is 

subject to external audit. I use this setting to examine whether the mandatory disaggregation of 

remeasurements and the required disclosure of items excluded from headline earnings provide 

value relevant information to investors. 

The benefit of mandatory disaggregation is that it may reduce earnings management and improve 

the comparability of earnings measures across firms and over time. The negative aspect of 

mandatory disclosure requirements is that it may inhibit managers‟ ability to inform investors 

better. For example, in the IFRS adoption literature, researchers have shown that the economic 

benefits of IFRS adoption were lower for mandatory adopters than for voluntary adopters 

(Christensen, Lee and Walker, 2008; Daske et al., 2008). The reason is that mandatory adopters 

are forced to comply with a “one size fits all” regulation (Li, 2010), unlike voluntary adopters, 

who themselves choose to follow a specific reporting practice. Hence, it remains an open 

question whether the mandatory disclosure of “core” earnings is value relevant, and this question 

has yet to be investigated empirically. 

The headline earnings definition was originally developed by an analyst society in the United 

Kingdom in 1993 in an attempt to produce a standard definition of earnings that could be used 

for the calculation of price-earnings ratios (PERs) on a consistent and comparable basis across 

firms (Damant, 2003). Although South Africa is the only country that requires the mandatory 

disclosure of headline earnings information in the financial statements, the headline earnings 

concept is also used for the calculation of PERs in the Financial Times for United Kingdom 

firms. Hence, the headline earnings definition has proved to be robust and practical in London 

and Johannesburg for more than a decade. 
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The headline earnings disclosure framework may provide a compromise between the IASB and 

FASB‟s balance sheet focus and those who believe that earnings should retain its key valuation 

properties. In this regard, the Chartered Financial Analyst Society of the United Kingdom (CFA 

UK, 2007) states that the headline earnings definition 

. . . produces a figure for headline earnings quite close to historic cost earnings. Those 

who are uneasy about mixing changes in fair values with trading performance, and 

hence PERs, will find that the headline earnings formula offers a solution since changes 

in fair value of balance sheet items (other than current assets and liabilities) are 

excluded from headline earnings. 

The interest in headline earnings as a summary measure of performance is slowly extending 

beyond London and Johannesburg. In a preliminary paper of the Center for Excellence in 

Accounting and Security Analysis on financial statement presentation, Penman (2009: 24) 

advocates the implementation of a “forward looking earnings number”. He describes this 

earnings number as follows: 

We suggest the following solution. Report per-share (comprehensive) Earnings to 

Common Shareholders but also report a second per-share number that bears on the 

future. This is not a forecast, but rather current Earnings to Common Shareholders 

stripped of items reported in the disaggregated income statement that do not bear on the 

future. Discarded items would include one-time items and transitory gains and losses, 

which though recurring in the future, do not predict next year‟s gain or loss. 
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In commenting on Penman‟s suggestions, Bloomfield (2009) notes that Penman‟s suggestions 

may not be novel, because they appear “somewhat similar to the notion of „headline earnings‟ 

proposed a good 15 years ago” by the analysts‟ society in the United Kingdom.  

Lin and Walker (2000) and Lin (2006) provide early evidence of the value relevance of headline 

earnings compared to basic earnings in the United Kingdom. However, firms in the United 

Kingdom are not required to present headline earnings disclosure in their financial statements. 

This raises certain difficulties from a research perspective. Firms are in the best position to 

identify their headline earnings exclusions and the auditors of these firms are in the best position 

to provide assurance on these exclusions. Hence, the studies conducted in the United Kingdom 

use inaccurate proxies of headline earnings. Lin (2006) attempts to address this issue by 

identifying a sub-sample of firms that provide voluntary disclosure of headline earnings in their 

financial statements. This automatically induces self-selection bias into the sample. By contrast, 

given that all South African firms are required to present headline earnings disclosure, the issue 

of self-selection is not present in this study.  

In addition, Lin and Walker (2000) and Lin (2006) investigate headline earnings per share 

(HEPS) based on United Kingdom reporting practices prior to 2000. In other words, their sample 

periods cover an era before the implementation of the IFRSs in the United Kingdom. By 

contrast, my study covers a period when South African standards have already been substantially 

aligned with the IFRSs (2000 to 2004) and when South African firms have been required to 

comply with the IFRSs (since 2005). Hence, my study is able to provide direct evidence on the 

use of headline earnings with the IFRSs as the reporting framework. 
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4.2.2 Hypothesis 1: Earnings slope coefficient 

This hypothesis relates to the sensitivity of the slope coefficient of two earnings components, 

namely headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions, in a regression of share price 

(returns) on these earnings components. Prior research has distinguished between two earnings 

components: core or permanent earnings, and transitory/non-recurring earnings (Chambers et al., 

2007). Core earnings relate to the ongoing activities of an entity that are expected to recur in 

future years and should therefore be informative in predicting future earnings (Chambers et al., 

2007). The term transitory/non-recurring earnings relates to one-time events that are not 

expected to recur and that should therefore not be informative for the purposes of predicting 

future earnings (Chambers et al., 2007). 

Various researchers provide evidence consistent with the claim that persistent items have a 

higher slope coefficient than non-recurring items do. Collins et al. (1997) demonstrate that the 

earnings slope coefficient in a regression of share price on earnings and book value of equity is 

approximately double for firms without one-time items compared to that for firms with one-time 

items. Cheng et al. (1996) report evidence that suggests that transitory earnings have a smaller 

marginal impact on abnormal returns relative to permanent earnings. Easton et al. (2000) show 

that the earnings coefficient for firms that report one-time items is significantly less than the 

estimate of the earnings coefficient for firms that do not report one-time items. In addition, many 

non-recurring / transitory items are losses. Hayn (1995) indicates that the earnings slope 

coefficient for profitable firms is much higher than the earnings slope coefficient for losses. This 

idea is supported by Basu (1997) who shows that “bad news” (losses) is reflected in accounting 

earnings much more quickly than “good news”. 
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Headline earnings closely resembles core earnings. HEPS is often used as a summary measure of 

performance, while the PER is often used as a summary measure of value (Brooking, 2006). 

Since 1994, the SIP 1 definition of headline earnings has been used in the calculation of the 

PERs of United Kingdom companies, as published in the Financial Times (Damant, 2002). Lin 

and Walker (2000) and Lin (2006) provide evidence that headline earnings has higher value 

relevance than basic earnings in the United Kingdom, where headline earnings is calculated by 

the Financial Times and disclosed voluntarily by some firms. 

Similarly, the introduction of HEPS disclosure in South Africa has been seen as a pragmatic 

solution that allows the JSE to obtain headline earnings figures to calculate PER statistics on a 

standardised basis (Brooking, 2006). Since these comments regard headline earnings as a better 

measure to capture firm value than basic GAAP earnings, it is evident that these commentators 

see the exclusions from headline earnings to be less persistent than the remaining components of 

earnings.  

If investors hold a similar view about the persistence of headline earnings exclusions to the 

opinion of these commentators, I expect this view to be reflected in share prices. Formally, the 

hypothesis, stated in the alternate form, is the following: 

H1: Investors’ aggregate judgements and decisions, summarised in share prices and returns, 

reflect the lower persistence of headline earnings exclusions compared to that of headline 

earnings. 

Biddle, Seow and Siegel (1995) argue that incremental comparisons are relevant when one or 

more accounting measures are taken as given and it is necessary to assess the incremental 

contribution of another. Hypothesis 1 is essentially a test of incremental value relevance, because 
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the relevant question is whether the information content of headline earnings and headline 

earnings exclusions are sufficiently different from each other to warrant the separate disclosure 

of headline earnings exclusions in the financial statements.  

Share prices may not necessarily be an accurate benchmark of the “true value” of variables of 

interest, especially if capital markets lack efficiency (Holthausen and Watts, 2001). However, 

share prices do reflect investors‟ consensus beliefs about the underlying economic value (Barth, 

Beaver and Landsman, 2001; Francis et al., 2006). In other words, value relevance studies are 

interested in obtaining unbiased estimates of investors‟ consensus beliefs at a specific point in 

time, even though investors‟ consensus beliefs may not be unbiased estimates of “true value”. In 

the present case, the inferences of Hypothesis 1 relate to the extent to which headline earnings 

and headline earnings exclusions reflect measures that investors implicitly assess as having 

different levels of persistence. 

4.2.3 Hypothesis 2: Relative value relevance 

In this section, I raise the question of whether basic earnings or headline earnings provide greater 

information content to investors. Hence, in this case, the research question is one of relative 

rather than of incremental value relevance, in terms of Biddle et al.‟s (1995) argument.  

Prior research suggests that the information content of earnings increases when the persistence of 

the earnings increases. For example, Bradshaw and Sloan (2002) started a line of research which 

shows that alternative earnings measures - in their case, Institutional Broker‟s Estimate 

(I/B/E/S) earnings, which exclude various non-recurring items reported under GAAP - are more 

value relevant than GAAP earnings in the United States. Brown and Sivakumar (2003) report 

similar findings. Bhattacharya et al. (2003) investigate actual pro forma press releases, and by 
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using short-window abnormal returns find that pro forma earnings is more informative and 

persistent than GAAP earnings. Entwistle et al. (2010) extend these studies by showing that 

actual pro forma measures contained in earnings press releases are significantly more value 

relevant than I/B/E/S earnings, which in turn are more value relevant than GAAP earnings. The 

findings from these studies may suggest that headline earnings should exhibit higher value 

relevance than basic earnings. However, these studies focus on earnings measures disclosed 

voluntarily or calculated by analysts‟ tracking services from firms‟ financial statements. The 

IFRS adoption literature suggests that firms experience greater benefits when they implement 

specific reporting practices voluntarily, rather than because they are forced to do so by regulation 

(Christensen et al., 2008; Daske et al., 2008). Hence, it is not yet clear whether the findings of 

the pro forma earnings literature extend to alternative earnings measures where their disclosure 

is mandatory. 

Barton et al. (2010) evaluate the value relevance of eight summary performance measures from 

46 countries. They report that measures that exclude more transitory items show higher value 

relevance than other summary performance measures.
13

 However, the effect is less pronounced 

for firms from common law countries, where the value relevance for operating earnings before 

interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), operating income and income 

before tax are very close to each other.  

South Africa is historically a common law country with an ever-increasing body of codified law. 

Indeed, accounting and finance studies often classify South Africa as a common law country 

(Frost, Gordon and Hayes, 2006; Leuz, Nanda and Wysocki, 2003). Based on the evidence 

presented by Barton et al. (2010), this implies that basic earnings and headline earnings may 

                                                           
13 Barton et al. (2010) measure value relevance as the adjusted R-square from a regression of returns (net of the average stock 

return for that year of all firms in a particular country) on the performance measure (scaled by the lagged market value of equity). 
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reflect similar value relevance. The sample used by Barton et al. (2010) includes 226 firms and 

1 123 firm-years from South Africa for the period from 1996 to 2005. Barton et al.‟s (2010) 

results report the following adjusted R-square values for the South African firms: 

Rank Earnings measures Adj R
2 

1 Operating earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA) 

 

21.0% 

2 Operating income before taxes (OPINC) 20.5% 

3 Income before income taxes (IBTAX) 16.8% 

4 Income before extraordinary items and discontinued operations (IBXIDO) 14.0% 

5 Operating cash flows (OCF) 11.7% 

6 Net income (NI) 11.3% 

7 Total comprehensive income (TCI) 8.0% 

8 Sales 6.2% 

 

Net income in their study is similar to basic earnings in my study, but they do not have an after-

tax measure that excludes non-recurring items similar to headline earnings. However, a 

comparison of two pre-tax measures in their study, IBTAX and IBXIDO, provides some insight 

into the relative value relevance of an earnings measure that includes non-recurring items 

(IBTAX) and an earnings measure that excludes non-recurring items (IBXIDO) in South Africa. 

While the adjusted R-square values are close to each other (16.8% vs 14.0%), it is evident that 

the earnings measure that includes non-recurring items has higher value relevance than the 

measure that excludes non-recurring items. A similar trend is evident in the United States, where 

IBTAX (3.9%) has higher value relevance than IBXIDO (3%) (Barton et al., 2010). This 

evidence contradicts the findings from studies that use data from the United States and that show 

that (voluntary) earnings measures, such as pro forma earnings, which exclude non-recurring 

items, have higher value relevance than those that include non-recurring items (Bradshaw and 

Sloan, 2002; Brown and Sivakumar, 2003; Entwistle et al., 2010). Unfortunately Barton et al. 

(2010) do not explain how their performance measures relate to pro forma earnings. 
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Nevertheless, Barton et al.‟s (2010) evidence suggests that more persistent performance 

measures may not necessarily have higher value relevance than less persistent performance 

measures. 

Based on the discussion above, I form no specific prediction and state the hypothesis in the null 

form: 

H2: Basic earnings and headline earnings have similar value relevance. 

4.2.4 Hypothesis 3: Positive versus negative earnings 

Prior research suggests that losses reduce the value relevance of earnings (Basu, 1997; Collins et 

al., 1997; Hayn, 1995). Hayn (1995) argues that losses are temporary, because shareholders often 

prefer to liquidate a firm rather than bear predictable losses. Hence, she finds that the slope 

coefficient and the adjusted R-square
 
of earnings in a regression of returns on earnings are higher 

for firms with profits than for firms with losses (Hayn, 1995). Basu (1997) demonstrates non-

linearity in the returns-earnings association, as losses (“bad news”) are included in earnings more 

quickly than gains (“good news”). In a reverse regression of earnings on returns, the slope 

coefficient and the adjusted R-square of returns are higher for firms with negative returns than 

for firms with positive returns. Hence, it is expected that the slope coefficients of earnings 

components will be lower for negative earnings observations than for positive earnings 

observations. The hypothesis is stated in the alternate form as follows:
14

 

                                                           
14 “Earnings components” refers to headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions. Hence, I examine whether both headline 

earnings and headline earnings exclusions have lower incremental value relevance for firms with negative aggregate earnings 

than for firms with positive aggregate earnings. 
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H3a: The earnings components of firm-year observations for which aggregate earnings is 

negative have lower incremental value relevance than the earnings components of firm-

year observations for which aggregate earnings is positive. 

Collins et al. (1997) show that the book value of equity displays higher value relevance than 

earnings when current earnings do not provide a good proxy for future earnings and when 

abandonment (liquidation) becomes more likely (Collins et al., 1997). This evidence suggests 

that the headline earnings disaggregation framework may be less important in cases where 

earnings is negative, because investors place greater emphasis on the book value of equity. The 

hypothesis is stated in the alternate form as follows:
15

 

H3b: The book value of equity has higher incremental value relevance in cases where 

 aggregate earnings is negative than in cases where aggregate earnings is positive. 

4.3 Sample selection 

I include all firms listed on the main board of the JSE. All the necessary data is available from 

the McGregor BFA database, which is the pre-eminent provider of stock market data, 

fundamental research data and news to the financial sector and the corporate market in South 

Africa.  

The sample period starts with 2002, because HEPS disclosure was incorporated in the JSE listing 

requirements from 2 October 2000, and the models require lagged headline earnings.
16

 The 

sample period ends at the end of 2009. I remove firm-year observations where data is missing on 

the McGregor BFA database. Foreign firm-years are excluded because, despite the fact that the 

                                                           
15 To evaluate this hypothesis formally, I conduct separate tests in which I evaluate the incremental value relevance of the book 

value of equity; first, against aggregate earnings; second, against headline earnings; and, third, against headline earnings and 

headline earnings exclusions.  
16 Only the returns regressions require lagged data. However, for consistency across the samples, I delete firm-year observations 

without lagged data for both the price and the returns regressions. 
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disclosure of headline earnings information is mandatory for the JSE, many foreign firms do not 

disclose headline earnings per share. Arguably, these firms deem it unnecessary to comply with 

the headline earnings disclosure requirements, as such disclosure is not mandatory outside South 

Africa. They may rely on the possibility that the JSE may be reluctant to suspend the listing of 

foreign firms due to their non-compliance with the headline earnings disclosure requirements, 

because foreign investment is important to South Africa. I also exclude real estate holding and 

development firms from the sample, because these firms typically list linked units instead of 

ordinary shares on the JSE. A linked unit consists of a share and a debenture which trade as a 

single unit on the JSE. These firms often disclose earnings and headline earnings per linked unit, 

which is different to per share figures, as it includes debenture interest. 

Table 4.1 details the sample composition.
17

 The sample includes 421 firms and a total of 2 030 

firm-year observations. The majority of the firms are in the industrial sector (26.6%), followed 

by firms in the financial (19.5%) and consumer services (17.8%) sectors. 

4.4 Research design 

4.4.1 Theoretical model 

Ohlson‟s (1995) work is often cited as the theoretical foundation for many studies on the value 

relevance of accounting information (Aboody et al., 2004; Barth and Clinch, 1998; Black et al., 

2000; Filip and Raffournier, 2010; Hellström, 2006). These studies are based on variations of the 

following linear price-levels regression (firm subscripts omitted): 

     =                         (1) 

                                                           
17 As a result of the effect of trimming, the sample for the returns regressions is different from the sample for the price 

regressions. 
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where MVE is the market value of equity of a firm at time t, BVE is the book value of equity and 

EARN is the earnings of the firm. The book value of equity plays an important role in Equation 

(1). Collins, Pincus and Xie (1999) show that the omission of BVE in a simple earnings 

capitalization model induces a negative bias in the coefficient of earnings for loss firms and a 

positive bias for profit firms. They demonstrate that the book value of equity serves as a proxy 

for expected future normal earnings for loss firms in general and as a proxy for the abandonment 

value of those loss firms most likely to cease operations and liquidate (Collins et al., 1999).  

Within this value relevance framework, an accounting figure is considered to be value relevant if 

its regression coefficient is statistically distinguishable from zero, while the R-square of the 

regression measures the value relevance of the set of accounting items included in the equation 

(Filip and Raffournier, 2010). 

4.4.2 Scale effects 

A particular concern in price-levels regressions is the effect of scale. Scale effects relate to the 

fact that the statistical significance of a regressor in a price-levels regression may be a spurious 

effect of size (Easton, 1999). In essence, large (small) firms have large (small) book value of 

equity and large (small) earnings, resulting in a regression of market value on the book value of 

equity and earnings, leading to coefficients that may capture nothing more than scale effects 

(Easton, 1999). Researchers have addressed the scale problem by deflating the variables in the 

price-levels regression with a proxy for scale.  

Barth and Clinch (2009) investigate the impact of such scale effects on the relation between the 

market value of equity and the book value of equity and earnings using different specifications. 

In addition to the returns specification, they specify the following regressions: undeflated, share-
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deflated, equity book value-deflated, lagged price-deflated and equity market value-deflated. 

Barth and Clinch‟s (2009) findings show that the price (share-deflated) and market value of 

equity (undeflated) specifications result in correct inferences relating to whether the coefficients 

equal zero more consistently, and result in lower bias and mean absolute error in the coefficients 

and regression R-square, regardless of the type of scale effect. 

Easton (1998, 1999) criticizes using the use of the number of shares outstanding as a deflator. He 

argues that the number of shares outstanding reflects nothing more than the choice by 

management of the number of shares outstanding. In essence, the share price could be changed 

through share splits or capitalization issues without changing the economic characteristics of the 

firm (Easton, 1998, 1999). Barth and Clinch (2009) provide a counter-argument, namely that 

many forces operate in such a way that the number of shares outstanding tends to end up being 

correlated with scale. For example, when a firm raises capital, the price per share remains the 

same, resulting in an increase in both the number of shares and the market value of equity (Barth 

and Clinch, 2009). In addition, large firms tend to split shares and small firms tend to reverse 

split them (Barth and Clinch, 2009). Furthermore, other deflators, such as the book value and 

market value of equity, reflect economy-wide factors that are unrelated to scale effects (Barth 

and Clinch, 2009). 

Consistent with the evidence presented by Barth and Clinch (2009), I use the number of shares 

outstanding as a deflator and convert Equation (1) into a price-specification. This is also 

consistent with the method adopted by other researchers, such as Aboody et al. (2004), Barth 

(1994), Barth, Beaver and Landsman (1992), Barth and Clinch (1998), Black et al. (2000), 

Collins et al. (1997) and Giner and Reverte (1999). 
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4.4.3 Hypothesis 1: Earnings slope coefficient 

Hypothesis 1 argues that investors‟ aggregate judgements and decisions, summarised in share 

prices and returns, reflect the lower persistence of headline earnings exclusions relative to the 

persistence of headline earnings. To provide evidence on this hypothesis, I adjust Equation (1) as 

follows (firm subscripts omitted and the McGregor BFA data item numbers in parentheses): 

   =                                   (2) 

where P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period,
18

 BVE is the book 

value of equity (#0201001), HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (in other words HEARN plus HEXCL equals EARN in Equation 1) (#02020086 x 

#01060206) and HEXCL is the headline earnings exclusions attributable to ordinary 

shareholders. Headline earnings exclusions are calculated as the difference between the basic 

earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206) and the headline 

earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders.
19

 All the independent variables in Equation (3) are 

scaled by the number of ordinary shares on issue at the year-end (#01060201). 

If    >   , this provides evidence consistent with the argument that investors‟ regard headline 

earnings as more persistent than headline earnings exclusions. If    is significantly different 

from zero, this reflects that, despite the lower persistence of headline earnings exclusions, they 

are incrementally value relevant to the book value of equity and headline earnings.  

                                                           
18 Where the price is not available four months after the financial period, for example, because the firm delisted prior to this date, 

price is taken as the last price that is available for the share. This procedure affects 55 of the 2 162 firm-year observations, before 

trimming. 
19 Profit for the period (headline earnings) is calculated by multiplying the bottom line earnings per shares (EPSBL) [headline 

earnings per share (HEPS)] by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (WANOS) during the period. Where 

EPSBL, HEPS or WANOS for a firm is not in the McGregor BFA database, I take these values from the actual financial 

statements of the companies, if they are available in the McGregor BFA library. 
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Easton (1999) argues that Ohlson‟s (1995) model also provides a rationale for the following 

returns regression (firm subscripts omitted): 

     =                           (3) 

where RET is the annual share return calculated as                 (where P is the share price 

adjusted for various corporate actions).
20

 RET is calculated for a period of the same length as the 

period covered by the financial statements, but ending four months after the end of the financial 

period.
21

  EARN is the annual change in earnings.  

Since annual share return is a scale-free variable, Easton (1999) posits that an obvious way to 

overcome the scale effect is to rely on a returns specification. This leads him to conclude that 

“unless there are compelling reasons for focusing on the levels relation, the alternative returns 

specification should be used” (Easton, 1999:404). Barth and Clinch (2009) disagree, as they find 

that the returns specification performs relatively poorly in mitigating scale effects, compared to 

five other price-levels regressions commonly used in accounting research. 

Kothari and Zimmerman (1995) posit that both the price-levels and the returns regressions are 

subject to econometric problems. They conclude that the “use of both return and price models 

                                                           
20 The share prices adjusted for corporate actions are obtained from the McGregor BFA, which adjusts share prices for cash 

dividends, capitalisation issues, share consolidations, capital payments, special dividends, scrip dividends, subdivisions, rights 

offers and unbundlings. The McGregor BFA calculates adjusted share prices by starting with a base number of 100 shares for 

each firm on 1 January 1990 (or a later date if a firm lists later). The 100 base shares are adjusted on the effective day of each 

corporate action over the life of the firm. The adjustment reflects the additional number of shares a shareholder could have 

purchased in the firm with the additional wealth distributed by the firm through various corporate actions. For example, if a 

dividend is declared, the dividend is hypothetically re-invested by buying additional shares in the firm. All other corporate 

actions are treated in a similar way. The adjusted share price is calculated as the closing JSE price, multiplied by the ratio of the 

adjusted number of shares relative to the base number of 100 shares. The calculation capitalises all the firm‟s corporate actions in 

the share price. When one compares the adjusted share prices on two different days, the return calculated in this way not only 

represents the movement in the share price itself, but also the additional value created for shareholders by all the relevant 

corporate actions. The base shares are also adjusted for corporate actions, such as capitalisation issues, that do not transfer 

wealth. This ensures that share prices are comparable over time. 
21 Where the price is not available four months after the financial period (for example, because the firm delisted prior to this 

date), the price is taken as the last price that is available for the share. For these observations, the length of the return period may 

be shorter than the financial period. However, given the small number of observations affected, this is not considered to be a 

matter for concern. 
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has the potential to yield more convincing evidence” (Kothari and Zimmerman, 1995:184). In 

line with Kothari and Zimmerman (1995), it has become common practice in the value relevance 

literature to specify both price-levels and returns regressions (Aboody et al., 2004; Barth and 

Clinch, 1998; Hellström, 2006). 

Despite the fact that price and returns regressions are often used in the value relevance literature 

to provide corroborative evidence, Barth, Beaver and Landsman (2001) argue that levels and 

returns specifications address different research questions. Tests based on price-levels 

regressions are interested in what is reflected in firm value, while tests based on return 

regressions are interested in what is reflected in changes in value over a specific period (Barth, 

Beaver and Landsman, 2001). Hence, return regressions provide evidence beyond that provided 

by price-levels regressions, as they also provide evidence regarding the timeliness of accounting 

information (Barth, Beaver and Landsman, 2001; Barth and Clinch, 2009; Easton, 1999). 

However, standard setters regard timeliness as an enhancing qualitative characteristic, rather than 

as a characteristic that is fundamental to decision usefulness (IASB, 2010). 

Despite the fact that price-levels regressions and return regressions address subtly different 

research questions, I follow the established practice in capital market research and also 

investigate whether the inferences are consistent, using a returns specification. I adjust Equation 

(4) as follows for my study (firm subscripts omitted): 

     =                                                  (4) 

HEARN is headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders;  HEARN is the annual change 

in headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders; HEXCL is headline earnings 

exclusions attributable to ordinary shareholders; and  HEXCL is the annual change in headline 
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earnings exclusions attributable to ordinary shareholders.
22

 All independent variables are scaled 

by the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the year-end and then by the share price at the 

beginning of the return period (Aboody et al., 2004; Barth and Clinch, 2009).  

If HEARN remains unchanged over time, returns would simply reflect risk and other relevant 

pricing parameters. Arguably, HEARN would not remain static over time, as changes to 

persistent earnings (reflected by  HEARN) are likely to occur. I test whether    is different to    

and whether    is different to   .  

The changes in HEXCL ( HEXCL) capture both exclusions from the current period and reversals 

of exclusions from the prior period. Due to the complex nature of this variable, no specific 

prediction is formulated. 

4.4.4 Hypothesis 2: Relative value relevance 

Hypothesis 2 considers which of basic earnings or headline earnings has the higher relative value 

relevance. To provide evidence on this hypothesis, I compare the explanatory power of two 

models: one with basic earnings as the variable of interest and one with headline earnings as the 

variable of interest. The model with the higher adjusted R-square value indicates which of the 

two variables has the higher relative information content. 

However, simply comparing the R-square values does not provide statistically reliable evidence 

about which performance measure contains greater information content. In order to discriminate 

formally between the two competing specifications, I follow Dechow (1994), Brown and 

                                                           
22 If HEXCL is completely transitory/non-recurring and a firm recognises HEXCL in year t-1, then one would expect  HEXCL in 

year t to be negative to the value of HEXCL in year t-1 and HEXCL in year t to be zero. Similarly, if HEXCL is completely 

transitory/non-recurring and a firm recognises HEXCL in year t, then one would expect  HEXCL in year t to be equal to HEXCL 

in year t. 
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Sivakumar (2003) and Barth, Cram and Nelson (2001) in using the Vuong (1989) Z-statistic to 

establish which model has more explanatory power, relatively speaking. Vuong (1989) provides 

a likelihood ratio statistic for model selection to test the null hypothesis that the two models are 

equally close to explaining the true data generating process, compared to the alternative 

hypothesis that one model is closer to explaining it. Vuong‟s test statistic allows both models to 

have explanatory power, but provides direction concerning which of the two is closer to the 

actual data generating process. Dechow (1994) provides a detailed description of the Vuong test.  

4.4.5 Hypothesis 3: Positive versus negative earnings 

In order to test the predictions of Hypotheses 3a and 3b formally, I amend the equations to 

include a dummy variable, NEG, which is coded 1 for firm-year observations where earnings is 

negative, and 0 otherwise. I create interaction terms between NEG and the various independent 

variables to establish whether the coefficients of observations where earnings is negative are 

different to the coefficients of observations where earnings is positive. I expect the coefficients 

of the interaction variables to be negative in the case of earnings components and positive in the 

case of the book value of equity. 

4.5 Descriptive statistics 

Table 4.2, Panel A, contains descriptive statistics for the variables used in the price-levels 

regression analysis. The mean (median) share price is 104.655 (8.192), while the book value per 

share is 9.022 (2.755). This suggests that the market value of firms far exceeds their book value. 

The mean (median) for earnings per share is 1.721 (0.414), while the value for headline earnings 

per share is 1.674 (0.406). This suggests that for the sample headline earnings exclusions, on 

average, increases basic earnings, a finding which is also reflected by the mean of 0.047 for 
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headline earnings exclusions per share. However, in Panel B, mean headline earnings exclusions 

are negative 0.016. Because headline earnings exclusions are clustered around zero, and because 

the samples used in the price-levels regressions and returns regressions are different due to 

trimming, the signs of the mean values are different. Hence, in the sample used for the returns 

regressions, the mean for headline earnings (0.067) is slightly higher than the mean for basic 

earnings (0.051). In Panel B (like in Panel A), the median value for headline earnings exclusions 

is zero. The mean (median) for returns is 0.264 (0.200). 

Table 4.3, Panel A, reports Spearman (Pearson) correlations above (below) the diagonal for the 

variables used in the price-levels regressions. All the variables are significantly correlated with 

one another at a one per cent level of significance, except for the Spearman correlation between 

BVE and HEXCL, which is significant at a five per cent level, and the Spearman correlation 

between HEARN and HEXCL, which is insignificant. It is important from a value relevance 

perspective that all the financial statement variables correlate with the share price. As expected, 

the non-recurring items (HEXCL) show the lowest correlation with the share price. Headline 

earnings has a Spearman (Pearson) correlation of 0.772 (0.384) with share price, but headline 

earnings exclusions only reflects a correlation of 0.087 (0.070). 

Table 4.3, Panel B, reports the correlations for the returns regressions. All the variables are 

significantly correlated with returns at a one per cent level of significance, except for the Pearson 

correlation between returns and HEXCL, which is significant at a five per cent level of 

significance. As in Panel A, the correlation with the market attribute (in this case, returns) is the 

weakest for headline earnings exclusions.  
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In Panel A, there is a significantly positive Pearson correlation between HEARN and HEXCL, 

whereas in Panel B, the Pearson correlation is positive, but insignificant. By comparison, in 

Panel A, the Spearman correlation is positive, but insignificant, whereas in Panel B it is 

significantly negative. There are two differences between Panel A and Panel B. Firstly, there are 

differences in the sample composition, as trimming is done separately for the price-levels and the 

returns regressions. Secondly, the variables for the returns regressions are scaled further by 

lagged price. In order to investigate what leads to the differences in the correlations between 

Panels A and B, I establish the correlation between HEARN and HEXCL, using the sample 

composition for the returns regression, but the variables for the price-levels regressions (these 

results are not tabulated). The Spearman correlation is 0.038 (significant at a ten per cent level), 

while the Pearson correlation is 0.170 (significant at less than a one per cent level). These 

correlations are much closer to those reported in Panel A. This evidence suggests that the 

differences in the correlations between Panel A and Panel B are caused by differences in 

deflation, rather than by differences in the sample composition. 

4.6 Results 

4.6.1 Hypotheses 1 and 2: Price-levels regressions 

Table 4.4 contains the results for the regression of the share price on the book value of equity 

and, first, basic earnings (Model 1); second, headline earnings (Model 2); and, third headline 

earnings and exclusions (Model 3), respectively. As expected, the book value of equity is 

significantly associated with the share price in all three models tested. The results show that both 

basic earnings and headline earnings are value relevant when the price is regressed separately on 

each of these components. The coefficient of headline earnings in Model 2 (17.607) is slightly 

higher than the coefficient of basic earnings in Model 1 (16.148). When basic earnings is 



96 
 

disaggregated into headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions (in Model 3), headline 

earnings continues to show a significant association with share price.  

The coefficient on headline earnings exclusions is negative and statistically insignificant in 

Model 3. The coefficient may indicate that investors regard headline earnings exclusions as a 

negative signal (Lin, 2006). For example, large assets write-offs may be indicative of 

downscaling activities and reduced future earnings prospects. However, the insignificant 

coefficient of headline earnings exclusions suggests that the exclusions contain no incremental 

information over and above headline earnings. This in itself does not suggest that the 

disaggregation of basic earnings into headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions is not 

useful to investors.  

More importantly, I am interested in the incremental value relevance of headline earnings 

exclusions over basic earnings. This allows me to establish whether the separate disclosure of 

headline earnings exclusions provide any additional information beyond that contained in basic 

earnings. An F-test rejects the null hypothesis that the coefficients of HEARN and HEXCL are 

equal to each other (F-value = 4.68; p-value = 0.03). This suggests that investors believe that 

headline earnings has higher persistence than headline earnings exclusions, and that the separate 

disclosure of headline earnings exclusions provides information that is useful for valuation 

purposes. 

Turning to the relative value relevance tests, Model 2 has a slightly higher adjusted R-square 

value (16.2 per cent) than to Model 1 (16 per cent). However, the Vuong test does not reject the 

null hypothesis that the models have equal explanatory power. This evidence suggests that, given 

a choice, investors show no clear preference for either basic earnings or headline earnings as a 
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summary measure of performance. The evidence is rather surprising, given the widely held belief 

in South Africa that headline earnings is a better summary measure of performance than basic 

earnings (Brooking, 2006; Stainbank and Harrod, 2007) and evidence from the United States 

which suggests that pro forma earnings is more value relevant than GAAP earnings (Brown and 

Sivakumar, 2003; Entwistle et al., 2010). However, the evidence is consistent with the finding of 

Barton et al. (2010) that there is little difference in the relative value relevance of the eight 

summary performance measures in the common law countries included in their study.  

The findings of the relative value relevance tests can be interpreted in many ways. Given that 

studies suggest that pro forma earnings has higher value relevance than GAAP earnings 

(Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002), the findings from my study may indicate that the headline earnings 

definition is too restrictive in the exclusions it allows and that management-specific adjustments 

are better able to inform investors. For example, using incremental value relevance tests, Choi et 

al. (2007) find that disagreement about the persistence of earnings components between analyst 

tracking services (Thomson Datastream) and GAAP earnings in the United Kingdom suggests 

that the majority of management-specific adjustments reflect appropriate classification of 

earnings components by insiders. 

An alternative interpretation of the findings in my study is that the restrictive headline earnings 

definition curbs misleading management behaviour and prevents investors from fixating on 

overly unrealistic pro forma earnings measures. This is a plausible explanation, given that 

numerous studies using data from the United States suggest that some managers mislead 

investors by means of their use of special items and pro forma earnings (Cain, Kolev and 

McVay, 2009; Fairfield, Kitching and Tang, 2009; McVay, 2006). In addition, despite the fact 

that the implications of special items for future earnings should be relatively clear to investors, 
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special items are significantly mispriced in the United States (Atwood and Xie, 2010; 

Burgstahler et al., 2002; Dechow and Ge, 2006). Hence, it is not clear whether pro forma 

earnings would still reflect higher value relevance than GAAP earnings in the United States if 

the calculation and disclosure thereof were mandatory and regulated, as is the case in South 

Africa. In other words, the results from my study may indicate that the headline earnings 

disclosure framework assists investors in evaluating the underlying properties of basic earnings 

and headline earnings, and that this leads investors to conclude that the one measure is not 

superior to the other. 

Overall, the findings presented in Table 4.4 suggest that, consistent with the predictions in 

Hypothesis 1, investors believe that headline earnings exclusions have lower persistence than 

headline earnings. This suggests that the separate disclosure of headline earnings exclusions 

provides useful information to investors in assessing the value of a firm. However, headline 

earnings does not have higher relative value relevance than basic earnings. 

4.6.2 Hypotheses 1 and 2: Returns regressions 

Table 4.5 displays the results of the returns-earnings regressions. As is the case in Table 4.4, the 

results show that both basic earnings and headline earnings are value relevant when returns are 

regressed on earnings and change in earnings, and headline earnings and change in headline 

earnings, respectively. The coefficients of headline earnings (0.457) and change in headline 

earnings (0.284) in Model 2 are slightly higher than the coefficients of basic earnings (0.432) and 

change in basic earnings (0.183) in Model 1. 

When basic earnings is disaggregated into headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions in 

Model 3, as was the case in Model 2, headline earnings and the change in headline earnings 
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reflect a statistically significant association with contemporaneous returns. In contrast to the 

results shown in Table 4.4, the coefficient of headline earnings exclusions is positive and 

statistically significant. This evidence suggests that headline earnings exclusions contain 

information that is incrementally value relevant to headline earnings. The coefficient on the 

change in headline earnings exclusions is positive, but statistically insignificant. This evidence 

suggests that investors do not attach much weight to changes in non-recurring or transitory items. 

Unlike with the results in Table 4.4, an F-test does not reject the null hypothesis that the 

coefficient of headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions are equal to each other. This 

result contradicts the predictions. However, whereas the coefficients in Table 4.4 reflect 

investors‟ consensus beliefs about the persistence of earnings components, the coefficients in 

Table 4.5 reflect a combination of investors‟ consensus beliefs about the persistence and 

timeliness of the components. On the one hand, headline earnings exclusions contain items that 

are recognized in a more timely manner than other items (in other words, before their cash flow 

is complete), such as impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses and other fair value 

adjustments, although these items are not very persistent. On the other hand, headline earnings 

include highly persistent “core” items, but these items are often not recognized in a very timely 

manner (in other words, future cash flows are not capitalized and recognized in earnings). Hence, 

the high coefficient of headline earnings exclusions compared to that of headline earnings may 

be caused by the timely recognition of headline earnings exclusions. 

Despite the fact that the coefficients of headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions do not 

differ from each other statistically, the coefficients of the change in headline earnings and the 

change in headline earnings exclusions do differ from each other statistically (F-value = 8.63; p-

value = 0.003). Hence, investors attach a greater weight to changes in headline earnings than to 
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changes in headline earnings exclusions. Consistent with the inferences drawn from Table 4.4, 

this evidence suggests that the disaggregation of basic earnings into headline earnings and 

headline earnings exclusions is useful to investors. 

A comparison of the relative value relevance of basic earnings and headline earnings shows that 

the adjusted R-square of Model 2 is 6.2 per cent, while the adjusted R-square of Model 1 is 6.1 

per cent. As was the case using price-levels regressions, the Vuong test does not reject the null 

hypothesis for Hypothesis 2 that the one model has greater explanatory power than the other 

model. 

4.6.3 Hypothesis 3: Positive versus negative earnings 

The sample (before trimming) consists of 1 760 firm-year observations for which earnings is 

positive, 400 firm-year observations for which earnings is negative and two firm-year 

observations for which earnings is zero. 

Table 4.6 displays the results of the price-levels regressions. Consistent with Hypothesis 3a, the 

coefficients of the interaction terms between NEG and the various earnings components are 

negative. However, the coefficients are not statistically different from zero. Of particular 

importance for Hypothesis 3a are the results that have incremental value relevance. In Model 1, 

the coefficient of earnings is positive and significant, which suggests that earnings has value 

relevance that is incremental to the book value of equity for firms with positive earnings. The 

sum of the coefficients of earnings and the interaction term, NEG*EARN, is not statistically 

different from zero (F-value=0.40; p-value=0.528). This evidence suggests that, for firms with 

negative earnings, earnings contains no value relevance that is incremental to the book value of 

equity. This is consistent with Hypothesis 3a, which predicts that the value relevance of earnings 
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components for firms with negative earnings is lower than the value relevance of earnings 

components of firms with positive earnings. Similar inferences are drawn from Model 2. 

In Model 3, for firms with positive earnings, the coefficient of headline earnings exclusions is 

statistically different from the coefficient of headline earnings (F-value=5.52; p-value=0.019). 

This evidence suggests that headline earnings exclusions have information content that is 

incremental to basic earnings for firms with positive earnings. For firms with negative earnings, 

there is no statistical difference between the coefficients of headline earnings and headline 

earnings exclusions (F-value=0.09; p-value=0.763). 

In all three models, the coefficient of NEG*BVE is positive and significant. Consistent with 

Hypothesis 3b, this evidence suggests that the book value of equity has higher incremental value 

relevance for firms with negative earnings than for firms with positive earnings. 

Table 4.7 contains the results of the returns regressions. Similar inferences are made to those 

drawn from Table 4.6. However, in Models 2 and 3, the coefficient of NEG*HEARN is negative 

and significant, which suggests that the incremental value relevance of headline earnings over 

the change in headline earnings is lower for firms with negative earnings than for firms with 

positive earnings. In addition, the returns regressions also provide evidence that the change in 

headline earnings has higher persistence than the change in headline earnings exclusions for 

firms with negative earnings (F-value=4.60; p-value=0.032). Hence, even though the headline 

earnings framework appears to be less useful to investors in cases with negative earnings, the 

returns regression still supports disaggregation. 

In order to obtain evidence on whether the relative value relevance tests are affected by the 

pooling of observations of positive and negative earnings, I estimate the regressions separately 



102 
 

for positive earnings. Table 4.8 displays the results of the levels regressions. The tests of 

incremental value relevance render results that are qualitatively similar to those in Tables 4.4 and 

4.6. However, the inferences regarding relative value relevance are different to those in Table 

4.4. The adjusted R-square of Model 2 is 13.5 per cent, while the adjusted R-square of Model 1 

is 13.1 per cent. The Vuong test rejects the null hypothesis of equal explanatory power (Z-

statistic=2.2026; p-value=0.043). Hence, it seems that when earnings is positive, headline 

earnings has higher relative value relevance than basic earnings. 

Table 4.9 shows the results of the returns regressions. The inferences regarding incremental 

value relevance are similar to those reported in Tables 4.5 and 4.7. However, the coefficient of 

HEXCL in Model 3 is negative (positive) and insignificant in Table 4.9 (Table 4.7). By contrast, 

it is positive and significant in Table 4.5. Hence, while the results in Tables 4.5 and 4.7 show that 

there is no significant difference between the coefficients of HEARN and HEXCL, the null 

hypothesis of equal coefficients is rejected on the basis of the results in Table 4.9 (F-value=7.00; 

p-value=0.008). In Model 3 in Table 4.9, the coefficient of ∆HEXCL is negative, whereas it is 

positive in Tables 4.5 and 4.7. However, in all three tables, this coefficient is insignificant. 

The returns specification confirms the inference drawn from Table 4.9 regarding the relative 

value relevance of headline earnings and basic earnings. The Vuong test rejects the null 

hypothesis that Model 1 and Model 2 have similar explanatory power (Z-statistic=1.854; p-

value=0.064). 

Overall, the distinction between firms with positive and negative earnings supports Hypotheses 

3a and 3b. In general, negative firm-year observations bias the incremental and relative value 

relevance results downwards. There is strong support in favour of disaggregation for positive 
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earnings observations; and disaggregation does not appear to be totally useless to those who 

invest in firms with negative earnings. In particular, the returns regressions show that investors in 

firms with negative earnings believe that changes in headline earnings exclusions have lower 

persistence than changes in headline earnings. 

4.7 Sensitivity analyses 

4.7.1 Cross-sectional and time series dependence 

The results reported so far pool data from the same firms over time, using ordinary least squares 

(OLS) estimation. However, OLS standard errors assume that errors are both homoscedastic and 

uncorrelated across observations (Gow, Ormazabal and Taylor, 2010). When these assumptions 

are violated, OLS estimation produces misspecified test statistics. Peterson (2009) argues that 

most finance papers do not report standard errors estimated using different methods.  

To address Peterson‟s (2009) concern, I use three different methods. Firstly, I estimate the test 

statistics using one-way cluster robust standard errors along the firm dimension to address 

concerns about time-series dependence (CLF). Secondly, as an alternative to one-way clustering 

by firm, I cluster by year to address concerns about cross-sectional dependence (CLY).
23

 One-

way cluster robust standard errors address only one form of dependence (either cross-sectional or 

time-series dependence). In an attempt to address both forms of dependence, I therefore also 

include year-fixed effects through dummy variables and cluster by firm (CLFD). If the time 

effect is fixed, the year dummy variables completely remove the correlation between 

                                                           
23 An alternative method to address cross-sectional dependence is the Fama-Macbeth (1973) approach, whereby the researcher 

runs separate cross-sectional regressions for each year in the sample. As I have only eight years of data in the study with (on 

average) 252 annual firm-year observations, the annual Fama-Macbeth regressions may lack statistical power. Therefore, I do not 

use this approach. 
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observations in the same time period (Peterson, 2009).
24

 If the year effect is not fixed, the 

dummy variables remove some, but not all, of the dependence. The Vuong test is not affected by 

the clustering of standard errors; hence, I only report the results for the incremental value 

relevance tests. As some of the tests cluster standard errors by year, I trim one per cent off the 

tails on an annual basis. Hence, the sample is slightly smaller than the one discussed in the main 

results. 

Panel A of Table 4.10 displays the results of the levels regressions. These results are consistent 

with those set out in Table 4.4, except that when standard errors are clustered by firm and by 

year, the coefficient on HEXCL becomes positive, although it remains statistically insignificant. 

In addition, when standard errors are clustered by firm, the F-statistic does not reject the null 

hypothesis that the coefficients of HEARN and HEXCL are equal (F-value=2.26; p-value=0.133). 

Panel B of Table 4.10 shows the results for the returns regressions. Unlike in Table 4.5, the 

change in earnings in Model 1 and the change in headline earnings in Model 2 are no longer 

statistically significant. In Model 3, headline earnings is the only component of earnings that 

displays a statistically significant association with contemporaneous returns, regardless of the 

treatment of standard errors. As in Table 4.5, the F-tests do not reject the null hypothesis for 

Hypothesis 1 that the coefficient of headline earnings and the coefficient of headline earnings 

exclusions are statistically equivalent for any of the methods used. However, unlike in Table 4.5, 

this is also the case for the coefficients of ∆HEARN and ∆HEXCL. Hence, the results using 

returns tests are weaker than those reported in Table 4.5. 

                                                           
24 An alternative method that can be used to address both forms of dependence is using two-way cluster-robust standard errors 

(Gow et al., 2010). A limitation of cluster-robust standard errors is that the asymptotic justification assumes that the number of 

clusters goes to infinity (Cameron, Gelbach and Miller, 2008). In such a case, the cluster-standard robust errors are biased 

downwards, resulting in an over-rejection of the null hypothesis (Cameron et al., 2008; Gow et al., 2010). In the current study, 

there are eight clusters along the time dimension. Hence, this method is not considered appropriate for the current study. 
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4.7.2 Excluding observations where headline earnings exclusions are zero 

It is possible that the main results are affected by firm-year observations for which the headline 

earnings exclusions are zero. In such cases, basic earnings and headline earnings are equal, and 

as a result, there is no difference in the relative value relevance of the performance measures. 

Like Black et al. (2000) and Brown and Sivakumar (2003), I eliminate firm-year observations for 

which the non-recurring items equal zero. This enables me to provide results for a subset of firm-

year observations for which there is a definite difference between the basic earnings and headline 

earnings. The total sample of 2 162 firm-year observations, before trimming, includes 356 firm-

year observations with no headline earnings exclusions. As with the main sample, I exclude the 

tails of the one per cent of extreme observations. 

Table 4.11 contains the results for the levels regressions. The results are very similar to those 

contained in Table 4.4. 

Table 4.12 contains the results for the returns regressions. The results are qualitatively the same 

as those reported in Table 4.5, except that a comparison of HEARN and HEXCL in Model 3 

shows that the coefficients of these two variables are statistically different from each other (F-

value=4.00; p-value=0.046). This confirms the inference that the valuation properties of headline 

earnings exclusions are sufficiently different from those of basic earnings to warrant separate 

disclosure.  

4.7.3 Excluding financial firms 

The structure and accounting practices of financial firms differ substantially from those of non-

financial firms (Giner and Reverte, 1999; Hellström, 2006). To allay the concern that the 

inclusion of financial firms may have an undue influence on the results reported so far, I repeat 
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the analyses for a sample that excludes financial firms. In total, 421 of the 2 162 firm-year 

observations, before trimming, relate to financial firms. 

Tables 4.13 and 4.14 display the results using the sample that excludes financial firms. The 

results are qualitatively the same as those in Tables 4.4 and 4.5.  

4.7.4 Outliers 

For the results reported so far, I controlled for outliers by trimming one per cent of extreme 

observations. An alternative technique that has been recently used in the value relevance 

literature is robust regression (Aboody et al., 2004; Giner and Reverte, 1999; Lapointe-Antunes, 

Cormier and Magnan, 2009). I use this technique as an alternative approach to trimming to 

control for the effect of outliers. The purpose of robust regression is to provide stable results in 

the presence of outliers. The robust regression technique used by Aboody et al. (2004) and 

Lapointe-Antunes et al. (2009) commences by excluding extreme observations where Cook‟s D 

is greater than one. The regression is then re-estimated using an iteration procedure in which 

weights are calculated on the basis of absolute residuals. Cases with large absolute residuals are 

under-weighted in the estimation of the regression parameters, in order to reduce the effect of 

any remaining outliers. In essence, robust regression is a compromise between dropping cases 

that are moderate outliers and violating the assumptions of OLS regression. This section only 

considers tests of incremental value relevance, because the adjusted R-square values from robust 

regressions are difficult to interpret, which makes using tests of relative value relevance 

unfeasible (Street, Carroll and Ruppert, 1988). 

In Table 4.15, Panel A displays the results of the tests of incremental value relevance using 

levels regressions. The results indicate that the robust regression technique results in the deletion 
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of four observations for Models 1 and 2, and the deletion of five observations for Model 3. The 

inferences drawn from Panel A are qualitatively the same as those drawn from Table 4.4.
25

 

In Table 4.15, Panel B displays the results for the robust regressions of returns. The robust 

regression technique results in the deletion of two observations from all the models. The results 

are weaker than those reported in Table 4.5. This is possibly due to the elimination of more 

observations in Table 4.5 than in Table 4.15. As was the case in Table 4.5, there is no significant 

difference between the coefficient of HEARN and the coefficient of HEXCL. However, unlike in 

Table 4.5, the coefficient of ∆HEARN is negative and significant in Table 4.15, while the 

coefficient of ∆HEXCL is positive and significant. An F-test supports the conclusion that these 

two coefficients are statistically different from each other. 

Overall, the results of this section suggest that the results, especially the returns regressions, are 

sensitive to the treatment of outliers and should be considered with caution.  

4.8 Alternative explanation 

The purpose of the study presented in this chapter is to investigate whether headline earnings 

exclusions contain information that is incrementally value relevant to basic IFRS earnings and 

whether headline earnings have relatively higher value relevance than IFRS earnings. Some 

evidence to support these arguments has already been presented in the sections above. 

An important aspect of my study is that it focuses on the mandatory reporting of headline 

earnings. The value relevance of headline earnings is compared to that of another performance 

measure for which reporting is mandatory, namely IFRS earnings. Hence, this study ignores any 

                                                           
25 The F-statistic for the overall model fit is not reported, because these values are extremely large. However, all of the F-

statistics are significant at less than a one per cent level. 
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performance measures that are disclosed by management on a voluntary basis, because such 

measures may be distorted by incentives to managers, and thus the consideration of these 

measures falls beyond the scope of my study. 

However, one could argue that headline earnings is highly correlated with a performance 

measure provided by managers on a voluntary basis, such as operating earnings. In such a case, it 

is questionable whether the higher value relevance of headline earnings over IFRS earnings 

should be attributed to headline earnings or the highly correlated, but voluntary, operating 

earnings. While this issue is not empirically investigated in my study, a number of observations 

are important considerations to assess the validity of the alternative explanation and its 

implications for the findings of the study. 

Headline earnings is required to be presented in the notes to the financial statements, and it is a 

popular performance measure often quoted by the media, in firms‟ earnings releases and in 

management‟s discussion and analysis of results. Hence, information on headline earnings is in 

the public domain before the annual report is released. Here are some examples: 

 The following table sets out media articles that recently referred to headline earnings in their 

titles: 

Date Media Article title Reference 

12 September 2011 Miningmx Amplats sees higher 

headline earnings 

Miningmx (2011) 

8 September 2011 BusinessLIVE Caxton increases headline 

earnings 

BusinessLIVE (2011a) 

29 August 2011 Sharenet DRDGold FY headline 

earnings, output up 

Sharenet (2011) 

17 August 2011 BusinessLIVE Evraz Highveld reported 

headline earnings of R90m 

BusinessLIVE (2011b) 
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 An analysis can be done of the “Companies & Markets” section of the Business Day, a 

South African newspaper published on weekdays. An analysis of the section for 9 and 12 

September 2011 reveals that in four articles on firms‟ performance, the newspaper chose to 

report either headline earnings or diluted headline earnings as summary statistics, in addition 

to summary performance measures such as income, pre-tax income, net income and 

dividend per share (Business Day, 2011a; 2011b).  

 As an example of the use of headline earnings in earnings releases, Ceramic Industries 

Limited discusses headline earnings together with revenue, group operating profit and 

finance income in their earnings release dated 9 September 2011 (Ceramic Industries 

Limited, 2011).  

 In Profile Media‟s (2011) Stock Exchange Handbook for the period from June 2011 to 

September 2011, which covers all firms listed on the JSE, headline earnings per share are 

quoted, together with earnings per share, dividend per share and net asset value per share for 

most firms under “per share statistics”. In addition, the Handbook quotes headline earnings 

from continuing operations for some firms, together with turnover, operating income, net 

interest paid or received and attributable income under “financial statistics”. 

 In a survey conducted by Stegmann (2006) of preparers, analysts and auditors‟ perceptions 

of headline earnings, 68 per cent of the respondents confirmed that they used HEPS. Of the 

preparers, 74 per cent indicated that they would calculate and disclose another 

measure/figure to assist users to assess the entity‟s performance if the disclosure of headline 

earnings was not mandatory. Of the users of financial statements, 86 per cent indicated that 

they would calculate an additional performance measure to basic earnings per share if the 

reporting of headline earnings per share was not mandatory. 
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 Stainbank and Harrod‟s (2007) study on financial managers‟ perceptions of headline 

earnings shows that of the four per share measures – headline, basic, cash flow and diluted 

earnings – financial managers rank headline earnings as the most important per share 

measure. 

While the six bullets mentioned above provide evidence mainly by means of examples, these 

instances suggest, at least anecdotally, that the mandatory reporting of headline earnings plays an 

important role for the business media, financial managers and users of financial statements. 

Hence, given a set of alternative performance measures, it is unlikely that headline earnings 

would be completely disregarded. 

One should consider what the implications of the possible outcomes of the inclusion of an 

alternative earnings measure, such as operating earnings, would be for the findings relating to 

value relevance in this chapter. Consider Figure 1, below, adapted from Biddle et al. (1995), 

where HEARN represents headline earnings and OPEARN represents operating earnings. 

Using Figure 1, it is necessary to establish which of the six possible findings could negate the 

findings of my study. Finding 1 would not threaten the validity of the findings of my study, as it 

suggests that the headline earnings definition is similar to managers‟ definition of operating 

earnings. Findings 2, 4 and 6 are similar, because they imply that headline earnings and 

operating earnings contain different information. This would not call into question the findings 

of my study, as it would suggest that the mandated disclosure of headline earnings provides 

information that is incremental to managers‟ operating earnings. Finding 3 suggests that headline 

earnings contains all the information on operating earnings, as well as some additional 

information. This would not pose a threat to the validity of the findings of my study, as it 
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suggests that the headline earnings definition is better able to identify non-recurring items than 

managers‟ definitions of operating earnings.  

Figure 1: Relative versus incremental information content 
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Finding 5 could threaten the validity of the results of my study, because it suggests that operating 

earnings contains all the information also contained in headline earnings, as well as some 

additional information. Such a finding could suggest that managers are better able to identify 

non-recurring items than the headline earnings definition can. Alternatively, it could imply that 

managers‟ incentives to manipulate operating earnings result in investors being misled to think 

that operating earnings has higher value relevance than headline earnings. This brings us back to 

the debate in the United States about the higher value relevance of pro forma earnings over 

GAAP earnings and the attempts to disentangle the opportunism explanation from the predictive 
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ability explanation of pro forma earnings (Barth, Gow and Taylor, 2011). However, the 

investigation of this issue in South Africa (if it is a problem at all) is beyond the scope of my 

study and it is left for future research to resolve the issue. 

4.9 Conclusion 

Earnings is arguably a firm‟s single most important public disclosure – analysts forecast 

earnings; managers attempt to match or exceed earnings benchmarks (Burgstahler and Dichev, 

1997); and the market penalizes firms that do not reach their earnings benchmark (Skinner and 

Sloan, 2002) and rewards firms for meeting or beating analysts‟ earnings expectations (Bartov, 

Givoly and Hayn, 2002) and for patterns of increasing earnings (Barth, Elliott and Finn, 1999). 

Hence, it is not surprising that CFOs regard earnings as the most important financial indicator to 

external stakeholders (Graham et al., 2005). Given its importance, researchers have expressed 

concern over standard setters‟ predominant focus on the balance sheet, which is often criticized 

for destroying the fundamental forecast and valuation properties of earnings (Dichev and Tang, 

2008; Ohlson, 2006). The effect of the balance sheet approach on earnings has possibly 

contributed to the increased disclosure of voluntary pro forma earnings measures, which 

excludes a number of non-recurring or special items (Dichev and Tang, 2008). However, this 

practice creates its own set of problems, notably a lack of comparability regarding performance 

measures across firms and over time, and managers‟ ability to manipulate these measures to 

mislead investors about a firm‟s true performance (Fairfield et al., 2009; McVay, 2006). 

In this study, I investigate a unique regulatory setting in South Africa, where the JSE requires 

firms to calculate and disclose a headline earnings figure which resembles core earnings in their 

financial statements in terms of a formula of core earnings originally developed by an analysts‟ 
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society in the United Kingdom. In addition, firms are required to provide a reconciliation of the 

headline earnings and the basic earnings in terms of IFRS in their financial statements. This 

practice is different to the voluntary disclosure of pro forma earnings in the United States - 

firstly, because the disclosure is mandatory for all firms; and secondly, because all firms use the 

same definition of headline earnings. Hence, in South Africa, investors have a summary core 

performance measure that is comparable across firms and over time. The formal definition also 

limits a firm‟s earnings management possibilities. Because the disclosure is also provided in the 

financial statements, the calculation and disclosure of headline earnings is subject to external 

audit. 

The results from the price-levels tests indicate that headline earnings does indeed perform the 

function it was intended for. Tests of incremental value relevance suggest that investors believe 

that headline earnings exclusions have lower persistence than headline earnings. In other words, 

headline earnings exclusions contain information that is incremental to basic earnings. Hence, 

the disaggregation of headline earnings exclusions from basic earnings and the separate 

disclosure of these items in the financial statements appear to be useful to investors. Surprisingly, 

headline earnings does not have a relatively higher value relevance than basic earnings, or vice 

versa. However, additional analysis shows that this effect is related to the pooling of negative 

and positive earnings observations. Prior research has suggested that the inclusion of negative 

earnings observations in studies of value relevance skews the results, as the shareholders of firms 

with negative earnings can opt to liquidate (Hayn, 1995). The results for the sample of positive 

earnings observations suggest that investors regard headline earnings as a better summary 

measure of performance than basic earnings. The inferences are broadly consistent using returns 

tests, although the results are generally weaker than those for the price-levels tests. 
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My study is relevant to the joint Financial Accounting Standards Board‟s (FASB) and 

International Accounting Standards Board‟s (IASB) project on financial statement presentation. 

This project considers whether accounting standards should require a line-by-line reconciliation 

of cash flows to comprehensive income, with the reconciling items capturing differences in 

persistence. In addition, the project considers whether the standards should define “unusual or 

infrequent” events or transactions. The results of my study suggest that a mandatory formula 

which requires non-recurring IFRS remeasurements to be disaggregated from basic earnings and 

disclosed separately in the financial statements is useful to investors. 

The study has a number of limitations. I am unable to provide evidence on whether the 

mandatory disclosure regime relating to headline earnings provides any benefits compared to a 

voluntary disclosure regime, such as pro forma earnings in the United States. A research design 

that compares the value relevance of mandatory disclosure to voluntary disclosure would be 

suitable to provide such evidence, but South African data is not available to perform such tests, 

as the disclosure of headline earnings has been mandatory for all firms since 2000. An alternative 

design would be to compare firms practising voluntarily headline earnings disclosure in the 

United Kingdom to South African firms, for whom such disclosure is mandatory. This issue is 

left open for future research. I cannot rule out a possible alternative explanation for my results, 

namely that the higher value relevance of headline earnings over IFRS earnings is a result of 

voluntary performance measures that are highly correlated with headline earnings. 
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TABLE 4.1 

Sample Composition 

 

Panel A: Sample selection: 2002 to 2009 

  

Firms 
 Firm-year 

observations 

JSE Main Board 520  2 757 

Foreign firms excluded (43)  (232) 

Retail holding and development firms excluded (28)  (162) 

Insufficient data (18)  (201) 

 431  2 162 

Extreme observations excluded (10)
26

  (132) 

Final sample 421  2 030 

 

Panel B: JSE industry classification 

Industry Unique firms  Firm-year observations 

 N %  N % 

Consumer services 75 17.8  377 18.5 

Consumer goods 35 8.3  191 9.4 

Industrials 112 26.6  517 25.5 

Basic materials 60 14.3  282 13.9 

Health care 11 2.6  44 2.2 

Technology 39 9.3  187 9.2 

Telecommunications 6 1.4  30 1.5 

Financials 82 19.5  396 19.5 

Oil and gas 1 0.2  6 0.3 

 421 100.0  2 030 100.0 

                                                           
26 Following the example of Barton et al. (2010) and Choi et al. (2007), I delete the top and bottom one per cent of observations 

(tails) to reduce the impact of outliers. 
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TABLE 4.2 

Descriptive Statistics 

 

Variable Mean Standard 

deviation 

Minimum Percentile 

25 

Median Percentile 

75 

Maximum 

Panel A: Price        

  104.655 271.926 0.011 0.940 8.192 65.915 2399.550 

    9.022 15.658 -0.046 0.702 2.755 9.455 125.901 

     1.721 3.494 -4.765 0.043 0.414 1.755 28.278 

      1.674 3.349 -3.044 0.051 0.406 1.695 26.501 

      0.047 0.637 -3.443 -0.030 0.000 0.014 6.498 
        

Panel B: Returns        

RET 0.264 0.626 -0.844 -0.148 0.200 0.539 4.00 

EARN 0.051 0.271 -2.293 0.006 0.047 0.104 2.404 

∆EARN 0.039 0.375 -1.883 -0.010 0.006 0.039 4.459 

HEARN 0.067 0.238 -1.767 0.008 0.049 0.105 2.713 

∆HEARN 0.025 0.274 -1.298 -0.008 0.005 0.031 3.267 

HEXCL -0.016 0.129 -1.689 -0.004 0.000 0.001 0.899 

∆HEXCL 0.013 0.238 -1.321 -0.003 0.000 0.005 3.432 
        

 

The table sets out descriptive statistics for all the variables used in the regression analysis for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price 

four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). RET is the share return 

measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 

(#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). ∆EARN is the 

change in earnings from period t-1 to period t, while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t, and ∆HEXCL is the change in headline 

earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the 

reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and, for the returns regression, are scaled further by the lagged share price. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.3 

Spearman and Pearson Correlations 

Panel A: Price 

Variable P BVE EARN HEARN HEXCL 

      

P 1 0.826 0.767 0.772 0.087 

BVE 0.382 1 0.806 0.823 0.052 

EARN 0.381 0.807 1 0.948 0.181 

HEARN 0.384 0.800 0.984 1 0.020 

HEXCL 0.070 0.219 0.313 0.136 1 
      

Significance at a 1% level is indicated in bold. 
 

The table sets out Spearman (Pearson) correlations above (below) the diagonal for all the variables used in the regression analysis for the 

sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is 

the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to 

ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting 

period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 

 

Panel B: Returns 

Variable RET EARN ∆EARN HEARN ∆HEARN HEXCL ∆HEXCL 

        

RET 1 0.308 0.338 0.292 0.339 0.057 0.125 

EARN 0.227 1 0.558 0.904 0.529 0.183 0.158 

∆EARN 0.178 0.367 1 0.470 0.797 0.180 0.422 

HEARN 0.224 0.880 0.320 1 0.544 -0.063 0.005 

∆HEARN 0.194 0.317 0.774 0.399 1 0.011 0.039 

HEXCL 0.064 0.475 0.181 0.001 -0.071 1 0.471 

∆HEXCL 0.058 0.213 0.684 0.044 0.068 0.368 1 
        

Significance at a 1% level is indicated in bold. 
 

The table sets out Spearman (Pearson) correlations above (below) the diagonal for all the variables used in the regression analysis for the 

sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four 

months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the 

ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.4 

Price Earnings Regressions: Incremental and Relative Value Relevance 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 43.305
*** 

42.571
*** 

42.502
*** 

 (6.780) (6.668) (6.649) 

BVE 3.720
*** 

3.614
*** 

3.642
*** 

 (6.231) (6.155) (6.094) 

EARN 16.148
*** 

  

 (6.024)   

HEARN  17.607
*** 

17.561
*** 

  (6.402) (6.371) 

HEXCL   -2.232 

   (-0.250) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 194.37

*** 
197.12

*** 
131.37

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   4.68
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

16.0% 16.2% 16.2% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.262  

  (0.207)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.160 

   (0.246) 

N (firm-year observations) 2 030 2 030 2 030 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the 

share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders 

(#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while 

HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN 

and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of 

all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.5 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Incremental and Relative Value Relevance 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.235
*** 

0.227
*** 

0.232
*** 

 (17.169) (16.231) (16.415) 

EARN 0.432
*** 

  

 (8.082)   

∆EARN 0.183
*** 

  

 (4.725)   

HEARN  0.457
*** 

0.450
*** 

  (7.425) (7.327) 

∆HEARN  0.284
*** 

0.294
*** 

  (5.289) (5.462) 

HEXCL   0.324
*** 

   (2.871) 

∆HEXCL   0.044 

   (0.728) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 66.85

*** 
68.08

*** 
37.21

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.94 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   8.63

*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

6.1% 6.2% 6.7% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  0.093  

  (0.926)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.028 

   (0.304) 

N (firm-year observations) 2 031 2 031 2 031 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. RET is the 

share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the 

period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period 

t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the 

headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, 

∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line 

Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.6 

Price Earnings Regressions: Positive versus Negative Earnings 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 51.092
*** 

50.728
*** 

50.741
*** 

 (7.119) (7.076) (7.075) 

BVE 2.748
*** 

2.645
*** 

2.676
*** 

 (4.006) (3.961) (3.901) 

EARN 19.263
*** 

  

 (6.308)   

HEARN  20.786
*** 

20.707
*** 

  (6.736) (6.653) 

HEXCL   -1.890 

   (-0.199) 

NEG -49.135
*** 

-46.619
*** 

-48.429
*** 

 (-2.900) (-2.918) (-2.854) 

NEG*BVE 3.627
** 

3.748
** 

3.595
** 

 (2.111) (2.206) (2.054) 

NEG*EARN -34.561   

 (-1.425)   

NEG*HEARN  -37.219 -40.338 

  (-1.420) (-1.434) 

NEG*HEXCL   -7.706 

   (-0.241) 

    

F-statistic    
- Overall model 80.98

*** 
82.29

*** 
58.75

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   5.52
** 

- HEARN + NEG*HEARN = HEXCL + NEG*HEXCL   0.09 
- BVE + NEG*BVE = 0 16.38

*** 
16.74

*** 
15.17

*** 

- EARN + NEG*EARN = 0 0.40   
- HEARN + NEG*HEARN = 0  0.40 0.49 
- HEXCL + NEG*HEXCL = 0   0.10 

    

Adjusted R
2 

16.5% 16.7% 16.6% 

    

N (firm-year observations) 2 030 2 030 2 030 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics indicated in parentheses.

 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the 

share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders 

(#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while 

HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN 

and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). NEG is an indicator 

variable that equals 1 for firm-year observations for which earnings is negative and 0 otherwise. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables 

are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.7 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Positive versus Negative Earnings 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.251*** 0.256*** 0.251*** 

 (14.721) (15.273) (14.744) 

EARN 0.474***   

 (5.658)   

∆EARN 0.194***   

 (3.868)   

HEARN  0.438*** 0.461*** 

  (5.439) (5.479) 

∆HEARN  0.283*** 0.285*** 

  (4.142) (4.156) 

HEXCL   0.289 

   (1.251) 

∆HEXCL   0.082 

   (1.027) 

NEG -0.208*** -0.221*** -0.197*** 

 (-4.773) (-5.413) (-4.510) 

NEG*EARN -0.359***   

 (-2.930)   

NEG*∆EARN -0.044   

 (-0.561)   

NEG*HEARN  -0.339** -0.363** 

  (-2.390) (-2.511) 

NEG*∆HEARN  -0.011 0.000 

  (-0.103) (0.003) 

NEG*HEXCL   -0.120 

   (-0.440) 

NEG*∆HEXCL   -0.093 

   (-0.739) 

    

F-statistic    
- Overall model 32.59*** 33.82*** 19.41*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.60 
- HEARN + NEG*HEARN = HEXCL + NEG*HEXCL   0.13 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   3.50* 

- ∆HEARN + NEG*∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL + NEG*∆HEXCL   4.60** 

- EARN + NEG*EARN = 0 1.66   
- ∆EARN + NEG*∆EARN = 0 6.23**   
- HEARN + NEG*HEARN = 0  0.72 0.70 
- ∆HEARN + NEG*∆HEARN = 0  10.24*** 10.96** 

- HEXCL + NEG*HEXCL = 0   1.33 

- ∆HEXCL + NEG*∆HEXCL = 0   0.01 

    

Adjusted R2 7.2% 7.5% 7.5% 

    

N (firm-year observations) 2 031 2 031 2 031 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics indicated in parentheses.

 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return 

measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to 

ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings 

excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings 

exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of 

the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. NEG is an indicator variable that equals 1 for firm-year observations 
for which earnings is negative and 0 otherwise. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.8 

Price Earnings Regressions: Positive Earnings 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 57.019
*** 

55.542
*** 

55.069
*** 

 (6.728) (6.558) (6.497) 

BVE 2.814
*** 

2.601
*** 

2.938
*** 

 (3.424) (3.344) (3.580) 

EARN 18.630
*** 

  

 (5.132)   

HEARN  21.314
*** 

20.599
*** 

  (5.864) (5.604) 

HEXCL   -14.599 

   (-1.287) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 124.50

*** 
129.07

*** 
86.63

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   9.59
*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

13.1% 13.5% 13.6% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  2.026

** 
 

  (0.043)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.668

* 

   (0.096) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 638 1 638 1 638 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at 

the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.9 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Positive Earnings 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.242
*** 

0.238
*** 

0.240
*** 

 (15.021) (14.908) (14.996) 

EARN 0.624
*** 

  

 (7.343)   

∆EARN 0.137
** 

  

 (2.131)   

HEARN  0.630
*** 

0.634
*** 

  (7.226) (7.267) 

∆HEARN  0.312
*** 

0.333
*** 

  (3.623) (3.795) 

HEXCL   -0.202
 

   (-0.656) 

∆HEXCL   -0.162
 

   (-1.348) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 44.87

*** 
56.18

*** 
28.91

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   7.00
*** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   9.33
*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

5.10% 6.30% 6.40% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.854

* 
 

  (0.064)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.621 

   (0.105) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 632 1 632 1 632 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing 

four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in the headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by 

the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.10 

Incremental Value Relevance: Correction for Standard Errors 

 Coeff CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  

Panel A: Price (P)      

Model 1      

BVE 2.267 1.95
* 

3.48
*** 

2.457 2.09
** 

EARN 22.769 3.63
*** 

5.10
*** 

20.695 3.32
*** 

      

Model 2      

BVE 2.134 1.83
* 

3.00
** 

2.203 1.86
* 

HEARN 24.568 3.37
*** 

4.81
*** 

23.046 3.17
*** 

      

Model 3      

BVE 2.089 1.77
* 

2.79
** 

2.234 1.86
* 

HEARN 24.627 3.40
*** 

4.83
*** 

22.991 3.19
*** 

HEXCL 4.412 0.52 0.44 -2.979 -0.34 

F-statistic      
- HEARN = HEXCL  2.26 3.69

*  
3.59

* 

      

N (firm-years) 2 015   2 015  

      

Panel B: Returns (RET)      

Model 1      

EARN 0.430 4.19
*** 

3.70
*** 

0.405 4.19
*** 

∆EARN 0.083 1.29 1.25 0.061 1.02 
      

Model 2      

HEARN 0.526 5.37
*** 

5.15
*** 

0.501 5.11
*** 

∆HEARN 0.029 0.30 0.26 0.009 0.10 
      

Model 3      

HEARN 0.502 5.02
*** 

4.79
*** 

0.480 4.80
*** 

∆HEARN 0.039 0.51 0.42 0.018 0.24 

HEXCL 0.235 1.04 1.12 0.198 0.92 

∆HEXCL 0.111 0.93 1.50 0.088 0.74 

F-statistic      
- HEARN = HEXCL  

1.18 2.05  1.35 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL  0.28 0.66  0.26 
      

N (firm-years) 2 012   2 012  
      

*, ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered 
by year, CLFD = fixed-year dummies included and standard errors clustered by firm. 
      

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price 

four months after the end of the financial period. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start 
of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the 

change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), 

while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 
attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to 

period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period 

(Line Item #01060201) and for the returns regressions these variables are scaled further by the lagged share price. The 1 per cent tails of all the 

variables are trimmed per year. 
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TABLE 4.11 

Price Earnings Regressions: Zero HEXCL Observations Excluded 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 47.936
*** 

46.992
*** 

46.859
*** 

 (7.046) (6.909) (6.878) 

BVE 3.535
*** 

3.411
*** 

3.455
*** 

 (6.049) (5.960) (5.908) 

EARN 13.735
*** 

  

 (5.243)   

HEARN  15.356
*** 

15.284
*** 

  (5.684) (5.642) 

HEXCL   -2.949 

   (-0.369) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 162.29

*** 
165.12

*** 
110.07

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   4.88
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

16.0% 16.2% 16.2% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.279  

  (0.202)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.146 

   (0.252) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 695 1 695 1 695 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which HEXCL is zero. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN 

is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable 

to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to 

ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the 

reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.12 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Zero HEXCL Observations Excluded 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.229
*** 

0.220
*** 

0.222
*** 

 (15.853) (14.921) (14.894) 

EARN 0.395
*** 

  

 (7.105)   

∆EARN 0.195
*** 

  

 (4.632)   

HEARN  0.447
*** 

0.451
*** 

  (6.883) (6.944) 

∆HEARN  0.341
*** 

0.333
*** 

  (5.174) (4.988) 

HEXCL   0.201
* 

   (1.891) 

∆HEXCL   0.086 

   (1.347) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 54.83

*** 
59.30

*** 
32.02

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   4.00
** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   6.07
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

6.0% 6.4% 6.8% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  0.401  

  (0.688)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.407 

   (0.160) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 700 1 700 1 700 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which HEXCL is zero. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four 

months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the 

ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.13 

Price Earnings Regressions: Non-financial Firms 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 52.052
*** 

51.318
***

 51.215
*** 

 (6.571) (6.484) (6.466) 

BVE 2.645
*** 

2.489
*** 

2.540
*** 

 (3.625) (3.458) (3.478) 

EARN 19.447
*** 

  

 (6.093)   

HEARN  21.060
*** 

20.943
*** 

  (6.495) (6.433) 

HEXCL   -4.577 

   (-0.413) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 114.45

*** 
117.28

*** 
78.20

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   5.12
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

12.2% 12.5% 12.4% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.305  

  (0.192)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.171 

   (0.242) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 633 1 633 1 633 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding financial firms. The 

currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to 

ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x 

#01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). 

EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 

per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.14 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Non-financial Firms 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.233
*** 

0.229
*** 

0.235
*** 

 (15.327) (14.666) (15.036) 

EARN 0.491
*** 

  

 (7.244)   

∆EARN 0.155
*** 

  

 (3.016)   

HEARN  0.464
*** 

0.468
*** 

  (6.346) (6.356) 

∆HEARN  0.249
*** 

0.269
*** 

  (3.619) (3.916) 

HEXCL   0.556
*** 

   (3.809) 

∆HEXCL   0.004 

   (0.049) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 57.14

*** 
51.04

*** 
30.31

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.31 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   6.20

** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

6.4% 5.8% 6.7% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1    

  -0.696  
- Model 3 vs Model 1  (0.487) 0.874 

   (0.382) 

N (firm-year observations) 1 633 1 633 1 633 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding financial firms. The 

currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings 

from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while 

∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-

1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the 

reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 4.15 

Incremental Value Relevance: Robust Regressions 

 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: Price    

Intercept 0.285
* 

0.446
*** 

0.549
*** 

 (1.67) (2.85) (3.43) 

BVE 1.624
*** 

1.115
*** 

1.037
*** 

 (246.42) (166.93) (150.75) 

EARN 6.043
*** 

  

 (227.27)   

HEARN  8.617
*** 

8.873
*** 

  (271.66) (272.64) 

HEXCL   1.944
*** 

   (53.60) 

F-statistic    
- HEARN = HEXCL   21 515.35

*** 

    

N (firm-year observations) 2 158 2 158 2 157 
    

Panel B: Returns regressions    

Intercept 0.174
*** 

0.173
*** 

0.109
*** 

 (15.06) (14.88) (8.64) 

EARN 0.096
*** 

  

 (9.02)   

∆EARN -0.009   

 (-1.62)   

HEARN  0.078
*** 

0.102
*** 

  (6.97) (8.64) 

∆HEARN  -0.015
* 

-0.018
** 

  (-1.87) (-2.07) 

HEXCL   0.069
*** 

   (3.74) 

∆HEXCL   0.029
*** 

   (4.49) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 41.69

*** 
24.72

*** 
21.19

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   2.57 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   11.76

*** 

    

N (firm-year observations) 2 160 2 160 2 160 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. T-statistics indicated in parentheses.

 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from robust regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009. The currency is ZAR. P is the share 

price four months after the end of the financial period. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the 

start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is 
the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x 

#01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline 

earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period 
t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting 

period (Line Item #01060201) and for the returns regressions these variables are scaled further by the lagged share price.  
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CHAPTER 5 

VALUE RELEVANCE: ADDITIONAL ANALYSES 

 

5.1 Introduction 

In this chapter I conduct a number of additional analyses to supplement the tests contained in 

Chapter 4. In particular, I identify contextual factors that may be relevant to an understanding of 

the value relevance of headline earnings. I focus on two factors, namely the extremity of 

earnings and firm size. In addition, I investigate whether there has been any shift in the value 

relevance of headline earnings since the adoption of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) during 2005, and whether the value relevance of headline earnings varies 

across industries. 

The results suggest that the headline earnings disclosure framework appears to be more useful to 

investors who invest in firms where earnings is extreme than to those who invest in firms where 

earnings is less extreme and to investors in small firms rather than to investors in large firms. 

Headline earnings outperforms basic earnings as a summary measure of performance in cases of 

extreme headline earnings exclusions. In some instances, however, the results are weak and 

should be considered with caution. 

In addition, the results suggest that there has been no significant change in the value relevance of 

headline earnings from the pre-IFRS adoption period to the post-IFRS adoption period. I also 

document cross-industry variation in the incremental and relative value relevance of basic and 

headline earnings. 
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The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows: Section 5.2 reviews the prior literature and 

develops the hypotheses. Section 5.3 discusses the research design. Section 5.4 presents the 

results for the ex ante predictions, while Section 5.5 contains the additional ex post analyses. 

Section 5.6 concludes the chapter. 

5.2 Prior research and hypotheses  

In this section, I present predictions about the value relevance of headline earnings compared to 

that of basic earnings, depending on two conditions, namely the extremity of earnings and firm 

size. 

5.2.1 Hypothesis 1: Extreme earnings observations 

From an efficiency perspective (as opposed to an opportunistic perspective), it is often suggested 

that non-Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (non-GAAP) earnings measures such as pro 

forma earnings be provided as a measure that improves on GAAP earnings as a way to determine 

future cash flows and firm value (Bhattacharya et al., 2007; Kolev et al., 2008). There is a need 

for such alternative earnings measures because firms care about their results and the linkages 

between earnings and market valuations (Damant, 2002). In this regard, it is a shortcoming of 

GAAP earnings that it often includes non-recurring items that are irrelevant from a valuation 

perspective (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002). Thus Harvey Pitt, former Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) chairman, recognises that the impetus behind pro forma disclosure is a 

“legitimate desire by companies to demystify mandated financial disclosures, and to encourage 

shareholders to focus on what management believes are the more salient details to be gleaned 

from their company‟s financials” (Pitt, 2001). Hence, non-GAAP earnings measures generally 
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exclude non-recurring earnings components that are less important to investors in assessing the 

future prospects of the firm than recurring earnings components are. 

Prior research suggests that these non-GAAP earnings figures are, on average, more value 

relevant than those of GAAP earnings figures. Based on the non-GAAP earnings measures 

reported by analysts‟ tracking services, Bradshaw and Sloan‟s (2002) findings show that 

investors tend to price non-GAAP earnings, rather than GAAP earnings. Bhattacharya et al. 

(2003) use actual pro forma earnings releases and short-window abnormal returns tests around 

earnings announcements in their study, which suggests that pro forma earnings is significantly 

more useful to investors than GAAP earnings. 

Headline earnings is South Africa‟s non-GAAP earnings measure, which firms listed on the 

Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) are required to disclose and to reconcile with IFRS 

earnings, in accordance with the stock exchange‟s regulations. Hence, in South Africa, unlike 

with pro forma earnings in the United States, the calculation and disclosure of headline earnings 

in firms‟ financial statements is regulated more formally.  

The development of headline earnings emanates from a need to improve the summary 

performance and value indicators of listed firms that apply GAAP (Brooking, 2006). Because 

headline earnings is similar to “core” earnings, the measure is supposed to exclude some non-

recurring earnings components from basic earnings, providing investors with information about a 

firm‟s operating or trading performance (Brooking, 2006; Damant, 2003; IIMR, 1993). 

Freeman, Ohlson and Penman (1982) show that extreme accounting rates of return tend to revert 

to the mean more quickly. Dichev and Tang (2009) argue that extreme earnings are more likely 

to include transitory earnings components. This suggests that the mean reversion of extreme 
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accounting rates of return may be caused by non-recurring earnings components which do not 

persist into the future. Hence, it is not surprising that researchers often use extreme rates of 

return to proxy for the existence of large transitory earnings components (Cheng, 2005; Giner 

and Reverte, 1999). 

Arguably, the headline earnings figures and disclosure are not equally useful to all investors in 

all kinds of firms and from year to year. In particular, in cases and years where firms‟ basic 

earnings is not extreme and by implication does not contain many non-recurring earnings 

components, the incremental contribution of headline earnings to informing investors about 

future operating performance may be low. However, headline earnings may be a more useful 

summary measure of performance in cases and in years where basic earnings is extreme and 

contains large non-recurring earnings components. In such cases, the headline earnings 

disclosure disaggregates IFRS earnings into a recurring and a non-recurring component, which 

provides investors with useful information to inform predictions about future operating 

performance. This leads to the following prediction (stated in the alternate form):
27

 

H1: Headline earnings is more informative than basic earnings in cases where basic earnings 

is extreme than in cases where basic earnings is less extreme. 

5.2.2 Hypothesis 2: Firm size 

The second specific factor that I consider is firm size. In this section, I present three reasons for 

suggesting that the headline earnings disclosure framework has higher value relevance to those 

who invest in small firms than to those who invest in large firms.  

                                                           
27 Hypothesis 1 in Chapter 5 should be distinguished from Hypothesis 2 in Chapter 4. Hypothesis 2 in Chapter 4 predicts that, on 

average, investors‟ aggregate consensus beliefs (as reflected in share prices and share returns) reflect the higher value relevance 

of headline earnings relative to basic earnings. Hypothesis 1 in Chapter 5 argues that the price-earnings and returns-earnings 

relationships are non-linear, and that one of the factors that contribute to this non-linearity is the differences in the extremity of 

earnings across firms. 
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Firstly, Atiase (1980) posits a “firm size-related differential information hypothesis”. He argues 

that the availability of information varies systematically between large firms and small firms, due 

to differential incentives for information searches. In an ideal economic setting with risk-neutral 

investors and unlimited financing at a constant risk-free rate, per share trading profits are 

proportional to the market value of a firm. By implication, a larger aggregate profit can be earned 

from knowledge about the mispricing of the shares of large firms than from knowledge about the 

mispricing of the shares of small firms. Hence, an investor will tend to continue to search for 

information about a firm as long as the marginal information search cost is lower than or equal to 

the incremental trading profit based on the additional information. This implies that there is a 

greater incentive for market participants to search for information on large firms than for 

information on small firms. An implication of this differential incentive is that more information 

is available for large firms than for small firms, as more traders and professional analysts are 

processing the available information of large firms. 

Various researchers provide evidence consistent with Atiase‟s (1980) size effect hypothesis. 

Atiase (1985) argues that the degree of share price adjustments to a firm‟s second-quarter 

earnings report is inversely related to firm size. Collins, Kothari and Rayburn (1987) show that 

price-based models to forecast future earnings can outperform two univariate time series models 

for large firms, but not for small firms. Freeman (1987) and Collins and Kothari (1989) maintain 

that the share prices of large firms incorporate the information on accounting earnings much 

earlier than the share prices of small firms do. Asthana and Mishra (2001) demonstrate that 

abnormal price reactions relating to large firms around earnings announcements contain more 

relevant information about overall trends in the economy than reactions by small firms do, 

resulting in a greater information transfer in the case of announcing large firms than of 
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announcing small firms. Charitou, Clubb and Andreou (2001) provide evidence that, in the 

United Kingdom, earnings and cash flow response coefficients are smaller for large firms than 

for small firms. Consistent with the argument that small firms have a smaller information 

environment than large firms, Giner and Reverte‟s (1999) findings indicate that earnings 

disaggregation in Spain is more beneficial to those who invest in small firms than to those who 

invest in large firms. 

Secondly, consistent with Atiase‟s (1980) size effect hypothesis, the prior literature shows that 

financial analysts and institutional investors tend to follow larger firms rather than smaller firms 

(O‟Brien and Bhushan, 1990). Analysts and institutional investors are generally considered 

classes of sophisticated investors. It follows that, on average, smaller firms have fewer 

sophisticated investors than larger firms. Bhattacharya et al. (2007) note a positive association in 

the United States between the net buying activities of less sophisticated investors around 

earnings announcements on the one hand, and forecast errors based on pro forma earnings on the 

other. This association does not hold for sophisticated investors. This evidence thus suggests that 

less sophisticated investors use alternative summary performance measures, such as pro forma 

earnings. Dichev (2008: 465) argues that “the major beneficiaries from good earnings are small 

and unsophisticated investors, who tend to value investments by using heuristics such as price-

to-earnings ratios”. In South Africa, less sophisticated investors may also rely more heavily on 

headline earnings information than sophisticated investors do, possibly because it is too costly 

for them to perform their own analyses of non-recurring items. 

Thirdly, Baginski et al. (1999) and Lev (1983) argue that the variability of the growth rates of 

larger firms should be lower than the variability of the growth rates of smaller firms. Hence, 

large firms have more stable growth. In addition, larger firms have the financial resources to 
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diversify their activities, which should stabilize growth and lead to more persistent earnings 

(Baginski et al., 1999). Size is, therefore, related to the persistence of a firm‟s earnings, because 

it is an indication of the strength of a firm‟s competitive position (Frankel and Litov, 2009). 

Arguably, the diversification of the operations of larger firms implies that they are better able to 

offset large transitory losses with other income-generating profits, thereby generating more 

persistent earnings than small firms can. In addition, Hodgson and Stevenson-Clarke (2000) 

argue that small firms have more transitory earnings than large firms. Hence, on average, it is 

expected that small firms should have lower earnings persistence than large firms. For example, 

Francis et al. (2004) document a negative correlation between firm size and earnings persistence. 

Given Hypothesis 1 which predicts that the headline earnings disclosure framework is more 

informative to investors in firms with extreme earnings than to investors in firms with less 

extreme earnings, it follows that this framework should also be more useful to investors in small 

firms than to investors in large firms. 

Taken together, these arguments suggest that the headline earnings disclosure framework may be 

more informative to investors in small firms than to investors in large firms. This leads to the 

following hypothesis (stated in the alternate form): 

H2: The headline earnings disclosure framework has higher value relevance to shareholders 

 of small firms than to shareholders of large firms. 

5.3 Research design 

I use the same models for this chapter as those specified in Chapter 4. In order to address 

Hypothesis 1 formally, I follow Giner and Reverte (1999) in dividing my sample into two 

subgroups, namely one for less extreme earnings and one for more extreme earnings, and in re-
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estimating the models separately for each group. I start the analysis of the sample by dividing 

firm-year observations into ten return on equity (ROE) deciles per year. Observations with a 

more extreme ROE are included in the lowest and highest two deciles of the ROE distribution for 

each year. Observations with a less extreme ROE are included in the middle six deciles of the 

ROE distribution for each year. A larger number of groups would provide a larger expected 

difference between groups with the lowest and the highest persistence, but would also reduce the 

number of observations available to estimate the parameters and the adjusted R-square for each 

group. Using two groups therefore seems to be a reasonable compromise. Because the results of 

Chapter 4 suggest that the value relevance models are better specified for observations with 

positive earnings than for observations with negative earnings, and in an attempt to focus the 

tests better, I limit the analysis to firm-year observations with positive earnings. I trim the one 

per cent of the tails of all variables to control for the effect of outliers. I expect headline earnings 

to have higher value relevance than basic earnings for firms with extreme ROE. 

In order to address Hypothesis 2 formally, I perform a median split of the sample into two 

portfolios per year, based on market capitalization at the end of the reporting period. I limit the 

analysis to firm-year observations with positive earnings and trim the extreme one per cent of the 

tails of all the variables. 

5.4 Results 

5.4.1 Hypothesis 1: Extreme earnings observations 

Hypothesis 1 predicts that headline earnings is more useful to investors who invest in firms with 

extreme ROE than to those who invest in firms with a less extreme ROE. 
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Table 5.1 displays the results of the price-levels regressions. These results are contrary to 

expectation. Panel A shows that for firms with extreme ROE the results for incremental value 

relevance are weakly significant, just above the ten per cent level of significance (F-value=2.61; 

p-value=0.106). However, the coefficient of HEXCL is larger in magnitude than the coefficient 

of HEARN, which is inconsistent with the findings reported in Tables 4.4, 4.6 and 4.8 in Chapter 

4. For firms with less extreme ROE, Panel B indicates that the coefficient of HEARN is 

significantly different from the coefficient of HEXCL (F-value=7.45; p-value=0.007). This is 

consistent with the notion that investors see headline earnings as more persistent than headline 

earnings exclusions, which makes headline earnings disclosure a useful tool to investors. Despite 

the fact that basic earnings is supposed to include fewer non-recurring items for firms with less 

extreme ROE than for firms with more extreme ROE, the Vuong test indicates that the null 

hypothesis that basic earnings and headline earnings have equal explanatory power for share 

price must be rejected (Z-statistic=1.72; p-value=0.086). This evidence suggests that investors‟ 

consensus beliefs reflect a perception that headline earnings is a better summary measure of 

performance than basic earnings in cases where earnings is less extreme.  

The unexpected results for the price-levels regressions may be explained by the role that the 

book value of equity plays for firms with more extreme earnings. The sample excludes 

observations with negative earnings, but prior studies suggest that the incremental value 

relevance of the book value of equity is inversely related to earnings persistence (Collins et al., 

1997).  

The results displayed in Table 5.1 show that, while the coefficient of the book value of equity is 

insignificant in all three models for firms with less extreme earnings, the coefficient is positive 

and significant in all three models for firms with more extreme earnings. In other words, for 
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firms with less extreme earnings, earnings is the dominant valuation attribute; but for firms with 

more extreme earnings, both earnings and the book value of equity are important for valuation. 

Because earnings is the dominant attribute for firms with less extreme earnings, tests of 

alternative earnings measures may be better specified for this group than for the extreme 

earnings group. 

Table 5.2, which displays the results using returns regressions, shows evidence that is more 

consistent with Hypothesis 1. Both sub-samples confirm that the disaggregation of headline 

earnings exclusions is useful because the coefficient of the change in headline earnings and that 

of the change in headline earnings exclusions differ significantly from each other (Panel A – F-

value=4.61 and p-value=0.032; Panel B – F-value=10.20 and p-value=0.001). In addition, the 

extreme ROE sub-sample also supports this evidence, based on the levels of headline earnings 

and headline earnings exclusions (F-value=8.95; p-value=0.003).  

With regard to relative value relevance, the adjusted R-square for the extreme ROE sample 

increases monotonically, from 5.4 per cent in Model 1, to 8.1 per cent in Model 3. On the basis 

of the Vuong test, the null hypothesis of the equal explanatory power of basic earnings and 

headline earnings is marginally rejected (Z-statistic=1.558; p-value=0.120). However, the most 

disaggregated model (Model 3) has the highest adjusted R-square of all three models. The Vuong 

test confirms that this model has greater explanatory power than Model 1, which includes only 

basic earnings. By comparison, for the less extreme earnings sub-sample, the Vuong test does 

not support the argument that either Model 2 or Model 3 has greater explanatory power than 

Model 1. Hence, consistent with Hypothesis 1, the evidence on the returns specification suggests 

that headline earnings and disaggregation are more useful to investors in firms with extreme 

ROE than to investors in firms with less extreme ROE. 
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Based on Giner and Riverte‟s (1999) work, the ROE tests conducted thus far in the current study 

assume that firms in the lowest and highest two deciles of the ROE distribution each year have 

more extreme earnings than firms in the middle six ROE deciles each year. However, Giner and 

Riverte (1999) include both positive and negative earnings observations in their sample, with the 

result that the most positive and most negative ROE firms in their sample are classified as 

extreme firms. My sample includes only positive earnings observations, with the result that the 

most positive and small positive ROE firms in my sample are classified as extreme firms. This 

may have the effect that firms with less extreme earnings (small positive earnings) are classified 

as firms with extreme earnings. In order to address this concern, I re-estimate the models, 

classifying positive earnings firm-year observations in the highest three ROE deciles for each 

year as firms with extreme earnings and all remaining firms as firms with less extreme earnings. 

I trim one per cent of the tails of all variables in each sub-sample to control for the effect of 

outliers. 

The results of the price-levels regressions (not tabulated) using this alternative categorisation are 

broadly consistent with the results shown in Table 5.1. Headline earnings exclusions continue to 

show no incremental value relevance to basic earnings for firms with extreme earnings (F-

value=0.00; p-value=0.989), while the test of incremental value relevance is marginally 

significant for firms with less extreme earnings (F-value=2.83; p-value=0.093). The results for 

the book value of equity is inconsistent with the results reported in Table 5.1. Except for Model 

2, in which the estimate of the book value of equity is significant at a ten per cent level, the book 

value of equity is insignificant for firms with extreme earnings in Model 1 and Model 3. The 

book value of equity is significant at less than a one per cent level in all three models for less 
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extreme earnings firms. The Vuong tests fail to find any significant results for firms with either 

more or less extreme earnings. 

Using the alternative earnings categorisation (results not tabulated), similar inferences regarding 

incremental value relevance can be drawn from the returns regression as from the results based 

on the original categorization. For the more extreme group, the adjusted R-square increases 

monotonically from 3.7 per cent in Model 1 to 6.2 per cent in Model 3. However, the Vuong test 

fails to reject the null hypothesis that the explanatory power of Models 1 and 3 is equal (Z-

statistic=1.587; p-value=0.113). For the less extreme group, the adjusted R-square increases from 

6.6 per cent in Model 1 to 7.4 percent in Model 3. The Vuong test rejects the null hypothesis that 

the two models have equal explanatory power (Z-statistic=1.76; p-value=0.078). Hence, 

disaggregation appears to be useful to investors in less extreme firms. This is contradictory to 

Hypothesis 1, as well as to the results based on the original categorisation. The more extreme 

group has 485 firm-year observations, whereas the high persistence group has 1 143 firm-year 

observations. The results may thus be sensitive to sample sizes and a lack of statistical power. 

Frankel and Litov (2009) argue that large earnings changes are less persistent than small earnings 

changes. Freeman and Tse (1992) present a related argument that the absolute value of 

unexpected earnings is negatively correlated with earnings persistence. Consistent with this idea, 

Cheng et al. (1996) and Charitou et al. (2001) posit that the absolute value of the change in 

earnings (scaled by lagged price) proxies for transitory earnings, because transitory items are 

more likely to be present when changes in earnings are large, relative to price. As an alternative 

to using ROE as a proxy for extreme earnings observations, I also focus on extreme changes in 

earnings by splitting the sample of firm-year observations with positive earnings each year 

according to the median of the absolute value of changes in basic earnings (scaled by outstanding 
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shares and again by lagged adjusted price). This variable is therefore, in absolute terms, exactly 

the same as the ∆EARN variable used in the returns regressions. I trim one per cent of the tails of 

all the variables in each sub-sample in order to control for outliers. 

Table 5.3 displays the results of the price-levels regressions using the alternative proxy to split 

the sample, based on extreme earnings changes. The results are contradictory to those reported in 

Table 5.1, but they are more consistent with the predictions. Disaggregation appears to be useful 

to investors in firms in the more extreme group, because the coefficient of headline earnings 

exclusions is lower than that of headline earnings in Model 3. An F-test rejects the null 

hypothesis that the two coefficients are equal to each other (F-value=7.74; p-value=0.006). This 

result does not hold for the less extreme group, where the F-statistic is insignificant. For both 

groups, it seems that neither basic earnings nor headline earnings is superior as a summary 

measure of performance: the Vuong tests do not show any significant difference. 

Table 5.4 shows the results of the returns regressions using the alternative proxy to split the 

sample based on extreme earnings changes. For the more extreme group, the results are broadly 

consistent with those contained in Table 5.3. Disaggregation appears to be useful to investors in 

this group, as the F-tests confirm that headline earnings exclusions and changes in headline 

earnings exclusions contain information that is incrementally value relevant, compared to basic 

earnings. With regard to relative value relevance, the adjusted R-square increases from 2.3 per 

cent in Model 1 to 3.5 per cent in Model 2, and the Vuong test marginally fails to show a ten per 

cent level of significance. By contrast, for the less extreme group, no evidence is found in 

support of either incremental or relative value relevance. 
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As a robustness test for the median split of changes in earnings, I divide the sample of positive 

earnings observations into deciles for each year, based on the absolute value of the changes in 

earnings (scaled by lagged price). I classify the observations in the highest three deciles as firms 

with more extreme earnings changes, and the observations in the lowest three deciles as firms 

with less extreme earnings changes. The middle four deciles are firms with medium earnings 

changes. I then re-estimate the models for the firms with low and high earnings changes. I also 

trim one per cent of the tails of all the variables in each sub-group.
28

 

Consistent with the median split classification, the results of the price-levels regressions (not 

tabulated) indicate that the coefficient of headline earnings for the more extreme group is 

significantly different from the coefficient of headline earnings exclusions (F-value=24.18; p-

value<0.000), but this result does not hold for the less extreme group (F-value=0.00; p-

value=0.995). Hence, from an incremental value relevance perspective, the headline earnings 

framework appears to be more useful to investors in firms with more extreme earnings changes 

than to investors in firms with less extreme earnings changes. For the more (less) extreme group, 

the adjusted R-square in Model 1 is 49.5 (23.1) per cent while it increases (decreases) to 51.8 

(22.9) per cent in Models 2 and 3. The Vuong test fails to reject the null hypothesis of the equal 

explanatory power of the models for both the more and the less extreme earnings changes 

groups. 

The results for the returns regressions (not tabulated), using the alternative method to split the 

sample based on extreme earnings changes, are generally weaker than those reported for the 

median split shown in Table 5.4. When the alternative classification is used, no support is found 

                                                           
28 For the less extreme group, I also eliminate Anglo Platinum Limited as its share price is very high (due to some corporate 

actions), even after trimming one per cent off the tails. 
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for either incremental or relative value relevance for either the high or the low persistence 

groups. 

In order to provide further evidence on Hypothesis 2, I focus on observations with extreme 

headline earnings exclusions. It can be argued that, from a regulatory perspective, the benefits of 

the headline earnings disaggregation framework are more pertinent in cases where headline 

earnings exclusions are large. Hence, headline earnings should be a summary measure of 

performance superior to basic earnings when headline earnings exclusions are large. To 

investigate this proposition, I construct a sample of the extreme five per cent of the tails of 

headline earnings exclusions (scaled by the total number of shares outstanding). While I have 

trimmed other samples in this chapter, the purpose of this test is to focus on extreme 

observations. Rather than trimming, I winsorize all variables to the 2.5
th

 and 97.5
th

 percentiles in 

order not to exclude extreme observations. The sample then consists of 218 firm-year 

observations; and it also includes positive and negative earnings observations.
29

 

The results of the price-levels regressions (not tabulated) do not show any significant results – 

although the coefficient of HEARN is greater than the coefficient of HEXCL, an F-test does not 

reject the null hypothesis of coefficient equality. The returns regressions (see Table 5.5) show 

much stronger results. In Model 1, the coefficients of earnings and the change in earnings are 

both insignificant, while the adjusted R-square is 2.2 per cent. The results for Model 2 show a 

marked improvement compared to Model 1 – both the coefficients of headline earnings and the 

change in headline earnings are positive and significant, while the adjusted R-square increases 

from 2.2 per cent to 18.1 per cent. The Vuong test confirms that headline earnings (Model 2) has 

a relatively higher value relevance than basic earnings (Model 1). The coefficients of both 

                                                           
29 I use the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles for winsorization, rather than the 1st and 99th percentiles, because the sample size is small. I 

also include both positive and negative earnings observations in order to obtain a workable sample size for the test. 
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headline earnings and the change in headline earnings are positive and significant in Model 3, 

whereas the coefficients of both headline earnings exclusions and the change in headline 

earnings exclusions are insignificant. An F-test confirms that headline earnings exclusions 

contain value relevant information that is incremental to basic earnings (F-value=7.23, p-

value=0.008). This evidence suggests that the headline earnings disclosure framework is 

beneficial to investors, especially in cases where headline earnings exclusions are large. 

Overall, the results of this section provide some evidence that the headline earnings disclosure 

framework is more useful to those who invest in firms where earnings and earnings changes are 

extreme than to those who invest in firms where earnings and earnings changes are less extreme. 

However, in some cases, the evidence is weak and should be considered in the context of the 

small sample sizes. 

5.4.2 Hypothesis 2: Firm size 

Hypothesis 2 predicts that the headline earnings disclosure framework has higher value relevance 

to the shareholders of small firms than to the shareholders of large firms. Table 5.6 contains the 

results of the price-levels regressions. For small firms, the book value of equity is the only 

variable that has value relevance incremental to the other variables in all three models. By 

contrast, for large firms, the book value of equity is marginally significant at a ten per cent level 

in all three models, while it is evident that earnings and headline earnings exhibit much higher 

incremental value relevance than the book value of equity. Collins et al. (1997) argue that firm 

size is a proxy for the probability of abandonment, because smaller firms report more losses, 

have less persistent earnings and face a greater likelihood of encountering financial distress. 

Hence, they believe that investors place greater weight on the book value of equity as a proxy for 
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abandonment or liquidation when the investors value smaller firms (Collins et al., 1997). Since 

my sample includes only firms with positive earnings, my results suggest that the importance of 

the book value of equity for smaller firms may extend beyond the loss effect of small firms.  

Overall the results of the price-levels regressions in Table 5.6 do not provide any support for 

Hypothesis 2 – the coefficient of headline earnings exclusions is not statistically different from 

the coefficient of headline earnings; and the Vuong tests indicate that none of the models has 

greater explanatory power than the other models. This holds for both small and large firms. 

Table 5.7 displays the results of the returns regressions. Panel A indicates that the coefficient of 

headline earnings exclusions is significantly different from the coefficient of headline earnings 

for small firms (F-value=11.38; p-value=0.001). By contrast, for large firms (Panel B), the F-

tests do not reject the null hypothesis that the two coefficients are equal, which suggests that 

there is no incremental value relevance to reporting headline earnings exclusions separate from 

headline earnings for large firms. For small firms, the adjusted R-square values increase from 3.6 

per cent in Model 1 to 5.0 per cent in Model 2. The Vuong test falls marginally short of 

significance at a ten per cent level. Hence, there is weak evidence to suggest that headline 

earnings is the superior performance measure, compared to basic earnings, for investors in small 

firms. By contrast, for large firms, the adjusted R-square for Model 1 is 6.3 per cent. It drops 

slightly, to 6.2 per cent, in Model 2. It seems that investors in large firms do not favour either 

basic earnings or headline earnings as a summary measure of performance. 

As a robustness test for the median split of firm size, I divide the sample of positive earnings 

observations into deciles for each year, based on market capitalization at the end of the reporting 

period. I classify the observations in the highest three deciles as large firms, and the observations 
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in the lowest three deciles as small firms. The middle four deciles are medium firms. I re-

estimate the models for the small and large firms. I trim the one per cent of the tails of all the 

variables in each sub-group.
30

 

The results of the price-levels regressions (not tabulated) show that, as in the case of the median 

split of the sample, the book value of equity of small firms is the only variable that has value 

relevance incremental to that of the other variables in all three models. Compared to the median 

split of the sample, the book value of equity of large firms no longer exhibits significance at the 

conventional levels, while earnings (Model 1) and headline earnings (Models 2 and 3) continues 

to display significant incremental value relevance. 

As is the case with the median split of the sample, the price-levels regressions using the 

alternative method to split the sample fail to find support in favour of either incremental or 

relative value relevance for either small or large firms – the coefficient of headline earnings 

exclusions is not statistically different to the coefficient of headline earnings. The Vuong tests 

indicate that none of the models has greater explanatory power than the other models. 

Unlike the median split of the sample, the results of the returns regressions (not tabulated) using 

the alternative method to split the sample support the incremental value relevance of headline 

earnings exclusions over basic earnings for both small and large firms. While the F-statistics for 

the comparison of the coefficients of headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions are not 

statistically different from zero, the F-statistic for the comparison of changes in headline 

earnings to changes in headline earnings exclusions for small (large) firms is 2.97 (12.92) with a 

p-value of 0.086 (0.000). The adjusted R-square of the large firm sample shows the greatest 

                                                           
30 See Footnote 27. 
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improvement from Model 1 to Model 2. The Vuong tests fail to reject the null hypothesis that the 

models have equal explanatory power for both small and large firms. 

Overall, this section provides weak evidence in favour of Hypothesis 2. The results appear to be 

sensitive to the method chosen to divide the sample and to a lack of statistical power. 

5.5 Additional ex post analyses 

5.5.1 IFRS adoption 

In this section, I investigate whether there has been a shift in the incremental value relevance of 

basic and headline earnings since the adoption of the IFRSs by the JSE. According to the JSE‟s 

listing requirements, firms must comply with the IFRSs for financial periods commencing on or 

after 1 January 2005. However, prior to the mandatory application of the IFRSs, South African 

firms applied South African Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA GAAP), which has 

been harmonised with International Accounting Standards (IASs) since 1993, and has matched 

the IFRSs exactly since 2004. Hence, in essence, firms listed on the JSE have applied the same 

reporting framework both before and since the adoption of the IFRSs. In addition, there have 

only been small changes to the IFRSs that affect headline earnings exclusions.
31

 

However, there is reason to believe that the value relevance of earnings and its components may 

have changed from the pre-adoption to the post-adoption period. Firstly, since the adoption of the 

IFRSs, investors may believe that South African firms‟ financial statements have become more 

comparable to those of other firms across the globe. If this is the case, one would expect an 

increase in the value relevance of earnings and its components in the post-IFRS period. 

                                                           
31 One of the most significant changes to the IFRSs that affect headline earnings exclusions relates to business combinations. The 

latest headline earnings definition clarifies that transaction costs in a business combination are included in headline earnings, 

whereas bargain purchase gains are excluded (SAICA, 2009). 
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Secondly, the post-adoption period coincided with the global financial crisis. During this period, 

headline earnings may have come to be seen as a more appropriate summary measure of 

performance than basic earnings, because basic earnings would include large transitory items, 

such as impairment losses. Thirdly, the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(SAICA) released an updated headline earnings formula during August 2007 to clarify the 

application of the headline earnings concept using the IFRSs as a reporting framework. 

However, SAICA and the Chartered Financial Analyst Society of the United Kingdom (CFA 

UK) do not expect the changes to the definition to have a significant impact and they argue that 

“databases [containing headline earnings data] can be seen as a continuum” (SAICA, 2007a; 

CFA UK, 2007). Finally, while South African firms effectively applied the same international 

reporting framework before and after the adoption of the IFRSs, the IFRSs have evolved over 

time. For example, new standards on share-based payments (IFRS 2), business combinations 

(IFRS 3), and non-current assets held for sale (IFRS 5) became effective in the post-adoption 

period. If these standards improve the quality of earnings, they may have an effect on the value 

relevance of earnings in the post-adoption period.  

There is also reason to believe that the value relevance of headline earnings may have decreased 

in the post-IFRS period. Foreign investment in JSE-listed firms increased dramatically during the 

sample period, but especially since 2005. For example, the United Nations Conference on Trade 

and Development (UNCTAD) reports average foreign direct investment stock
32

 in South Africa 

from 2000 to 2004 of $43,189 million, while the average for 2005 to 2009 is $94,052 million 

(UNCTAD, 2011). Since headline earnings is not well known outside of South Africa, foreign 

investors may not attach great weight to it. 
                                                           
32 UNCTAD (2011) defines “foreign direct investment” as an investment involving a long-term relationship and reflecting a 
lasting interest in and control by a resident entity in one economy (a foreign direct investor or parent enterprise) of an enterprise 

resident in a different economy. 
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In order to investigate the issue, I construct a dummy variable, POST, which is coded 1 for firm-

years ending on or after 31 December 2005, and zero otherwise. I examine the interaction of this 

variable with various independent variables in order to gauge whether there have been any 

significant changes in the incremental value relevance of the book value of equity and earnings 

in the post-adoption period. I limit the analysis to firm-year observations with positive earnings. 

Table 5.8 displays the results of the price-levels regressions. The only interaction variable that is 

shown to be significant in any of the three models is headline earnings exclusions, which is 

significantly lower in the post-adoption period. Comparing the magnitude of the coefficients of 

headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions using F-tests, it is evident that there is no 

significant difference between the two coefficients in the pre-period (F-value=0.54; p-

value=0.462), while the coefficients differ significantly from each other in the post-IFRS 

adoption period (F-value=13.24; p-value=0.000). This evidence suggests that the headline 

earnings disclosure framework has become more useful to investors in the post-IFRS adoption 

period. 

Table 5.9 shows the results of the returns regressions. The incremental value relevance of both 

basic earnings (Model 1) and headline earnings (Models 2 and 3) has declined in the post-IFRS 

adoption period, but the effect is less severe for headline earnings. There appear to be no 

differences between the incremental value relevance in the pre-IFRS adoption period and that in 

the post-IFRS adoption period for changes in headline earnings, headline earnings exclusions 

and changes in headline earnings exclusions. As is the case in the main results in Table 4.5 in 

Chapter 4, there appears to be no significant difference between the magnitude of the coefficients 

of headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions in the pre- and post adoption periods. 

However, the F-value for the post-adoption period (F-value=1.84; p-value=0.175) is larger than 
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the F-value for the pre-adoption period (F-value=0.18; p-value=0.668). This provides weak 

evidence that there is some improvement in the usefulness of the headline earnings disclosure 

framework from the pre-adoption to the post-adoption period. A comparison of the magnitude of 

the coefficients of changes in headline earnings and changes in headline earnings exclusions 

suggests that investors found the headline earnings disaggregation scheme useful in both the pre-

adoption and the post-adoption periods. 

In separate regressions for each of the two sub-periods, the Vuong test fails to show significance 

for the comparison of any of the models (not tabulated). This evidence suggests that there has 

been no shift in the relative value relevance of either basic earnings or headline earnings. 

5.5.2 Industry analysis 

Thus far, the tests conducted in Chapters 4 and 5 constrain the coefficients so that they are equal 

across industries. Ballas and Hevas (2005) argue that differences across industries (arising from 

the nature of the different industries‟ businesses and industry-specific differences in the 

persistence of earnings due to seasonality of demand, credit terms and customers and suppliers) 

may cause heterogeneity in the regression coefficients across industries. Barth et al. (1999) posit 

that industry membership is a proxy for differences in the economic and accounting 

environment. They also note considerable cross-industry variation in the regression coefficients.  

Barth, Beaver and Landsman (1998) argue that differences between the explanatory power of the 

book value of equity and that of earnings for price across industries depend on the extent to 

which net assets in specific industries remain unrecognised. They predict that the explanatory 

power of earnings should be greater than the book value of equity for firms with substantial 

amounts of unrecognized net assets (such as intangible assets), and argue that the converse 
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would be true for firms with fewer unrecognized assets. In line with these predictions, their 

findings show that earnings have greater explanatory power than the book value of equity for 

pharmaceutical firms, while the inverse is true for financial firms. 

To investigate this issue further, I estimate the models separately for six of the nine industries 

listed in Table 4.1 in Chapter 4. The health care, telecommunications and oil and gas industries 

are excluded from the estimation because of their small sample sizes in South Africa. I limit the 

analysis to firm-year observations with positive earnings. For each industry, I trim one per cent 

of the tails to control for the effect of outliers.
33

 The sample sizes are small and the results are 

sensitive to the treatment of outliers. Hence, these results should be evaluated with caution. 

Table 5.10 displays the results of the price-levels regressions. For firms in the consumer services, 

the industrial, the basic materials and the technology sectors, Model 1 shows that both the book 

value of equity and earnings have incremental value relevance. 

In line with the predictions of Barth et al. (1998), Model 1 shows that the book value of equity 

has greater explanatory power than earnings for financial firms. By contrast, for firms in the 

basic materials industry, earnings has greater explanatory power than the book value of equity. A 

large portion of the basic materials industry consists of mining firms. Mining firms are likely to 

have substantial amounts of unrecognized assets because, under IFRS, research and development 

costs are expensed rather than capitalized. Moreover, a substantial number of mining reserves 

and resources are not recognized in the balance sheet. In line with these arguments, the results 

show that the magnitude of the coefficient of earnings is greater than the coefficient of the book 

value of equity for basic materials firms. An F-test (not tabulated) rejects the null hypothesis that 

the two coefficients are equal to each other (F-value=17.01; p-value=0.000). 

                                                           
33 See Footnote 27. 
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A surprising result for consumer goods firms shows that earnings has no incremental information 

content compared to the book value of equity. This sector includes a variety of firms, such as 

producers of automobiles and parts, food producers and suppliers of personal and household 

goods. One would expect these firms not to have substantial amounts of unrecognized assets, but 

possibly substantial amounts of tangible assets for which historical cost departs significantly 

from fair value. Hence, one would expect earnings to have explanatory power for these firms. 

The actual result could be due to the increased use of fair value in the balance sheets of these 

firms. For example, IFRS allows firms to revalue tangible assets to fair value, while food 

producers, such as farmers, are required to use fair value for biological assets. 

One puzzling aspect in the results shown in Table 5.10 is the significantly negative coefficient of 

the book value of equity for the industrial sector. However, in univariate tests (not tabulated), 

both earnings and the book value of equity have a significantly positive correlation with price 

and with each other. Given the small sample size, the negative coefficient of the book value of 

equity should be considered with caution. 

In Model 2, headline earnings has incremental value relevance only for three industries, namely 

for the industrials, the basic materials and the technology industries. The book value of equity is 

the only variable that shows incremental value relevance for the consumer services, the 

consumer goods and the financial sectors, whereas both headline earnings and the book value of 

equity have incremental value relevance in the industrial and the technology sectors. The basic 

materials sector is the only sector for which headline earnings alone has incremental value 

relevance. This supports the argument that this sector has substantial unrecognized assets, which 

makes headline earnings the dominant valuation attribute. The Vuong test does not provide any 
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evidence that headline earnings has greater explanatory power than basic earnings for any of the 

industries. 

In Model 3, the F-tests reject the null hypothesis of the equality of the headline earnings and 

headline earnings exclusions coefficients in three sectors, namely for the consumer goods, the 

basic materials and the technology sectors. However, in both the consumer goods and the 

technology sectors, the magnitude of the coefficient for the headline earnings exclusions is larger 

than that for headline earnings, which is inconsistent with the notion that headline earnings 

exclusions have lower persistence than headline earnings. Nevertheless, the results support the 

notion that disaggregation is useful to investors in these sectors because the earnings components 

have different consequences for valuation. 

Given the dominant effect of the book value of equity in the price-levels regressions, the returns 

regressions may provide more insight into the value relevance of basic earnings compared to that 

of headline earnings. Table 5.11 displays the results of the returns regressions. The adjusted R-

square shows an improvement from Model 1 to Model 2 for four of the six industries, namely for 

the consumer services, the basic materials, the technology and the financial sectors. This 

evidence suggests that headline earnings may be more value relevant than basic earnings in these 

industries. However, the Vuong test does not indicate evidence of greater explanatory power for 

headline earnings, as opposed to basic earnings for any of the industries. However, given the 

small sample sizes, the Vuong test may lack statistical power. 

The results of Model 3, the most disaggregated model, show that headline earnings (or changes) 

has incremental value relevance to basic earnings for three of the industries. For the consumer 

services and the basic materials sectors, the coefficients of the change in headline earnings and 
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the change in headline earnings exclusions are significantly different from each other. For 

financial firms, the coefficient of headline earnings is significantly different from that of headline 

earnings exclusions. 

The adjusted R-square shows an improvement from Model 1 to Model 3 for four of the 

industries, namely for the consumer services, the consumer goods, the basic materials and the 

financial sectors. In fact, the Vuong test shows significance for the consumer services sector and 

marginally misses significance at a ten per cent level for the basic materials sector.  

Overall, the results of this section suggest that there is cross-industry variation in the incremental 

and relative value relevance. It seems that the headline earnings disclosure framework is most 

beneficial to investors in the consumer services and the basic materials sectors – the returns 

regressions support the argument for the incremental value relevance of headline earnings 

exclusions for both these sectors, while there is weak evidence to suggest that headline earnings 

is superior to basic earnings as a summary measure of performance for investors in these sectors. 

In addition, the results show weak evidence that headline earnings disclosure holds benefits for 

investors in financial firms – using the returns regressions, the adjusted R-square improves from 

1.9 per cent in Model 1 to 4.2 per cent in Model 2, but the Vuong test lacks statistical power. 

However, headline earnings exclusions appear to be incrementally value relevant to basic 

earnings in Model 3. 

5.6 Conclusion 

In this chapter I investigate various factors that may cause the value relevance of headline 

earnings to differ between groups of firms. In particular, I attempt to establish whether there are 

any significant differences in the value relevance of headline earnings based on differences in the 
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extremity of earnings and firm size. I also seek to establish whether there has been a shift in the 

value relevance of headline earnings since the adoption of the IFRSs in South Africa and 

whether the value relevance of headline earnings varies across industries. 

The results suggest that headline earnings disclosure is more useful to those who invest in firms 

with more extreme earnings than to those who invest in firms with less extreme earnings. 

Consistent with differences in the information environment, headline earnings disclosure also 

appears to be more useful to investors who invest in small firms than to those who invest in large 

firms. The results obtained from returns regressions suggest that headline earnings is a superior 

summary measure of performance in cases where headline earnings exclusions are extreme. 

While there appears to be no significant shift in the value relevance of headline earnings since 

the adoption of the IFRSs in South Africa, I document cross-industry variations in the results.  

Standard setters set standards that are applied in the preparation of general purpose financial 

statements (IASB, 2010). General purpose financial statements are prepared for those users of 

the financial statements who are unable to command the preparation of financial statements 

particularly tailored for their needs directly from a firm. In this regard, mandatory disclosures 

decisions made by standard setters are economy-level policy choices, affecting numerous firms 

that differ in terms of their economic and other circumstances (Schipper, 2007). Overall, the 

results from this chapter suggest that there are cases in which headline earnings are better able to 

capture firm fundamentals than the summary measure of performance currently mandated by 

accounting standards. However, the sample sizes are small and sensitive to outliers. Hence, the 

tests may lack statistical power and the results should be considered with caution.  
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TABLE 5.1 

Price Earnings Regressions: Extreme Earnings (ROE) 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: More extreme    

Intercept 42.588
*** 

43.558
*** 

42.929
*** 

 (3.717) (3.770) (3.751) 

BVE 3.391
*** 

4.117
*** 

3.560
*** 

 (3.203) (3.875) (3.350) 

EARN 21.403
*** 

  

 (6.293)   

HEARN  19.505
*** 

19.258
*** 

  (5.298) (5.281) 

HEXCL   36.265
*** 

   (3.701) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 71.28
*** 

64.66
*** 

48.51
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   2.61 

    

Adjusted R
2 

17.7% 16.3% 17.9% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.986  

  (0.325)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.321 

   (0.748) 

N (firm-year observations) 654 654 654 
    

Panel B: Less extreme    

Intercept 55.992
*** 

53.382
*** 

52.289
*** 

 (4.734) (4.515) (4.407) 

BVE 1.327 0.896 1.729 

 (0.787) (0.601) (1.026) 

EARN 28.746
***  

 

 (3.476)   

HEARN  33.256
*** 

30.184
*** 

  (4.299) (3.654) 

HEXCL   -21.355 

   (-1.061) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 84.76
*** 

88.47
*** 

59.36
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   7.45
*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

14.6% 15.2% 15.2% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.720
* 

 

  (0.086)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.468 

   (0.142) 

N (firm-year observations) 980 980 980 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at 

the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 



158 
 

TABLE 5.2 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Extreme Earnings (ROE) 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: More extreme    

Intercept 0.258
*** 

0.243
*** 

0.242
*** 

 (8.502) (8.071) (7.994) 

EARN 0.705
*** 

  

 (4.521)   

∆EARN 0.024   

 (0.303)   

HEARN  0.864
*** 

0.942
*** 

  (5.302) (5.494) 

∆HEARN  0.157 0.156 

  (1.482) (1.476) 

HEXCL   0.113 

   (0.446) 

∆HEXCL   -0.177 

   (-1.539) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 19.55
*** 

29.66
*** 

15.45
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   8.95
*** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   4.61
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

5.4% 8.0% 8.1% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.558  

  (0.120)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.647
* 

   (0.100) 

N (firm-year observations) 656 656 656 
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TABLE 5.2 (continued) 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Extreme earnings (ROE) 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel B: Less extreme    

Intercept 0.240
*** 

0.248
*** 

0.246
*** 

 (12.348) (12.825) (12.633) 

EARN 0.336
*** 

  

 (2.659)   

∆EARN 0.888
*** 

  

 (4.727)   

HEARN  0.184
*** 

0.191
*** 

  (1.389) (1.436) 

∆HEARN  1.383
*** 

1.382
*** 

  (5.820) (5.806) 

HEXCL   0.515 

   (0.550) 

∆HEXCL   0.031 

   (0.093) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 31.64
*** 

37.44
*** 

18.80
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.12 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   10.20
*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

5.9% 7.0% 6.8% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  0.980  

  (0.328)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.117 

   (0.264) 

N (firm-year observations) 972 972 972 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing 

four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the 

ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.3 

Price Earnings Regressions: Extreme Changes in Earnings 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: More extreme    

Intercept 0.798 0.682 0.674 

 (0.517) (0.441) (0.439) 

BVE 1.385
*** 

1.496
*** 

1.302
*** 

 (7.428) (8.269) (6.921) 

EARN 8.524
*** 

  

 (11.139)   

HEARN  9.002
*** 

9.433
*** 

  (10.902) (11.376) 

HEXCL   5.094
*** 

   (3.514) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 503.74
*** 

498.67
*** 

341.17
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   7.74
*** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

55.0% 54.8% 55.4% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.184  

  (0.854)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.605 

   (0.545) 

N (firm-year observations) 823 823 823 
    

Panel B: Less extreme    

Intercept 85.213
*** 

83.835
*** 

87.680
*** 

 (3.365) (3.295) (3.441) 

BVE 4.143
** 

5.360
*** 

3.749
* 

 (2.012) (2.779) (1.779) 

EARN 42.703
*** 

  

 (4.413)   

HEARN  38.289
*** 

42.855
*** 

  (4.080) (4.427) 

HEXCL   77.918
* 

   (1.880) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 80.93
*** 

79.28
*** 

54.19
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.76 

    

Adjusted R
2 

16.2% 16.0% 16.2% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.762  

  (0.446)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.238 

   (0.812) 

N (firm-year observations) 825 825 825 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at 

the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.4 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Extreme Changes in Earnings 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: More extreme    

Intercept 0.365
*** 

0.354
*** 

0.357
*** 

 (10.576) (10.379) (10.360) 

EARN 0.299
*** 

  

 (2.790)   

∆EARN 0.095   

 (1.448)   

HEARN  0.348
*** 

0.352
*** 

  (3.211) (3.158) 

∆HEARN  0.211
** 

0.215
** 

  (2.365) (2.392) 

HEXCL   -0.111 

   (-0.466) 

∆HEXCL   -0.041 

   (-0.401) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 10.47
*** 

15.82
*** 

8.06
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   3.55
* 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   3.30
* 

    

Adjusted R
2 

2.3% 3.5% 3.4% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.568  

  (0.117)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.451 

   (0.147) 

N (firm-year observations) 815 815 815 
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TABLE 5.4 (continued) 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Extreme Changes in Earnings 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel B: Less extreme    

Intercept 0.209
*** 

0.213
*** 

0.209
*** 

 (10.436) (10.813) (10.404) 

EARN -0.061   

 (-0.165)   

∆EARN 6.396
*** 

  

 (4.154)   

HEARN  -0.124 -0.132 

  (-0.346) (-0.353) 

∆HEARN  5.844
*** 

7.050
*** 

  (4.136) (4.453) 

HEXCL   0.854 

   (0.402) 

∆HEXCL   3.517 

   (1.474) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 9.89
*** 

9.72
*** 

5.67
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.23 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   2.55 

    

Adjusted R
2 

2.2% 2.1% 2.3% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.049  

  (0.961)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.733 

   (0.464) 

N (firm-year observations) 796 796 796 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing 

four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the 

ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.5 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Large HEXCL 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.185
*** 

0.162
*** 

0.162
*** 

 (4.978) (4.498) (4.235) 

EARN 0.116
 

  

 (0.859)   

∆EARN 0.198
 

  

 (1.139)   

HEARN  1.557
*** 

1.548
*** 

  (3.774) (3.377) 

∆HEARN  0.837
** 

0.841
** 

  (2.175) (2.009) 

HEXCL   0.011
 

   (0.956) 

∆HEXCL   -0.007 

   (-0.030) 

F-statistic    
- Overall model 3.39

** 
25.05

*** 
12.41

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   7.23
*** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   2.45
 

    

Adjusted R
2 

2.2% 18.1% 17.4% 

Vuong test    
- Model 2 vs Model 1  3.469

*** 
 

  (0.001)  
- Model 3 vs Model 1   3.489

*** 

   (0.001) 

N (firm-year observations) 218 218 218 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009 for firm-year observations for 

which HEXCL is in the extreme 5 per cent of the tails. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period 

commencing four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders 

(#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to 

period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while 

∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and 

∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the 

lagged share price. All variables are winsorized to the 2.5
th
 and 97.5

th
 percentiles. 
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TABLE 5.6 

Price Earnings Regressions: Firm Size 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: Small firms    

Intercept -1.566 -1.671 -1.661 

 (-0.607) (-0.647) (-0.643) 

BVE 6.465
*** 

6.338
*** 

6.523
*** 

 (7.849) (8.063) (7.884) 

EARN 0.144   

 (0.031)   

HEARN  1.151 0.484 

  (0.250) (0.103) 

HEXCL   -11.584 

   (-0.718) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 76.75
*** 

76.79
*** 

51.33
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.58 

    

Adjusted R
2 

15.7% 15.7% 15.7% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  0.111  

  (0.912)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.276 

   (0.783) 

N (firm-year observations) 813 813 813 
    

Panel B: Large firms    

Intercept 100.310
*** 

97.797
*** 

99.838
*** 

 (3.685) (3.573) (3.643) 

BVE 2.986
* 

3.690
* 

2.997
* 

 (1.896) (2.500) (1.900) 

EARN 26.330
*** 

  

 (3.803)   

HEARN  25.003
*** 

26.544
*** 

  (3.594) (3.758) 

HEXCL   23.603 

   (1.243) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 56.61
*** 

55.74
*** 

37.70
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.02 

    

Adjusted R
2 

12.0% 11.8% 11.9% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.445  

  (0.657)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   0.060 

   (0.952) 

N (firm-year observations) 818 818 818 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at 

the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.7 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Firm Size 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel A: Small firms    

Intercept 0.282
*** 

0.265
*** 

0.267
*** 

 (8.969) (8.401) (8.453) 

EARN 0.381
*** 

  

 (3.626)   

∆EARN 0.108
* 

  

 (1.695)   

HEARN  0.506
*** 

0.507
*** 

  (4.567) (4.522) 

∆HEARN  0.158
* 

0.151
* 

  (1.861) (1.767) 

HEXCL   -0.489
* 

   (-1.779) 

∆HEXCL   0.048 

   (0.646) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 16.03
*** 

22.54
*** 

12.09
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   11.38
*** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   0.52 

    

Adjusted R
2 

3.6% 5.0% 5.2% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  1.602  

  (0.109)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.570 

   (0.117) 

N (firm-year observations) 817 817 817 
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TABLE 5.7 (continued) 

Returns Earnings Regressions: Firm Size 

 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Panel B: Large firms    

Intercept 0.240
*** 

0.242
*** 

0.240
*** 

 (13.427) (13.490) (13.374) 

EARN 0.544
** 

  

 (2.484)   

∆EARN 1.648
*** 

  

 (4.751)   

HEARN  0.430
* 

0.447
* 

  (1.851) (1.927) 

∆HEARN  2.483
*** 

2.327
*** 

  (5.154) (4.789) 

HEXCL   0.125 

   (0.890) 

∆HEXCL   1.170
* 

   (1.822) 

F-statistic    

- Overall model 28.34
*** 

27.92
*** 

15.54
*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.12 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   1.96 

    

Adjusted R
2 

6.3% 6.2% 6.7% 

Vuong test    

- Model 2 vs Model 1  -0.099  

  (0.921)  

- Model 3 vs Model 1   1.100 

   (0.271) 

N (firm-year observations) 811 811 811 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient 

estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values.
 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing 

four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is 

earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change 

in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the 

ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per 

cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.8 

Price Earnings Regressions: IFRS adoption 

 Price (P) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 41.638
*** 

40.764
*** 

40.849
*** 

 (3.461) (3.388) (3.394) 

BVE 3.071
** 

3.017
** 

2.963
** 

 (2.179) (2.221) (2.098) 

EARN 12.940
* 

  

 (1.891)   

HEARN  14.211
** 

14.367
** 

  (2.028) (2.206) 

HEXCL   2.212 

   (0.137) 

POST 31.618
* 

30.729
* 

29.796
* 

 (1.870) (1.818) (1.763) 

POST*BVE 0.038 -0.228 0.694 

 (0.022) (-0.137) (0.396) 

POST*EARN 6.081   

 (0.752)   

POST*HEARN  8.155 6.378 

  (0.994) (0.768) 

POST*HEXCL   -38.844
* 

   (-1.717) 

    

F-statistic    
- Overall model 52.43

*** 
54.39

*** 
39.69

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.54 
- HEARN + POST*HEARN = HEXCL + POST*HEXCL   13.24

*** 

- BVE + POST*BVE = 0 9.15
*** 

8.35
*** 

12.48
*** 

- EARN + POST*EARN = 0 19.52
*** 

  
- HEARN + POST*HEARN = 0  27.53

*** 
23.10

*** 

- HEXCL + POST*HEXCL = 0   5.32
** 

    

Adjusted R
2 

13.6% 14.0% 14.2% 

    

N (firm-year observations) 1 638 1 638 1 638 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics indicated in parentheses.

 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding firm-year 

observations for which EARN is negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at 

the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). NEG is an indicator variable that equals 1 for firm-year observations for which 

earnings is negative and 0 otherwise. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.9 

Returns Earnings Regressions: IFRS adoption 

 Returns (RET) 

 Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 

Intercept 0.349*** 0.351*** 0.353*** 

 (15.041) (15.239) (15.215) 

EARN 0.795***   

 (7.214)   

∆EARN 0.059   

 (0.812)   

HEARN  0.705*** 0.734*** 

  (6.434) (6.550) 

∆HEARN  0.227** 0.279*** 

  (2.223) (2.604) 

HEXCL   0.553 

   (1.286) 

∆HEXCL   -0.273* 

   (-1.881) 

POST -0.188*** -0.196*** -0.197*** 

 (-5.945) (-6.219) (-6.217) 

POST*EARN -0.468***   

 (-2.781)   

POST*∆EARN 0.086   

 (0.588)   

POST*HEARN  -0.340* -0.331* 

  (-1.935) (-1.845) 

POST*∆HEARN  0.139 0.063 

  (0.760) (0.337) 

POST*HEXCL   -0.824 

   (-1.316) 

POST*∆HEXCL   0.096 

   (0.373) 

    

F-statistic    
- Overall model 35.16*** 38.02*** 21.83*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL   0.18 
- HEARN + POST*HEARN = HEXCL + POST*HEXCL   1.84 
- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL   7.33*** 

- ∆HEARN + POST*∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL + POST*∆HEXCL   4.07** 

- EARN + POST*EARN = 0 6.60**   
- ∆EARN + POST*∆EARN = 0 1.32   
- HEARN + POST*HEARN = 0  7.14*** 8.28*** 

- ∆HEARN + POST*∆HEARN = 0  5.86** 5.03** 

- HEXCL + POST*HEXCL = 0   0.35 

- ∆HEXCL + POST*∆HEXCL = 0   0.70 

    

Adjusted R2 9.5% 10.2% 10.3% 

    

N (firm-year observations) 1 632 1 632 1 632 
    

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics indicated in parentheses.

 

    

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009, excluding observations for which EARN is 

negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. 

EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to 

period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline 

earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), 

while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are 

scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. NEG is an 
indicator variable that equals 1 for firm-year observations for which earnings is negative and 0 otherwise. The 1 per cent tails of all the variables are 

trimmed. 



169 
 

TABLE 5.10 

Price Earnings Regressions by Industry 

 Price (P) 

 CS CG IND BM TECH FIN 

Model 1       

Intercept 31.751
*** 

81.481
*** 

53.024
*** 

-136.177 0.173 39.795
*** 

 (2.063) (4.484) (3.130) (-1.397) (0.998) (3.745) 

BVE 5.156
** 

2.238
** 

-7.375
*** 

7.216
* 

0.943
*** 

3.673
*** 

 (2.034) (2.150) (-3.024) (1.736) (5.403) (3.157) 

EARN 18.906
* 

7.043 78.596
*** 

63.589
*** 

5.096
*** 

5.867 

 (1.724) (1.194) (6.368) (6.289) (5.284) (0.973) 
       

Model F-statistic 21.41
*** 

21.25
*** 

37.04
*** 

83.71
*** 

162.20
*** 

39.84
*** 

       

Adjusted R
2 

11.9% 20.3% 14.6% 46.0% 70.6% 20.0% 
       

N (firm-year observations) 303 160 421 195 135 311 

       

Model 2       

Intercept 31.887
** 

86.532
*** 

51.973
*** 

-111.408 0.246
 

39.775
*** 

 (2.068) (4.768) (3.068) (-1.148) (1.342) (3.758) 

BVE 5.324
** 

3.612
*** 

-7.329
*** 

6.510 1.219
*** 

3.558
*** 

 (2.085) (3.919) (-3.041) (1.588) (6.815) (3.279) 

HEARN 18.033 -2.099 79.707
*** 

68.757
*** 

3.027
*** 

7.049 

 (1.628) (-0.388) (6.442) (6.612) (3.327) (1.184) 
       

Model F-statistic 21.23
*** 

20.45
*** 

37.55
*** 

86.94
*** 

138.15
*** 

40.12
*** 

       

Adjusted R
2 

11.8% 19.7% 14.8% 47.0% 67.2% 20.2% 

Vuong test (Model 2 vs Model 1) -0.652 -0.423 0.245 0.552 -1.517 0.624 

 (0.515) (0.673) (0.806) (0.582) (0.132) (0.533) 
       

N (firm-year observations) 303 160 421 195 135 311 
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TABLE 5.10 (continued) 

Price Earnings Regressions by Industry 

 Price (P) 

 CS CG IND BM TECH FIN 

Model 3       

Intercept 32.195
** 

82.095
*** 

52.140
*** 

-111.724 0.200 40.068
*** 

 (2.086) (4.564) (3.074) (-1.143) (1.195) (3.765) 

BVE 5.296
** 

2.444
** 

-7.503
*** 

6.489 0.991
*** 

3.689
*** 

 (2.072) (2.360) (-3.073) (1.564) (5.865) (3.168) 

HEARN 18.182 4.290 80.285
*** 

68.764
*** 

5.245
*** 

6.617 

 (1.640) (0.716) (6.449) (6.594) (5.632) (1.082) 

HEXCL 51.465 21.433
** 

24.593
*** 

1.261 11.927
*** 

-4.909 

 (0.735) (2.353) (0.459) (0.036) (5.252) (-0.312) 

F-statistic       
- Overall model 14.31

*** 
15.87

*** 
25.06

*** 
57.66

*** 
119.84

*** 
26.70

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL 0.22 4.24
** 

1.07 3.43
* 

10.87
*** 

0.55 
       

Adjusted R
2 

11.7% 21.9% 14.7% 46.7
% 

72.7% 19.9% 

Vuong test (Model 3 vs Model 1) 0.248 1.077 0.433 0.556 0.945 0.635 

 (0.805) (0.283) (0.665) (0.579) (0.347) (0.526) 
       

N (firm-year observations) 303 160 421 195 135 311 
       

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values. CS is 

consumer services, CG is consumer goods, IND is industrials, BM is basic materials, TECH is technology and FIN is financials. 
 

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009 for separate JSE sectors, excluding firm-year observations for which EARN is 

negative. The currency is ZAR. P is the share price four months after the end of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x 

#01060206). HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings attributable to 

ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN). EARN, HEARN and HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201). The 1 per cent 

tails of all the variables are trimmed. 
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TABLE 5.11 

Returns Earnings Regressions by Industry 

 Returns (RET) 

 CS CG IND BM TECH FIN 

Model 1       

Intercept 0.280
*** 

0.215
*** 

0.226
*** 

0.260
*** 

0.234
** 

0.227
*** 

 (9.809) (4.687) (6.324) (4.760) (2.585) (6.368) 

EARN 1.128
*** 

0.287 0.379
** 

0.953
** 

0.812
** 

0.560
** 

 (5.044) (0.700) (1.993) (2.136) (2.527) (2.011) 

∆EARN 0.024 3.772
*** 

0.560
*** 

-0.592 0.209 -0.003 

 (0.198) (5.341) (2.725) (-1.393) (1.572) (-0.019) 
       

Model F-statistic 19.16
*** 

25.41
*** 

12.09
*** 

2.37
* 

4.89
*** 

3.95
** 

       

Adjusted R
2 

10.8% 23.8% 5.0% 1.4% 5.5% 1.9% 
       

N (firm-year observations) 301 157 424 192 134 313 

       

Model 2       

Intercept 0.287
*** 

0.217
*** 

0.229
*** 

0.231
*** 

0.236
*** 

0.185
*** 

 (10.284) (4.736) (6.376) (4.273) (2.677) (4.902) 

HEARN 0.933
*** 

0.236 0.380
* 

0.969
* 

0.686
** 

1.274
*** 

 (4.860) (0.570) (1.961) (1.831) (2.489) (3.402) 

∆HEARN 0.270
* 

4.135
*** 

0.608
*** 

0.898 0.300
* 

-0.355 

 (1.688) (5.250) (2.603) (1.379) (1.783) (-1.127) 
       

Model F-statistic 21.36
*** 

24.52
*** 

11.29
*** 

6.50
*** 

5.60
*** 

7.81
*** 

       

Adjusted R
2 

12.0% 23.2% 4.6% 5.4% 6.5% 4.2% 

Vuong test (Model 2 vs Model 1) 1.053 -0.167 -0.554 1.300 0.469 1.006 

 (0.293) (0.868) (0.580) (0.195) (0.640) (0.315) 
       

N (firm-year observations) 301 157 424 192 134 313 
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TABLE 5.11 (continued) 

Returns Earnings Regressions by Industry 

 Returns (RET) 

 CS CG IND BM TECH FIN 

Model 3       

Intercept 0.284
*** 

0.219
*** 

0.226
*** 

0.235
*** 

0.237
*** 

0.189
*** 

 (9.916) (4.781) (6.271) (4.250) (2.616) (4.944) 

HEARN 1.074
*** 

0.133 0.386
** 

0.851 0.694
** 

1.185
*** 

 (4.592) (0.318) (1.991) (1.601) (2.002) (3.074) 

∆HEARN 0.324
** 

4.402
*** 

0.550
** 

1.047 0.340
* 

-0.258 

 (1.980) (5.537) (2.294) (1.601) (1.752) (-0.689) 

HEXCL 0.223 -0.466 0.134 1.399 0.179 -0.650 

 (0.213) (-0.280) (0.129) (1.645) (0.150) (-1.155) 

∆HEXCL -0.403
* 

2.428
** 

0.658
 

-1.425
* 

-0.188 0.199 

 (-1.918) (2.057) (0.921) (-1.887) (-0.425) (1.258) 

F-statistic       
- Overall model 11.67

*** 
13.59

*** 
6.04

*** 
4.18

*** 
2.81

** 
4.43

*** 

- HEARN = HEXCL 0.80 0.13 0.06 0.28 0.25 9.26
*** 

- ∆HEARN = ∆HEXCL 6.46
** 

2.30 0.02 5.46
** 

0.88 1.18 
       

Adjusted R
2 

12.5% 24.4% 4.5% 6.2% 5.2% 4.2% 

Vuong test (Model 3 vs Model 1) 1.678
* 

0.700 0.114 1.617 0.500 1.036 

 (0.095) (0.485) (0.909) (0.108) (0.618) (0.301) 
       

N (firm-year observations) 301 157 424 192 134 313 
       

*, ** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following is indicated in parentheses: for the coefficient estimates, t-statistics; for the Vuong test, p-values. CS is 

consumer services, CG is consumer goods, IND is industrials, BM is basic materials, TECH is technology and FIN is financials. 
 

The table sets out the mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2002 to 2009 for separate JSE sectors, excluding firm-year observations for which EARN is 

negative. The currency is ZAR. RET is the share return measured for the annual period commencing four months after the start of the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (#01090305 x #01060206), while ∆EARN is the change in earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEARN is the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 

shareholders (#02020086 x #01060206), while ∆HEARN is the change in the headline earnings from period t-1 to period t. HEXCL is earnings excluded from the headline earnings 

attributable to ordinary shareholders (EARN minus HEARN), while ∆HEXCL is the change in headline earnings exclusions from period t-1 to period t. EARN, ∆EARN, HEARN, ∆HEARN, 

HEXCL and ∆HEXCL are scaled by the ordinary shares on issue at the end of the reporting period (Line Item #01060201) and then again by the lagged share price. The 1 per cent tails of all 

the variables are trimmed. 
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CHAPTER 6 

BACKGROUND TO THE ACCRUAL ANOMALY 

 

6.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this chapter is to review the literature on the pricing of earnings and its 

components as a backdrop to the South African study which follows in Chapter 7. I conclude this 

chapter with key aspects from the literature which I incorporate into the study in Chapter 7. 

Sloan (1996) reports the surprising finding that investors tend to fail to incorporate the 

implications of the lower persistence of accruals relative to cash flows for one-year-ahead 

earnings into share prices. This failure results in a predictable negative association between 

current period accruals and future abnormal share returns, which suggests that abnormal returns 

could be earned by forming a hedge portfolio based on the magnitude of accruals (Sloan, 1996). 

This phenomenon has generally become known in the literature as the “accrual anomaly”.  

Sloan‟s (1996) evidence of the mispricing of shares in the most developed capital market in the 

world, namely the United States, directly challenges the “efficient market hypothesis” which 

holds that security markets are efficient in reflecting information about individual shares and 

about the market as a whole (Fama, 1970). Given the significance of Sloan‟s (1996) findings, it 

is not surprising that much research has been devoted to unravelling the accrual anomaly. Green, 

Hand and Soliman (2011: 1) claim that “the accrual anomaly is one of the most closely studied 

topics in academic accounting”. After 14 years of research on the accrual anomaly, researchers 

are still divided on whether the accrual anomaly really represents market mispricing, and if it 
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does so, what causes the mispricing, why the mispricing has not been arbitraged away, and 

whether investors can really earn abnormal returns by trading the anomaly (Green et al., 2011). 

I start my literature review in this chapter by looking broadly at the explanations offered for the 

accrual anomaly, international evidence on the accrual anomaly, and the relevance of the cash 

flow component of earnings for the anomaly. I then narrow the discussion to the anomalous 

returns on special items, which is particularly relevant for the South African study (see Chapter 

7). Next, I argue that standard setters should take the anomaly literature into consideration. 

Finally, I conclude the chapter by highlighting the key findings in the literature review which are 

important for the South African study contained in Chapter 7. 

6.2 Prior research 

6.2.1 Defining the accrual anomaly 

Sloan‟s (1996) was the first to document that in the United States the accrual component of 

earnings is less persistent than the cash flow component. In is seminal work, he hypothesises that 

investors “fixate” on earnings, failing to distinguish between the difference between the 

persistence of the accrual component and that of the cash flow component of current earnings. 

Although Sloan (1996) predicts earnings fixation, his evidence is not completely consistent with 

his hypothesis. He shows that aggregate earnings has a persistence parameter of 0.841 in a 

regression of future earnings on current earnings. In a regression of future earnings on the current 

accrual and cash flow components, he finds that accruals has a persistence parameter of 0.765, 

while cash flows has a persistence parameter of 0.855. Using the Mishkin test, he shows that the 

market assigns a persistence parameter of 0.911 to accruals and one of 0.826 to cash flows. 

Earnings fixation would have resulted in the market‟s assigning a persistence parameter of 0.841, 
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the average persistence of earnings, to both the accrual component and the cash flow component. 

This can be summarised as follows: 

 Actual 

persistence 

(A) 

Predicted market 

persistence based 

on fixation 

Market estimate 

of persistence 

(B) 

Difference 

 

(B – A) 

Accruals 0.765 0.841 0.911 0.146 

Cash flows 0.855 0.841 0.826 -0.029 

It is evident from this table that the difference between the market estimate of persistence and the 

actual persistence is consistent with the direction of earnings fixation. However, the magnitude 

of the market‟s estimate of the persistence shows that investors tend to overvalue accruals by a 

greater margin than the one by which they undervalue cash flows. This leads Sloan (1996: 314) 

to conclude that “stock prices act as if investors fail to identify correctly the different properties 

of these two components of earnings”. 

Sloan (1996) shows that engaging in a trading strategy of going long in firms with the lowest 

accruals and of going short in firms in the highest accruals renders an abnormal return of 10.4 

per cent in the year following portfolio formation. Hence, the mispricing of the accrual and cash 

flow components of earnings leads investors to overprice (or underprice) shares in which the 

accrual component is relatively high (or low). Consequently, firms with relatively high (or low) 

levels of accruals experience negative (or positive) future abnormal share returns that are 

clustered around future earnings announcements. 

Sloan (1996) provides evidence of the mispricing of both the accrual component and the cash 

flow component of earnings, but much of the subsequent literature has been devoted to 

overreaction to the accrual component. This is arguably due to the fact that Sloan (1996) shows 

that the overreaction to accruals tends to be relatively higher than the underreaction to cash 
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flows. Sloan‟s (1996) finding of a negative association between accounting accruals and 

subsequent share returns has become generally known in the accounting literature as the “accrual 

anomaly”. However, the underpricing of the cash flow component of earnings is also an 

anomaly, because it deviates from the concept of market efficiency. 

6.2.2 Theory of financial anomalies 

Brav and Heaton (2002) provide a summary of the competing theories underlying financial 

anomalies. They argue that the efficient market hypothesis has two characteristic assumptions: 

 investors are assumed to have essentially complete knowledge of the fundamental structure 

of their economy; and 

 investors are assumed to be completely rational information processors who make optimal 

statistical decisions. 

“Behavioural” explanations for anomalies (irrationality) assume that investors suffer from 

cognitive biases and cannot process the available information rationally, even when they have 

considerable knowledge about the fundamental structure of the economy (Brav and Heaton, 

2002). In other words, behavioural explanations contradict or at least undermine the second 

assumption upon which the efficient market hypothesis is based. Sloan‟s (1996) earnings fixation 

hypothesis is an example of a behavioural explanation for the accrual anomaly. 

“Rational structural uncertainty” explanations for anomalies maintain the complete rationality 

assumption, but undermine the assumption that investors have complete knowledge of the 

structure of the economy (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Within a rational expectations environment, 

rational investors make optimal decisions in an environment about which they have all the 

relevant structural knowledge that they need (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Outside a rational 
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expectations environment, rational investors still make optimal decisions, but they lack the 

critical structural knowledge that they need (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Brav and Heaton (2002: 

578) posit that, empirically, it is difficult to distinguish between the competing theories of 

irrationality and rational structure uncertainty, as a result of the “mathematical similarities 

between the theories”. 

In Sections 6.2.3 to 6.2.6, I review some of the main explanations offered in the literature for the 

existence of the accrual anomaly in the United States. Many of these explanations overlap and 

the categorization used in this discussion is therefore used only for the sake of convenience. 

6.2.3 Explanation 1: Earnings fixation 

Sloan (1996) was the first to consider earnings fixation as a plausible explanation for the 

existence of the accrual anomaly. When investors fixate on earnings, they extrapolate the growth 

rate for future earnings, based on the properties of earnings as an aggregate number, and fail to 

distinguish between the different levels of persistence of earnings components. 

Some researchers have challenged the premise that the mispricing of earnings components is 

caused by earnings fixation. Ali, Hwang and Trombley (2000) argue that if the accrual anomaly 

exists as a result of earnings fixation by naïve investors, the magnitude of the anomaly should be 

inversely related to the interest of sophisticated investors in the company. Contrary to this 

prediction, they find that the accrual anomaly is stronger for large firms, which are more likely to 

be followed by analysts and held by institutional investors, and weaker for smaller firms, which 

are less likely to be of interest to sophisticated market participants.  

By making two adjustments to Ali et al.‟s (2000) research design, Collins, Gong and Hribar 

(2003) are able to show that the accrual anomaly is in fact mitigated by investor sophistication. 
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Firstly, Ali et al.‟s (2000) accrual measure is calculated from the balance sheet, whereas Collins 

et al. (2003) calculate accruals directly from the cash flow statement. Collins et al. (2003) show 

that the measurement error contained in accruals using the balance sheet method is more 

pronounced for firms followed by individual investors, and is biased against finding significant 

hedge returns for low institutional ownership firms. Secondly, they refine Ali et al.‟s (2000) 

proxies for institutional investors, because Ali et al.‟s (2000) proxies ignore the fact that some 

institutional investors follow a passive investment strategy, making them unlikely to trade based 

on accrual signals. By focusing on a group of “transient” institutional investors that are most 

likely to trade based on value proxies, they are able to show that firms with high institutional 

ownership exhibit less accrual mispricing than firms with low institutional ownership. 

In a more recent study, Dechow, Richardson and Sloan (2008) show that investors overprice both 

the total accrual component of earnings and the free cash flow component of earnings. Dechow 

et al. (2008) use an extensive sample covering the entire period from 1950 to 2003. Their 

findings reveal that the overpricing of the accrual component is more severe than the overpricing 

of the cash flow component. They argue that this calls into question the earnings fixation 

explanation for the accrual anomaly, as it appears that investors do distinguish between the two 

components, but then significantly overprice the less persistent component of earnings. 

In a more recent study, Hafzalla, Lundholm and Van Winkle (2011) discuss evidence consistent 

with the earnings fixation hypothesis. Traditionally, accrual anomaly studies scale accruals by 

average assets (for example, Sloan, 1996). Hafzalla et al. (2011) sort firms into accrual deciles 

based on “percent accruals”, which refers to accruals scaled by absolute earnings. This measure 

of accruals focuses on the composition of earnings; in other words, the relative amounts of the 

accrual and the cash flow components of earnings. When this measure is used, firms in the 
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lowest accrual decile have large negative accruals, large positive cash flows and, as a result, 

small positive or small negative earnings. They show that percent accruals as a measure is better 

able to capture extreme differences between a naïve forecast (focusing on earnings only) and a 

sophisticated forecast (disaggregating earnings into an accrual and a cash flow component). They 

show that sorting firms on percent accruals renders a significant hedge return of 11.68 per cent, 

while a traditional sorting renders an insignificant hedge return of 6.51 per cent for the period 

from 1989 to 2008. As their sorting is better able to capture differences between a naïve and a 

sophisticated forecast, their evidence is more consistent with the earnings fixation hypothesis 

than with alternative explanations for the accrual anomaly. 

6.2.4 Explanation 2: Mispricing of accounting distortions versus growth 

Research categorized under this explanation offers behavioural explanations for the accrual 

anomaly. The researchers whose work is categorized into this group are particularly interested in 

what exactly investors misprice.  

Sloan (1996) argues that investors misprice accounting distortions. He attributes the differences 

in persistence between the accrual and cash flow components to the greater subjectivity involved 

in the estimation of accruals. Hence, over- and understatements of accruals in the current period 

are adjusted via accruals in future periods, with the result that accruals are more volatile than 

cash flows, which in turn results in less persistent earnings (Dechow and Schrand, 2004). 

Estimation errors in accruals include both intentional (earnings management) and unintentional 

errors (Dechow and Dichev, 2002; Richardson et al., 2006). 

Xie (2001) argues that investors misprice accounting distortions caused by earnings 

management. He shows that normal accruals have a persistence coefficient close to that of cash 
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flows, while abnormal (discretionary) accruals have a persistence coefficient much lower than 

that of cash flows and normal accruals. Linking accrual quality with the pricing of earnings 

components, Xie (2001) finds that the overestimation of the persistence of the accrual component 

by the market is more severe for abnormal accruals than for normal accruals. His findings 

suggest that earnings management is a plausible explanation for the accrual anomaly, as 

investors struggle to unravel the effect of earnings management practices on the persistence of 

earnings. 

Other researchers also find evidence consistent with the earnings management explanation. 

Houge and Loughran (2000) suggest that investors appear to value the accrual portion of 

earnings efficiently, except for firms with the highest level of accruals, as this portfolio is 

consistently overvalued. Because this is the portfolio most likely to have managed the 

discretionary portion of earnings, Houge and Loughran (2000: 171) consider it strange that “the 

market actually seems to reward firms for engaging in earnings management”. Similarly, Chan et 

al. (2006) investigate whether high accrual firms have large income-decreasing special items in 

the year following earnings management. They provide some evidence to support their claim that 

this phenomenon exists and interpret this finding as a reversal of earnings management in the 

prior year.  

Beneish and Vargus (2002) also use earnings management to explain the accrual anomaly. They 

maintain that income-increasing accruals are more persistent for firms with abnormal insider 

buying of shares and less persistent for firms with abnormal insider selling of shares. This 

implies that executives possess private information regarding the persistence of accruals. They 

argue that the accrual anomaly is primarily due to the mispricing of income-increasing accruals, 

and that firms with income-increasing accruals associated with abnormal insider selling of shares 
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are the most severely mispriced. Their findings suggest that these firms are associated with 

opportunistic earnings management. 

Fairfield, Whisenant and Yohn (2003) claim that the lower persistence of accruals is more likely 

to be the result of a general growth effect that can be attributed to a conservative bias in 

accounting and diminishing returns on investments than to be the result of earnings management. 

Hence, they argue that the accrual anomaly arises from the effect of asset growth on persistence. 

They recognise that accruals are a component of both earnings and growth in net operating 

assets. Just as earnings can be disaggregated into accruals and cash flows, growth in net 

operating assets can be disaggregated into accruals (current) and the growth in long-term net 

operating assets.  

Hence, Fairfield et al. (2003) investigate whether the lower persistence of accruals documented 

in Sloan (1996) is attributable to its role in earnings or its role in growth in net operating assets. 

In line with a prediction of diminishing marginal returns on investment and conservative 

accounting, they report that both components of growth in net operating assets, namely accruals 

and growth in long-term net operating assets, have an equivalent negative association with one-

year-ahead earnings, after controlling for current profitability. In addition, they find that after 

controlling for growth in net operating assets, there is no significant difference between the 

persistence of the cash flow and that of the accrual component of earnings. They point out that 

this evidence is inconsistent with the earnings management explanation. Because they find 

evidence of similar overreaction to accruals and the growth in long-term net operating assets, 

they argue that this provides evidence that the overreaction to the accrual component of earnings 

is a special case of a more general growth anomaly. In essence, Fairfield et al. (2003) argue that 

if investors tend to fail to understand that investments have diminishing returns, then they may 
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overprice firms with large asset increases and underprice firms with large asset decreases. Hence, 

rather than showing earnings fixation, they posit that investors tend to fail to understand the 

economics of investment (Hafzalla et al., 2011). 

Fairfield et al.‟s (2003) evidence does not rule out the earnings management explanation 

completely. In essence, they suggest that both accruals and long-term net operating assets show 

lower earnings persistence and similar mispricing. Therefore, a growth phenomenon must be 

driving the accrual anomaly and not earnings management. Such an assumption is only plausible 

if long-term accruals are not subject to intentional manipulation. Richardson et al. (2005) suggest 

that less reliable accruals, which include certain long-term net operating assets, show lower 

persistence and more mispricing than more reliable accruals. This provides some evidence that 

the lower persistence of accruals is consistent with the existence of estimation errors in accruals. 

Richardson et al. (2006) are not convinced by the growth-related explanation for the lower 

persistence of the accrual component of earnings. Although they do not rule out the growth-

related explanation, they provide evidence to suggest that temporary estimation errors in accruals 

provide the most compelling explanation for the lower persistence of the accrual component of 

earnings. 

6.2.5 Explanation 3: Barriers to arbitrage 

Brav and Heaton (2002) posit that studying the long-term disappearance of a financial anomaly 

is essentially an investigation into the role that learning and arbitrage play in the irrationality 

and rational structural uncertainty theories. Anomalies caused by irrationality may disappear if 

investors learn something that alters their expectations, so that their future decisions become 

rational (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Anomalies caused by structural uncertainty models may also 
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disappear if investors learn to use data correctly (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Arbitrage may cause 

anomalies to disappear if investors who are not making mistakes place bets to exploit the beliefs 

of investors who are making mistakes (Brav and Heaton, 2002). Anomalies that derive from 

irrationality cannot survive the presence of rational arbitrageurs, unless there are limits to 

arbitrage that prevent the effectiveness of “rational bets against mispricing” (Brav and Heaton, 

2002: 578). Lev and Nissim (2006) and Mashruwala, Rajgopal and Shevlin (2006) investigate 

the barriers to arbitrage relating to the accrual anomaly. 

Lev and Nissim (2006) argue that, given the seemingly simple exploitation strategy of the 

accrual anomaly, one would expect sophisticated investors to cause the anomaly to dissipate 

quickly and ultimately vanish. They believe that institutional investors avoid extreme-accrual 

firms due to the unattractive economic characteristics of such firms (small size, low share price 

and low book-to-market ratio). In addition, they show that trading in extreme-accrual firms 

requires substantial information processing and transaction costs (Lev and Nissim, 2006). This 

makes it impracticable for individuals to exploit the accrual-based strategy. 

Mashruwala et al. (2006) provide evidence to show that the accrual anomaly is not arbitraged 

away because of the lack of close substitute shares and transaction costs. A mispriced share is 

likely to trade at the sum of its fundamental value and mispricing (Mashruwala et al., 2006). If 

there are close substitute shares to hedge the fundamental value, the gain from the mispricing can 

be realized. In other words, to realize these abnormal returns due to accrual mispricing, it is 

necessary to find close substitute shares for the short position to offset the unsystematic risk of 

shares in the long position. Mashruwala et al. (2006) show that it is difficult to find such 

substitute shares in practice. In addition, they point out that the greatest returns for the accrual 
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anomaly are found in shares with the lowest share price and the lowest trading volume, with the 

result that transaction costs impose significant barriers to arbitrage. 

A recent study by Green et al. (2011) documents that the returns to Sloan‟s (1996) trading 

strategy have reduced over a time, to a point where the average returns are no longer positive. 

They argue that large sophisticated hedge funds have successfully arbitraged the anomaly away, 

resulting in increased market efficiency. 

6.2.6 Explanation 4: Risk 

In sharp contrast to the explanations considered so far, researchers that offer a risk-based 

explanation for the accrual anomaly do not believe in irrational mispricing. Richardson, Tuna 

and Wysocki (2010) argue that the association between a given attribute, for example accruals, 

and future share returns is always subject to two competing explanations of risk and mispricing. 

According to the risk explanation, the relation between accruals and future share returns is 

explained by a lower (higher) risk premium for firms with accruals (Richardson et al., 2010). In 

other words, accruals merely act as a proxy for risk, in such a way that the higher average returns 

for low accrual firms reflect compensation for higher systematic risk. Hence, an alternative 

explanation for the accrual anomaly evidence is that markets are efficient, but that researchers 

have so far failed to identify the price risk factors that drive the accrual anomaly correctly 

(Hirshleifer, Hou and Teoh, 2010). The risk explanation for the accrual anomaly has caused a 

significant disparity in the literature. 

Sloan (1996) presents two pieces of evidence in an attempt to rule out risk-based explanations. 

Firstly, Sloan (1996) shows that around 40 per cent of hedge portfolio returns are clustered 

around the subsequent earnings announcement dates, even though the announcement period 
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contains less than five per cent of the total trading days. Secondly, Sloan (1996) shows a positive 

hedge portfolio return in 28 of the 30 years he examined. This evidence suggests that the 

anomalous returns are less likely to be caused by risk than to be caused by investor mispricing. 

Despite Sloan‟s (1996) attempts to rule out risk-based explanations, Khan (2008) posits that the 

accrual anomaly presents a challenge to the existing theory that cross-sectional differences in 

expected returns are due to differences in risk. Researchers have demonstrated that the accrual 

anomaly is sensitive to risk adjustment (Khan, 2008; Wu, Zhang and Zhang, 2010). However, 

the recent evidence provided by Green et al. (2011) that the accrual anomaly in the United States 

may have been arbitraged away by sophisticated hedge funds is also not consistent with a risk-

based explanation.  

Richardson et al.‟s (2010) recent study attempts to control for risk using a more encompassing 

treatment of risk and transaction costs over a sample period from 1979 to 2008. Their analysis is 

the most comprehensive treatment of risk in the literature to date. They argue that the traditional 

approaches in the academic literature to control for risk are based on an ex post assessment that 

is time-invariant, considers only a very narrow set of known risk attributes and mostly ignores 

the importance of given industries. By contrast, Richardson et al. (2010) use an ex ante approach 

to forecast risk based on a model that contains various risk characteristics and industry 

classifications. They indicate that the negative relation between accruals and future share returns 

is robust to the ex ante analysis of risk. However, consistent with Green et al.‟s (2011) study, 

they show that the negative relation has been attenuated substantially in recent years. In 

conclusion, through their comprehensive analysis of risk, Richardson et al. (2010: 73) provide 

evidence that the negative relation between measures of accruals and future stock returns is not 

fully explained by risk factors. 
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6.2.7 International evidence 

The accrual anomaly literature is dominated by evidence from the United States. However, 

Pincus et al. (2007) provide evidence on the existence of the accrual anomaly in 20 countries for 

the period from 1994 to 2002. South Africa did not form part of the sample. Pincus et al.‟s 

(2007) evidence (based on the Mishkin test) regarding the existence of the accrual anomaly 

globally can be summarized as follows (countries highlighted in bold experience mispricing of 

both the accrual and the cash flow component of earnings): 

 Common Law Code Law 

Accrual overweighting Australia 

Canada 

United Kingdom 

United States 

 

Cash flow overweighting  Indonesia 

Accrual underweighting Malaysia 

Singapore 

Germany 

Indonesia 

Spain 

Cash flow underweighting Malaysia 

Singapore 

Thailand 

 

France 

Germany 

Italy 

Japan 

The Netherlands 

Spain  
Sweden 

Switzerland 

Taiwan 

 

No mispricing Hong Kong 

India 

Denmark 

A number of interesting observations emerge from the analysis presented by Pincus et al. (2007): 

 The accrual anomaly (the overweighting of accruals) occurs only in four common law 

countries, namely Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States. 
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 The underweighting of the cash flow component appears to be a fairly wide-spread 

phenomenon globally, as 12 of the 20 countries included in Pincus et al.‟s (2007) sample 

exhibit this anomaly. Although this phenomenon remains unexplored empirically, Pincus et 

al. (2007) posit that the phenomenon may reflect investors‟ belief that earnings management 

occurs in these countries through the structuring of transactions, rather than through the 

management of accruals. Given that the relation between share prices and the underlying 

economic fundamentals is weaker in less efficient markets, investors in such markets may 

have less confidence that what is being reported actually captures the underlying 

fundamentals (Pincus et al., 2007). Pincus et al. (2007) argue that if insiders have more 

control over resources and reporting, then non-fundamentals may be more important 

determinants of value in such markets. In other words, rather than pointing towards investor 

irrationality, this underreaction may be indicative of structural uncertainty (Brav and Heaton, 

2002). 

 Accrual underweighting occurs in five countries. Four of these countries (Germany, 

Malaysia, Spain and Singapore) also exhibit underweighting of the cash flow component. 

 In contrast to Sloan (1996), who reported underweighting of the cash flow component in the 

United States over the period from 1962 to 1991, Pincus et al.‟s (2007) findings suggest that 

the cash flow component was no longer significantly mispriced over the period from 1994 to 

2002. 

In a recent study, Clinch et al. (2011) report on the existence of the mispricing of earnings 

components in Australia, using a more extensive sample than Pincus et al.‟s (2007), including all 

available firms for the period from 1991 to 2008, as opposed to including only large firms. 

Consistent with Pincus et al.‟s (2007) findings, their study shows that the accrual component of 
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earnings is significantly overweighted by investors. Contrary to Pincus et al. (2007), who report 

no significant mispricing of the cash flow component in Australia, Clinch et al. (2011) find that 

the cash flow component is significantly underweighted by investors. Their study provides recent 

evidence of the mispricing of earnings components in a large and well-developed capital market.  

Hence, in contrast to Green et al’s (2011) evidence that the effect of the mispricing of earnings 

components in the United States has attenuated over time, the international evidence presented in 

this section suggests that the mispricing of earnings and its components globally is not yet well 

understood. 

6.2.8 Evidence on the cash flow component 

Sloan (1996: 292) states in Footnote 4: 

The trading strategy could also be stated in terms of the relative magnitude of the cash 

flow component of earnings. That is, a trading strategy taking a long position in firms 

with relatively high levels of cash flow and a short position in firms with relatively low 

levels of cash flow should generate positive excess returns. 

Literature extending Sloan‟s (1996) argument focuses primarily on accrual overvaluation. 

Barone and Magilke (2009) argue that this almost exclusive focus on accrual mispricing 

presumably stems from the strong negative correlation between accruals and cash flows, which 

suggests that an analysis of accruals alone is sufficient because including cash flows would 

produce findings that mirror the results produced by accruals. However, the fact that the 

correlation coefficient between cash flows and accruals is far from showing a perfect negative 

correlation leaves open the possibility that cash flows and accruals may have distinct effects on 

share returns (Ahmed, Nainar and Zhang, 2006).  
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In addition to the Mishkin test, Sloan (1996) uses cross-sectional regressions of returns on 

accruals, and consistent with the evidence of accrual overweighting, demonstrates a negative 

association between returns and accruals. However, he fails to control for cash flow in these 

tests. If investors underreact to cash flows, and cash flows are omitted in studying the 

relationship between future returns and accruals, a spurious negative relation between future 

returns and accruals can result from omitting cash flows. Barone and Magilke (2009) posit that 

by not controlling for returns associated with a cash flow trading strategy, research prior to their 

own is not able to identify what portion of returns is derived from accruals that are independent 

from cash flows versus accruals that are correlated with cash flows.  

Houge and Loughran (2000) concentrate on validating Sloan‟s (1996) assertion that accrual and 

cash flow trading strategies should yield symmetric results. Houge and Loughran (2000) find that 

46 per cent of firms appear in both the low cash flow and the high accrual decile, but that only 38 

per cent of firms in the high cash flow decile are included in the low accrual decile. The different 

portfolios also display distinct average market values, book-to-market trends and levels of 

persistence. Hence, while there is some overlap between a trading strategy based on accruals and 

one based on cash flows, the returns will not be equal. After removing the effects of market risk, 

size and book-to-market, Houge and Loughran (2000) report an annualized return on the accrual 

strategy of 8.2 per cent and an annualized return on the cash flow strategy of 10.4 per cent. They 

argue that the imperfect correlation between the accrual and cash flow anomalies suggests that 

merging the strategies should generate even greater excess returns. Going long in a portfolio of 

firms with high earnings quality (high cash flows and low accruals) and short in firms with low 

earnings quality (low cash flows and high accruals) earns an excess return of 16 per cent. Houge 
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and Loughran (2000: 165) conclude that this evidence suggests “that the accrual and cash flow 

anomalies derive from different firms with distinct characteristics”.  

Desai, Rajgopal and Venkatachalam (2004) disagree with Houge and Loughran (2000). They 

argue that “one cannot infer that two strategies are independent just because the combined 

portfolio is more profitable than the individual portfolio” (Desai et al., 2004: 360). Desai et al. 

(2004) show that when they control for operating cash flows, accruals is no longer related to 

future abnormal returns. Hence, they believe that the operating cash flow variable captures 

mispricing due to accruals, as a result of the strong negative correlation between accruals and 

cash flows. Yu (2007) argues that their findings may suggest that although investors appear to 

underprice cash flows, they may not misprice accruals. 

Baron and Magilke (2009) reconcile the arguments of Houge and Loughran (2000) and Desai et 

al. (2004). Barone and Magilke (2009) document that an accrual-based strategy incorporates 

significantly different firms compared to a cash flow-based strategy. In addition, they report that 

an unconditional accrual hedge strategy earns an abnormal return of 7.1 per cent, while an 

unconditional cash flow hedge strategy earns an abnormal return of 18.2 per cent. These findings 

are broadly consistent with Houge and Loughran‟s (2000) argument that cash flow-based 

portfolios are composed of significantly different firms than accrual-based portfolios and earn 

significantly different returns from accrual-based portfolios. When accruals and cash flows are 

included in the same regression, Baron and Magilke‟s (2009) results indicate that the returns to 

an accrual-strategy are insignificant, whereas the returns on a cash flow-strategy are positive and 

significant. They argue that this is consistent with Desai et al.‟s (2004) findings, because a 

significant part of the returns on an accrual-strategy derive from the variation in accruals that is 

shared with cash flows. 
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Drake, Myers and Myers (2009) report findings very similar to those of Barone and Magilke 

(2009). In particular, Drake et al. (2009) find that, when they include only the accrual component 

of earnings in a regression of returns, this component shows a negative association with future 

returns. When they include only the cash flow component in the regression, they find a positive 

association between future returns and cash flows. Both sets of results are consistent with the 

accrual anomaly. When they include both components in the regression, the accrual component 

has the correct sign (negative), but is insignificant, while the cash flow component is positive 

and significant. Drake et al. (2009: 378) conclude that their cash flow variable (scaled by 

average total assets) “parsimoniously captures the mispricing of the earnings components”. 

Similarly, Pincus et al. (2007) argue that ignoring the cash flow component in regressions of 

future returns on accruals renders peculiar results. In particular, in a regression of abnormal 

returns on accruals, they find significantly negative abnormal returns for countries for which the 

Mishkin test does not indicate accrual overweighting. They conjecture that this inconsistent 

result is due to underweighting of operating cash flows rather than overweighting of accruals, 

because the Mishkin test suggests that in these countries abnormal returns could be earned based 

on a cash flow strategy and that accruals and cash flows are more negatively correlated for these 

countries than for most other countries. By including operating cash flow as a control variable in 

their regression, this inconsistency is resolved. 

Ahmed et al. (2006) argue that Desai et al.‟s (2004) results reflect a total accrual effect and do 

not extend to working capital accruals. To assess the validity of this argument, it is necessary to 

consider the accrual variable measurement in the various studies.  
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Desai et al. (2004) calculate accruals based on the balance sheet-derived working capital accrual 

measure they adopted from Sloan (1996). By contrast, Barone and Magilke (2009) and Drake et 

al. (2009) calculate accruals using the direct method as the difference between earnings and 

operating cash flows. Dechow and Ge (2006) posit that Sloan‟s (1996) measure of accruals will 

reflect special items related to the write-downs of current assets (for example, inventory and 

receivables) and the creation of current liabilities relating to restructuring. However, Sloan‟s 

(1996) definition of accruals does not include special items related to the write-down of long-

term assets or the creation of long-term restructuring liabilities, although these items are included 

in operating accruals derived from the direct method (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 

2006). Despite the difference between the accrual definitions used by Desai et al. (2004) and 

Barone and Magilke (2009) and Drake et al. (2009), none of these studies report any evidence of 

accrual mispricing after controlling for cash flows.  

Ahmed et al. (2006) define total accruals as the difference between earnings and operating cash 

flows. Like Barone and Magilke (2009) and Drake et al. (2009), they indicate that this measure 

of accruals loses its explanatory power for future returns when it is included in a regression 

together with operating cash flows. Ahmed et al. (2006) also divide total accruals into working 

capital accruals (based on the balance sheet definition) and long-term accruals (as the difference 

between total accruals and working capital accruals). Hence, their measure of long-term accruals 

captures special items relating to long-term operating assets. In essence, Ahmed et al.‟s (2006) 

working-capital accrual definition is the same as Desai et al.‟s (2004) total accrual definition. In 

contrast to Desai et al. (2004), they find that working capital accruals continue to show a 

negative and significant relation to future share returns after controlling for operating cash flows. 

Ahmed et al. (2006: 73) claim that they “extend Desai et al. (2004) by documenting that cash 
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flows subsume total accruals and discretionary accruals but not working-capital accruals”. 

However, instead of an extension of Desai et al.‟s (2004) study, this appears to be a contradiction 

to their work, as Desai et al. (2004) do not test total accruals, but only working capital accruals. 

Yu (2007) reports results similar to those of Barone and Magilke (2009), Desai et al. (2004) and 

Drake et al. (2009), using an annual setting. More specifically, Yu (2007) reports that the accrual 

(cash flow) component of earnings shows a negative (positive) association with future returns in 

an unconditional regression of future returns on the respective components. In a conditional 

regression including both components, the accrual component has the correct sign (negative), but 

is insignificant, while the cash flow component is positive and significant. However, Yu (2007) 

argues that an investigation over a quarterly interval provides a more powerful setting, because 

returns measured after the annual filing date fail to capture investors‟ reactions to the accruals of 

the first three quarters fully.  

Collins and Hribar (2000) also investigate the anomaly on a quarterly basis and conclude that it 

is present in the quarterly data. Consistent with the findings of Collins and Hribar (2000) and the 

results from the annual setting, Yu (2007) shows that when only the accrual component is 

included in the quarterly regression, the results mimic the accrual anomaly. However, once the 

accrual and cash flow components are included, both components display a statistically 

significant positive coefficient. This result shows that investors underreact to both the accrual 

and the cash flow components of earnings, while the relative magnitude of the coefficients 

indicates that the underreaction is more severe for the cash flow component.  

In addition, Yu (2007) shows that a trading strategy of going long in firms with both high cash 

flows and high accruals and going short in firms with both low cash flows and low accruals earns 
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much higher abnormal returns than Sloan‟s (1996) suggested strategy of going long in firms with 

low accruals and short in firms with high accruals. 

The role of the cash flow variable in regressions of future returns appears to be inconsistent. For 

example, Kraft et al. (2007) are able to report coefficients on both the accrual component and the 

cash flow component that have the correct sign and are statistically significant. Similarly, Pincus 

et al. (2007) continue to show statistically negative coefficients on the accrual variable for 

Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States after including operating cash 

flows as a control variable. Taken together, these results do not support the claim that the cash 

flow variable subsumes the effect of the accrual variable. 

Despite these inconsistencies, it appears safe to say, as Barone and Magilke (2009: 390) put it, 

that “while there may be a significant shared component between accruals and cash flow 

mispricing, evidence indicates potential differences in the way that accruals and cash flows are 

priced, over and above what would be suggested by their correlation”. 

Prior research has generally treated the cash component of earnings as homogeneous. Dechow et 

al.‟s (2008) study is an exception. They divide earnings between a total accrual component (as 

opposed to using a working capital definition of accruals) and a free cash flow component. Their 

focus is on a further decomposition of the free cash flow component. Free cash flow is typically 

defined as the excess cash generated from operations after taking into account the cash needed 

for investments (Dechow et al., 2008).  

In particular, Dechow et al.‟s (2008) focus is not so much on the components that generate free 

cash flow as on the uses of positive free cash flow or the sources of financing for negative free 

cash flow. Dechow et al. (2008) invoke standard clean surplus assumptions in that they hold that 
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the change in equity for a particular year is equal to earnings minus distributions to equity 

holders. Under these assumptions, consider an example where earnings equals 210 and accruals 

equals 60. In other words, the cash component of earnings is 150. The following represents the 

movement in the cash account: 

Opening balance 100 

Cash recognised in earnings 150 

Debt distributions (40) 

Equity distributions (30) 

Closing balance 180 

Dechow et al. (2008) argue that the cash component of earnings of 150 consists of three 

components based on the use of those cash flows, namely cash retained, equalling 80 (180 – 

100); cash distributed to debt holders, equalling 40; and cash distributed to equity holders, 

equalling 30. They investigate the persistence of these three cash components for future earnings 

and whether investors price those components in a manner that is consistent with their levels of 

persistence for an extended period from 1950 to 2003. They find that cash that is retained by the 

firm and that is distributed to debt holders has persistence levels similar to those of accruals and 

that the higher persistence of the cash flow component of earnings is entirely attributable to the 

cash component distributed to equity holders. This is consistent with the notion that net 

distributions to equity holders contain significant signalling value for future profitability.  

Turning to the pricing of the earnings components, Dechow et al. (2008) conclude that investors 

significantly overprice reinvested earnings, represented by accruals and cash retained. However, 

investors are closer to estimating correctly the persistence of profitability associated with 

distributed earnings, represented by equity distributions and debt distributions. In particular, 

investors are able to anticipate that equity distributions have higher persistence prediction value 

than debt distributions. These researchers therefore deduce that the mispricing of reinvested 
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earnings is “of economic significance and is key to understanding the accrual anomaly” (Dechow 

et al., 2008: 560). 

Dechow et al.‟s (2008) evidence relates to the overpricing of both the accrual and the cash flow 

components of earnings in the United States. Their conclusions suggest that this overweighting is 

entirely attributable to the fact that investors overestimate the persistence of reinvested earnings. 

Their results do not explain the significant underweighting of the cash flow component reported 

by Pincus et al. (2007) in many countries outside the United States. 

6.2.9 Special items 

“Special items” is a common example of a one-time earnings component in the United States. 

Special items include one-time items identified by Compustat from the income statement and 

footnotes. The composition of the “special items” data item is determined, not by a formal 

definition specified in Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP), but rather by 

Compustat‟s own definition (Burgstahler et al., 2002; Chen and Wang, 2004). Special items are 

mainly identified when companies disclose separate income statement line items in terms of the 

opinion No. 30 of the Accounting Principles Board (APB), which requires the disclosure of 

material events or transactions that are either unusual or infrequent (Chen and Wang, 2004). 

Special items typically result from accrual adjustments for impairment, write-downs or write-offs 

and restructuring charges (Dechow and Ge, 2006).  

The literature on the pricing of special items is relevant to the study in Chapter 7, because, like 

the exclusions from headline earnings, special items are, on average, assumed to be 

transitory/non-recurring. Since special items receive substantial attention from investors and are 
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commonly assumed to capture one-time items, one would expect share prices to reflect the 

implications of special items for future earnings fully (Atwood and Xie, 2010).  

Burgstahler et al.‟s (2002) study is the first to address the pricing of special items. They divide 

earnings into two components, namely earnings before special items and special items. Although 

special items represent a unique accrual, their tests are not directly related to the pricing of the 

accrual and cash flow components of earnings. Burgstahler et al. (2002) find that share prices 

reflect a larger proportion of the implications of special items than of the remaining components 

of earnings. Nonetheless, special items are mispriced.  

Burgstahler et al. (2002) do not specifically address whether the mispricing of special items 

constitutes an overreaction or an underreaction to the information contained in special items. 

However, from their results one can infer that investors underestimate the negative effect of 

special items for four-quarter-ahead earnings by approximately 27 per cent. When the market 

underestimates the negative effect of special items for future earnings, it overprices special items 

(Atwood and Xie, 2010). This overpricing is clear in two pieces of evidence presented by 

Burgstahler et al. (2002). Firstly, based on the results of the Mishkin test, the pricing coefficient 

for special items is significantly larger than the forecasting coefficient, suggesting that the 

market overprices special items. Secondly, they report that a hedge strategy based on the sign of 

special items earns a small but statistically significant return around the three-day window 

around earnings announcements in subsequent quarters. Their strategy takes a long position in 

firms reporting negative special items and a short position in firms reporting positive special 

items. This strategy shows that firms with negative special items are undervalued, which is 

consistent with the overpricing argument. 
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Beneish and Vargus (2002) present evidence that the accrual anomaly is primarily driven by 

income-increasing accruals, because it appears that income-decreasing accruals are not 

mispriced. They conclude that their results suggest that future research should focus on the 

income-increasing components of accruals. However, Dechow and Ge (2006) provide evidence 

that sharply contradicts the findings of Beneish and Vargus (2002). 

Dechow and Ge (2006) posit that accrual adjustments made by firms are fundamentally linked to 

the underlying economics. They distinguish between the economic characteristics of firms with 

large positive accruals and those of firms with large negative accruals. In terms of Sloan‟s (1996) 

trading strategy, firms with large positive accruals should earn negative future abnormal returns, 

while firms with large negative accruals will earn positive future abnormal returns. Dechow and 

Ge (2006) argue that large positive accruals relative to assets indicate that firms are increasing 

their asset base as they invest in assets, generate sales and expand their businesses. On the one 

hand, large positive accruals are likely to occur in firms with negative transitory cash flows, 

where accrual adjustments are likely to improve earnings persistence, because they mitigate the 

transitory effect of these negative cash flows on earnings. On the other hand, large negative 

accruals relative to assets show that firms are reducing their assets and exiting businesses. In 

such a case, accounting standards focus on correcting the balance sheet, which results in accrual 

adjustments, such as impairment charges, restructuring charges and other special items in 

earnings. Dechow and Ge (2006) therefore hold that large negative accruals are less likely to be 

the result of the fact that a firm is recording large positive transitory cash flows as liabilities than 

a reflection of one-time “special items” that reduce earnings persistence.  

The difference in the economic characteristics of large negative accruals and large positive 

accruals has four specific consequences, which are discussed in more detail below. 
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First, due to the transitory effect of large negative accruals, Dechow and Ge (2006) show that 

earnings are more persistent than cash flows in high accrual firms, while the converse applies to 

low accrual firms. In particular, their results indicate that, on average, earnings are more 

persistent than cash flows, but that the incremental benefits of accruals are highest for high 

accrual firms and lowest for low accrual firms. Hence, in high accrual firms, cash flows are less 

useful for predicting future earnings than earnings, but in low accrual firms, cash flows are more 

useful. 

Second, accruals and cash flows are negatively correlated in high accrual firms and positively 

correlated in low accrual firms. In particular, in high accrual firms, accruals still perform their 

“matching” function, because negative cash flows are converted into positive earnings, resulting 

in a negative correlation between accruals and cash flows. However, in low accrual firms, 

accruals no longer perform their “matching” function, and exhibits either no correlation or a 

positive correlation with cash flows. Dechow and Ge‟s (2006) results show that high accrual 

firms have the strongest negative correlation, of negative 0.45, and that this correlation becomes 

less negative and positive in the last two deciles of low accrual firms as accruals decrease. 

Third, the low persistence of earnings in low accrual firms is due to special items. While Sloan 

(1996) points out that the magnitude of accruals has implications for earnings persistence, 

Dechow and Ge (2006) argue that the sign of the accruals also has an influence on earnings 

persistence. Dechow and Ge (2006) document that, on average, aggregate earnings has a 

persistence parameter of 0.696 for one-year ahead earnings. Consistent with Sloan‟s (1996) 

argument, they show that cash flows (with a coefficient of 0.828) are more persistent than 

accruals (with a coefficient of 0.465). When they decompose accruals into pre-special items 

accruals and special items accruals, the persistence of the cash flow component remains 
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relatively unchanged, compared to the second regression (with a coefficient of 0.863), whereas 

special items (with a coefficient of 0.156) is less persistent than other accrual components (with a 

coefficient of 0.604). In addition, they complement their results by showing that firms with low 

accruals without special items have lower earnings persistence than other firms, whereas firms 

with low accruals with special items exhibit even lower earnings persistence.  

Finally, Dechow and Ge (2006) argue that if investors misunderstand the transitory/non-

recurring nature of the accrual component of earnings, as documented by Sloan (1996), then 

isolating low accrual firms that have more transitory earnings should improve the returns on the 

accrual anomaly. Consistent with this prediction, their results indicate that low accrual firms with 

large negative special items consistently earn higher positive returns than other low accrual 

firms. The implications of this finding are profound, as it indicates that even when special items‟ 

transitory nature is highlighted in the financial statements, investors still tend to misprice 

negative special items to a greater extent than they misprice other accruals. Using the Mishkin 

test, Dechow and Ge (2006) demonstrate that investors overrate the persistence of special items, 

resulting in an undervaluing of low accrual-special items firms. It therefore appears that investors 

overrate the probability that a firm will be unsuccessful. Despite this expectation by investors, 

special items-low accrual firms turn themselves around at higher rates and, in consequence, show 

improved stock returns. In summary, lower accrual firms with special items have higher future 

stock returns than other low accrual firms; and this is consistent with the notion that investors 

misunderstand the transitory/non-recurring nature of special items. 

The conclusion that special items are mispriced in the United States arguably poses an even a 

greater challenge to market efficiency than the accrual anomaly, as the implications of one-time 

special items for future earnings are relatively clear. Hence, a natural question to ask is whether 
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the mispricing of accruals and the mispricing of special items are related. Negative special items 

may be evident in low accrual firms, while positive special items may be evident in high accrual 

firms. Such a finding would be consistent with Sloan‟s (1996) trading strategy of going long in 

low accrual firms and short in high accrual firms. In order to explore this idea, it is necessary to 

establish how accruals and special items relate to each other. Atwood and Xie (2010) investigate 

this issue. They provide four primary pieces of evidence. 

First, they show that accruals and special items are positively correlated and that this correlation 

is stronger for negative special items than for positive special items. This finding holds after 

controlling for the correlation between accruals and changes in revenue, property, plant and 

equipment and operating cash flows. 

Second, they compare the accrual anomaly of Sloan (1996) and the special item anomaly of 

Burgstahler et al. (2002). Using the Mishkin test, they conclude that the market overprices 

special items, but that the remaining earnings component is not mispriced. They show that a 

hedge strategy based on the magnitude of special items (as opposed to the sign of special items), 

and going long in firms with the most negative special items and short in the firms with the most 

positive special items earns a size-adjusted return of almost six per cent in the first year after 

portfolio formation. By comparison, the accrual anomaly renders a size-adjusted return of almost 

ten per cent in the first year after portfolio formation. A comparison of the returns on the special 

item strategy and the accrual strategy indicates that there is some overlap between the two 

strategies, but that the accrual strategy earns higher excess returns. Their analysis ignores the 

underpricing of the cash flow component of earnings. As literature presented in Section 6.2.8 

argues, cash flows are likely to be a significant correlated omitted variable. 
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Third, they consider more formally whether the accrual anomaly and the special item anomaly 

overlap with or differ from each other. Dechow and Ge (2006) argue that Burgstahler et al.‟s 

(2002) focus is primarily related to the post-earnings announcement drift, but Atwood and Xie 

(2010) show that the overpricing of special items is not independent from the overpricing of 

accruals. In particular, by using the control hedge portfolio test and the non-overlap hedge test of 

Desai et al. (2004), they demonstrate that the accruals-based trading strategy is superior to the 

special items-based trading strategy. In addition, following a regression approach, Atwood and 

Xie (2010) deduce that the accrual and special item components of earnings shows a negative 

association with future returns when these components are included individually in the 

regression. In a conditional regression including both components, the special item component 

has the correct sign (negative), but is insignificant, whereas the accrual component is negative 

and significant. Atwood and Xie (2010) interpret this as evidence that the overpricing of special 

items is subsumed by the overpricing of accruals. In other words, the mispricing of special items 

is a subset of the mispricing of accruals. 

Fourth, they investigate whether special items affect the degree of accrual mispricing. They 

divide earnings into cash flow, non-special items accruals, positive special items and negative 

special items and use the Mishkin test to examine the market pricing of the components. They 

find that the market overprices both non-special item accruals and negative special items, but 

that the overpricing of negative special items is more severe. They detect no mispricing of 

positive special items. Conditional on the sign of special items, they find that accruals are more 

severely mispriced when special items are negative than when special items are zero. However, 

neither the accrual component of earnings nor the cash flow component of earnings is mispriced 
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when special items are positive. They conclude that negative special items aggravate accrual 

mispricing, while positive special items alleviate accrual mispricing. 

A concern with the research design employed by both Dechow and Ge (2006) and Atwood and 

Xie (2010) is that it implicitly assumes that all special items are accrual adjustments and contain 

no cash flow element. This assumption is questionable. Frankel (2009) provides a listing of 23 

items that are included on Compustat‟s definition of special items. Special items that contain a 

cash flow component include gains and losses on the extinguishment of debt, restructuring, profit 

or loss on the sale of assets, investments, and securities, profit or loss on the repurchase of 

debentures and purchased research and development. In fact, their assumption only holds for 

impairment losses and write-downs. The assumption that all special items are accruals results in 

error in the measurement by Dechow and Ge (2006) and Atwood and Xie (2010) of both pre-

special item accruals and special item accruals.  

Dechow and Ge (2006) and Atwood and Xie (2010) provide some evidence to alleviate the 

concern regarding the measurement error. In particular, special items show a much stronger 

positive correlation with accruals than with cash flows (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 

2006). Dechow and Ge (2006) and Atwood and Xie (2010) also find that special items affect the 

persistence of the cash flow component of earnings to a lesser extent than the accrual component 

of earnings. These findings indicate that special items, especially negative special items, relate 

more to accruals than to cash flows. In addition, Dechow and Ge (2006) randomly select 20 

firms with large negative accruals and find that, in almost all cases, the special items are accrual 

adjustments that do not affect cash flows. Since 2001, Compustat has classified special items by 

type. For a subsample, Dechow and Ge (2006) show that about 72 per cent of special items are 

accruals. However, the calculation of this percentage is problematic, because Dechow and Ge 
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(2006) classify gains and losses as accruals, while in most instances they consist of both a cash 

flow and an accrual component. 

Another concern with the research design used by Atwood and Xie (2010) and Dechow and Ge 

(2006) is the way in which they define accruals. To illustrate this point, consider an item of 

property, plant and equipment originally purchased for 100 at the end of Year 1 and that is sold 

for 120 at the beginning of Year 5. Assume straight-line depreciation over four years. The cash 

flow (accrual) effect of this transaction is negative 100 (positive 100) for Year 1 and zero 

(negative 25) for the next three years. In Year 5, an accounting gain of 95 is recognised, and the 

cash flow component is 120, while the accrual component is negative 25. This transaction clearly 

shows how the original accrual of 100 reverses over time, resulting in the negative correlation 

between accruals and cash flows documented in the literature (Dechow, 1994).  

However, both Atwood and Xie (2010) and Dechow and Ge (2006) define accruals as the 

difference between earnings and operating cash flows. The proceeds of 120 in the example then 

does not form part of operating cash flows, because it is already included in investing cash flows. 

Using the operating accrual definition, the cash flow component of earnings is zero in Year 5, 

while the accrual component of earnings is 95. This definition results in the measurement with 

error of both the cash flow component and the accrual component relating to special items. It 

also distorts the negative correlation between accruals and cash flows. Furthermore, it potentially 

converts negative accruals, such as in Year 5, to positive accruals. These distortions complicate 

the interpretation of their results. 

In addition to the operating definition of accruals, Dechow and Ge (2006) also employ a total 

definition of accruals. Total accruals are defined as the difference between earnings and free cash 



205 
 

flow (operating and investing cash flows). This definition corrects the measurement issue 

identified in the previous paragraph. Using the same example, the earnings relating to the 

transaction is 95 in Year 5, while the investing cash flow component is 120, resulting in negative 

total accruals of 25. 

Dechow and Ge (2006) argue that accruals will either exhibit no correlation or a positive 

correlation with cash flows because accruals lose their matching function for low accrual firms. 

Although this is true for impairment, it does not hold for gains or losses on the disposal of assets. 

The operating accrual definition will cause transactions involving gains or losses on the disposal 

of assets to distort the negative correlation between accruals and cash flows, whereas this will 

not be the case using the total accruals definition. In support of this idea, Dechow and Ge‟s 

(2006) results show that the correlation between accruals and cash flows for firms in the lowest 

accrual decile is 0.29, using the operating accrual definition, while the effect is less positive 

using the total accrual definition at around 0.15. 

McVay (2006) documents that the negative association between special items and future share 

returns is partly due to investors‟ inability to disentangle the classification shifting of expenses 

fully. Classification shifting occurs when managers who want to manage “core” earnings upward 

shift recurring expenses to special items (McVay, 2006). By contrast, the headline earnings 

framework should curb the classification shifting of current recurring expenses into headline 

earnings exclusions, as it offers little discretion in respect of the classification of these items. For 

example, when McVay (2006) investigates special items that are susceptible to classification 

shifting (such as restructuring charges and merger-related costs) and those that are not (such as 

losses on sale of assets and asset write-downs), she finds that only those special items that are 

amenable to classification shifting are associated with unexpectedly high core earnings. This 
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implies that the reporting of items such as losses on sale of assets and asset write-downs are less 

affected by earnings management activities, making it easier for investors to unravel the “true” 

impact of these items for future earnings. Note that none of the items specifically mentioned by 

McVay (2006) as susceptible to classification shifting are allowable headline earnings exclusions 

(SAICA, 2007b). 

A more recent study by Dopuch, Seethamraju and Xu (2010) suggests that the accrual anomaly 

exists only in profit firms and not in loss firms. They argue that this is because accounting losses 

are not perpetuated due to the liquidation option and, hence, losses provide less information 

about future earnings. However, Dopuch et al. (2010) exclude special item observations, because 

they believe that the inclusion of special item observations might bias the results so that no 

accrual mispricing is found in loss firms. This argument is contrary to the evidence presented by 

Dechow and Ge (2006) - because loss firms arguably report special items such as write-downs 

and impairments more often than profit firms do, and because special items are more severely 

overweighted than accruals (Dechow and Ge, 2006), the exclusion of special item observations 

potentially biases results so that no accrual mispricing in loss firms is found. 

6.2.10 Role of accounting standards 

Holthausen and Watts (2001) caution against making standard-setting conclusions based on 

empirical regularities in data. In order to reach standard-setting conclusions, Holthausen and 

Watts (2001) note that researchers must specify the objective of standard setting and how 

knowledge about empirical regularities in data can assist standard setters in achieving that 

objective. Barth and Taylor (2010) argue that although Holthausen and Watts (2001) focus on 



207 
 

the value relevance literature, the same issues apply to other empirical literature that claims 

relevance for standard setting.  

Hence, the question is whether the literature on the mispricing of accounting information could 

be informative to standard setters. The theory of accounting standards derived from the 

economics-based accounting literature holds that the objective of accounting standards is to 

facilitate efficient capital allocation in the economy (Kothari, Ramanna and Skinner, 2010). 

Standard setters such as the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Financial 

Accounting Standards Board (FASB) see their mandate as being consistent with this idea (IASB, 

2010). Evidence of the mispricing of accounting information provides a challenge to this 

mandate.  

Hirshleifer et al. (2010) also highlight standard setting consequences when they suggest that if 

investors neglect or misinterpret accounting information, then, in setting rules for financial 

reporting, it may be useful for regulators to take into account which kinds of information 

investors focus upon, and choose reporting rules that make more salient the kinds of information 

that investors tend to neglect. In this section, I review literature that specifically relates to the 

role of accounting standards and financial reporting in contributing to and mitigating the accrual 

anomaly.  

One implication of Sloan‟s (1996) work is that the accrual component of earnings is less 

persistent than the cash flow component of earnings because of a higher degree of measurement 

subjectivity. Richardson et al. (2005) show that the mispricing of accruals is related to accrual 

reliability, in that the mispricing of accruals is much more severe for accruals that are measured 

with low reliability than for accruals measured with high reliability. They conclude that their 
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results support the contention that “recent moves by the FASB to introduce even less verifiable 

information into GAAP may prove extremely costly” (Richardson et al., 2005: 483). 

In particular, Richardson et al. (2005) show that accruals which can be measured with high 

reliability have persistence coefficients that are slightly lower than those of cash flows, while 

accruals in the medium and low reliability categories have progressively lower persistence 

coefficients.  

In addition, Richardson et al. (2005) argue that if investors understand the implications of 

accrual reliability for earnings persistence, there should be no relation between accruals and 

abnormal stock returns in future. Hence, Richardson et al.‟s (2005) “naïve investor hypothesis” 

predicts a negative relation between accruals and future stock returns, and the relation is stronger 

for less reliable accruals than for more reliable accruals. Their empirical results generally 

confirm these predictions. 

A message that Richardson et al. (2005: 440) highlight in their findings is that the recognition of 

unreliable accrual amounts in the financial statements mean that a “cost” is the “greater potential 

for measurement error in less reliable and verifiable accounting numbers”. This “cost” then 

“lead(s) to lower earnings persistence and investors do not appear to fully anticipate this lower 

persistence, leading to significant security mispricing” (Richardson et al., 2005: 483). In essence, 

they argue that their research should inform standard setting. 

A critical feature of Richardson et al.‟s (2005) research design is that their mispricing tests are 

based on regressions of one-year-ahead size-adjusted returns on the various accrual components 

and earnings. In other words, earnings is used as a variable to control for the other information in 

earnings. The coefficient on accruals (and its components) in the regression employed by 
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Richardson et al. (2005) reflects how the association between current accruals and future returns 

differs from the association between current cash flows and future returns. A negative coefficient 

indicates that the association is lower for accruals than for cash flows, consistent with the notion 

that investors do not distinguish between the different persistence of accruals and cash flows.  

Lail, Lipe and Yi (2009) argue that this research design choice made by Richardson et al. (2005) 

is not able to provide evidence of the cost of accrual information to investors. In the absence of 

accrual accounting, the alternative information available to investors is cash flow earnings. 

Hence, they believe it is necessary to control for the information in cash flows, and not in 

earnings, in order to evaluate the information that accruals add to cash flows. After doing so, 

they find no significant association between accruals and future returns. Finding a modestly 

positive association between future returns and cash flows, they conclude that most of the 

difference reported by Richardson et al. (2005) arises from the mispricing of cash flows. 

The evidence presented by Lail et al. (2009) appears to be at odds with the basic premise of the 

accrual anomaly, but is consistent with the evidence of Desai et al. (2004) (refer to Section 6.2.8 

above). The lack of association between future returns and accruals reported by Lail et al. (2009) 

is inconsistent with the evidence presented by Kraft et al. (2007), who use a similar research 

design. Kraft et al. (2007) are able to replicate the accrual anomaly evidence using ordinary least 

squares. Richardson et al. (2005) cover a sample period from 1962 to 2001, whereas Kraft et al. 

(2007) cover a period from 1974 to 2003. By contrast, Lail et al. (2009) cover a sample from 

1963 to 2006. Given that Green et al. (2011) find that the hedge returns to the accrual anomaly 

have no longer been positive on average since 2004, Lail et al.‟s (2009) weak results may in part 

capture the decay of the anomaly over time. Hence, Lail et al.‟s (2009) study does not entirely 

reject the notion that accrual mispricing is related to accrual reliability. 
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Kaserer and Klingler (2008) exploit an interesting setting in Germany, where listed firms had the 

choice of either complying with German GAAP (a conservative accounting system) or 

international standards, such as the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) or US 

GAAP (a true and fair view system). In their view, conservative accounting systems rely on 

“easy-to-verify information”, whereas international standards rely on “difficult-to-verify 

information” (Kaserer and Klingler, 2008: 841). Hence, Germany provides an interesting setting 

to test whether there is a difference in accrual mispricing under different accounting standard 

regimes. In this regard, there appears to be some inconsistency in the findings reported for 

Germany by Pincus et al. (2007) and Kaserer and Klingler (2008). With a sample of 2 483 firm-

year observations in Germany from 1994 to 2002, Pincus et al. (2007) find that both the accrual 

and the cash flow component of earnings are significantly underweighted. By contrast, with their 

pooled sample from 1995 to 2002 (only 826 firm-year observations), Kaserer and Klingler 

(2008) find that both the accrual and the cash flow components are overweighted in Germany. 

As Pincus et al.‟s (2007) sample is more extensive, this inconsistency raises questions about the 

validity of Kaserer and Klingler‟s (2008) results. 

Consistent with their verifiability argument, Kaserer and Klingler (2008) claim that there is no 

significant difference in persistence between the accrual component and cash flow component of 

earnings for firms applying German GAAP, while accruals are less persistent than cash flows for 

firms applying international standards. For firms switching from German GAAP to international 

standards, the Mishkin test reports no significant mispricing while these firms reported under 

German GAAP, but significant overreaction to both the accrual and the cash flow component 

when these firms began to report in terms of the international standards. The overreaction to both 

components is at odds with Kaserer and Klingler‟s (2008) verifiability argument, because it is 
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generally the accrual component that lacks verifiability, while the cash flow component is highly 

verifiable. Robustness tests using linear regression show marginal underreaction to the accrual 

component under the German GAAP regime and significant overreaction under the international 

accounting standards regime. In these robustness tests, the cash flow component shows no 

mispricing under either regime. Overall, their results are complementary to those of Richardson 

et al. (2005) in that their findings suggest that accrual mispricing is a function of accrual 

reliability. 

Theory suggests that quality disclosure plays an important role in equity markets by reducing 

information asymmetries, increasing liquidity, and reducing the cost of capital (Botosan, 1997; 

Botosan and Plumlee, 2002; Healy and Palepu, 2001). However, few studies investigate the role 

that disclosure plays in efficient pricing. Chan, Lee and Lin (2009), Drake et al. (2009) and Hope 

et al. (2008) are some exceptions. These recent papers show a new direction in the accrual 

anomaly literature, focusing on the effect of financial reporting quality on the anomaly. 

Hope et al. (2008) show that improved accounting information quality reduces mispricing. They 

investigate whether the mispricing by investors of foreign earnings in the United States improved 

after the mandatory implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131 

(SFAS 131). This standard materially changed the quantity and quality of segment disclosures 

(Hope et al., 2008). SFAS 131 requires companies to report disaggregated information, such as 

profit or loss, selected revenue and expense items, and assets, about reportable operating 

segments (Hope et al., 2008). Consistent with their improved disclosure argument, Hope et al. 

(2008) conclude that the mispricing of foreign earnings observed in the pre-SFAS 131 period no 

longer exists since the implementation of SFAS 131. They conclude that their evidence provides 

standard setters with evidence supporting the benefits of SFAS 131. 
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Chan et al. (2009) investigate the effect of the introduction of Financial Reporting Standard 3 

(FRS 3) in the United Kingdom on the mispricing of earnings components. FRS 3 requires 

companies to classify exceptional items more appropriately, eliminate the use of extraordinary 

items, and disclose additional income components. Their findings show a significant decrease in 

the accrual anomaly for firms with low accounting information quality after the implementation 

of FRS 3, while the changes associated with high accounting information quality firms prior to 

and since the introduction of FRS 3 periods are insignificant. Hence, firms with poorer 

accounting quality are more sensitive to the mandatory accounting regulation change. 

The findings by Hope et al. (2008) and Chan et al. (2009) indicate that the mispricing of 

earnings components is not solely driven by investors‟ cognitive bias, as suggested by Sloan 

(1996), but also by the quality of accounting information from the supply side. These findings 

are supported by those of Drake et al. (2009), who argue that overall disclosure quality has a 

mitigating effect on the mispricing of earnings components. Using analysts‟ ratings of disclosure 

as a proxy for disclosure quality, Drake et al. (2009) find strong evidence of mispricing for the 

subset of firms with low disclosure quality and a significant reduction in mispricing for firms 

with high disclosure quality. They conclude that their research may “provide evidence to 

policymakers as they weigh the costs and benefits of mandating improved disclosures” (Drake et 

al., 2009: 358).  

6.3 Conclusion 

In this section I summarise the main points evident from the literature review on the accrual 

anomaly and its relevance for Chapter 7: 
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 The accrual component of earnings is less persistent than the cash flow component of 

earnings (Sloan, 1996). In Chapter 7, I test this basic premise using South African data. 

 The accrual anomaly refers to the phenomenon that there is a negative association between 

current accruals and future share returns, indicating that investors overreact to accrual 

information (Sloan, 1996). The study in Chapter 7 assesses whether the accrual anomaly is 

also present in South Africa. 

 Several reasons have been advanced to explain the existence of the accrual anomaly. 

Following a trend of investor irrationality, researchers argue that investors fixate on earnings, 

failing to incorporate the differential persistence of accruals and cash flows in valuing firms 

(Collins et al., 2003; Sloan, 1996). This overreaction to accrual information is more severe 

for accruals that have been subject to earnings management (Xie, 2001) and accruals that are 

of low reliability (Richardson et al., 2005). The overreaction of investors to accrual 

information also extends to growth in long-term net operating assets (Fairfield et al., 2003). 

Barriers to arbitrage and transaction costs have delayed the demise of the accrual anomaly 

(Mashruwala et al., 2006; Lev and Nissim, 2006), although recent evidence suggests that 

hedge funds have been successful in arbitraging the anomaly away (Green et al., 2011). My 

study in Chapter 7 follows the behavioural explanations offered to explain the mispricing of 

earnings and its components. In particular, I assess the extent of the mispricing of earnings 

components in an environment where the disaggregation of earnings into recurring and non-

recurring components is mandatory. 

 Other researchers argue that the accrual anomaly is an illusion: its apparent existence is due 

to unidentified risk factors (Khan, 2008; Wu et al., 2010). Despite convincing arguments in 

support of the risk explanation, recent evidence suggests that, while risk reduces the effect of 
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the accrual anomaly, it does not completely account for anomalous returns (Green et al., 

2011; Richardson et al., 2010). In Chapter 7, I conduct additional analyses in which I control 

for common risk factors. 

 International evidence suggests that the overpricing of accruals is only evident in four 

common law countries, namely Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States 

(Pincus et al., 2007). By contrast, the underpricing of the cash flow component of earnings is 

a pervasive phenomenon, evident in 12 countries out of a sample of 20 countries (Pincus et 

al., 2007). South Africa is not included in the samples of any of the prior studies. In Chapter 

7, I use South African data due to the uniqueness of the regulatory environment, where the 

disaggregation of non-recurring items from earnings is mandatory. 

 Evidence on whether the cash flow component of earnings subsumes the mispricing of the 

accrual component of earnings is mixed. Some researchers argue that accrual mispricing is 

insignificant after controlling for cash flow (Barone and Magilke, 2009; Desai et al., 2004; 

Drake et al., 2009), whereas other researchers claim that both components retain explanatory 

power after controlling for the other component (Kraft et al., 2007; Pincus et al., 2007). In 

Chapter 7, I use both the Mishkin (1983) test and the ordinary least squares method proposed 

by Kraft et al. (2007). Both these methods control for the effect of the pricing of the cash 

flow component. Hence, I do not omit cash flows as a variable in my study. 

 Despite the fact that the transitory nature of special items is highlighted in the financial 

statements, special items are overpriced (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Burgstahler et al., 2002; 

Dechow and Ge, 2006). In particular, the mispricing of negative special items represents an 

important subset of the accrual anomaly (Atwood and Xie, 2010). The mispricing of negative 

special items is partly attributable to the classification shifting of current period expenses, 
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whereby managers shift recurring expenses to special items (McVay, 2006). This is the main 

focus of my study in Chapter 7. I investigate whether the mispricing of non-recurring items is 

still evident in an environment where the disaggregation of non-recurring items from 

earnings and their separate presentation in the financial statements are mandatory.  

 The recognition of less reliable accruals aggravates the accrual anomaly (Kaserer and 

Klingler, 2008; Richardson et al., 2005), while an improvement in disclosure quality 

mitigates the accrual anomaly (Chan et al., 2009; Drake et al., 2009; Hope et al., 2008). This 

evidence suggests that disclosure which disaggregates non-recurring items from earnings 

could assist investors in pricing earnings components accurately. In Chapter 7, I investigate 

the pricing of various earnings components in South Africa, where the disclosure of headline 

earnings is mandatory. 
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CHAPTER 7 

MANDATORY EARNINGS DISAGGREGATION  

AND THE PERSISTENCE AND PRICING OF EARNINGS COMPONENTS 

 

7.1 Introduction 

Sloan‟s (1996) seminal paper on the accrual anomaly started a line of research that shows that 

investors tend to overrate the persistence of the accrual component of earnings relative to the 

cash flow component of earnings, resulting in a negative association between current period 

accruals and future share returns. Remarkably, this finding extends to a type of accruals (special 

items) that are by nature transitory or non-recurring and of which the implications for future 

earnings should be relatively clear to investors (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Burgstahler et al., 2002; 

Dechow and Ge, 2006).  

Prior research provides few clear reasons for the mispricing of accrual components, such as 

special items, by investors. Although some evidence suggests that the mispricing is caused by 

investors‟ cognitive biases (Collins et al., 2003; Sloan, 1996), recent evidence suggests that high 

quality disclosure can mitigate the mispricing of earnings components. For example, Hope et al. 

(2008) conclude that the mispricing of foreign earnings in the United States no longer exists after 

the implementation of an improved accounting standard for segment reporting, while Chan et al. 

(2009) claim that there has been a significant decrease in the accrual anomaly in the United 

Kingdom after the implementation of an improved accounting standard for performance 

reporting. Similarly, Drake et al. (2009) suggest that overall disclosure quality has a mitigating 

effect on the mispricing of earnings components. Zhang and Zheng‟s (2011) study shows that the 
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Securities and Exchange Commission‟s (SEC‟s) implementation in the United States of 

Regulation G eliminates the mispricing of exclusions from non-Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice (non-GAAP) earnings. Regulation G requires a reconciliation between voluntary non-

GAAP earnings measures (pro forma earnings) and GAAP earnings. These findings suggest that 

standard setters and regulators can play an important role in reducing the mispricing of earnings 

information by mandating disclosures that could assist investors to evaluate the information 

contained in the components of earnings.  

The development of a disclosure framework that assists investors to price non-recurring 

components, such as special items, in a manner that is consistent with the level of persistence of 

these components, appears to be the first step to improve the ability of investors to price accruals 

in general. Although researchers have shown that the non-recurring items that are disaggregated 

from earnings on a voluntary basis are still mispriced (Doyle et al., 2003), there is not yet 

sufficient empirical evidence in answer to the question of whether non-recurring items are 

mispriced when regulatory bodies make it mandatory for these items to be disaggregated from 

earnings. Thus far, this question has remained unexplored because the United States and other 

large industrial nations have not required such information. 

In this study, I use the unique setting in South Africa, where the disclosure of a number of 

transitory/non-recurring items has been mandatory since 2000. Specifically, South African 

companies listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) are required to disclose in their 

financial statements their “headline earnings” per share (HEPS), in addition to the earnings per 

share (EPS) measures required by International Accounting Standard (IAS) 33, Earnings Per 

Share. Headline earnings is a way of decomposing the profit reported in terms of the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) between remeasurements that are closely 
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related to operating activities and the platform used to generate them (i.e., the capital base) 

(SAICA, 2007a). Effectively, headline earnings exclude some transitory/non-recurring items.
34

 

Thus, the purpose of the study reported in this chapter is to determine whether the mispricing of 

non-recurring items is observed in a regulatory environment where it is mandatory for these 

items to be disaggregated from other earnings components. 

The evidence from my study shows that, as expected, headline earnings (the recurring part of 

earnings) has higher persistence than headline earnings exclusions (the non-recurring part of 

earnings). As Sloan‟s (1996) study also shows, accruals are less persistent than cash flows. This 

can be attributed largely to headline earnings exclusions. Isolating cash flows, which forms part 

of headline earnings exclusions (in other words, non-recurring cash flows), improves the 

persistence parameter of cash flows even further.  

When both the Mishkin (1983) method and the OLS method suggested by Kraft et al. (2007) are 

used, my results show that investors significantly underweight the cash flow component of 

earnings. However, none of the other earnings components reflects significant mispricing. When 

additional explanatory variables are included in the analyses, the mispricing of the cash flow 

component disappears. Overall, the evidence suggests that in a disclosure environment where the 

disclosure of non-recurring items is mandatory in terms of a promulgated definition, investors 

are able to price earnings components in a manner that is consistent with the actual levels of 

persistence of these components. The findings are robust using a number of alternative research 

design choices. 

                                                           
34 Items that are excluded from headline earnings include impairment (and reversals) on goodwill, property, plant and equipment 

(PPE) and intangible assets, bargain purchase gains in a business combination, the gain/loss on the disposal of discontinued 

operations, gains/losses on disposal of items of PPE, intangible assets and investments, the reclassification of foreign currency 

translation differences and reclassification of gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets originally recognised in equity, 

and fair value adjustments to investment property. Appendix 1 contains an example of the required disclosure. 
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My research makes four contributions. Firstly, I contribute to the accrual and special item 

anomaly literature by providing evidence on whether components of earnings are mispriced in a 

disclosure environment where disaggregation disclosure is required in the financial statements. 

Secondly, I make a methodological contribution by showing that the asymptotic equivalence of 

the Mishkin test and ordinary least squares extends to smaller sample settings. Thirdly, I provide 

evidence that may be useful in the International Accounting Standards Board‟s (IASB‟s) and the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board‟s (FASB‟s) deliberations on ways to improve financial 

statement presentation by means of disaggregated disclosure. Finally, I provide evidence from 

Africa‟s biggest economy and one of the leading developing stock exchanges globally. To date, 

there has been little capital market research based on South African data, even though South 

Africa is a G-20 country, and the JSE is the largest securities exchange in Africa, acknowledged 

globally as a well-regulated stock exchange. 

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows: Section 7.2 provides some background to 

the JSE; Section 7.3 reviews the prior literature, and develops the hypotheses; Section 7.4 

discusses the sample; Section 7.5 details the research design; Section 7.6 discusses descriptive 

statistics; Section 7.7 presents the main results; Section 7.8 contains various robustness tests, and 

Section 7.9 concludes the study. 

7.2 Background on the JSE 

The JSE was established in 1887 to enable the expanding mining sector to raise funds. In 1947 

the first legislation applicable to the operation of stock exchanges was introduced and in 1963 

the JSE became part of the World Federation of Exchanges (JSE, 2010). However, in the 

apartheid era, this stock exchange was essentially a closed market (Alli, Subrahmanyam and 
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Gleason, 2010). The extent of exchange controls on the one hand and sanctions against South 

Africa during the apartheid period on the other meant that foreign investment in South African 

firms was limited; and outbound investment was also restricted. The situation was exacerbated 

by pre-1995 local regulations which restricted membership of the JSE to South African citizens. 

Hence, it is not surprising that in the apartheid era the stock exchange was characterised by high 

institutional ownership concentration, thin trading and low levels of liquidity (Alli et al., 2010). 

During the early 1990s, the demise of the apartheid regime resulted in several political and 

economic changes in the country - by the end of 1992, most sanctions had been removed; by the 

end of 1993, exchange controls were scrapped; and in April 1994, the country held its first fully 

democratic, multi-racial elections. These events had a positive effect on the South African capital 

market, and a process of liberalisation commenced. The restructuring of the JSE in the late 1990s 

saw numerous changes, with the result that the exchange could take its place on the global stage. 

These changes included the abolition of the open outcry system of trading, the introduction of a 

real-time news service for the dissemination of firm news and price-sensitive information, an 

automated electronic matching system, an electronic depository system for equities and 

legislation governing insider trading (Alli et al., 2010; JSE, 2010; Mkhize and Msweli-Mbanga, 

2006; Prather-Kinsey, 2006). These changes had numerous benefits, such as the elimination of 

all physical ownership certificates, a reduction in the risk and costs of trading and an overall 

improvement in the liquidity of the stock exchange.  

During the early 2000s, the JSE further strengthened its position as a global stock exchange 

when dual listing was reintroduced and a strict code of corporate governance was enforced (Alli 

et al., 2010). The JSE also adopted the order-driven trading platform used by the London Stock 

Exchange in 2002 (Hearn et al., 2010). During 2004, the JSE launched the Socially Responsible 
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Investment (SRI) index, which measures firms‟ compliance with triple bottom line criteria 

around economic, environmental and social sustainability (JSE, 2010). 

South Africa began to harmonise its accounting standards with International Accounting 

Standards (IASs) from 1993, and reporting in terms of the IFRSs has been mandatory since 2005 

(Edwards et al., 2007). Recently the World Economic Forum (2010) ranked South Africa first 

out of 139 countries in terms of both the regulation of securities exchanges and the strength of 

auditing and reporting standards. The JSE is by far the largest stock exchange in Africa, 

accounting for approximately 90 per cent of the combined market capitalisation of the entire 

continent (Yartey and Adjasi, 2007). By the end of 2009, the JSE was the 19
th

 largest stock 

exchange in the world (World Federation of Exchanges, 2010). 

Overall, the JSE appears to be a well-developed stock exchange - its infrastructure and 

sophistication are comparable to that of other leading stock exchanges.  

7.3 Prior research and hypotheses 

7.3.1 Hypotheses 1: Earnings persistence 

Earnings persistence refers to the likelihood that a firm‟s earnings level will recur in future 

periods (Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). Earnings persistence plays an important role in equity 

valuation, because persistent earnings contribute far more to share value than do one-time 

earnings components (Nichols and Wahlen, 2004). In other words, persistent (or “core”) earnings 

relate to the ongoing activities of an entity that are expected to recur in future years and should 

therefore be informative in predicting future earnings (Chambers et al., 2007). Headline earnings 

closely resembles core earnings, since it is often used as a summary measure of performance 

(Brooking, 2006). As Circular 3/2009 argues, items excluded from headline earnings do not 
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relate to the operating activities of an entity, because these items are associated with the platform 

(capital base) used to generate trading income (SAICA, 2009). Therefore these exclusions are 

expected to occur less frequently than earnings generated through operating activities. For this 

reason, it is argued that HEPS is a more reliable estimator for price/earnings ratios (PERs) than 

basic earnings per share (BEPS). Since headline earnings exclusions occur less frequently than 

other earnings components, headline earnings exclusions should exhibit lower persistence than 

headline earnings, leading to the hypothesis below. 

H1a: Headline earnings is more persistent than headline earnings exclusions. 

Sloan (1996) distinguishes between the persistence of the accrual component and that of the cash 

flow component of earnings. Sloan (1996) indicates that the cash flow component exhibits higher 

persistence than the accrual component of earnings. He attributes this finding to the subjectivity 

involved in estimating accruals. In other words, the lower persistence of accruals relative to that 

of cash flows is a consequence of the fact that the correction of the over- and understatements of 

accruals in the current period is adjusted against accruals in future periods, resulting in accrual 

volatility, which reduces earnings persistence (Dechow and Schrand, 2004). 

H1b: The cash flow component of earnings is more persistent than the accrual component of 

earnings. 

Various researchers have attempted to provide insight into the particular properties of earnings 

and its components that affect persistence. Dechow and Dichev (2002) show that persistence is 

positively related to accrual quality, while Richardson et al. (2005) demonstrate that less reliable 

accruals reduce earnings persistence. Schipper and Vincent (2003: 104) argue that the 

recognition of changes in the fair value of some assets represent “accelerated accounting 
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recognition for incomplete transactions”. Such accruals require significant management 

estimation in many instances, resulting in a potentially large diminution in reliability through 

measurement error (Schipper and Vincent, 2003). In addition, Dichev and Tang (2008) conclude 

that earnings persistence is negatively influenced by poor matching. Dechow and Ge (2006) 

deduce that poor matching is evident when firms recognise large negative special items, because 

the accounting rules focus on the correction of the balance sheet for firms that are reducing assets 

and downsizing. In such a case, conditional conservative accounting rules require the recognition 

of large impairment losses, which reduces earnings persistence (Basu, 1997; Dechow and Ge, 

2006). 

Many headline earnings exclusions are the result of a recognition of current value adjustments in 

earnings before the cash flow for these adjustments is complete. These headline earnings 

exclusions accelerate the recognition of future gains and losses, thereby inducing temporary 

shocks in earnings that reduce persistence (Ramakrishnan and Thomas, 1998). Examples of 

headline earnings exclusions that are recognized as adjustments before their cash flow is 

complete include impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses and fair value adjustments 

on investment property. 

H1c: The accrual component included in headline earnings is more persistent than the 

accrual component excluded from headline earnings. 

Some headline earnings exclusions also affect cash flows, for example, gains or losses on the 

disposal of fixed assets. Although the cash flow component of these headline earnings exclusions 

is not subject to the same degree of measurement difficulty as accruals, it is still expected to 

occur less frequently than “core” cash flows. 
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H1d: The cash flow component included in headline earnings is more persistent than the cash 

flow component excluded from headline earnings. 

7.3.2 Hypothesis 2: Pricing of earnings components 

The efficient market hypothesis posits that share prices are able to reflect information about 

individual shares and about the market as a whole rapidly (Fama, 1970). The general argument 

of the efficient market hypothesis is that when new information arises, the news spreads very 

quickly and is incorporated into the prices of securities without delay (Fama, 1970). Hence, 

based on the efficient market hypothesis, there ought to be no association between earnings 

components and future share returns (Ball, 2009). However, several prior studies, for example, 

those by Richardson et al. (2005) and Sloan (1996), have documented evidence that is 

inconsistent with the efficient market hypothesis, because investors appear to misprice some 

earnings components. This mispricing results in an association between the earnings components 

of the current period and future share returns. Hence, the purpose of the second hypothesis is to 

predict whether the mispricing of earnings components also occurs within an environment in 

which the disclosure of headline earnings is mandatory, as it is in South Africa. 

In South Africa, listed companies must provide a detailed reconciliation between their basic 

earnings and their headline earnings in the notes to their financial statements (SAICA, 

2007b).The general tenor of my prediction regarding the pricing of earnings components in 

South Africa is that this disaggregated disclosure framework of headline earnings should 

improve investors‟ ability to price earnings components in a manner that is consistent with the 

components‟ level of persistence. 
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Several researchers have argued that disaggregated disclosure in financial statements may have a 

mitigating effect on the mispricing of earnings components. For example, Lail et al. (2009) argue 

that the prior evidence that the persistence of accruals differs from the persistence of cash flow 

suggests that standard setters might focus on improving disaggregated disclosures about accruals. 

Xie (2001) argues that the evidence on the mispricing of earnings components suggests that 

investors may benefit from disclosures that help them assess the persistence of accrual 

information.  

This leaves unanswered the question of why disaggregated earnings disclosure would assist 

investors in pricing earnings components efficiently. The basic argument is that more 

informative disclosure allows investors to understand the information in accruals and cash flows 

for future earnings better, as they can then understand the managerial assumptions used to record 

accruals better too (Drake et al., 2009). Hence, it is argued that investors can forecast the future 

economic benefits and valuation implications of accruals more accurately when disclosure 

quality is higher (Drake et al., 2009). 

Hirshleifer and Teoh (2003) present a theoretical model which assumes that investors have 

limited attention and processing power. Inattentive investors either miss important information 

disclosures entirely or systematically misinterpret their implications. In such a world, accounting 

measurement rules, earnings management activities and discretionary disclosures have an impact 

on share prices even when these features bear no relation to the underlying fundamentals of a 

firm (Lambert, 2003). In essence, Hirshleifer and Teoh (2003) posit that a proportion of 

individual investors in the market are inattentive, and that this lack of sophistication is not 

eliminated out at the aggregate market level. 
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Hirshleifer and Teoh (2003) argue that the salience of financial statement disclosure may 

influence investors‟ ability to process information accurately. This argument fits in well with 

Sloan‟s (1996) original hypothesis of earnings fixation. In essence, Hirshleifer and Teoh‟s (2003) 

proposition is that the probability that investors attend to the growth rates of the separate 

earnings components is higher under disaggregated reporting than under aggregated reporting. 

Even though each of the earnings components may be publicly available information, through 

analysts and news media reports, the inclusion of this information in the financial statements 

makes it more salient to investors. 

Hirshleifer and Teoh‟s (2003) argument is relevant in the South African context, because some 

of the headline earnings exclusions may be deduced from other disclosures available in firms‟ 

annual reports. However, the headline earnings disclosure framework may increase the salience 

of headline earnings exclusions by providing investors with a headline earnings figure, as well as 

a reconciliation that details the differences between GAAP earnings and headline earnings 

clearly. This may improve investors‟ ability to acquire and process information about non-

recurring items. 

Hirshleifer and Teoh‟s (2003) limited attention model is consistent with other evidence on the 

accrual anomaly and investor sophistication. Collins et al. (2003) investigate the role of investor 

sophistication on the mispricing of accruals by using the level of institutional holdings to proxy 

for investor sophistication. They find less accrual mispricing in firms with higher institutional 

holdings than in firms with lower institutional holdings. They conjecture that institutional 

investors mitigate the accrual anomaly because they are superior to individuals in processing 

financial statement information. Similarly, Barone and Magilke (2009) suggest that sophisticated 
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investors are associated with a significant reduction in accruals mispricing compared to 

individual investors. 

Support for Hirshleifer and Teoh‟s (2003) limited attention model is also found in recent 

empirical studies on information quality. The findings by Hope et al. (2008) and Chan et al. 

(2009) indicate that the mispricing of earnings components is mitigated by the quality of 

accounting information from the supply side. These findings are supported by Drake et al. (2009) 

who conclude that overall disclosure quality has a mitigating effect on the mispricing of earnings 

components. Landsman et al. (2007) argue that investors in the United States are likely to benefit 

from reconciliations between GAAP and pro forma income, because such disclosures enable 

investors to assess separately the forecasting and pricing implications of the components 

excluded from pro forma income.  

Since Landsman et al.‟s (2007) study, the SEC in the United States has released Regulation G, 

which requires public companies that disclose pro forma earnings also to present GAAP earnings 

and a reconciliation between the two (Chen, 2010). The SEC (2002) argues that “the 

reconciliation will provide the securities markets with additional information to more accurately 

evaluate companies‟ securities and, in turn, result in more accurate pricing of securities”. 

Consistent with Landsman et al.‟s (2007) conjecture, Chen (2010) suggests that the introduction 

of Regulation G constrains the practice of excluding recurring expenses from pro forma earnings 

and helps analysts and investors to understand the persistence of pro forma exclusions. Zhang 

and Zheng (2011) provide direct evidence that the mispricing of pro forma exclusions is no 

longer evident since the implementation of Regulation G for a sample of pro forma earnings 
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reporters that continued to disclose pro forma earnings after the implementation of Regulation 

G.
35

 

Two behavioural research studies by Hewitt (2009) and Tarca et al. (2008) provide evidence that 

disaggregated disclosure may improve investors‟ ability to price earnings components. Hewitt 

(2009) posits that investors‟ inability to incorporate the differential persistence of the accrual and 

cash flow components of earnings fully in the investors‟ earnings forecasts results from their 

failure to acquire and process the financial statement information fully. Using both analysts and 

MBA students, Hewitt (2009) concludes that requiring participants to forecast both operating 

cash flows and accruals (rather than earnings) and altering the presentation format of the 

financial statements to present the disaggregated cash and accrual components of earnings 

improves the forecast accuracy. However, neither manipulation is sufficient, in isolation, to 

improve investors‟ forecast accuracy. Hewitt (2009: 192) deduces that these findings suggest that 

“the standard-setting boards‟ consideration of how best to present information concerning 

operating cash flows and accruals in the financial statements is both warranted and potentially 

beneficial”. 

Tarca et al. (2008) also present experimental evidence in support of income statement 

disaggregation. Their experiment assesses the potential benefits of disaggregating earnings in the 

income statement into “earnings before remeasurements” and “remeasurements”. They reveal 

                                                           
35 Zhang and Zheng‟s (2011) findings should not be generalised or interpreted to imply that special items in the United States are 

no longer mispriced. They use a small sample which includes only pro forma earnings reporters. In other words, they are unable 

to provide evidence on the mispricing of non-recurring items of firms that do not disclose pro forma earnings. Their pre-

Regulation G period includes 2 934 press releases, while their post-Regulation G period includes only 1 295 press releases. This 

sample is much smaller than, for example, Dechow and Ge‟s (2006) sample, which includes 63 875 firm-year observations. Their 

post-Regulation G period also covers a relatively short period, from April 2003 to December 2004. In addition, the evidence of 

Kolev et al. (2008) reveals that the quality of special items decreased in the post-Regulation G period. In other words, special 

items are less transitory in the post-Regulation G period. This evidence suggests that the mispricing of special items post-

Regulation G may even be exaggerated. 
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that this disaggregation scheme improves the accuracy with which users extract financial 

information from the income statement. 

Another argument for disaggregated disclosure is supported by the irrationality and rational 

structural uncertainty theories of Brav and Heaton (2002), who claim that learning and arbitrage 

are two factors that can resolve a financial anomaly. Researchers have shown that arbitrage has 

been fairly slow in resolving the accrual anomaly (Mashruwala et al. 2006; Green et al., 2011). It 

is therefore a logical conclusion that increased attention should be focused on learning. 

Disaggregated earnings disclosure can play an important role in facilitating the learning of 

investors. 

The mispricing of special items in the United States (Burgstahler et al., 2002; Dechow and Ge, 

2006) may lead one to predict that headline earnings exclusions may be mispriced similarly in 

South Africa. Although special items in the United States and headline earnings exclusions in 

South Africa are similar in nature, in that both attempt to identify one-time items, they differ 

regarding a number of dimensions. I discuss these differences in the paragraphs below.  

First, there is some evidence to suggest that Compustat is inconsistent in its identification of 

special items. Burgstahler et al. (2002) argue that accounting standards influence, but do not 

completely determine, the composition of special items, because Compustat frequently, but not 

always, includes among special items the components of earnings reported separately in the 

income statement (Burgstahler et al., 2002). Compustat also sometimes includes items reported 

in the footnotes, but not in the income statement, among special items. Due to these vagaries of 

the Compustat identification process, some regard special items as a “black box” (Frankel, 

2009). By contrast, headline earnings is clearly defined.  
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Second, in the United States special items are highly influenced by management discretion with 

respect to which items are in fact reported separately in the financial statements and what 

information is reported in footnotes (Burgstahler et al., 2002). By contrast, the clearly defined 

headline earnings exclusions offer little scope for managers to exercise their discretion. 

Third, the categorisation of expenses as special items is not clear-cut to auditors and other 

outside monitors (McVay, 2006). In South Africa, the promulgated headline earnings definition 

should assist auditors in identifying headline earnings exclusions accurately.  

Fourth, the combination of the vagaries of the Compustat identification process and management 

discretion in reporting special items makes special items highly susceptible to earnings 

management. In particular, Compustat relies on the information provided by managers in the 

annual report to identify special items. If managers mislead Compustat about the recurring nature 

of these items, special items may well contain recurring items. Several researchers provide 

evidence to support this idea. McVay (2006) presents a detailed analysis of how special items are 

used in the classification shifting of current expenses, while Fairfield et al. (2009) disclose 

evidence on repeated classification shifting of current expenses by firms with high profitability. 

Researchers also point out that negative special items tend to be larger and more prevalent than 

positive special items (Fairfield et al., 2009). This suggests that managers have incentives to 

highlight the transitory nature of income-decreasing accruals, but not of income-increasing 

accruals.  

Classification shifting of current expenses to special items is not the only tool managers can use 

to manage special items. Cain et al. (2009) document that, in addition to shifting current 

expenses, managers also shift past expenses (expenses built up) into special items, and shift 
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future expenses into special items (“big bath”). Although the headline earnings framework 

cannot prevent the shifting of past expenses and future expenses into headline earnings 

exclusions, it makes the shifting of current expenses into headline earnings exclusions more 

difficult. For example, managers can still build up expenses by under-depreciating assets and 

recognise these past expenses as impairment losses in subsequent periods. Managers can also 

take “big baths” by recognising future depreciation expense as an impairment loss in the current 

period, thereby increasing future profits. The headline earnings framework is not likely to curb 

the shifting of past and future expenses into headline earnings exclusions. As Barth and Taylor 

(2010) argue, if a manager manipulates accounting amounts, should we blame the accounting or 

the manager? However, as has been argued earlier, the headline earnings framework should be 

useful in curbing the classification shifting of current period expenses, because it permits little 

discretion in respect of the classification of headline earnings exclusions. Hence, managers have 

little discretion to classify recurring expenses as headline earnings exclusions. Since headline 

earnings are less affected by earnings management practices than special items are, this 

framework should also assist investors in assessing the “true” implications of these exclusions 

for future earnings. 

In South Africa, only the earnings component excluded from headline earnings is displayed 

separately, because the cash flow component and the accrual component included in headline 

earnings are still aggregated in basic earnings. However, the remaining components can easily be 

determined from other disclosures in the financial statements. Therefore, the removal of 

remeasurements that do not relate to the operating activities of the entity should improve 

investors‟ ability to assess the pricing consequences of the remaining two components. 
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In line with the arguments for disaggregation, I predict that mispricing of earnings components 

will not be observed in South Africa. 

H2: The earnings expectations embedded in share prices fully reflect the differential 

persistence of the components of earnings. 

I predict that there is no significant mispricing of any of the earnings components, although 

recent evidence does suggest that, globally, underweighting of the cash flow component is 

almost pervasive. Pincus et al.‟s (2007) study investigates the existence of the accrual anomaly 

in 20 countries - nine common law countries and 11 code law countries. Of the 20 countries in 

Pincus et al.‟s (2007) study, 12 exhibit significant underweighting of the cash flow component of 

earnings. In eight of the countries that display cash flow underpricing, the accrual component of 

earnings is not significantly mispriced. In addition, Kraft et al. (2007:1105) show that, although 

the accrual anomaly “vanishes” in the United States when additional explanatory variables are 

included in the Mishkin test, the underweighting of the cash flow component persists. Hence, it 

is possible that this phenomenon may not be eliminated completely by the headline earnings 

disclosure framework and may also be found in South Africa. 

7.4 Sample selection 

The main sample includes firms listed on the main board of the JSE. Firms in the financial 

services industry are excluded, because their accruals are difficult to define and interpret, as a 

result of the nature of their business (Ahmed et al., 2006; Atwood and Xie, 2010) and the 

distinction between their operating and investing activities is also not entirely clear (Dechow and 

Ge, 2006; Richardson et al., 2005). Foreign firm-years are excluded because, despite the fact that 

the disclosure of headline earnings information is mandatory for the JSE, many foreign firms do 
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not disclose headline earnings per share. Arguably, these firms deem it unnecessary to comply 

with the headline earnings disclosure requirements, given that such disclosure is not mandatory 

outside South Africa. Moreover, the JSE may be reluctant to suspend the listing of such foreign 

firms due to their non-compliance with the headline earnings disclosure requirements, because 

foreign investment is important to South Africa.  

In order to obtain evidence in support of the hypotheses, it is necessary to include firms both 

with and without headline earnings exclusions in the sample, because investors who invest in 

firms whose basic earnings and headline earnings are equal can assume that all items included in 

earnings relate to the operating activities of the firm concerned. This should enable investors to 

assess the persistence of the accrual and cash flow components in a manner that is consistent 

with the actual persistence of these components.  

All the necessary data are taken from the McGregor BFA, which is the pre-eminent provider of 

stock market data, fundamental research data and news to the financial sector and the corporate 

market in South Africa. 

The sample period starts with 2001, because HEPS disclosure was incorporated in the JSE listing 

requirements from 2 October 2000 onwards. The end of the sample period is the end of 2008. 

The regression models require data for period t-1 (average total assets, changes in sales and 

capital expenditures, lagged accruals and cash flows), as well as for period t+1 (one-year-ahead 

earnings and returns); therefore I also use data for 2000 and 2009. I remove firm-year 

observations with missing data on the McGregor BFA. 
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Table 7.1 details the sample composition. The sample includes 331 firms and a total of 1 618 

firm-year observations. The majority of the firms are in the industrial sector (32.6%), followed 

by firms in the consumer services sector (22.1%) and basic materials sector (18.4%). 

7.5 Research design 

7.5.1 Defining earnings components 

In this section I commence with the basic premise that earnings consist of an accrual and a cash 

flow component (Sloan, 1996): 

EARN = CF + ACCR (1) 

where:   

EARN = Earnings  

CF = Cash flows  

ACCR = Accruals  

In terms of the headline earnings framework, earnings (EARN) consists of earnings included in 

headline earnings and earnings excluded from headline earnings: 

EARN = INHE + EXHE (2) 

where:   

INHE = Earnings included in headline earnings  

EXHE = Earnings excluded from headline earnings  

Amending Equation (1) to reflect the notion that EARN consists of a component included in 

headline earnings and a component excluded from headline earnings results in the following 

decomposition: 
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EARN = INCF + EXCF + INAC + EXAC (3) 

where:   

INCF = Cash flows included in headline earnings  

EXCF = Cash flows excluded from headline earnings  

INAC = Accruals included in headline earnings  

EXAC = Accruals excluded from headline earnings  

The decomposition of earnings is summarized in the following diagram in Figure 1: 

Figure 1: Decomposition of earnings 

EARN 

  

CF ACCR 

    

INCF EXCF INAC EXAC 

The remainder of this section focuses on the determination of each of the components of 

earnings identified in Equations (1) to (3) above. 

It is important to establish whether accruals (ACCR) is defined using the indirect (balance sheet) 

or the direct method (cash flow statement). The indirect method estimates accruals using changes 

in balance sheet accounts resulting in the cash flow component (CF), which is defined as the 

difference between earnings (EARN) and ACCR. Sloan (1996) and Richardson et al. (2005) use 

the indirect method to calculate accruals. However, Hribar and Collins (2002) show that the 

indirect method can result in measurement error, particularly when non-operating events or 
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activities such as mergers and acquisitions, divestures and the translation of foreign operations 

are present. Hence, they suggest that it is more appropriate for researchers to use the direct 

method of accrual estimation. In terms of the direct method, CF is obtained directly from the 

cash flow statement; and ACCR is determined as the difference between EARN and CF. 

Subsequent to Hribar and Collins‟s (2002) study, a number of studies have used the direct 

method (for example, that of Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 2006). I follow suit. 

I start with the definition of operating accruals used extensively by prior researchers (Atwood 

and Xie, 2010; Barone and Magilke, 2009; Collins and Hribar, 2000; Dechow and Ge, 2006; 

Drake et al., 2009): 

ACCR = EARN – CF  (4) 

where (the McGregor BFA data item numbers in parentheses) 

EARN = Profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072)
36

  

CF = Cash flows from operating activities before dividends (#01030714)  

Cash flows from operating activities do not pick up cash flows relating to headline earnings 

exclusions resulting from the disposal of assets. These cash flows are included in cash flows 

from investing activities in the cash flow statement. The operating accrual definition assumes 

that all headline earnings exclusions are accruals. In other words, the operating accrual definition 

results in the following decomposition of earnings (Equations (1) to (3) are repeated for 

convenience): 

                                                           
36 Profit for the period is calculated by multiplying the bottom line earnings per shares (EPSBL) by the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding (WANOS) during the period and then adding back preference share dividends. Where EPSBL or 

WANOS for a firm is not in the McGregor BFA database, I take these values from the actual financial statements of the 

companies, if they are available in the McGregor BFA library.  



237 
 

EARN = CF + ACCR (1) 

EARN =  INHE + EXHE (2) 

EARN =  INCF + EXCF + INAC + EXAC (3) 

But Equation (4) renders EXHE = EXAC, resulting in EXCF = 0, therefore: 

EARN = INCF + INAC + EXAC (5) 

where (the McGregor BFA data item numbers in parentheses) 

EXHE 

(EXAC) = 

Earnings (accruals) excluded from headline earnings: Basic earnings minus 

headline earnings (EARN - INHE) 

 

INHE = Headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072)
37

  

INAC = Accruals included in headline earnings: ACCR – EXAC   

INCF = Cash flows from operating activities before dividends (#01030714)  

Richardson et al. (2005: 439) argue that the definition of operating accruals ignores non-current 

accruals such as capitalized expenditure on property, plant and equipment, resulting in “noisy 

measures of both accruals and cash flows”. Richardson et al.‟s (2005) definition is derived from 

the balance sheet. In the spirit of Hribar and Collins‟s (2002) study, Dechow and Ge (2006) 

calculate total accruals from the cash flow statement as the difference between earnings and free 

cash flows. They argue that free cash flows match the flows in earnings better “because earnings 

includes capital charges such as depreciation and amortization charges that are ignored in cash 

flows from operations” (Dechow and Ge, 2006: 260). In other words, the operating accrual 

definition measures CF and ACCR with error. To address this concern, I follow Dechow and Ge 

                                                           
37

 Headline earnings is calculated by multiplying HEPS by the weighted average number of shares outstanding (WANOS) during 

the year and then adding back preference share dividends. Where HEPS or WANOS for a firm is not in the McGregor BFA 

database, I take these values from the actual financial statements of the companies, if they are available in the McGregor BFA 

library.  
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(2006) by replacing operating cash flows in Equation (4) with free cash flow, where free cash 

flow consists of operating cash flows plus investing cash flows. 

The total accrual definition correctly allocates earnings from disposal of assets to its cash flow 

and accrual components. In order to divide the accrual component between those accruals 

included in headline earnings and those accruals excluded from headline earnings, an assumption 

is needed about the attributes of headline earnings exclusions. Atwood and Xie (2010) and 

Dechow and Ge (2006) assume that all special items affect only accruals. This assumption is 

violated for some special items, resulting in measurement error in the variables.
38

 The only 

headline earnings exclusions that contain both an accrual component and a cash flow component 

are gains and losses on the disposal of assets and the bargain purchase gain in a business 

combination. It is not possible to divide a bargain purchase gain reliably into its accrual and cash 

flow components, because the McGregor BFA does not disclose the bargain purchase gain 

separately. Hence, it is impossible to identify firms that recognize a bargain purchase gain. 

However, this is not a major concern, since cases in which acquisitions result in bargain purchase 

gains should be rare. By contrast, it is possible to decompose gains or losses from the disposal of 

assets accurately between the accrual and cash flow components, because the McGregor BFA 

does identify proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets and investments separately on the cash 

flow statement. I follow the following decomposition structure (Equations (1) to (3) are repeated 

for convenience): 

EARN = CF + ACCR (1) 

                                                           
38 Although the total accrual definition solves the measurement error of the CF and ACCR variables, the assumption that all 

special items affect only accruals results in an erroneous measurement of the subcomponents of ACCR in Dechow and Ge‟s 

(2006) study. 
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EARN =  INHE + EXHE (2) 

EARN =  INCF + EXCF + INAC + EXAC (3) 

where (the McGregor BFA data item numbers in parentheses) 

EARN = Profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072)  

EXHE = Earnings excluded from headline earnings: Basic earnings minus headline 

earnings (EARN - INHE) 

 

INHE = Headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072)   

CF = Free cash flow: Cash flows from operating activities (#01030714) before 

dividends plus Cash flows from investing activities (-#01030718 + 

#01030723) 

 

ACCR = EARN – CF   

EXCF = Free cash flow excluded from headline earnings: Proceeds Disposal Fixed 

Assets (#01030724) plus Proceeds Disposal Investment (#01030725) 

 

INCF = Free cash flow included in headline earnings: CF – EXCF  

INAC = Accruals included in headline earnings: INHE – INCF  

EXAC = Accruals excluded from headline earnings: ACCR – INAC  

Like previous researchers such as Dechow and Ge (2006) and Sloan (1996), I deflate each of the 

components by the average total assets to enhance cross-sectional comparability. Average total 

assets is calculated as the beginning-of-year total assets (as reported by the McGregor BFA in 

Line Item #02010050) plus the end-of-year total assets, divided by two.  
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7.5.2 Hypotheses 1: Earnings persistence 

In order to investigate the persistence of the various earnings components, my model 

specifications closely follow Dechow and Ge (2006).
39

 The analysis begins with the operating 

definition of accruals (firm-subscripts omitted): 

        =                                   (6) 

It is predicted that             , showing that headline earnings is more persistent than 

headline earnings exclusions (Hypothesis 1a). Consistent with the evidence presented by Sloan 

(1996), it is expected that             , showing that the accrual component of earnings is 

less persistent than the cash component of earnings (Hypothesis 1b). In addition it is predicted 

that        (Hypothesis 1c), indicating that the transitional/non-recurring nature of items 

excluded from headline earnings will result in lower persistence of headline earnings exclusions 

compared to the persistence of other earnings components. 

The specification for the total accrual definition is as follows (firm-subscripts omitted): 

        =                                           (7) 

It is predicted that                   , showing that headline earnings is more persistent 

than headline earnings exclusions (Hypothesis 1a). Consistent with the evidence of Sloan (1996), 

it is expected that                   , showing that the accrual component of earnings is 

less persistent than the cash component of earnings (Hypothesis 1b). In addition, it is predicted 

that        (Hypothesis 1c), while        (Hypothesis 1d), indicating that the 

transitional/non-recurring nature of items excluded from headline earnings result in lower 

                                                           
39 Before commencing with an analysis of the sub-components of earnings of interest to this study, I first evaluate the time-series 

properties of the following earnings components in separate regressions (in the interest of brevity I do not specify these models 

separately): EARN, INHE and EXHE, and CF and ACCR. 
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persistence of headline earnings exclusions compared to the persistence of other earnings 

components. 

All the variables are defined in Section 7.5.1. I follow Dechow and Ge (2006) in trimming one 

per cent of the tails of all variables except, EXHE, EXAC and EXCF. 

7.5.3 Hypothesis 2: Pricing of earnings components 

Sloan (1996) was the first to implement the Mishkin (1983) method to test for market efficiency 

with regard to accounting numbers. Since then, several other researchers have employed the 

Mishkin test to determine whether investors price accounting amounts in various scenarios 

appropriately (for example, Burgstahler et al. 2002; Dechow and Ge 2006). The Mishkin test 

requires the specification of two equations, namely a forecasting equation and a pricing equation. 

In the current study, the forecasting equations are the same as Equation (6) and Equation (7). The 

pricing equation, using the operating accrual definition is specified as follows (firm subscripts 

omitted):
40

 

         =                  
          

          
               (8) 

The pricing equation using the total accrual definition is as follows (firm subscripts omitted): 

         =                  
          

          
          

        

       

 

(9) 

In these equations, all the variables are defined as previously, except for SARET, which 

represents the size-adjusted return. The Mishkin test is an iterative non-linear maximum 

likelihood estimation procedure that jointly estimates the forecasting equation and the pricing 

                                                           
40 Before commencing with an analysis of the sub-components of earnings of interest to this study, I first evaluate the pricing of 

the following earnings components in separate tests (in the interest of brevity I do not specify these models separately): EARN, 

INHE and EXHE, and CF and ACCR. 
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equation. Joint nonlinear estimation of Equation (6) [Equation (7)] and Equation (8) [Equation 

(9)] allows the researcher to use information in returns to infer how the market uses information 

in                   and       to forecast        .  

The Mishkin test compares the weight applied to the components in the forecasting equation to 

the weighting of these variables in the pricing equation (Kraft et al., 2007). If the weights are not 

equal, one can infer that the market does not price the information rationally, based on its 

historical characteristics (Kraft et al., 2007). Hence, the Mishkin test determines a likelihood 

ratio (chi-square test) of the null hypothesis that the implied coefficients from Equation (8) 

[Equation (9)] are equal to the observed coefficients from Equation (6) [Equation (7)] 

(Burgstahler et al., 2002). Equality of the coefficients indicates that the market prices the 

particular component rationally. The null hypothesis of equality is rejected when the likelihood 

ratio is sufficiently large. The marginal significance level obtained for the likelihood ratio 

statistic indicates whether the null hypothesis should be rejected or not. A high marginal 

significance indicates that it is likely that the coefficients are equal, while low significance 

indicates that it is likely that the coefficients are not equal. 

To control for risk, I follow Sloan (1996), Xie (2001) and others and employ size-adjusted 

returns. SARET is defined consistently with the definition used by Sloan (1996) and Dechow and 

Ge (2006), who determine SARET as the buy-hold size-adjusted returns, inclusive of dividends 

and other distributions. For each firm-year, SARET is calculated for a 12-month period beginning 

four months after the end of the financial period. SARET is determined by subtracting the return 

on a size-matched portfolio from the raw return the return. The raw return is the sum of the 

monthly returns over the return accumulation period, whereas the monthly return is calculated as 

the natural logarithm (ln) of         (where P is the share price adjusted for various corporate 
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actions).
41

 A size-matched portfolio is constructed by allocating all firm-year observations in the 

sample to decile portfolios on the basis of market capitalisation at the beginning of the formation 

of the decile portfolios. The portfolios are rebalanced twice per year, based on the two most 

common balance sheet dates in the sample. An equal-weighted portfolio return is computed for 

each size portfolio in each period.  

7.5.4 Equivalence of the Mishkin test and the OLS estimation 

Kraft et al. (2007) argue that it is not apparent that the Mishkin test offers any advantages over 

ordinary least squares (OLS) estimation. Using a sample of 65 411 firm-year observations, they 

show that similar inferences are drawn in their study from both the Mishkin test and OLS 

estimation, inferring that where samples are large, OLS estimation is asymptotically equivalent 

to the Mishkin test (Kraft et al., 2007). It is not clear from their study exactly how “large” the 

sample should be in order to qualify for the equivalence of the Mishkin test and OLS estimation, 

although they state that samples in “accounting research usually number 40 000 or more” (Kraft 

et al., 2007: 1090). 

In order to investigate the equivalence of the Mishkin test and OLS in my sample, the following 

OLS regression, based on the operating accrual definition, is used (firm subscripts omitted): 

                                                           
41 The share prices adjusted for corporate actions are obtained from the McGregor BFA, which adjusts share prices for cash 

dividends, capitalisation issues, share consolidations, capital payments, special dividends, scrip dividends, subdivisions, rights 

offers and unbundlings. The McGregor BFA calculates adjusted share prices by starting with a base number of 100 shares for 

each firm on 1 January 1990 (or a later date if a firm lists later). The 100 base shares are adjusted on the effective day of each 

corporate action over the life of the firm. The adjustment reflects the additional number of shares a shareholder could have 

purchased in the firm with the additional wealth distributed by the firm through various corporate actions. For example, if a 

dividend is declared, the dividend is hypothetically re-invested by buying additional shares in the firm. All other corporate 

actions are treated in a similar way. The adjusted share price is calculated as the closing JSE price, multiplied by the ratio of the 

adjusted number of shares relative to the base number of 100 shares. The calculation capitalises all the firm‟s corporate actions in 

the share price. When one compares the adjusted share prices on two different days, the return calculated in this way not only 

represents the movement in the share price itself, but also the additional value created for shareholders by all the relevant 

corporate actions. The base shares are also adjusted for corporate actions, such as capitalisation issues, that do not transfer 

wealth. This ensures that share prices are comparable over time. 
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         =                                   (10) 

Following the total accrual definition, I use the following specification (firm subscripts omitted): 

         =                                           (11) 

To provide evidence on Hypothesis 2, I test whether   ,   ,    and    are significantly different 

from zero. If any of the coefficients are significantly different from zero, that would indicate 

mispricing, and Hypothesis 2 would be rejected. In particular, a significantly positive coefficient 

is consistent with underpricing, while a significantly negative coefficient is consistent with 

overpricing. If a coefficient is indistinguishable from zero, that would provide evidence that the 

component is priced in a manner that is consistent with its observed level of persistence. 

Kraft et al. (2007) show that in large samples the coefficients from the OLS specification in 

Equation (10) and Equation (11) are related to the coefficients from the Mishkin test as follows: 

              
  , where      is the parameter estimates from the OLS specifications in 

Equation (10) and Equation (11),    is the coefficient from the Mishkin forecasting equations 

specified in Equation (6) and Equation (7),   
  is the coefficient from the Mishkin pricing 

equations specified in Equation (8) and Equation (9) and   is the scalar on earnings in the 

Mishkin test. Hence, despite the fact the South African sample is small compared to samples 

using data from the United States, I investigate whether the OLS specification is equivalent to 

the Mishkin test. In order to show the comparison between the Mishkin test and OLS estimation, 

I use the same sample as for the Mishkin test. 

7.6 Descriptive statistics 

Table 7.2 reports summary descriptive statistics for the main sample. Beaver, McNichols and 

Price (2007) argue that the sample mean size-adjusted return should equal zero. Consistent with 
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this argument, in the current study, the mean of          approximates zero.         has a 

mean (median) of 0.107 (0.108), whereas       has a mean (median) of 0.078 (0.094). This 

shows that, on average, the sample firms are profitable.       has a mean (median) of 0.091 

(0.097), which reflects that recurring items are, on average, positive. The mean (median) of 

      is -0.014 (0.000), which shows that, on average, exclusions from headline earnings are 

losses or expenses that increase headline earnings. Operating cash flows has a mean (median) of 

0.121 (0.119), while total cash flows has a mean (median) of -0.003 (0.026). This reflects the fact 

that investing cash flows are, on average, negative. Operating accruals reflect a mean (median) 

of -0.043 (-0.036), whereas total accruals has a mean (median) of 0.081 (0.050). 

Table 7.3 reports Spearman (Pearson) correlations above (below) the diagonal for the variables 

used in the analysis. For the sake of brevity, only selected correlations in the table are discussed. 

Statistical significance is measured at a five per cent level of significance. Consistent with prior 

research by Dechow and Ge (2006), it is clear that there is a positive Spearman correlation 

between current earnings and operating accruals (0.308) on the one hand and total accruals 

(0.394) on the other. There is also a positive correlation between current earnings and operating 

cash flows (0.619) on the one hand and total cash flows (0.367) on the other.  

All the variables, except for accruals included in headline earnings, display a statistically 

significant Spearman correlation with one-year ahead earnings. In the Pearson correlation only 

      (total accruals), and       are not significantly correlated with one-year ahead earnings. 

Consistent with matching, there is a statistically significant negative correlation between cash 

flows and accruals.  
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Similar to the findings of Dechow and Ge (2006), the correlation found between cash flows and 

accruals in the current study is stronger using the total accrual definition than where the 

operating accrual definition is used. The statistically positive correlation between headline 

earnings exclusions and accruals is much stronger than the positive correlation between headline 

earnings exclusions and cash flows. This indicates that, as is the case with special items in the 

United States, most exclusions from headline earnings affect accruals, but do not affect cash 

flows. In the Spearman correlations, one-year ahead earnings, operating and total cash flows, 

cash flows included in headline earnings, total accruals, total accruals included in headline 

earnings and total accruals excluded from headline earnings display a statistically significant 

correlation with one-year ahead size-adjusted returns. As expected, there is a strong correlation 

between the individual components of earnings measured using the operating accrual definition 

and the components of earnings measured using the total accrual definition. 

7.7 Results 

7.7.1 Hypotheses 1: Earnings persistence 

Table 7.4 displays the results from OLS regressions on one-year ahead earnings on components 

of current earnings.  

The adjusted R-square ranges between 24.4 per cent (Model 1) and 26.9 per cent in (Model 4). 

Accrual anomaly studies based on United States firms typically report adjusted R-square values 

in excess of 30 per cent; some even in excess of 50 per cent (Dechow and Ge, 2006; Dechow et 

al., 2008; Richardson et al., 2005). In the United States studies, longer sample periods are 

generally used, but these do not extend beyond 2003. For example, Dechow and Ge‟s (2006) 
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study covers the period from 1988 to 2002, Dechow et al.‟s (2008) covers 1950 to 2003 and 

Richardson et al.‟s (2005) covers 1962 to 2001.  

Dichev and Tang (2008) show how accounting standard setters‟ shift away from matching to fair 

value has affected the time-series properties of earnings in the United States. They show that 

from 1967 to 2003, earnings volatility has nearly doubled, while earnings persistence has 

dropped by approximately 30 per cent. This evidence suggests that the increased use of fair value 

accounting decreases the ability of current period earnings to explain future earnings. As poor 

matching is resolved over time, the effect is less pronounced in long-horizon studies (Dichev and 

Tang, 2008).  

The current study covers a period during which the effect of fair value accounting is arguably 

more prominent than prior to 2003. In addition, the sample straddles the period in which the 

global financial crisis peaked. During such a period, it is reasonable to expect an increase in the 

recognition of asset impairments, which reduces earnings persistence. 

The results of Model 1 indicate that the persistence parameter on earnings is 0.629. A 

decomposition of earnings into headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions in Model 2 

shows that headline earnings (0.741) has almost double the persistence of headline earnings 

exclusions (0.398). An F-test rejects the null hypothesis that the coefficient of headline earnings 

is equal to the coefficient of headline earnings exclusions (F-value = 27.13; p-value < 0.01). This 

result is consistent with Hypothesis 1a. 

Using the operating accrual definition in Model 3, the persistence parameter on cash flows is 

0.773, while the persistence parameter on accruals is 0.493. This is consistent with the findings 

of Sloan (1996), Xie (2001) and Dechow and Ge (2006). An F-test rejects the null hypothesis 
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that the coefficient of cash flows is equal to the coefficient of accruals using the operating 

accrual definition (F-value = 50.14; p-value < 0.01). These findings are consistent with 

Hypothesis 1b. Similar inferences can be made by using the total accrual definition in Model 5, 

which shows a coefficient of 0.708 on cash flows and a coefficient of 0.586 on accruals. An F-

test confirms that these two coefficients are statistically different from each other (F-value = 

31.40; p-value < 0.01). 

A decomposition of accruals into items which remain within headline earnings and items that are 

excluded from headline earnings (Model 4) indicates that the component excluded from headline 

earnings is less persistent than other accruals (0.394 vs 0.574 using the operating accrual 

definition, and 0.387 vs 0.684 using the total accrual definition). This is similar to the findings of 

Dechow and Ge (2006) relating to special items. Headline earnings exclusions appear to be an 

important driver of the lower persistence of accruals. In particular, the persistence parameter on 

accruals increases from 0.493 to 0.574 using the operating definition of accruals, while the 

parameter increases from 0.586 to 0.684 using the total accrual definition. F-tests confirm that 

the coefficients on INAC and EXAC are not equal, using both definitions of accruals (Operating: 

F-value = 6.24 and p-value = 0.013; Total: F-value = 20.15 and p-value < 0.01). Taken together, 

these findings support the prediction made in Hypothesis 1c. Consistent with Model 3, cash 

flows continue to show higher persistence than accruals, even after removing non-recurring/ 

transitory items (Operating: F-value = 28.95 and p-value < 0.01; Total: F-value = 26.97 and 

p=value < 0.01). 

When the total accrual definition (Model 6) is used, it is evident that the cash flow component 

excluded from headline earnings (0.395) is less persistent than the cash flow component included 

in headline earnings (0.798). This is confirmed by an F-test of the equality of coefficients (F-
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value = 13.45; p-value < 0.01). This finding supports Hypothesis 1d. However, there appears to 

be no significant difference between the persistence of accruals and cash flows excluded from 

headline earnings (F-value = 0.01; p-value = 0.936). 

Taken together, consistent with the prior literature, the persistence results indicate that the cash 

flow component of earnings is more persistent than the accrual component of earnings. Headline 

earnings exclusions have consistently lower persistence, relative to other earnings components in 

all the models. In particular, headline earnings exclusions appear to be an important driver of the 

lower persistence of aggregate accruals, relative to cash flows. Arguably, this suggests that the 

mandatory disaggregation of these items should provide useful information to investors.  

7.7.2 Hypothesis 2: Pricing of earnings components 

Table 7.5 sets out the results on the pricing of EARN and its components INHE and EXHE using 

both the Mishkin test and OLS regression. Panel A indicates that the persistence parameter of 

earnings is equal to 0.629 (this is equivalent to the result reported in Table 7.4), while investors 

attach a weight of 0.531 to earnings. The likelihood test for market efficiency is 1.28 (p-value = 

0.257) – hence, the null hypothesis of market efficiency is not rejected. This result suggests that 

earnings is not significantly mispriced. Similar inferences are drawn from the OLS regression. 

Specifically, the coefficient on EARN is 0.087, but it is insignificant. This evidence suggests that 

there is not a significant association between current period earnings and future share returns. 

Recent evidence suggests that earnings is not significantly mispriced in stock markets such as 

those in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Hong Kong, India and Switzerland (Pincus et al., 2007). 

In Panel B of Table 7.5 earnings is decomposed into headline earnings (INHE) and headline 

earnings exclusions (EXHE). The coefficient on INHE in the forecasting equation is 0.741, while 
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the coefficient in the pricing equation is 0.676. This evidence suggests that the market does not 

significantly misprice the persistence of headline earnings in South Africa. The likelihood test 

for market efficiency is 0.37 (p-value = 0.545), which implies that the null hypothesis of market 

efficiency cannot be rejected. Similar inferences are drawn from the OLS regression, where the 

insignificant coefficient of 0.059 suggests that investors do not significantly misprice headline 

earnings.  

The coefficient on EXHE in the forecasting equation of Panel B in Table 7.5 is 0.389. The 

coefficient in the pricing equation is 0.238. The likelihood test for market efficiency of 0.96 does 

not lead to a rejection of the null hypothesis of market efficiency, which suggests that investors 

do not misprice headline earnings exclusions significantly. The insignificant coefficient of EXHE 

in the OLS regression supports these conclusions. This is consistent with the notion that the 

implications of headline earnings exclusions for future earnings are relatively clear, because of 

their non-recurring/transitory nature.  

Table 7.6 documents the results of the pricing of the accrual and cash flow components of 

earnings using the operating accrual definition. The forecasting coefficient on the cash flow 

component is 0.773 in Panel A; the pricing coefficient is 0.587. The likelihood ratio statistic of 

2.99 confirms a marginal underweighting of the cash flow component of earnings at a ten per 

cent level of significance. This finding is supported by the positive and significant coefficient of 

0.166 in the OLS regression. This is evidence of underweighting, because a significantly positive 

coefficient indicates that positive (negative) earnings in year t are followed by positive (negative) 

returns in period t+1. The results in Panel A suggest that investors do not misprice the accrual 

component of earnings significantly. In particular, the null hypothesis of market efficiency is not 

rejected in terms of the Mishkin test; and the coefficient of ACCR in the OLS regression is 
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insignificant. These results are inconsistent with the general tenor of the accrual anomaly, which 

is characterized by significant overweighting of accruals and significant underweighting of cash 

flows (Dechow and Ge, 2006; Sloan, 1996). Pincus et al. (2007) report significant 

underweighting of the cash flow component of earnings, while the accrual component is not 

mispriced, in stock markets such as those in France, Italy, Japan, Sweden, Switzerland and 

Taiwan. 

In Panel B of Table 7.6, the cash flow and accrual components of earnings are subdivided further 

into items included and excluded from headline earnings. Consistent with the main results in 

Panel A of Table 7.6, neither accrual component is significantly mispriced. However, the 

marginal underpricing of the cash flow component documented in Panel A is no longer evident. 

Table 7.7 documents the pricing of earnings components using the total accrual definition. The 

forecasting coefficient on the cash flow component of earnings is 0.708; the pricing coefficient is 

0.394. Both the likelihood ratio statistic and the statistically significant coefficient in the OLS 

regression suggest that investors underweight the cash flow component significantly. However, 

both the Mishkin test and the OLS regression confirm that the total accrual component of 

earnings is not significantly mispriced. Overall, these findings are consistent with those reported 

in Table 7.6, Panel, A using the operating accrual definition. However, the level of significance 

of the underpricing of the cash flow component of earnings is higher using the total accrual 

definition (at a one per cent level of significance) than using the operating accrual definition (at a 

ten per cent level of significance). 

Panel B in Table 7.7 documents the results for a further decomposition of the total cash flow and 

accrual components into components included and excluded from headline earnings. The 
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forecasting coefficient of the cash flow component included in headline earnings is 0.798, while 

the pricing coefficient is 0.564. This is indicative of underweighting of the cash flow component 

included in headline earnings. The likelihood test for market efficiency is 3.96 (p-value = 0.047), 

so the null hypothesis of market efficiency is rejected. The statistically significant coefficient of 

0.204 obtained from the OLS regression supports the inference that investors appear to misprice 

the cash flow component included in headline earnings. However, INCF is the only component 

in Table 7.7, Panel B, which shows significant mispricing. 

The overall F-value of the model fit in the OLS regressions in Tables 7.5 to 7.7 is only 

significant in Table 7.7 when the total accrual definition is used. This suggests that, in general, 

mispricing is not severe in South Africa. 

The underweighting of the cash flow component of earnings is evident in most models. This 

phenomenon has not yet been explored empirically, but Pincus et al. (2007) posit that the 

phenomenon may reflect investors‟ belief that earnings management involves structuring 

transactions (real earnings management), rather than managing accruals. This could indeed be 

the case in markets where insiders (such as controlling owners or managers) have control over 

resources and reporting, with the result that non-fundamentals become more important 

determinants of value (Pincus et al., 2007). This situation is caused when insiders have an 

incentive to manage earnings to mask the firm‟s actual performance in order to conceal their 

private benefits from outsiders (Leuz et al., 2003). Hence, this underreaction to cash flow 

information may be indicative of structural uncertainty, rather than investor irrationality (Brav 

and Heaton, 2002).  
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South Africa has long been known for high levels of market and owner concentration, but the 

situation has changed since the country emerged from international isolation in 1994. In 2000, 

the Top 10 companies on the JSE accounted for 43.8 per cent of the entire JSE market 

capitalization, but by 2008 this percentage had decreased to 22.8 per cent (World Federation of 

Exchanges, 2010). The World Bank (2010) reports that the average percentage of common 

shares owned by the top three shareholders in the ten largest non-financial privately-owned 

domestic firms in South Africa is 52 per cent. By comparison, the percentages in Australia 

(28%), the United Kingdom (19%) and the United States (20%) are much lower. This evidence 

suggests that earnings management may take place in South Africa, as there is potentially strong 

insider influence.  

However, Leuz et al. (2003) show that accrual-based earnings management is more prevalent in 

countries with weak outside investor protection. The World Bank (2009) ranks South Africa 

tenth best out of 183 countries in terms of investor protection.
42

 Consistent with high investor 

protection, Leuz et al. (2003) report that South Africa‟s earnings were the fifth most transparent 

in the 31 countries in their study, after the United States, Australia, Ireland and Canada, for the 

period from 1990 to 1999. Leuz et al. (2003) measure earnings transparency with reference to 

accrual-based earnings management. In a more recent study on the adoption of IFRS in 26 

countries, South Africa is ranked second in terms of the transparency of earnings over the period 

from 2001 to 2005 (Daske et al., 2008). The absence of accrual-based earnings management in 

South Africa, despite the high levels of ownership concentration, may suggest that real earnings 

management occurs in South Africa. This could be a plausible explanation for the 

                                                           
42 Their ranking is based on the measure of legal protection developed by Djankov et al. (2008). 
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underweighting of the cash flow component of earnings in South Africa, which future research 

will have to prove or disprove. 

When one looks at Tables 7.5 to 7.7 together, a consistent picture emerges from the results. 

Firstly, the cash flow component of earnings (other than EXCF) shows evidence of underpricing, 

while accruals do not reflect significant mispricing. This does not accord fully with the 

prediction made in Hypothesis 2. Secondly, and more importantly for this study, none of the four 

headline earnings exclusion components tested is significantly mispriced by investors. The 

results contradict the findings of Dechow and Ge (2006) and Atwood and Xie (2010), who have 

reported mispricing of special items in the United States. McVay (2006) reports that the negative 

association between special items and future share returns in the United States is partly due to 

investors‟ inability to disentangle the classification shifting of expenses fully. Classification 

shifting occurs when managers who want to manage “core” earnings upward shift recurring 

expenses to special items (McVay, 2006). The results of the current study imply that investors 

find the headline earnings disaggregation scheme in South Africa useful in predicting the future 

implications of transitory or non-recurring items. 

7.7.3 Equivalence of the Mishkin test and the OLS estimation 

Kraft et al. (2007) show that, in large samples, estimating the OLS specification is 

asymptotically equivalent to estimating the system of equations of the Mishkin test. The final 

column in Tables 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 shows that the coefficients of the OLS specification can be 

reconstructed based on the output from the Mishkin test. For example, the OLS coefficient of 

0.087 on EARN in Table 7.5, Panel A, can be reconstructed using the formula            

   
  , where      is the coefficient from the Kraft et al. (2007) OLS specification,    is the 

coefficient from the Mishkin forecasting equation,   
  is the coefficient from the Mishkin pricing 
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equation and   is the scalar on earnings in the Mishkin test, that is 0.882 x (0.629 – 0.531) = 

0.087. Hence, despite the fact the South African sample is not as large as samples that have been 

used in studies based in the United States, the results still support the equivalence of the 

inferences drawn from the OLS method and the Mishkin test. This finding has important 

implications for future researchers, especially in research settings outside the United States, 

where sample sizes are often much smaller than those in the United States. Kraft et al. (2007) 

document the benefits of using an OLS estimation over the Mishkin test, namely ease of 

implementation and interpretation, avoiding the iterative Mishkin procedure, avoiding 

survivorship bias and the ease of addressing econometric issues such as cross-sectional 

correlation. The findings from this study suggest that these benefits may be available in much 

smaller samples than those typical in the United States.  

7.8 Sensitivity analyses 

7.8.1 Value-weighted size-adjusted returns 

Many researchers use value-weighted returns as an alternative to calculating equally-weighted 

size-adjusted returns (Richardson et al., 2005; Sloan, 1996). I repeat the analysis for all the tests 

using value-weighted size-adjusted returns, where the weighting is based on a firm‟s relative 

market capitalization within a decile portfolio. Tables 7.8 to 7.10 display the results for these 

analyses. The results remain largely unchanged, except that neither the cash flow component of 

earnings (operating accrual definition) nor the cash flow component included in headline 

earnings (total accrual definition) reflects significant mispricing any longer. 
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7.8.2 Outliers 

Kothari, Sabino and Zach (2005) report that tests of market efficiency are sensitive to active data 

truncation (elimination of extreme observations) or winzorisation of extreme data. They argue 

that although these research design choices are intended to remove observations that represent 

possibly anomalous valuations, in setting prices, an efficient market rationally incorporates the 

possibility that firms could earn extreme returns in the future. Hence, truncation can create the 

appearance of irrational pricing in the rest of the sample (Kothari et al., 2005). Using simulated 

data, they show that the rejection rate of the Mishkin test increases with the number of extreme 

observations eliminated, and this effect is aggravated with an increase in the sample size and an 

increase in the variance of abnormal returns (Kothari et al., 2005). 

Kothari et al.‟s (2005) active truncation procedure requires further scrutiny. In their setting, they 

employ the Mishkin test to examine whether the market prices long-term earnings growth 

forecasts rationally. They truncate extreme observations of actual earnings growth. In other 

words, they truncate extreme observations of the dependent variable in the forecasting equation. 

In the current setting, this equates to a truncation of extreme observations of one-year-ahead 

earnings. Kothari et al. (2005) do not provide any evidence on the effect of winsorization. The 

truncation procedure that they use is not typically employed in recent anomaly-related studies 

using the Mishkin test, since recent studies address outliers by adjusting the independent 

variables. For example, Barone and Magilke (2009) decile rank independent variables from the 

forecasting equation, Dechow et al. (2008) winsorize the components of earnings and Dechow 

and Ge (2006) trim the one per cent tails of all financial statement variables (except special 

items).  
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Kraft, Leone and Wasley (2006) provide an outlier argument against Sloan‟s (1996) earnings 

fixation hypothesis. While Kothari et al. (2005) argue that active data truncation could bias the 

results to show mispricing, Kraft et al. (2006) suggest that the functional fixation hypothesis 

should stand up to “traditional robustness tests” of excluding one per cent of the sample with the 

largest squared residuals. They show that, inconsistent with earnings fixation, as soon as they 

eliminate the one per cent of the data with the largest squared residuals, investors underreact to 

negative accruals, while they overreact to positive accruals. In essence, Kraft et al. (2006) do not 

provide evidence to suggest that the accrual information in earnings is not mispriced. At most, 

they provide evidence to suggest that the mispricing is not due to earnings fixation. 

An analysis of the firm year observations eliminated by Kraft et al. (2006) indicates that all the 

identified and deleted returns are large positive abnormal returns, of which a proportionately 

large number fall into the lowest accrual decile. Core (2006) holds that Kraft et al.‟s (2006) 

robustness test amounts to identifying the largest returns, deleting them, and examining the 

results of the remaining data. He argues that their finding that the remaining data do not support 

the earnings fixation hypothesis is equivalent to a finding that extreme accruals are concentrated 

in the low accrual portfolio. Teoh and Zhang (2011) show that although loss firms account for 21 

per cent of their sample, loss firms account for 70 per cent of deleted observations using the least 

trimmed squares (LTS) procedure employed by Kraft et al. (2006). They conclude that Kraft et 

al.‟s (2006) findings are a spurious consequence of selection bias. 

Kraft et al. (2006) argue that the extreme return-firms in the low accrual decile are experiencing 

poor performance and that their extreme accruals (such as asset impairments) are easily 

observable on the income statement (presumably as they are highlighted as special items), 

making it less likely that they would be mistaken for permanent earnings changes. It is precisely 
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the kinds of firms identified by Kraft et al. (2006) that are important for the current study, as 

some of these special items are also headline earnings exclusions. Contrary to Kraft et al.‟s 

(2006) argument, Burgstahler et al. (2002) and Dechow and Ge (2006) find that investors 

misprice special items. In fact, Dechow and Ge (2006) show that the mispricing of low accrual 

firms with special items is a more general phenomenon and is not limited to outlier firms with 

positive returns. Consistent with Dechow and Ge‟s (2006) study, I do not eliminate extreme 

return firms from my sample. 

As an alternative to controlling for outliers by eliminating one per cent of the tails of the 

financial statement variables, consistent with the suggestions of Dechow et al. (2008), I 

winsorize each financial statement deflated component to the 1
st
 and 99

th
 percentiles to mitigate 

problems with outliers. To preserve the additivity of the decomposition of earnings, I conduct the 

winsorization on EARN, INHE, CF, and EXCF; and then determine all remaining components as 

balancing figures. For the sake of consistency, I also winsorize size-adjusted returns to the 1
st
 

and 99
th

 percentiles. This procedure results in a larger sample size, since extreme observations 

are not deleted, but are merely recoded to the 1
st
 and 99

th
 percentile values. 

Table 7.11 displays the results for the persistence of the extended sample. The adjusted R-square 

values are, on average, ten per cent lower than those reported in Table 7.4. This suggests that the 

inclusion of the extreme observations decreases the ability of earnings and its components to 

explain future earnings. The inferences drawn from Table 7.4 are not affected by the inclusion of 

extreme observations. 

Tables 7.12 to 7.14 set out the results of the pricing tests. It is evident that mispricing is more 

severe in the winsorized sample than in the trimmed sample, because the overall F-value of 
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model fit is significant in all the models. Table 7.12 indicates that earnings and headline earnings 

are marginally mispriced at the ten per cent and five per cent levels, respectively. This is 

inconsistent with the main findings, which do not reflect significant mispricing on these 

components. In Table 7.13 (operating accrual definition), it is evident that the winsorized sample 

exhibits more severe underweighting of the cash flow component than the trimmed sample in 

Table 7.6. While the trimmed sample only displays marginal mispricing of the cash flow 

component at a ten per cent level of significance, the winsorized sample displays significant 

underweighting of both the cash flow component of earnings and the cash flow component 

included in headline earnings at a one per cent level of significance. The results shown in Table 

7.14 (total accrual definition) are similar to those reported in Table 7.7. The inferences remain 

unaffected when value-weighted returns are used instead of equal-weighted returns, except that 

aggregate earnings do not reflect any significant mispricing (untabulated). 

The cash flow components of earnings show more severe underpricing for the winsorized sample 

than for the trimmed sample, but, as was the case in the trimmed sample, none of the other 

components reflects significant mispricing. 

7.8.3 Financial firms 

The main results reported in Section 7.7 exclude the effect of financial firms. I repeat the 

analyses for a sample including financial firms. I exclude real estate holding and development 

firms from this sample, because these firms typically list linked units instead of ordinary shares 

on the JSE. A linked unit consists of a share and a debenture which trade as a single unit on the 

JSE. These firms often disclose earnings and headline earnings per linked unit, which is different 
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to per share figures, because it includes debenture interest. The final sample includes 413 firms 

and 2 018 firm-year observations from 2001 to 2008.  

Table 7.15 details the persistence results. The results are qualitatively the same as those 

presented in Table 7.4. I also extend the analysis to a winsorized sample which includes 431 

firms and 2 157 firm-year observations (not tabulated). Although the adjusted R-square values 

and the magnitude of the coefficients are generally lower than those of the trimmed sample, the 

inferences remain unaffected.  

Tables 7.16 to 7.18 contain the results of the pricing of earnings components for the trimmed 

sample that includes financial firms. The results are consistent with the results displayed in 

Tables 7.5 to 7.7, except that the cash flow component of earnings (operating accrual definition) 

no longer reflects marginal mispricing. In addition, in Table 7.18, Panel B, cash flows excluded 

from headline earnings reflect marginal underweighting at a ten per cent level. This effect is 

possibly caused by the measurement of EXCF, which is determined as the sum of the proceeds 

from the sale of fixed assets and the proceeds from the sale of investments. For non-financial 

firms, these line items relate to transactions that are excluded from headline earnings. The 

distinction between the operating and investing activities of financial firms is less clear in the 

financial statements, so the proceeds from investment line item may include transactions of an 

operating nature that are not excluded from headline earnings. Consistent with this idea, the 

mean proceeds from investments (scaled by average assets) for the non-financial sample is 

0.009, whereas for the sample including financial firms the mean proceeds is 0.017. Hence, 

rather than reflecting underweighting of cash flows excluded from headline earnings, in the case 

of the sample including financial firms, the underweighting of EXCF may relate to items of an 

operating nature. 
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Untabulated results using value-weighted size-adjusted returns indicate that the results are 

qualitatively equivalent to the results based on equal-weighted size-adjusted returns, except that 

for cash flows included in headline earnings (total accrual definition) no significant mispricing is 

visible. In addition, total accruals included in headline earnings reflects marginal overweighting 

at a ten per cent level of significance. 

For the sake of comparison to Tables 7.12 to 7.14, I also examine the pricing effects of a 

winsorized sample which includes financial firms (not tabulated). The results using equal-

weighted returns are qualitatively the same as those for the sample excluding financial firms, 

except that accruals included in headline earnings (total accrual definition) reflects marginal 

underpricing at a ten per cent level of significance. Using value-weighted returns, the marginal 

underpricing of the accruals included in headline earnings is no longer visible. In addition, as is 

the case with the winsorized sample that excluded financial firms, aggregate earnings no longer 

reflects significant mispricing. 

7.8.4 Summary of pricing tests 

Table 7.19 displays a high level summary of the pricing results reported thus far. The cash flow 

component of earnings (total accrual definition) is significantly underpriced in all the models. As 

explained earlier, this could be caused by real earnings management activities. As expected, the 

winsorized samples, which include extreme observations, reflect more severe mispricing than the 

trimmed samples. Except for the marginal mispricing of EXCF in the trimmed sample including 

financial firms and using value-weighted returns, none of the headline earnings exclusion 

components reflects significant mispricing. Overall, this suggests that investors are able to 
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estimate the persistence of transitory or non-recurring items in South Africa accurately, 

compared to their actual level of persistence.  

7.8.5 Design issues related to the Mishkin test 

I have already shown that similar inferences are drawn from both the Mishkin test and the OLS 

method. I go on to use an extended version of the OLS method in an attempt to address 

numerous research design issues associated with the Mishkin test. My design has a number of 

advantages, which are discussed below. 

First, this design makes it possible to control for survivorship bias better by including delisting 

firm years in the sample. Beaver et al. (2007) show that the inferences drawn from studies of 

market efficiency are sensitive to the exclusion of delisting returns. A delisting firm-year is the 

final fiscal year before a firm delists. In other words, fiscal year t is a delisting firm-year if the 

firm delists in year t+1 (Beaver et al., 2007). Delisting firm-years are often excluded from the 

Mishkin test, because the test requires data for        . A delisting return is the return on a 

share after it has been removed from a stock exchange (Beaver et al., 2007). Delisting returns are 

determined from liquidation payments or other information about the value of a share after 

delisting (Beaver et al., 2007). To mitigate survivorship bias, when a firm delists, I establish the 

return from the beginning of the delisting month to the delisting date as the natural logarithm of 

        (where P is the adjusted share price, d is the last trading date on the JSE before delisting 

and t-1 is the beginning of the delisting month). This return is added to the monthly returns to 

calculate the accumulated return for year t+1. For the remaining period subsequent to delisting, I 

assume that the delisting proceeds are reinvested in the same size decile, equally among all 

remaining shares, on the termination date (Beaver et al., 2007). The alternative design employed 
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in this section does not require data for        . The inclusion of the additional observations 

increases the number of firms in the sample by 35 and the number of firm-year observations by 

127. 

Second, Kraft et al. (2007) suggest that the Mishkin test is subject to an omitted variables 

problem. In particular, Kraft et al. (2007) show that, in the United States, the negative 

association between current period accruals and future share returns no longer exists when other 

explanatory variables are included in their analysis. Whereas Kraft et al. (2007) are concerned 

about whether the overweighting of accruals is still evident when other explanatory variables are 

taken into account, I am interested in ascertaining whether the accurate pricing of earnings 

components documented in the main results, in particular headline earnings exclusions, is robust 

to the inclusion of additional explanatory variables. The alternative research design employed in 

this section facilitates the inclusion of additional explanatory variables. I include two sets of 

additional explanatory variables. The first set is additional market variables – size, the book-to-

market ratio,
43

 the earnings-to-price ratio, the current period size-adjusted return and share 

price
44

 (Desai et al., 2004; Dopuch et al., 2010; Drake et al., 2009; Kaserer and Klingler, 2008; 

Kraft et al., 2007; Pincus et al., 2007). The second set is the additional financial statement 

variables included by Kraft et al. (2007) - current period sales, change in sales, current period 

                                                           
43 Resutek (2010) decomposes a firm‟s total return into a component that is explained by summary accounting measures (tangible 

information) and a component that is not recognised in accounting performance measures (intangible information). Resutek 

(2010) shows that prior period intangible returns (PPIR) is highly correlated with current period accruals, and that it is PPIR, and 

not accruals, that explains the negative association between current period accruals and future share returns in the United States. 

Hence, PPIR is an omitted variable in studies in the United States, but it can explain the accrual anomaly. However, the 

calculation of PPIR requires the availability of book-to-market data in period t-5, which is a data requirement that makes the use 

of PPIR infeasible in the current study. Although the book-to-market ratio is a noisy proxy, some information about past 

intangible returns may be captured by the book-to-market ratio (Daniel and Titman, 2006). 
44 Various researchers offer a risk-based explanation for the mispricing of accruals (Khan, 2008; Wu et al., 2010). I control for 

the two most common risk factors by including size and the book-to-market ratio (Desai et al., 2004; Drake et al., 2009; Pincus et 

al., 2007). Size is included because size-adjusted returns may not fully control for the size effect (Yu, 2007). 



264 
 

capital expenditure, change in capital expenditure, net operating assets, lagged cash flows and 

lagged accruals. 

Finally, this specification facilitates control for cross-sectional and time-series dependence in the 

data. Equations (6) to (11) are estimated by pooling observations across firms and over time. 

This is done because year-by-year estimation using the Mishkin test ignores information about 

the estimated standard errors that the joint estimation of the forecasting and pricing equations 

underlying the Mishkin test is designed to use (Kraft et al., 2007). Peterson (2009) argues that 

most finance papers do not report standard errors estimated using different methods. I address 

this concern by estimating Equation (12) and Equation (13) using four different methods. I first 

report the results using pooled OLS estimation. However, OLS standard errors assume that errors 

are both homoscedastic and uncorrelated across observations (Gow et al., 2010). When these 

assumptions are violated, OLS estimation produces misspecified test statistics. Secondly, I 

estimate the test statistics using one-way cluster robust standard errors along the firm dimension 

to address concerns about time-series dependence (CLF). Thirdly, as an alternative to one-way 

clustering by firm, I cluster by year to address concerns about cross-sectional dependence 

(CLY).
45

 One-way cluster robust standard errors address only one form of dependence (either 

cross-sectional or time-series). In an attempt to address both forms of dependence, I therefore 

also include year-fixed effects through dummy variables and cluster by firm (CLFD). If the time 

effect is fixed, the year dummy variables completely remove the correlation between 

                                                           
45 An alternative method to address cross-sectional dependence is the Fama-Macbeth (1973) approach, whereby the researcher 

runs separate cross-sectional regressions are run for each year in the sample. As I have only eight years of data in the study with 

(on average) 218 annual firm-year observations, the annual Fama-Macbeth regressions may lack statistical power. Hence, I do 

not use this approach. 
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observations in the same time period (Peterson, 2009).
46

 If the year effect is not fixed, the 

dummy variables remove some, but not all, of the dependence. 

The following model is estimated using the operating accrual definition (firm subscripts are 

omitted): 

         =                                        

                                                 

                               
           

    

       
             

          

 

 

 

(12) 

The following model is estimated using the total accrual definition (firm subscripts are omitted): 

         =                                                

                                        

                                         
    

       
           

             
          

 

 

 

(13) 

where all variables are as defined previously, except for: 

SIZE: the natural logarithm of market capitalization measured four months after the reporting 

date;
47

 BM: the book-to-market ratio measured as #02010013 / market capitalization four months 

after the reporting date; EP: headline earnings per share (#02020086) scaled by price, measured 

four months after the reporting date; PRICE: share price four months after the reporting period; 

SALES: current period sales (#02020060);  SALES: change in sales; CAPEX: current period 

                                                           
46 An alternative method that can be used to address both forms of dependence is using two-way cluster-robust standard errors 

(Gow et al., 2010). It is a limitation of cluster-robust standard errors that the asymptotic justification assumes that the number of 

clusters goes to infinity (Cameron et al., 2008). In such a case, the cluster-standard robust errors are biased downwards, resulting 

in an over-rejection of the null hypothesis (Cameron et al., 2008; Gow et al., 2010). In the current study, there are eight clusters 

along the time dimension. Hence, this method is not considered appropriate for the current study. 
47 Where the market capitalisation four months after the reporting date is zero, for example, because the firm has delisted prior to 

this date, size is taken as the market capitalisation on the last month-end date on which it is greater than zero. 
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capital expenditure (#01030719),  CAPEX: change in capital expenditure; NOA: net operating 

assets (#02010021 + #02010045 + #02010046 - #02010031 - #02010037). 

All the variables except SARET, SIZE, BM, EP and PRICE are deflated by average total assets. 

All the variables except SIZE, BM, EP and PRICE are winsorized for each year to the 1
st
 and 99

th
 

percentile. Like Kraft et al. (2007), I use indicator variables to capture a firm‟s membership in 

one of ten SIZE, BM, EP and PRICE deciles each year.  

The regression models contain a number of variables, such as SALES, ∆SALES, CAPEX, 

∆CAPEX and NOA, which are difficult to define for financial firms; hence the sample excludes 

financial firms.  

Kraft et al. (2006) criticize the Mishkin test because it requires accounting information for period 

t+1, resulting in the exclusion of firms without data for t+1 from the sample. In a subsequent 

paper, Kraft et al. (2007) advocate the use of OLS estimation rather than the Mishkin test, as it is 

easier to address the issue of omitted variable bias with OLS estimation. However, the inclusion 

in the OLS estimation of additional variables such as lagged cash flows, lagged accruals, change 

in sales and change in capital expenditure requires data for period t-1.  

Despite the fact the newly listed firms may have existed prior to listing, data for period t-1 may 

not be available for these firms. In addition, the inclusion of the size-adjusted returns for the 

current period requires share price data to be available four months after the start of the financial 

period of listing. In my study, many new listings occurred more than four months into the 

financial period. The combined effect of the data requirements of these additional variables is 

that many newly listed firm-year observations are excluded from the sample. This is concerning, 

because investors could possibly need some time to price the earnings components of newly 
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listed firms in accordance with their actual fundamentals. To address this concern, I also estimate 

Equations (12) and (13) by restricting the model to exclude variables that require lagged data. 

Doing so enables me to include newly listed firms in the sample. 

Table 7.20 details the sample selection. The full model is estimated for 1 747 firm-year 

observations (347 firms), while the restricted model, which excludes lagged variables, is 

estimated for 1 853 firm-year observations (380 firms). 

Table 7.21 displays the results for aggregate earnings and a disaggregation of earnings into 

headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions. When Model 1 is estimated without the 

additional explanatory variables, aggregate earnings show significant underweighting when three 

of the four methods of standard error calculations are used. This finding is consistent with the 

winsorized main sample (see Table 7.12). As is the case in the winsorized main sample, headline 

earnings reflect significant underpricing when the additional explanatory variables are excluded 

from the regressions. Headline earnings exclusions appear not to be significantly mispriced. 

When the additional explanatory variables are included, aggregate earnings and headline 

earnings no longer reflect significant mispricing. The most significant additional variables are 

current period size-adjusted returns and lagged cash flows, which reflect significant underpricing 

in most of the regressions. This evidence suggests that the underweighting of aggregate earnings 

reported in the main results is driven by variables that are correlated with earnings. When value-

weighted returns are used instead of equal-weighted returns (not tabulated), as was the case with 

the winsorized main sample (see Table 7.19), aggregate earnings does not reflect significant 

mispricing. Using value-weighted returns, headline earnings also does not reflect significant 

mispricing (the winsorized main sample reflects marginal underpricing). These results hold 
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whether the additional variables are included in the regressions or not and for all the methods 

used to calculate standard errors.  

In an attempt to identify the variables that cause earnings and headline earnings to lose their 

significance, I perform a number of additional regressions using OLS standard errors (not 

tabulated). I run separate regressions where the following variables are included: 1) size dummy 

variables; 2) book-to-market dummy variables; 3) price dummy variables; 4) earnings-to-price 

dummy variables; 5) current period size-adjusted returns; 6) sales, change in sales, capital 

expenditure, change in capital expenditure and net operating assets; and 7) lagged cash flows and 

lagged accruals. Earnings and headline earnings continue to show significant underpricing in 

Regressions 1, 2, 3 and 6. In addition, headline earnings continues to display significant 

underpricing in Regression 5. However, in both Regressions 4 and 7, earnings and headline 

earnings no longer reflect significant underpricing. This evidence suggests that the earnings-to-

price ratio and lagged cash flows and accruals are the variables that affect the regressions most. 

This evidence is not surprising, because current period earnings is reflected in the calculation of 

the earnings-to-price ratio, and lagged cash flows and accruals are highly correlated with current 

period earnings. 

Table 7.22 displays the result of the pricing tests for components of earnings calculated using the 

operating accrual definition. As is the case with the winsorized main sample (see Table 7.13), 

both the cash flow component and cash flows included in headline earnings reflect significant 

underpricing when the models are estimated without the additional explanatory variables. This 

finding is robust to alternative methods of calculating the t-statistic. Once the additional 

explanatory variables are included in the models, the underpricing of the cash flow components 

vanishes.  
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This phenomenon may be similar to the one documented by Kraft et al. (2007) for accruals. They 

document significant overpricing of the accrual component of earnings in the United States when 

the additional explanatory variables are not included in the model. However, when the additional 

variables are included, the coefficient of accruals becomes insignificant, whereas the coefficient 

on lagged accruals shows significant overpricing. Sloan (1996) reports that it takes three years 

for the significant mispricing of current period accruals in the United States to be cancelled out. 

In addition, current period accruals (cash flows) are highly correlated with lagged values of 

accruals (cash flows). Hence, the inclusion of lagged values in the model may cause the current 

period coefficients to lose their significance. When value-weighted returns are used instead of 

equal-weighted returns, the cash flow component of earnings and cash flows included in headline 

earnings reflect marginal underpricing at a ten per cent level of significance, but only in the OLS 

estimation and when additional explanatory variables are excluded from the specification. 

Table 7.23 contains the results for the pricing tests using the total accrual definition to calculate 

the earnings components. As in the winsorized main sample (see Table 7.14), the cash flow 

component and the cash flows included in headline earnings exhibit significant underpricing 

when the additional explanatory variables are not included in the model. This result is evident 

regardless of the method used to calculate the standard errors. When the additional explanatory 

variables are included in the models, the significant underpricing of the cash flow components is 

no longer evident. Similar to the results in Tables 7.21 and 7.22, the results in Table 7.23 show 

that current period size-adjusted returns and lagged cash flows are the most important 

explanatory variables added to the specifications. Using value-weighted returns instead of equal-

weighted returns, the inferences are qualitatively the same, except that the cash flow component 
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reflects marginal underpricing at a ten per cent level of significance when the additional 

explanatory variables are added to Model 5. 

Next, I turn to the analyses of the restricted model. By restricting the model to exclude variables 

that require lagged data (change in sales, change in capital expenditure, lagged cash flows and 

lagged accruals), as well as current period size-adjusted returns, I am able to include newly listed 

firms in the sample. 

Table 7.24 displays the results for aggregate earnings and a decomposition of earnings into 

headline earnings and headline earnings exclusions. With the increased sample, aggregate 

earnings no longer reflects significant mispricing when the additional explanatory variables are 

not included in the estimation. However, headline earnings continues to display significant 

underpricing, but this effect is removed when the additional explanatory variables are included in 

the analysis. These results are consistent using value-weighted returns, except that headline 

earnings reflects no significant mispricing in the model that excludes the additional variables. 

Untabulated results indicate that headline earnings loses its significant association with future 

size-adjusted returns as a result of the earnings-to-price dummy variables. 

Table 7.25 reveals similar findings to Table 7.22 – cash flows and cash flows included in 

headline earnings reflect significant underpricing when the additional explanatory variables are 

ignored, but this effect is completely eliminated when the additional variables are included in the 

models. When value-weighted returns are used, operating cash flows only reflect significant 

underpricing in the OLS estimation when the additional variables are excluded from the model. 

Using value-weighted returns, operating cash flows included in headline earnings only reflect 
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significant underpricing in the OLS estimation and with standard errors clustered by year when 

the additional variables are ignored. 

The results reported in Table 7.26 continue the general trend observed so far – total cash flows 

and total cash flows included in headline earnings display significant mispricing when the 

additional variables are ignored, but this phenomenon disappears when the additional 

explanatory variables are included in the models (total cash flows shows no significant 

mispricing when standard errors are clustered by year). In general, these findings are robust to 

using value-weighted returns instead of equal-weighted returns. However, in the estimation that 

excludes the additional variables, cash flows included in headline earnings reflect no significant 

mispricing when standard errors are clustered by year and when fixed-year effects are included, 

with clustering by firm.  

Overall, the results of this section reveal that when additional explanatory variables are ignored, 

as with the main results, investors underweight cash flow components (other than headline 

earnings exclusions) significantly, but they generally price other earnings components in 

accordance with the actual levels of persistence of these components. The results show that the 

significant underpricing of cash flow components is caused by variables that are highly 

correlated with cash flows. In particular, when additional explanatory variables are included in 

the specifications, none of the earnings components reflect significant mispricing. This is 

consistent with the predictions made in Hypothesis 2. This finding is important when one 

considers the results reported by Kraft et al. (2007). Although the inclusion of additional 

explanatory variables in their study eliminates the significant overpricing of accruals in the 

United States, the significant underpricing of the cash flow component persists. This suggests 

that the mispricing of the cash flow component in South Africa is less severe than in the United 
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States. It is important for the current study that none of the headline earnings exclusion 

components reflects significant mispricing in any of the models tested in this section. The 

findings in this section support the argument that the mandatory reporting of headline earnings in 

South Africa may assist investors in pricing earnings and its components. 

7.9 Conclusion 

It is well documented in the literature that investors are unable to price non-recurring items 

(special items) in a manner consistent with the actual level of persistence of this component 

(Atwood and Xie, 2010; Burgstahler et al., 2002; Dechow and Ge, 2006). This anomaly remains 

puzzling, as the consequences of special items for future earnings should be relatively clear to 

investors. Recent evidence suggests that the mispricing of special items may be caused in part by 

managers‟ discretionary treatment of special items (Fairfield et al., 2009; McVay, 2006). Thus 

far, studies have not been able to consider whether the mandatory disaggregation of non-

recurring items from earnings would improve pricing efficiency, because few countries require 

such disclosure at present. South Africa is an exception, because firms are required by the local 

stock exchange regulations to provide a headline earnings figure which effectively removes some 

non-recurring items. Moreover, South African firms must provide a reconciliation of IFRS 

earnings and headline earnings so that investors can identify the excluded items easily and 

clearly. I therefore use this setting to examine whether the mandatory disaggregation of non-

recurring items and the required disclosure of items excluded from headline earnings can reduce 

the mispricing of these and other items. 

I use both the Mishkin (1983) method and the OLS method suggested by Kraft et al. (2007) to 

establish whether investors in South Africa price earnings components in a manner that is 
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consistent with the level of persistence of these components. Both methods reveal that investors 

significantly underweight the cash flow component of earnings, while other components of 

earnings reflect very little mispricing. In addition, when additional explanatory variables are 

added to the models, the mispricing of the cash flow component of earnings is no longer evident. 

The results are robust using a number of alternative research design choices.  

My findings differ from those of a number of previous researchers. Firstly, the findings do not 

support those of Sloan (1996), as I can only find significant underweighting of the cash flow 

component of earnings. Such a result cannot be explained by Sloan‟s (1996) functional fixation 

hypothesis. My findings are also different from those of Atwood and Xie (2010), Burgstahler et 

al. (2002) and Dechow and Ge (2006), who have found evidence of mispricing of similar non-

recurring/transitory items, namely special items in the United States. Finally, my findings 

diverge from those of Kraft et al. (2007), who indicate significant underweighting of the cash 

flow component of earnings in the United States, even after taking into account additional 

explanatory variables. Taken together, the findings from my study suggest that in an 

environment where the disaggregation from earnings and the separate disclosure of non-

recurring items are mandatory, investors are able to price components of earnings in a manner 

that is consistent with the level of persistence of these components. 

The findings of this study may have some implications for standard setters. During 2008, the 

IASB and FASB released a discussion paper that proposes that firms be required to provide a 

reconciliation of cash flows to comprehensive income on a line-by-line basis, with line item 

reconciliations disaggregated into, first, cash flows; second, accruals; third, recurring fair value 

changes or valuation adjustments; and, fourth, non-recurring fair value changes or valuation 

adjustments (IASB, 2008). This disaggregation scheme reflects differences in persistence and 
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measurement subjectivity. The majority of the respondents to the two boards‟ discussion paper 

do not support the proposal to require a mandatory reconciliation schedule based on persistence 

(IASB, 2009). These respondents believe that the benefits of providing such disclosure will not 

exceed the cost of producing the data and that the proposed schedule is too complex and onerous 

for users of financial statements to digest and process (IASB, 2009). Bradshaw et al. (2010: 290) 

agree, arguing that “the reconciliation would be one of the more complex disclosures within any 

set of financial statements”.  

More broadly, the findings from my study are consistent with the IASB‟s and FASB‟s view that 

such a breakdown should be disclosed in the financial statements. The headline earnings 

framework is not as complex and onerous as the reconciliation proposed by the two boards, so it 

may be a feasible alternative to their reconciliation proposal. 

In addition, it is the FASB‟s preliminary view that the reconciliation schedule should present 

information about “unusual or infrequent” events or transactions (IASB, 2008). The IASB does 

not support this form of disclosure, because the IFRSs do not contain any notion of unusual 

events or transactions (IASB, 2008). Such a disclosure requirement would allow managers some 

latitude in their classification of “unusual or infrequent” events, because a detailed listing of 

allowable items is not included in the proposed standard. Evidence shows that managers may 

misuse the classification and reporting of special items, which vindicates the IASB‟s reluctance 

to allow the separate disclosure of these items (McVay, 2006). A definition that formally lists 

allowable “unusual or infrequent” events and transactions may limit a manager who genuinely 

seeks to inform investors more fully. Despite this shortcoming, the findings of the current study 

suggest that investors are better able to price the components of earnings in manner consistent 
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with the actual levels of persistence of these components in an environment where the 

disaggregation of non-recurring items from earnings and their separate disclosure is mandatory. 

One of the limitations of the current study is that it is not possible to provide direct evidence on 

the cause and effect relationship between headline earnings disclosure and investors‟ ability to 

price the components of earnings. In other words, it is not possible to observe what the pricing of 

earnings components would have been in the absence of the mandatory headline earnings 

disclosure requirements. A research design that compared the pricing of earnings components 

prior to and after the implementation of the headline earnings disclosure requirement would have 

been more suitable to provide such evidence. However, such a research design is not feasible for 

South African data. During 1995, the JSE began to use HEPS in the presentation of the national 

equity market statistics (SAICA, 2007a). One of the most important functions of HEPS was its 

role in the calculation of a consistent price-earnings ratio. However, at that stage, the JSE relied 

on information disclosed in firms‟ financial statements about headline earnings exclusions. The 

disclosure of headline earnings only became mandatory during October 2000. This means that, 

since 1995, HEPS figures (calculated by the JSE and not by the firms themselves) were available 

to investors, even if a firm did not voluntarily disclose HEPS in its financial statements. In 

addition, the JSE took some time to liberalise after the apartheid era, which ended in 1994. The 

combined effect of these factors means that the 1990s may not be a useful period for analysis for 

the purposes of this study. 
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TABLE 7.1 

Sample Composition 

 

Panel A: Sample selection: 2001 to 2008 

  

Firms 
 Firm-year 

observations 

JSE Main Board 570  2 832 

Insufficient data (73)  (358)
48

 

Financial firms excluded (121)  (615)
49

 

Foreign non-financial firms excluded (31)  (133) 

Total sample 345  1 726 

Extreme observations excluded (14)
50

  (108) 

Trimmed sample 331  1 618 

 

Panel B: JSE Industry classification 

Industry Unique firms  Firm-year observations 

 N %  N % 

Consumer services 73 22.1  362 22.4 

Consumer goods 35 10.6  201 12.4 

Industrials 108 32.6  504 31.2 

Basic materials 61 18.4  298 18.4 

Health care 10 3.0  40 2.5 

Technology 36 10.9  172 10.6 

Telecommunications 6 1.8  25 1.5 

Utilities 1 0.3  8 0.5 

Oil and gas 1 0.3  8 0.5 

 331 100.0  1 618 100.0 

 

                                                           
48 There is insufficient data on 48 firms (193 firm-year observations) which all delisted. They are excluded from the sample 

because one-year-ahead earnings data is not available after delisting. However, in the sensitivity test discussed in Section 

7.8.5, I do include non-financial firms whose data is insufficient (if all the required data are available to conduct the 

sensitivity test) to establish whether the inferences drawn in the study are affected by the firm-year observations of these 

delisted firms. The inclusion of the additional observations increases the number of firms by 35 and the number of firm-year 

observations by 127. 
49 In the sensitivity analyses discussed in Section 7.8.3, I use a sample of firms that includes financial firms. Among the 

financial firms excluded from the main sample, there are six foreign firms (41 firm-year observations) and 29 real estate 

development and holding firms (143 firm-year observations) which are, however, excluded in the construction of the sample 

used in the sensitivity analysis. 
50 In order to remove extreme outliers, I follow Dechow and Ge (2006) in trimming one per cent of the tails of all the 

financial statement variables, except those related to headline earnings exclusions. 



277 
 

TABLE 7.2 

Descriptive Statistics 

Variable Mean Standard 

deviation 

Minimum Percentile 25 Median Percentile 75 Maximum 

         0.020 0.538 -4.129 -0.209 0.036 0.295 5.618 

        0.107 0.222 -1.147 0.034 0.108 0.191 1.434 

      0.078 0.174 -1.228 0.031 0.094 0.157 0.578 

      0.091 0.138 -0.597 0.036 0.097 0.159 0.578 

      -0.014 0.092 -1.045 -0.008 0.000 0.002 0.439 

Operating Accruals        

    0.121 0.147 -0.671 0.042 0.119 0.201 0.645 

      -0.043 0.149 -1.088 -0.094 -0.036 0.021 0.587 

      -0.029 0.115 -0.568 -0.085 -0.032 0.023 0.522 

      -0.014 0.092 -1.045 -0.008 0.000 0.002 0.439 

Total Accruals        

    -0.003 0.227 -1.377 -0.068 0.026 0.114 0.646 

      -0.025 0.228 -1.425 -0.094 0.009 0.096 0.538 

      0.021 0.050 -0.002 0.001 0.006 0.019 0.681 

      0.081 0.245 -1.020 -0.023 0.050 0.143 1.765 

      0.116 0.227 -0.625 0.005 0.073 0.172 1.769 

      -0.035 0.102 -1.113 -0.033 -0.010 -0.002 0.402 

        

The table sets out descriptive statistics for all the variables used in the regression analysis for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-

adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value 

at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months 

after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), 

while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before 

dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows 

(#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF 

equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets 

(total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.3 

Spearman and Pearson Correlations 

 

       Operating Accrual Definition Total Accrual Definition 

 Variable                                                                                            

          1 0.270 0.009 -0.004 0.008 0.058 -0.038 -0.050 0.008 0.097 0.109 -0.037 -0.079 -0.103 0.052 
         0.289 1 0.674 0.659 0.132 0.533 0.097 0.031 0.132 0.341 0.365 -0.076 0.190 0.113 0.184 
       0.028 0.495 1 0.918 0.285 0.619 0.308 0.168 0.285 0.367 0.377 -0.079 0.394 0.273 0.293 
       0.018 0.480 0.852 1 0.043 0.668 0.186 0.181 0.043 0.364 0.389 -0.110 0.342 0.305 0.119 
       0.026 0.219 0.620 0.117 1 0.025 0.330 0.042 1.000 0.063 0.030 0.103 0.211 0.022 0.583 

O
p

er
a

ti
n

g
     0.044 0.409 0.579 0.673 0.089 1 -0.432 -0.501 0.025 0.622 0.642 -0.030 -0.095 -0.152 0.066 

      -0.011 0.175 0.598 0.333 0.636 -0.306 1 0.889 0.330 -0.278 -0.290 -0.034 0.599 0.508 0.268 
      -0.035 0.052 0.281 0.338 0.026 -0.468 0.788 1 0.042 -0.357 -0.359 -0.051 0.541 0.583 0.055 
      0.026 0.219 0.620 0.117 1.000 0.089 0.636 0.026 1 0.063 0.030 0.103 0.211 0.022 0.583 

T
o

ta
l 

    0.117 0.251 0.274 0.289 0.087 0.506 -0.177 -0.299 0.087 1 0.962 0.050 -0.602 -0.647 0.008 
      0.121 0.260 0.283 0.309 0.074 0.532 -0.192 -0.308 0.074 0.976 1 -0.106 -0.557 -0.667 0.126 
      -0.020 -0.043 -0.044 -0.095 0.058 -0.122 0.068 0.042 0.058 0.097 -0.122 1 -0.133 0.032 -0.583 
      -0.089 0.119 0.457 0.338 0.360 -0.057 0.589 0.477 0.360 -0.730 -0.702 -0.121 1 0.889 0.281 
      -0.111 0.031 0.233 0.298 -0.004 -0.125 0.395 0.514 -0.004 -0.804 -0.816 0.065 0.910 1 -0.023 
      0.034 0.218 0.580 0.151 0.874 0.140 0.540 0.003 0.874 0.032 0.127 -0.435 0.383 -0.035 1 

                 
Significance at a 5% level is indicated in bold. 

The table sets out Spearman (Pearson) correlations above (below) the diagonal for all the variables used in the regression analysis for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is 

ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market 

value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the 

financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings 

excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is 

EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN 

minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals 

ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement 

variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.4 

Persistence of Earnings Components 

         
 Earnings Operating Accruals Total Accruals 

Model (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Intercept 0.058
***

 0.044
***

 0.034
***

 0.031
***

 0.061
***

 0.052
***

 

 (10.968) (7.612) (5.628) (4.998) (11.702) (8.143) 

      0.629
***

      

 (22.872)      

       0.741
***

     

  (21.322)     

       0.398
***

     

  (7.641)     

      0.773
***

  0.708
***

  

   (22.838)  (23.096)  

        0.493
***

  0.586
***

  

   (14.826)  (20.663)  

         0.808
***

  0.798
***

 

    (22.060)  (21.891) 

           0.395
***

 

      (3.730) 

         0.574
***

  0.684
***

 

    (12.359)  (18.862) 

         0.394
***

  0.387
***

 

    (7.627)  (7.456) 

Adjusted R
2 

24.4% 25.6% 26.6% 26.9% 25.8% 26.8% 

F-statistics:       

Overall model 523.11
*** 

279.35
*** 

294.58
*** 

199.10
*** 

282.17
*** 

148.64
*** 

INHE =EXHE  27.13
***

     

CF = ACCR   50.14
*** 

 31.40
*** 

 

INAC = EXAC    6.24
** 

 20.15
*** 

INCF = INAC    28.95
*** 

 26.97
*** 

INCF = EXCF      13.45
*** 

EXCF = EXAC      0.01 

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618 1 618 1 618 1 618 1 618 
       

*, ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics in parentheses. 

   

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings 

(#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables are scaled by the 

average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.5 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Earnings 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.058*** 0.043   0.013   

 (0.005) (0.016)   (0.870)   

      0.629*** 0.531 1.28  0.087 
 0.087 

 (0.028) (0.083) (0.257)  (1.132)   

  (Mishkin)  0.882      

  (0.066)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.282 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   

        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.044*** 0.026   0.016   

 (0.006) (0.017)   (0.982)   

      0.741*** 0.676 0.37  0.059 
 0.059 

 (0.035) (0.103) (0.545)  (0.605)   

      0.398*** 0.238 0.96  0.144  0.144 

 (0.052) (0.155) (0.326)  (0.982)   

  (Mishkin)  0.901      

  (0.066)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     0.745 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   

        
* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio 

statistic, marginal significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is 

calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-

hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the 
headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating 

activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + 

#01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals 
ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, 

EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.6 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Operating Accruals 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.034*** 0.034   0.000 
  

 (0.006) (0.018)   (0.001)   

    0.773*** 0.587 2.99*  0.166* 
 0.166 

 (0.034) (0.103) (0.084)  (1.730)   

      0.493*** 0.479 0.02  0.012  0.012 

 (0.033) (0.100) (0.899)  (0.127)   

  (Mishkin)  0.892      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.1%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.587 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   

        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.031*** 0.027   0.004 
  

 (0.006) (0.019)   (0.237)   

      0.808*** 0.675 1.33  0.120 
 0.120 

 (0.037) (0.110) (0.249)  (1.154)   

      0.574*** 0.678 0.50  -0.093  -0.093 

 (0.046) (0.139) (0.478)  (-0.709)   

      0.394*** 0.238 0.92  0.140  0.140 

 (0.052) (0.155) (0.338)  (0.957)   

  (Mishkin)  0.901      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.1%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.494 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal significance level; 

for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the 

equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-

hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded 

from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus 

EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF 

minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial 

statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.7 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Total Accruals 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.061
*** 

0.036   0.021
 

  

 (0.005) (0.017)   (1.463)   

    0.708
*** 

0.394 9.73
*** 

 0.268
*** 

 0.268 

 (0.031) (0.099) (0.002)  (3.120)   

      0.586
*** 

0.601 0.03  -0.013
 

 -0.013 

 (0.028) (0.089) (0.865)  (-0.170)   

  (Mishkin)  0.854      

  (0.066)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.3%   

F-statistic (OLS)     11.287
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.052
*** 

0.007   0.039
**

   

 (0.006) (0.020)   (2.175)   

      0.798
*** 

0.564 3.96
** 

 0.204
** 

 0.204 

 (0.037) (0.114) (0.047)  (1.990)   

      0.394
*** 

0.364 0.01  0.026  0.026 

 (0.106) (0.325) (0.935)  (0.088)   

      0.684
*** 

0.793 0.85
 

 -0.094
 

 -0.094 

 (0.036) (0.112) (0.356)  (-0.924)   

      0.386
*** 

0.251 0.66  0.119  0.119 

 (0.052) (0.160) (0.417)  (0.812)   

  (Mishkin)  0.871      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.3%   

F-statistic (OLS)     6.402
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 
accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 

#01060206 + 02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), 

ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash 

flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the 

average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.8 

Pricing of Earnings Components with Value-Weighted Returns: Earnings 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of  

   =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.058
*** 

0.021
 

  0.032
** 

  

 (0.005) (0.016)   (2.166)   

      0.629
*** 

0.581 0.29
 

 0.042
 

 0.042 

 (0.028) (0.084) (0.587)  (0.541)   

  (Mishkin)  0.874
 

     

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     0.293
 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.044
*** 

0.002   0.038
** 

  

 (0.006) (0.018)   (2.290)   

      0.741
*** 

0.748 0.00
 

 -0.006
 

 -0.006 

 (0.035) (0.105) (0.950)  (-0.063)   

      0.398
*** 

0.241 0.91  0.141  0.141 

 (0.052) (0.157) (0.340)  (0.954)   

  (Mishkin)  0.896      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     -0.1%   

F-statistic (OLS)     0.456
 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the value-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 

accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 

#01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 
equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET 

are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.9 

Pricing of Earnings Components with Value-Weighted Returns: Operating Accruals 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.034*** 0.010   0.022 
  

 (0.006) (0.019)   (1.260)   

    0.773*** 0.656 1.15  0.104 
 0.104 

 (0.034) (0.104) (0.283)  (1.073)   

      0.493*** 0.512 0.03  -0.017  -0.017 

 (0.033) (0.102) (0.860)  (-0.178)   

  (Mishkin)  0.888      

  (0.068)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     0.717 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.031*** 0.001   0.027 
  

 (0.006) (0.019)   (1.516)   

      0.808*** 0.754 0.21  0.048 
 0.048 

 (0.037) (0.111) (0.644)  (0.462)   

      0.574*** 0.734 1.17  -0.144  -0.144 

 (0.046) (0.141) (0.300)  (-1.081)   

      0.394*** 0.241 0.87  0.138  0.138 

 (0.052) (0.157) (0.352)  (0.931)   

  (Mishkin)  0.897      

  (0.068)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.098 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 
deducting the value-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 

accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 

#01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET 

are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 



285 
 

TABLE 7.10 

Pricing of Earnings Components with Value-Weighted Returns: Total Accruals 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.061
*** 

0.013   0.041
*** 

  

 (0.005) (0.017)   (2.766)   

    0.708
*** 

0.439 6.87
*** 

 0.227
*** 

 0.227 

 (0.031) (0.100) (0.009)  (2.623)   

      0.586
*** 

0.657 0.58  -0.061
 

 -0.061 

 (0.028) (0.091) (0.447)  (-0.761)   

  (Mishkin)  0.845      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.2%   

F-statistic (OLS)     11.113
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.052
*** 

-0.019   0.062
*** 

  

 (0.006) (0.021)   (3.405)   

      0.798
*** 

0.632 1.92
 

 0.143
 

 0.143 

 (0.037) (0.115) (0.166)  (1.385)   

      0.395 0.379 0.00  0.014  0.014 

 (0.106) (0.331) (0.962)  (0.048)   

      0.684
*** 

0.875 2.56
 

 -0.165
 

 -0.165 

 (0.036) (0.114) (0.109)  (-1.601)   

      0.387
*** 

0.254 0.61  0.115  0.115 

 (0.052) (0.162) (0.435)  (0.781)   

  (Mishkin)  0.865      

  (0.067)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.4%   

F-statistic (OLS)     6.554
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 618 1 618   1 618   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the value-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 

accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 
#01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET 

are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.11 

Persistence of Earnings Components (Winsorized Sample) 

         
 Earnings Operating Accruals Total Accruals 

Model (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Intercept 0.077
***

 0.054
***

 0.044
***

 0.037
***

 0.085
***

 0.070
***

 

 (10.687) (6.875) (5.434) (4.507) (11.916) (7.906) 

      0.444
***

      

 (16.615)      

       0.644
***

     

  (15.817)     

       0.180
***

     

  (3.708)     

      0.668
***

  0.545
***

  

   (18.001)  (18.537)  

        0.288
***

  0.382
***

  

   (9.017)  (13.880)  

         0.739
***

  0.706
***

 

    (17.223)  (17.060) 

           0.140 

      (0.929) 

         0.425
***

  0.555
***

 

    (8.032)  (13.140) 

         0.171
***

  0.162
***

 

    (3.561)  (3.363) 

Adjusted R
2 

13.8% 15.7% 17.2% 17.7% 16.6% 18.0% 

F-statistics: 
      

Overall model 276.07
*** 

162.20
*** 

180.15
*** 

124.28
*** 

172.08
*** 

95.90
*** 

INHE =EXHE  41.80
*** 

    

CF = ACCR   72.75
*** 

 58.83
*** 

 

INAC = EXAC    10.53
*** 

 30.01
*** 

INCF = INAC    40.91
*** 

 49.85
*** 

INCF = EXCF      13.27
*** 

EXCF = EXAC      0.02 

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726 1 726 1 726 1 726 1 726 
       

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics in parentheses. 

   

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings 

(#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables are scaled by the 

average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized to the 1st and 99th percentile. 
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TABLE 7.12 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Earnings (Winsorized Sample) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.077
*** 

0.068
 

  0.003   

 (0.007) (0.032)   (0.280)   

      0.444
*** 

0.231 3.07
* 

 0.078
* 

 0.078 

 (0.027) (0.122) (0.080)  (1.753)   

  (Mishkin)  0.365
 

     

  (0.039)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     0.1%   

F-statistic (OLS)     3.073
* 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.054
*** 

0.075   -0.008   

 (0.008) (0.036)   (-0.561)   

      0.644
*** 

0.161 6.48
** 

 0.176
** 

 0.176 

 (0.041) (0.193) (0.011)  (2.547)   

      0.180
*** 

0.318 0.36
 

 -0.049  -0.049 

 (0.049) (0.222) (0.549)  (-0.601)   

  (Mishkin)  0.362      

  (0.040)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     0.3%   

F-statistic (OLS)     3.252
** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for 

the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-

adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of 

the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the 

profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline 

earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC 

equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free 

cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above 

variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized to the 1st and 99th percentile. 
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TABLE 7.13 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Operating Accruals (Winsorized Sample) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.044*** 0.089   -0.016 
  

 (0.008) (0.038)   (-1.152)   

    0.668*** 0.085 10.83***  0.208*** 
 0.208 

 (0.037) (0.186) (0.001)  (3.292)   

      0.288*** 0.323 0.05  -0.012 
 -0.012 

 (0.032) (0.150) (0.831)  (-0.218)   

  (Mishkin)  0.356      

  (0.040)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.5%   

F-statistic (OLS)     5.734*** 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.037*** 0.089   -0.018 
  

 (0.008) (0.039)   (-1.287)   

      0.738*** 0.082 10.21***  0.234*** 
 0.234 

 (0.043) (0.215) (0.001)  (3.196)   

      0.425*** 0.318 0.18  0.039  0.039 

 (0.053) (0.249) (0.669)  (0.429)   

      0.171*** 0.327 0.45  -0.055  -0.055 

 (0.048) (0.226) (0.504)  (-0.670)   

  (Mishkin)  0.356      

  (0.040)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.5%   

F-statistic (OLS)     3.986*** 
  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 

accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 

#01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 
(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET 

are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized to the 1
st
 and 99

th
 percentile. 
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TABLE 7.14 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Total Accruals (Winsorized Sample) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.085
*** 

0.046   0.013
 

  

 (0.007) (0.035)   (1.110)   

    0.545
*** 

-0.044 16.05
*** 

 0.199
*** 

 0.199 

 (0.029) (0.160) (0.000)  (4.008)   

      0.382
*** 

0.369 0.01
 

 0.004
 

 0.004 

 (0.028) (0.135) (0.924)  (0.095)   

  (Mishkin)  0.338      

  (0.040)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.7%   

F-statistic (OLS)     16.179
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.070
*** 

0.027   0.014   

 (0.009) (0.044)   (0.961)   

      0.706
*** 

-0.043 12.75
*** 

 0.252
*** 

 0.252 

 (0.041) (0.224) (0.000)  (3.572)   

      0.140 0.738 0.62  -0.201  -0.201 

 (0.150) (0.751) (0.432)  (-0.786)   

      0.555
*** 

0.382 0.65
 

 0.058
 

 0.058 

 (0.042) (0.211) (0.419)  (0.808)   

      0.162
*** 

0.373 0.76  -0.071  -0.071 

 (0.048) (0.240) (0.385)  (-0.868)   

  (Mishkin)  0.336      

  (0.040)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.8%   

F-statistic (OLS)     8.882
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 1 726 1 726   1 726   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio 

statistic, marginal significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is 
calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-

and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is 

the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from 

operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - 

#01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, 

and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized to the 1
st
 and 99

th
 percentile. 
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TABLE 7.15 

Persistence of Earnings Components (Sample including Financial Firms) 

         
 Earnings Operating Accruals Total Accruals 

Model (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Intercept 0.057
***

 0.043
***

 0.033
***

 0.030
***

 0.058
***

 0.050
***

 

 (12.711) (8.815) (6.607) (5.853) (13.146) (9.494) 

      0.599
***

      

 (25.070)      

       0.720
***

     

  (23.193)     

       0.394
***

     

  (8.952)     

      0.768
***

  0.693
***

  

   (25.562)  (25.589)  

        0.475
***

  0.565
***

  

   (16.955)  (22.982)  

         0.803
***

  0.784
***

 

    (24.424)  (24.064) 

           0.436
*** 

      (6.220) 

         0.547
***

  0.664
***

 

    (13.895)  (20.680) 

         0.388
***

  0.384
***

 

    (8.926)  (8.802) 

Adjusted R
2 

23.7% 25.1% 26.6% 26.8% 25.5% 26.5% 

F-statistics:       

Overall model 628.48
*** 

338.87
*** 

367.17
*** 

247.74
*** 

347.08
*** 

182.44
*** 

INHE =EXHE  32.97
***

     

CF = ACCR   76.00
*** 

 45.45
*** 

 

INAC = EXAC    6.78
** 

 24.08
*** 

INCF = INAC    49.24
*** 

 39.21
*** 

INCF = EXCF      20.95
*** 

EXCF = EXAC      0.81 

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018 2 018 2 018 2 018 2 018 
       

*, ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively; t-statistics in parentheses. 

   

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions for the sample period from2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings 

(#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables are scaled by the 

average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.16 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Earnings (Sample including Financial Firms) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.057*** 0.046   0.009   

 (0.004) (0.015)   (0.691)   

      0.599*** 0.495 1.61  0.090 
 0.090 

 (0.024) (0.078) (0.204)  (1.269)   

  (Mishkin)  0.868      

  (0.063)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.611 
  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   

        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.043*** 0.026   0.016   

 (0.005) (0.016)   (1.072)   

      0.720*** 0.701 0.03  0.017 
 0.017 

 (0.031) (0.098) (0.854)  (0.185)   

      0.394*** 0.231 1.26  0.148  0.148 

 (0.044) (0.139) (0.262)  (1.121)   

  (Mishkin)  0.906      

  (0.064)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     0.680 
  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   

        
* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio 

statistic, marginal significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is 

calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-

hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the 
headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating 

activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + 

#01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals 
ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, 

EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.17 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Operating Accruals (Sample including Financial Firms) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.033*** 0.033   0.000 
  

 (0.005) (0.016)   (0.031)   

    0.768*** 0.612 2.39  0.140 
 0.140 

 (0.030) (0.097) (0.122)  (1.547)   

      0.475*** 0.475 0.00  0.000  0.000 

 (0.028) (0.090) (0.994)  (-0.004)   

  (Mishkin)  0.900      

  (0.064)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.347 
  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   

        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.030*** 0.024   0.006 
  

 (0.005) (0.017)   (0.353)   

      0.803*** 0.712 0.69  0.083 
 0.083 

 (0.033) (0.105) (0.406)  (0.830)   

      0.547*** 0.678 1.01  -0.120  -0.120 

 (0.039) (0.125) (0.315)  (-1.005)   

      0.388*** 0.231 1.18  0.143  0.143 

 (0.044) (0.139) (0.277)  (1.087)   

  (Mishkin)  0.909      

  (0.064)      

Adjusted R2 (OLS)     0.1%   

F-statistic (OLS)     1.574 
  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   
        

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal significance level; 

for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the 

equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-

hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded 

from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus 

EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF 

minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial 

statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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TABLE 7.18 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Total Accruals (Sample including Financial Firms) 

  

Mishkin test 

  

OLS regression 

 Kraft et al. 

reconciliation 

 Forecasting 

coefficients 

Pricing 

coefficients 

Likelihood ratio 

statistic of    =   
  

 OLS  

coefficients 

       
        

 ) 

Panel A        

Intercept 0.058
*** 

0.038   0.018
 

  

 (0.005) (0.015)   (1.336)   

    0.693
*** 

0.414 8.77
*** 

 0.240
*** 

 0.240 

 (0.027) (0.093) (0.003)  (2.962)   

      0.565
*** 

0.589 0.08  -0.021
 

 -0.021 

 (0.025) (0.082) (0.775)  (-0.285)   

  (Mishkin)  0.859      

  (0.064)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     10.827
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   
        

Panel B        

Intercept 0.050
*** 

0.020   0.026
*
   

 (0.005) (0.017)   (1.664)   

      0.784
*** 

0.594 2.93
* 

 0.168
* 

 0.168 

 (0.033) (0.107) (0.087)  (1.712)   

      0.436
*** 

0.001 3.30
* 

 0.383
* 

 0.383 

 (0.070) (0.231) (0.069)  (1.818)   

      0.663
*** 

0.779 1.12
 

 -0.102
 

 -0.102 

 (0.032) (0.105) (0.291)  (-1.057)   

      0.384
*** 

0.247 0.85  0.121  0.121 

 (0.044) (0.143) (0.356)  (0.923)   

  (Mishkin)  0.879      

  (0.064)      

Adjusted R
2 
(OLS)     1.0%   

F-statistic (OLS)     5.839
*** 

  

N (firm-year observations) 2 018 2 018   2 018   
        

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% levels respectively. The following are indicated in parentheses: for the forecasting and pricing coefficients, asymptotic standard errors; for the likelihood ratio statistic, marginal 

significance level; for the OLS coefficients, t-stats. 
       

The table sets out mean coefficients from OLS regressions and non-linear maximum likelihood estimation for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The 

accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x 

#01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments 

(#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF 

equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET 
are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). The 1 per cent tails of all the financial statement variables, except for EXHE, EXAC and EXCF, are trimmed. 
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Table 7.19 

Summary of Pricing Results 

 Sample excluding Financial Firms  Sample including Financial Firms 

Outliers Trimmed Winsorized  Trimmed Winsorized 

Weighting of returns Equal Value Equal Value  Equal Value Equal Value 

Table reference 5 to 7 8 to 10 12 to 14 Not tabulated  16 to 18 Not tabulated Not tabulated Not tabulated 
          

Model 1          

        UW
*  

   UW
** 

 
          

Model 2          

        UW
** 

UW
* 

   UW
*** 

UW
*** 

               
          

Model 3: Operating          

    UW
* 

 UW
*** 

UW
*** 

   UW
*** 

UW
*** 

               
          

Model 4: Operating          

        UW
*** 

UW
** 

   UW
*** 

UW
*** 

               

               
          

Model 5: Total          

    UW
*** 

UW
*** 

UW
*** 

UW
*** 

 UW
*** 

UW
** 

UW
*** 

UW
*** 

               
          

Model 6: Total          

      UW
** 

 UW
*** 

UW
*** 

 UW
* 

 UW
*** 

UW
*** 

           UW
* 

UW
* 

  

            OW
* 

UW
* 

 

               
          

N (firm-years) 1 618 1 618 1 726 1 726  2 018 2 018 2 157 2 157 
          

* 
, 

** 
and 

*** 
denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively, UW refers to underweighting of the component, while OW refers to overweighting of the component. 

          

The table summarises the pricing results for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted (or value-

weighted) average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold 

raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + 

#02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating 

accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. 

Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline 

earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. All the above variables except SARET are scaled 

by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). 
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TABLE 7.20 

Sample Composition: Kraft et al. (2007) OLS 

 

Sample selection: 2001 to 2008 

  

Unique firms 
 Firm-year 

observations 

Main sample (see Table 1) 345  1 726 

Delisting firm-years 35  127 

Restricted model (full sample) 380  1 853 

Insufficient data
51

 (33)  (106) 

Full model (restricted sample) 347  1 747 

 

 

 

                                                           
51 The insufficient data relates mainly to newly listed firms for which lagged data are not available to calculate the change in 

sales, change in capital expenditure, lagged cash flows and lagged accruals. In addition, the data require size-adjusted returns to 

be established four months into the financial period. Many newly listed firms only list later than four months into the financial 

period. 
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Table 7.21 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Earnings (Full Model) 

        
 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 1              

      0.097 2.15
** 

2.31
** 

1.81 0.098 2.32
** 

 -0.029 -0.48 -0.47 -0.33 -0.031 -0.50 

              0.071 2.72
*** 

2.18
** 

1.50 0.072 2.18
** 

              0.012 1.03 1.03 0.74 0.013 1.07 

               -0.002 -0.07 -0.05 -0.04 -0.004 -0.10 

              -0.171 -1.04 -0.97 -0.84 -0.171 -0.96 

               0.019 0.12 0.09 0.09 0.018 0.08 

            -0.045 -1.62 -1.51 -2.24
* 

-0.050 -1.63 

             0.287 3.56
*** 

2.97
*** 

4.73
*** 

0.287 2.96
*** 

               0.058 1.33 1.20 0.90 0.055 1.11 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

Model 2              

      0.152 2.36
** 

2.12
** 

2.33
** 

0.153 2.13
** 

 -0.011 -0.10 -0.09 -0.07 -0.013 -0.11 

      0.019 0.25 0.23 0.20 0.019 0.22  -0.041 -0.51 -0.45 -0.42 -0.042 -0.46 

              0.071 2.73
*** 

2.19
** 

1.53 0.072 2.20
** 

              0.012 1.04 1.04 0.75 0.013 1.07 

               -0.002 -0.09 -0.07 -0.06 -0.004 -0.11 

              -0.169 -1.02 -0.95 -0.83 -0.168 -0.94 

               0.019 0.12 0.09 0.08 0.017 0.08 

            -0.046 -1.64 -1.49 -2.32
* 

-0.050 -1.62 

             0.281 3.32
*** 

2.67
*** 

3.94
*** 

0.281 2.66
*** 

               0.057 1.28 1.18 0.89 0.054 1.08 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by year, CLFD = 

fixed-year dummies included and standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. SARET is the size-adjusted return. The currency is ZAR. SARET is calculated by deducting the 
equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold 

raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + 

#02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating 
accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the 

total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + 

#01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060) and ∆SALES represents the 
change in sales. CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired (#01030719), while ∆CAPEX is the change in capital expenditure. NOA is net operating assets calculated 

as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010046) minus investment and loans 

(#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are 
winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables for deciles of size (market capitalisation four months after the reporting date), 

price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market capitalisation four months after the reporting date) and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings 

per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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Table 7.22 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Operating Accruals (Full Model) 

          
 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 3              

    0.192 2.69
*** 

2.52
** 

3.09
** 

0.191 2.49
** 

 0.056 0.55 0.51 0.50 0.053 0.49 

      0.049 0.91 0.95 0.74 0.050 0.98  -0.045 -0.72 -0.69 -0.49 -0.046 -0.71 

              0.069 2.64
*** 

2.12
** 

1.42 0.070 2.13
** 

              0.012 1.00 0.99 0.73 0.012 1.03 

               -0.004 -0.15 -0.12 -0.09 -0.006 -0.17 

              -0.195 -1.17 -1.10 -0.90 -0.194 -1.10 

               0.034 0.20 0.16 0.15 0.032 0.15 

            -0.044 -1.57 -1.45 -2.17
* 

-0.048 -1.58 

             0.263 3.13
*** 

2.51
** 

4.84
*** 

0.263 2.51
** 

               0.055 1.25 1.15 0.85 0.052 1.05 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

Model 4              

      0.202 2.70
*** 

2.48
** 

3.36
** 

0.202 2.46
** 

 0.047 0.40 0.36 0.33 0.043 0.33 

      0.079 0.92 0.78 0.66 0.081 0.81  -0.059 -0.52 -0.44 -0.33 -0.061 -0.46 

      0.022 0.29 0.26 0.23 0.022 0.26  -0.037 -0.46 -0.40 -0.39 -0.038 -0.41 

              0.069 2.62
*** 

2.12
** 

1.45 0.069 2.13
** 

              0.012 0.98 0.98 0.74 0.012 1.01 

               -0.004 -0.14 -0.11 -0.09 -0.006 -0.16 

              -0.198 -1.18 -1.10 -0.90 -0.197 -1.09 

               0.035 0.21 0.16 0.15 0.034 0.16 

            -0.043 -1.55 -1.39 -2.25
* 

-0.048 -1.52 

             0.265 3.09
*** 

2.45
** 

4.08
*** 

0.266 2.45
** 

               0.055 1.25 1.16 0.87 0.052 1.07 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by year, CLFD = fixed-year dummies included and 

standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for 

firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return 

commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings 

excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals 

EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline 

earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060) and ∆SALES represents the change in sales. 

CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired (#01030719), while ∆CAPEX is the change in capital expenditure. NOA is net operating assets calculated as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-

term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010046) minus investment and loans (#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables 

except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables 

for deciles of size (market capitalisation four months after the reporting date), price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market capitalisation four months after the reporting date) 

and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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Table 7.23 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Total Accruals (Full Model) 

          
 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 5              

    0.254 4.61
*** 

4.53
*** 

3.57
*** 

0.256 4.55
*** 

 0.119 1.53 1.44 1.21 0.119 1.45 

      0.009 0.19 0.17 0.18 0.004 0.07  -0.106 -1.63 -1.42 -1.07 -0.109 -1.45 

              0.056 2.15
** 

1.76
* 

1.30 0.056 1.77
* 

              0.011 0.95 0.94 0.66 0.012 0.99 

               0.009 0.31 0.25 0.19 0.006 0.18 

              0.055 0.32 0.29 0.26 0.056 0.29 

               -0.034 -0.20 -0.15 -0.14 -0.037 -0.16 

            -0.001 -0.02 -0.02 -0.04 -0.005 -0.18 

             0.169 2.93
*** 

2.49
** 

2.49
** 

0.168 2.46
** 

               0.051 1.30 1.21 1.02 0.047 1.09 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

Model 6              

      0.252 3.72
*** 

3.33
*** 

3.85
*** 

0.252 3.33
*** 

 0.085 0.81 0.76 0.60 0.084 0.74 

      0.077 0.32 0.26 0.27 0.085 0.29  0.018 0.07 0.06 0.07 0.022 0.07 

      0.002 0.02 0.02 0.02 -0.005 -0.05  -0.158 -1.40 -1.23 -0.96 -0.162 -1.26 

      0.009 0.12 0.11 0.10 0.006 0.07  -0.077 -0.94 -0.77 -0.78 -0.080 -0.79 

              0.055 2.12
** 

1.74
* 

1.32 0.056 1.75 

              0.011 0.88 0.88 0.64 0.011 0.93 

               0.010 0.37 0.30 0.24 0.008 0.23 

              0.070 0.41 0.37 0.31 0.071 0.37 

               -0.038 -0.22 -0.16 -0.16 -0.041 -0.17 

            0.002 0.06 0.06 0.11 -0.003 -0.09 

             0.171 2.92
*** 

2.46
** 

2.38
** 

0.170 2.43
** 

               0.053 1.32 1.23 1.09 0.049 1.12 

N (firm-years) 1 747    1 747   1 747    1 747  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by year, CLFD = fixed-year dummies included and 

standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-weighted average returns for 

firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return 

commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings 

excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals 

EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline 

earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060) and ∆SALES represents the change in sales. 

CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired (#01030719), while ∆CAPEX is the change in capital expenditure. NOA is net operating assets calculated as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-

term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010046) minus investment and loans (#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables 

except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables 

for deciles of size (market capitalisation four months after the reporting date), price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market capitalisation four months after the reporting date) 

and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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Table 7.24 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Earnings (Restricted Model) 

          

 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 1              

      0.056 1.62 1.49 1.50 0.056 1.49  0.002 0.06 0.05 0.06 -0.002 -0.05 

              0.013 1.41 1.50 1.06 0.013 1.44 

              -0.095 -0.90 -0.98 -0.64 -0.100 -1.01 

            -0.061 -2.95*** -2.62*** -3.91*** -0.064 -2.66*** 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  

              

Model 2              

      0.126 2.24** 1.87* 2.95** 0.128 1.87*  0.077 1.03 0.89 1.02 0.070 0.79 

      -0.033 -0.50 -0.44 -0.52 -0.034 -0.45  -0.061 -0.91 -0.78 -1.02 -0.063 -0.80 

              0.013 1.39 1.48 1.06 0.013 1.41 

              -0.090 -0.85 -0.92 -0.60 -0.094 -0.94 

            -0.065 -3.08*** -2.69*** -4.13*** -0.067 -2.72*** 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by 

year, CLFD = fixed-year dummies included and standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by 

deducting the equal-weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation 

period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the 

period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline 

earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus 

CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN 

minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and 

EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060). CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired (#01030719). NOA is net 

operating assets calculated as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current liabilities 

(#02010046) minus investment and loans (#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total 

assets is Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables for 

deciles of size (market capitalisation four months after the reporting date), price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market 

capitalisation four months after the reporting date) and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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Table 7.25 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Operating Accruals (Restricted Model) 

          

 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 3              

    0.118 2.38** 1.94* 2.11* 0.117 1.90*  0.064 1.13 0.97 1.36 0.060 0.91 

      -0.006 -0.12 -0.11 -0.10 -0.004 -0.08  -0.049 -0.93 -0.82 -0.71 -0.055 -0.91 

              0.012 1.30 1.40 1.02 0.012 1.32 

              -0.110 -1.04 -1.12 -0.75 -0.115 -1.15 

            -0.057 -2.74*** -2.43 -3.32** -0.061 -2.50** 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  
              

Model 4              

      0.153 2.55** 2.15** 3.64*** 0.153 2.13**  0.100 1.29 1.15 1.39 0.092 1.04 

      0.057 0.73 0.58 0.61 0.061 0.62  0.005 0.05 0.05 0.04 -0.006 -0.05 

      -0.054 -0.80 -0.70 -0.90 -0.054 -0.70  -0.079 -1.15 -0.99 -1.31 -0.081 -1.01 

              0.012 1.31 1.40 1.03 0.012 1.32 

              -0.104 -0.98 -1.05 -0.71 -0.110 -1.07 

            -0.060 -2.81*** -2.45** -3.30** -0.063 -2.51** 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by year, CLFD = fixed-

year dummies included and standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-
weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. 

The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the 

headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows 
from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash 

flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus 

EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060). CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired 
(#01030719). NOA is net operating assets calculated as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current 

liabilities (#02010046) minus investment and loans (#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is 

Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables for deciles of size (market 
capitalisation four months after the reporting date), price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market capitalisation four months after the reporting date) 

and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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Table 7.26 

Pricing of Earnings Components: Total Accruals (Restricted Model) 

          

 Without additional variables  With additional variables 

 Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD  Coeff OLS CLF CLY Coeff CLFD 

  t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat   t-stat t-stat t-stat  t-stat 

Model 5              

    0.138 3.51*** 2.56** 1.78 0.137 2.51**  0.067 1.38 1.15 1.07 0.062 1.06 

      0.002 0.04 0.03 0.07 -0.001 -0.03  -0.032 -0.74 -0.55 -0.73 -0.037 -0.62 

              0.014 1.48 1.58 1.10 0.013 1.51 

              -0.016 -0.15 -0.16 -0.13 -0.022 -0.22 

            -0.037 -1.63 -1.58 -2.69** -0.041 -1.69 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  
              

Model 6              

      0.171 2.01** 2.37** 2.68** 0.169 2.32**  0.095 1.26 1.06 1.26 0.086 0.95 

      -0.052 -0.23 -0.20 -0.21 -0.054 -0.20  -0.058 -0.25 -0.22 -0.26 -0.058 -0.22 

      0.037 0.61 0.45 0.84 0.033 0.40  0.000 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.009 -0.08 

      -0.042 -0.64 -0.50 -0.70 -0.044 -0.52  -0.055 -0.82 -0.66 -0.89 -0.057 -0.68 

              0.014 1.44 1.54 1.10 0.013 1.48 

              -0.014 -0.12 -0.14 -0.10 -0.019 -0.18 

            -0.041 -1.70* -1.58 -2.99** -0.043 -1.68* 

N (firm-years) 1 853    1 853   1 853    1 853  
              

* , ** and *** denote significance at a 10%, 5% and 1% level respectively. OLS = ordinary least squares, CLF = standard errors clustered by firm, CLY = standard errors clustered by year, CLFD = fixed-

year dummies included and standard errors clustered by firm. 
              

The table sets out mean coefficients from regressions for the sample period from 2001 to 2008. The currency is ZAR. SARET is the size-adjusted return. SARET is calculated by deducting the equal-
weighted average returns for firms in the same size-matched decile (where size is measured as the market value at the beginning of the return accumulation period) from the buy-and-hold raw return. 

The accumulation of the monthly buy-and-hold raw return commences four months after the financial period. EARN is the profit for the period (#01090305 x #01060206 + #02020072). INHE is the 

headline earnings (#02020086 x #01060206 + #02020072), while EXHE is earnings excluded from the headline earnings (EARN minus INHE). Using the operating accrual definition, CF is cash flows 
from operating activities before dividend payments (#01030714), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXAC equals EXHE, and INAC is ACCR minus EXAC. Using the total accrual definition, CF is free cash 

flows (#01030714 - #01030718 + #01030723), ACCR is EARN minus CF, EXCF equals free cash flows excluded from the headline earnings (#01030724 + #01030725), INCF equals CF minus 

EXCF, INAC equals INHE minus INCF, and EXAC equals ACCR minus INAC. SALES is current period sales (#02020060). CAPEX represents capital expenditure calculated as fixed assets acquired 
(#01030719). NOA is net operating assets calculated as capital employed (#02010021) plus short-term interest-bearing current liabilities (#02010045) plus short-term non-interest-bearing current 

liabilities (#02010046) minus investment and loans (#02010031) minus cash and near cash (#02010037). All the above variables except SARET are scaled by the average total assets (total assets is 

Line Item #02010050). All the variables are winsorized annually to the 1st and 99th percentile. The regressions also include untabulated annual dummy variables for deciles of size (market 
capitalisation four months after the reporting date), price (share price four months after the reporting date), book to market-ratio (#0201001 / market capitalisation four months after the reporting date) 

and earnings to price-ratio (headline earnings per share (#02020086) / share price four months after the reporting date). 
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CHAPTER 8 

CONCLUSION 

Another implication is that standard-setters‟ embrace of a balance-sheet-based model 

of financial reporting has reduced the forward looking informativeness of earnings, 

and this presents a real difficulty and cost to many users of financial reports. Last, 

these results imply that the need for more informative earnings is real, and will be 

growing, so research into various improved formulations of earnings is warranted. 

 (Dichev and Tang, 2008: 1456) 

8.1 Introduction 

In this study, I investigate the persistence, value relevance and the pricing of earnings 

components in South Africa. This country provides a unique regulatory setting in which to 

investigate these issues - firms listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) are 

obliged to disclose headline earnings supplementary to earnings in terms of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). In addition, firms are required to reconcile headline 

earnings and IFRS earnings in their financial statements. Headline earnings excludes specific 

non-recurring items identified in terms of a formally promulgated definition. In effect, in 

South Africa, a mandatory earnings disaggregation scheme is in place, whereby earnings is 

disaggregated into a recurring and a non-recurring part. Hence, headline earnings is a non-

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (non-GAAP) earnings measure. Unlike with pro 

forma earnings, which is disclosed voluntarily in the United States, the disclosure of headline 

earnings is mandatory in South Africa. The same headline earnings definition that is used in 

South Africa is also used in the United Kingdom, but in the United Kingdom the reporting of 

headline earnings is not mandatory. The South African setting therefore allows me to look at 

matters previously investigated in settings where such reporting is non-mandatory and from 
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different regulatory perspectives, such as persistence (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and 

Ge, 2006), value relevance (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Brown and Sivukumar, 2003) and 

the pricing of non-recurring items (Burgstahler et al., 2002; Dechow and Ge, 2006). 

8.2 Findings 

The main findings of the current study can be summarized as follows: 

 The value relevance study (Chapter 4) shows that investors believe that headline earnings 

exclusions (the non-recurring part of earnings) are incrementally value relevant to basic 

earnings. This evidence implies that investors‟ consensus beliefs suggest that a disclosure 

of headline earnings exclusions separate from the disclosure of basic earnings is 

warranted. This finding is robust to both price-levels and returns specifications, but it 

appears to be stronger for positive earnings observations than for negative earnings 

observations. The findings of the incremental value relevance tests also hold in price 

regressions when standard errors are clustered by year, and in a specification where fixed-

year dummies are included and standard errors are clustered by firm. However, the 

findings of the returns regressions are not robust to the clustering of standard errors. The 

findings are not sensitive to the exclusion of firm-year observations without any headline 

earnings exclusions and to an alternative sample that excludes financial firms. 

 When I pool positive and negative earnings observations, the tests of relative value 

relevance suggest that headline earnings does not have higher value relevance than basic 

earnings. Given that headline earnings is supposed to be a better proxy for “core 

earnings” than basic earnings (Brooking, 2006), this result is surprising. However, 

additional analyses indicate that inferences regarding incremental and relative value 

relevance are much stronger for positive earnings observations than for negative earnings 

observations. This is consistent with the findings of Hayn (1995). When I use a sample 
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containing only positive earnings observations, headline earnings appears to be a 

summary performance measure that is superior to basic earnings in both the price-levels 

and returns regressions. Given that headline earnings is a disclosure that is relegated to 

the notes, whereas basic earnings is shown on the face of the statement of comprehensive 

income where investors are more likely to take not of it, this is a significant finding.  

 I focus on two scenarios where the headline earnings disclosure framework may be 

particularly useful to investors. The first of these scenarios is firms with extreme 

earnings. In the returns regressions, I find weak evidence that investors in firms with 

extreme earnings regard headline earnings as a summary measure of performance that is 

superior to basic earnings, whereas this does not appear to be the case for investors who 

invest in firms with less extreme earnings. Using extreme changes in earnings, the results 

of both the price-levels and returns regressions suggest that headline earnings exclusions 

contain information that is incrementally value relevant to investors who invest in firms 

with extreme earnings changes, but not to investors who invest in firms with less extreme 

earnings changes. Focusing on a smaller sub-sample of firms with extreme headline 

earnings exclusions, I find significant results using returns regressions for tests of both 

incremental and relative value relevance. However, all these results are sensitive to 

alternative sample partitioning and should be considered with caution. 

 The second scenario I focus on in Chapter 5 is firm size. The price regressions find results 

in favour of the value relevance of headline earnings exclusions over basic earnings for 

both small and large firms, while the returns regressions only find support for value 

relevance of small firms. In addition, in the returns regressions, there is a substantial 

improvement in the adjusted R-square from the basic earnings model to the headline 

earnings model. The Vuong test falls marginally short in finding significance. Overall, 

this provides weak evidence that the headline earnings disclosure framework is more 
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useful to investors who invest in small firms than to investors who invest in large firms. 

These results are sensitive to alternative sample partitioning and should be considered 

with caution. 

 In Chapter 7, the results from the persistence tests show that, as expected, headline 

earnings (the recurring part of earnings) has higher persistence than headline earnings 

exclusions (the non-recurring part of earnings). Moreover, accruals are less persistent 

than cash flows. The lower persistence of accruals can largely be attributed to headline 

earnings exclusions. Separating cash flows which form part of headline earnings 

exclusions from total cash flows also results in an improvement in the persistence 

parameter of the remaining cash flows. Overall, the results from the persistence tests 

support the claim implied in the headline earnings definition that the exclusions identified 

by the definition have lower persistence than other earnings components. 

 Turning to the pricing tests in Chapter 7, neither headline earnings nor headline earnings 

exclusions reflect significant mispricing. This finding is important because it contradicts 

the finding of significant overweighting of special items in the United States (Atwood and 

Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 2006). Hence, it appears that the special items anomaly 

documented in the United States does not occur in South Africa. The results are robust to 

using value-weighted returns instead of equal weighted returns, but headline earnings 

reflect marginal underpricing when the treatment of outliers is changed from trimming to 

winsorization. These findings are also robust to an alternative sample which includes 

financial firms. 

 Once I decompose earnings into an accrual and a cash flow component in the pricing 

tests, the cash flow component reflects significant underweighting, but only for the 

recurring part of cash flows. Neither the recurring nor the non-recurring components of 

accruals reflect significant mispricing. The results are robust to using value-weighted 



306 

 

returns instead of equal-weighted returns, while the underweighting of the cash flow 

component is more severe when the treatment of outliers is changed from trimming to 

winsorization. These findings are also robust to an alternative sample which includes 

financial firms. 

 I extend the pricing tests by focusing on the method proposed by Kraft et al. (2007). This 

method takes account of various additional variables that could explain future earnings or 

returns and also controls for cross-sectional and time-series dependence in the data. Once 

these additional variables are included in the equations, the mispricing of the cash flow 

component is also no longer evident. This finding is significant, because Kraft et al. 

(2007) continue to note mispricing of the cash flow component in the United States, even 

after taking into account the additional explanatory variables.  

The results of the pricing tests are generally stronger than the value relevance tests, because 

the pricing tests are generally more robust to alternative research design choices than the 

value relevance tests. However, holistically, the results indicate that headline earnings has 

higher persistence than headline earnings exclusions and, consistent with differences in 

persistence, the value relevance tests also indicate that investors believe that headline 

earnings exclusions contain information that is incremental to basic earnings. Taken together, 

these two findings provide a strong case in favour of the disaggregation of headline earnings 

exclusions from basic earnings. The results of the pricing tests suggest that the findings of the 

value relevance tests are not a result of the fact that the market is misled by headline earnings 

disclosure – headline earnings exclusions and most other earnings components are not 

significantly mispriced by the South African market. 
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8.3 Contribution 

My study makes a contribution across various literature streams: 

 I contribute to the literature on the persistence of earnings (Dechow and Ge, 2006; Sloan, 

1996) and its components by showing that the mandatory headline earnings definition in 

South Africa is able to capture differences in the persistence of earnings components. 

While managers of firms are arguably in a better position to identify the non-recurring 

items of their firms, my findings suggest that the standardised headline earnings 

definition succeeds in identifying non-recurring components – the persistence parameter 

of headline earnings exclusions is nearly half the size of the persistence parameter of 

headline earnings. 

 My study also makes a contribution to the growing body of evidence on the value 

relevance of non-GAAP earnings measures (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Entwistle et al., 

2010). My study differs from and also complements these studies, because I focus on the 

mandatory reporting of a non-GAAP earnings measure, as opposed to the voluntary 

reporting of non-GAAP earnings measures. The findings of my study support the 

inferences of the prior literature that suggest that non-GAAP earnings measures have 

higher value relevance than GAAP earnings measures. This is an important finding: one 

would generally expect that a mandatory “one-size-fits-all” approach to non-GAAP 

earnings reporting would be less effective than a voluntary approach to non-GAAP 

earnings reporting, because mandatory reporting inhibits the ability of managers to inform 

investors better. Despite this efficiency argument, headline earnings disclosure still 

appears to contribute to the information contained in IFRS earnings and, in certain cases, 

is even superior to IFRS earnings in measuring firm performance. 

 The current study also makes a methodological contribution to the accrual anomaly 

literature (Kraft et al., 2007; Sloan, 1996). I show that the asymptotic equivalence of the 
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ordinary least squares (OLS) method to the Mishkin method (Kraft et al., 2007) also 

extends to smaller sample settings. This has important implications for researchers who 

wish to conduct pricing tests, because it suggests that the benefits of the OLS method 

documented by Kraft et al. (2007) are not restricted to large sample settings, such as the 

United States. 

 Finally, my findings contribute to the studies investigating the special item anomaly in the 

United States (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and Ge, 2006). Related to these studies is 

evidence from the pro forma earnings literature on the mispricing of exclusions from pro 

forma earnings (Doyle et al., 2003; Landsman et al., 2007). These studies suggest that 

special items, which are reported by firms largely on a voluntary basis, are significantly 

mispriced by investors in the United States. My findings suggest that the non-recurring 

items identified in terms of the mandatory application of the headline earnings definition 

in South Africa are not significantly mispriced. This finding contributes to the literature 

by making an initial attempt at unravelling the anomalous finding of the mispricing of 

non-recurring items in other settings. 

8.4 Implications 

The literature suggests that, in the United States, where non-GAAP earnings measures are 

largely unregulated and are reported voluntarily, non-GAAP earnings measures have higher 

value relevance than GAAP earnings (Bradshaw and Sloan, 2002; Entwistle et al., 2010). 

However, despite this apparent value relevance, special items and non-GAAP earnings 

exclusions are significantly mispriced by the market (Atwood and Xie, 2010; Dechow and 

Ge, 2006; Doyle et al., 2003). 

Allowing the reporting of non-GAAP earnings to be voluntary rather than mandatory has a 

number of negative consequences. Firstly, not all firms report non-GAAP earnings, making it 
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difficult for investors in such firms to assess the occurrence of non-recurring items in such 

firms. Secondly, there is no formal definition for non-GAAP earnings, which makes these 

figures susceptible to manipulation. Thirdly, because non-GAAP earnings is not calculated 

on a standardised basis across firms and over time, it lacks comparability. 

By contrast, in South Africa, where the reporting of a non-GAAP earnings measure (headline 

earnings) is regulated and mandatory, my findings suggest that headline earnings have higher 

persistence than headline earnings exclusions. Investors also find that headline earnings 

exclusions contain information that is incrementally value relevant over basic earnings. 

Taken together, these two findings suggest that the headline earnings definition is successful 

in identifying non-recurring items and that the market agrees with this disaggregation 

distinction. In addition, I find that headline earnings exclusions and most other earnings 

components are not significantly mispriced.  

The obvious downside to headline earnings reporting is that managers of firms may be better 

able to establish a non-GAAP earnings measure that captures a firm‟s performance. The 

headline earnings definition adopts a “one size fits all” approach, which may reduce 

efficiency. Nevertheless, the evidence from the current study suggests that some of the 

shortcomings of voluntary reporting of non-GAAP earnings measures in the United States 

can be overcome by the headline earnings disclosure framework used in South Africa. Given 

the importance of earnings information to managers, investors and the capital markets, it is 

perhaps appropriate that the reporting of alternative earnings measures be regulated. 

The current study may also be informative to the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in their deliberation on ways 

to disaggregate earnings based on differences in the persistence of earnings components. 

Previously, accounting standard setters have made various proposals to incorporate 
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requirements in the standards that oblige firms to provide information similar in spirit to the 

headline earnings disclosure. Such proposals go as far back as 2001, with the development of 

the matrix format of the income statement by the IASB and the United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards Board (UK ASB). More recently, the IASB and the FASB developed a 

reconciliation schedule which requires an entity to include a schedule in the notes to the 

financial statements that reconciles cash flows with comprehensive income on a line-by-line 

basis and disaggregates comprehensive income into four components: cash, accruals other 

than remeasurements, remeasurements that are recurring fair value changes, and 

remeasurements that are not recurring fair value changes (IASB, 2008). However, the 

suggested reconciliation schedule has been criticised by the boards‟ stakeholders, mainly due 

to the complexity of the preparation of the schedule (IASB, 2009). The boards‟ latest 

proposals are still being developed, but it looks as though disclosure on remeasurements will 

be required, either in the notes or on the face of the statement of comprehensive income 

(IFRS Foundation, 2010). 

At the February 2010 meeting of the Joint International Group (JIG) and Financial Institution 

Advisory Group (FIAG) of the IASB, the following comment was made regarding 

remeasurement disclosure (JIG and FIAG, 2010:1): 

Both Boards seem to agree that providing this type of information could help users 

understand and assess an entity‟s performance, but there remains a lack of agreement 

on what exactly to disaggregate as a remeasurement. 

The results of my study confirm the boards‟ view that the disclosure of information on 

remeasurements assists investors in understanding and assessing an entity‟s performance – 

the results from the value relevance tests suggest that headline earnings exclusions contain 

information that is incremental to basic earnings. In addition, the lack of significant 
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mispricing of the earnings components in South Africa is also consistent with the argument 

that disaggregated earnings disclosures assist investors in pricing earnings and its 

components. The headline earnings definition may also be of interest to the boards in view of 

their concerns about defining remeasurements that qualify for disaggregation. While there 

may be alternative ways to define headline earnings exclusions, the results from my study 

suggest that the existing headline earnings definition is effective in identifying non-recurring 

remeasurements. 

8.5 Limitations 

The conclusions and implications detailed in Sections 8.3 and 8.4 above should be considered 

in the context of a number of limitations.  

Firstly, I am unable to provide direct evidence on whether the mandatory disclosure regime 

of headline earnings provides any benefits over a voluntary disclosure regime, such as pro 

forma earnings in the United States. Hence, while the results of this study suggest that non-

recurring and other earnings components are not significantly mispriced in South Africa, and 

although the results suggest that headline earnings disclosure contains value relevant 

information, I am only able to conclude that these findings exist in a mandatory reporting 

regime. 

Secondly, regarding the value relevance findings, I cannot completely rule out the alternative 

explanation that a voluntary performance measure (such as operating earnings, which is 

highly correlated with headline earnings) may affect my findings. However, this is not a 

source of major concern, given the prominence of headline earnings as a performance 

measure in the financial press, and given that this alternative explanation is only valid in a 

case where operating earnings contains relatively higher value relevance than headline 
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earnings, and headline earnings contains no incremental value relevance to operating 

earnings. 

Thirdly, it is not possible to provide direct evidence on the cause and effect relationship 

between headline earnings disclosure and investors‟ ability to price the components of 

earnings. In other words, it is not possible to observe what the pricing of earnings 

components in South Africa would have been in the absence of the mandatory headline 

earnings disclosure requirements. However, the findings of my study are consistent with 

recent evidence suggesting that the disclosure of earnings information improves investors‟ 

ability to price earnings components (Chan et al., 2009; Hope et al., 2008; Zhang and Zheng, 

2011).  

Fourthly, due to a lack of mandatory disaggregation schemes globally, this study only 

considers one method of disaggregating non-recurring items from GAAP earnings. Arguably, 

alternative methods of earnings disaggregation could be developed. I do not evaluate the 

appropriateness of the headline earnings definition at a conceptual level. Instead, I only focus 

on the existing headline earnings framework at an empirical level. 

Fifthly, in Chapter 5, the sample sizes are small and sensitive to outliers. In addition, the 

results are sensitive to alternative partitioning of the samples. Hence, the tests on extreme 

earnings observations, firm size, IFRS adoption and the industry analysis may lack statistical 

power and the results should be considered with caution.  

Finally, due to the absence of a similar regulatory setting elsewhere, the study relies solely on 

data from South Africa. Hence, I am unable to conclude whether these findings would also 

extend to other regulatory settings if the headline earnings disclosure framework were to be 

implemented elsewhere. This raises questions about the external validity of the findings. 
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8.6 Suggestions for future research 

A number of areas for future research emanate from this study: 

 A comparison between the voluntary headline earnings reporting in the United Kingdom 

and the mandatory headline earnings reporting in South Africa could address the question 

of whether voluntary reporting is more informative than mandatory reporting. 

 An investigation of the press releases of South African firms could establish whether 

managers downplay IFRS earnings in favour of headline earnings and whether any other 

non-GAAP earnings measures are used voluntarily in South Africa. If few other measures 

are in fact used in South Africa, it would suggest that managers believe that headline 

earnings captures firm performance accurately. A finding that many other non-GAAP 

earnings measures are also being used would suggest that either managers believe that 

headline earnings is not a good proxy for firm performance or that managers are trying to 

mislead investors with these alternative measures. 

 The significant underweighting of the cash flow component using the Mishkin test in my 

South African sample is consistent with the findings of Pincus et al. (2007) for countries 

such as France, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan and Thailand. 

Interestingly, Thailand is the only country with a common law origin included in this list. 

While much of the literature has focused on the overpricing of accruals, little is known 

about the underpricing of the cash flow component. Recent evidence suggests that the 

accrual anomaly is disappearing in the United States (Green et al., 2011), but it seems that 

the underpricing of the cash flow component in many countries provides an opportunity 

for further investigation. 

 The earnings management practices of South African firms warrant further investigation. 

The significant underpricing of the cash flow component of earnings found in the current 



314 

 

study may suggest that South African firms are engaging in real earnings management. 

Elshafie, Yen and Yu (2010) show that there is a negative association between earnings 

management (both accruals-based and real) and the aggressiveness of pro forma earnings 

in the United States. Hence, managers who are unable to meet their targets through 

earnings management may revert to aggressive pro forma earnings reporting in an attempt 

to manage investors‟ perceptions. Given that headline earnings provides less scope for 

classification shifting than pro forma earnings does, it remains an open question which 

should be investigated empirically. The question is then whether South African firms use 

accrual-based or real earnings management or the reporting of other non-GAAP earnings 

measures to achieve their targets and manage the perceptions of investors. 

 I started investigating the different circumstances under which headline earnings may be 

particularly useful to investors in Chapter 5, but further work in this area is warranted. 

For example, Bhattacharya et al. (2007) claim that less sophisticated investors in the 

United States tend to trade on pro forma earnings information. Currently, little is known 

about who uses headline earnings information in South Africa and whether particular sub-

groups of users have the ability to price earnings components accurately. 

 Arguably headline earnings disclosure may have different levels of relevance to firms as 

the firms progress through different life-cycle stages, such as start-up, growth, maturity 

and decline. Black (1998) provides evidence on the life-cycle impact of earnings and cash 

flow measures on the incremental value relevance of these measures. His study could be 

extended in the South African context to ascertain whether mandatory disclosure about 

non-recurring earnings components is more or less important in some firm life-cycle 

stages than in others. 
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8.7 Concluding remarks 

The headline earnings definition was developed as far back as 1993, but, until the current 

study, there has been little empirical evidence on the properties of headline earnings and 

headline earnings exclusions when these are reported on a mandatory basis. Thus there was a 

gap in the literature, as the headline earnings definition speaks to many of the issues relating 

to earnings that are relevant globally. It is hoped that this study has made a start in filling that 

void and will contribute to the growing debate and academic evidence on alternative earnings 

measures.  

In conclusion, it is worth noting Damant‟s (2002) plea for the acceptance of headline 

earnings internationally: 

It is my intention to propose to my analyst colleagues world-wide that we attempt the 

same thing at international level, in the context of the work of the IASB. The 

problem is to look forward (beyond any immediate technical points) to 

Comprehensive Income – a single Income Statement – to find an international 

Headline Earnings figure. In the meantime, the example given in practice in South 

Africa, as well as in the UK is of great value.  
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APPENDIX 1 

EXAMPLE OF HEADLINE EARNINGS DISCLOSURE 

The Bidvest Limited Group can be used as an example to illustrate the disclosure and 

presentation practices of headline earnings. The Bidvest Limited Group presented its earnings 

per share information on the face of its income statement for the year ended 30 June 2008 as 

follows (Bidvest, 2008): 

  2008 2007 

Basic earnings per share (cents) 5 1 073,0 899,4 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 5 1 055,9 878,3 
Headline earnings per share (cents) 5 1 068,0 970,0 

The following reconciliation between basic earnings and headline earnings is provided in 

Note 5 to the Group‟s financial statements (Bidvest, 2008): 

 2008  2007 

 R’000  R’000 
5. Earnings per share (continued)    

Headline earnings (R’000)    
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 3 252 884  2 700 054 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment; intangible assets and goodwill 59 639  65 707 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 46 969  585 

Goodwill 16 753  65 122 

Tax relief (4 083)  – 

Net loss on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and associates, and disposal and closure of businesses 54 163  595 

Loss (profit) on disposal and closure 60 480  (84) 

Tax charge (relief ) (6 317)  679 

Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (42 419)  (12 835) 

Property, plant and equipment (46 789)  (15 409) 

Intangible assets 42  – 

Tax charge 4 328  1 984 

Minority shareholders –  590 

Negative goodwill (86 463)  – 

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (86 496)  – 

Minority shareholders 33  – 

Impairment of investment in associate and share of capital items in associate –  158 465 

Headline earnings 3 237 804  2 911 986 

Headline earnings per share (cents) 1 068,0  970,0 

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 1 051,0  947,2 

Dilution (%) 1,6  2,3 
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APPENDIX 2 

RELATION BETWEEN HEADLINE EARNINGS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 20X7 

Revenue  XXX  

Cost of sales  (XXX)  

Gross profit  XXX  

Other income  XXX  

Distribution costs  (XXX)  

Administrative expenses  (XXX)  

Other expenses  (XXX)  

Finance costs  (XXX)  

Share of profit of associates  XXX  

Profit before tax  XXX  

Income tax expense  (XXX)  

Profit for the year  XXX  

- Headline earnings  XXX  

- Headline earnings exclusions  (XXX)  

- Impairment losses on PPE  (XXX)  

- Fair value adjustment on investment property  XXX  

- Losses on sale of fixed assets  (XXX)  

- Etcetera  XXX  
    

Other comprehensive income (OCI)  XXX  

- Exchange difference on translating foreign operations  XXX  

- Investments in equity instruments  XXX  

- Cash flow hedges  XXX  

- Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans  (XXX)  
    

Total comprehensive income  XXX  

Note that this format does not represent the actual presentation format used in South Africa. 

This above format is used for illustrative purposes only. The actual reconciliation between 

basic earnings and headline earnings is presented in the notes to the financial statements, as 

illustrated in Appendix 1. 


